Studies on Two Compound Classes from Actinobacteria Exhibiting New Antibacterial Mechanisms of Action:

Chelocardins and Telomycins

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Grades

des Doktors der Naturwissenschaften

der Naturwissenschaftlich-Technischen Fakultät

der Universität des Saarlandes

von

Fabienne Hennessen

Saarbrücken

2018

Tag des Kolloquiums:	06.08.2018	
Dekan:	Prof. Dr. Guido Kickelbick	
Berichterstatter:	Prof. Dr. Rolf Müller Prof. Dr. Thorsten Lehr	
Vorsitz:	Prof. Dr. Alexandra Kiemer	
Akad. Mitarbeiter:	Dr. Sonja Keßler	

Diese Arbeit entstand unter der Anleitung von Prof. Dr. Rolf Müller in der Fachrichtung Pharmazie der Naturwissenschaftlich-Technischen Fakultät der Universität des Saarlandes von Februar 2014 bis Januar 2018.

meinen Großvater Walter

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Diese Arbeit enthält Studien zweier bekannter, aber noch wenig untersuchter mikrobieller Naturstoffklassen hinsichtlich ihres Wirk- und Resistenzmechanismus, sowie ihrer Struktur-Aktivitäts-Beziehungen.

Chelocardin und sein amidiertes Derivat wurden als bakterizide Substanzen mit Wirksamkeit gegen ein weites Spektrum von Bakterienspezies und Resistenz-brechenden ("resistance-breaking") Eigenschaften charakterisiert. Es wurde gezeigt, dass Chelocardine einen Einfluss auf bakterielle Membranen ausüben und dass der Resistenzmechanismus gegenüber Chelocardin auf Efflux-Mechanismen beruht, die durch Mutationen im Repressorprotein RamR vermittelt werden.

Das Antibiotikum Telomycin wurde als stark bakterizid und Calcium-abhängig mit Wirksamkeit gegen Gram-positive Bakterien charakterisiert. Zwei semisynthetische Derivate zeigten eine verbesserte und Calcium-unabhängige antibakterielle Aktivität. Weiter wurde gezeigt, dass die Verbindungen in erster Linie mit der Zellmembran interagieren und dass Cardiolipin insbesondere für Telomycin einen wichtigen Bindepartner darstellt. Die Aktivität beider Derivate beruht nicht ausschließlich auf einer Bindung an Cardiolipin, was auf eine Interaktion mit weiteren Targetmolekülen hindeutet und einen Wirkmechanismus jenseits der Membranaktivität – auch für Telomycin – denkbar macht. Zudem wurden potentielle Proteintargets untersucht, jedoch konnte keine eindeutige Schlussfolgerung auf den Wirkmechanismus gezogen werden.

ABSTRACT

Within this thesis, two known but rather underexploited microbial natural product classes were characterized in terms of their mechanisms of action, their resistance mechanisms and their structure-activity-relationships.

Chelocardin and its amidated analogue were shown to act bactericidal on a broad-spectrum of bacterial species including resistant isolates. Both molecules were shown to exert a cell membrane-based mechanism and the resistance mechanism of chelocardin was identified and characterized to rely on efflux mediated by mutations of the repressor protein RamR.

Telomycin was characterised to act strongly bactericidal on Gram-positive bacteria in a calcium-dependent manner. Two acylated derivatives were shown to exhibit an improved and calcium-independent activity pattern compared to the parent molecule. Studies as part of this thesis led to the assumption that the compounds interfere mainly with the cellular membrane and cardiolipin was characterised as main interaction partner, particularly for telomycin. However, the antibacterial activity of both acylated derivatives does not exclusively rely on a binding to this phospholipid. This hints towards interaction with additional target molecules and a mechanism of action beyond membrane activity, which might also hold true for telomycin itself. Potential protein targets were studied but the mechanism of action of telomycins could not be elucidated in detail.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG	VII
ABSTRACT	VIII
<u>1</u> INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 EMERGENCE OF ANTIMICROBIAL RESISTANCE	1
1.2 SOURCES OF NEW ANTIBIOTICS	6
1.3 CHELOCARDINS	9
1.4 TELOMYCINS	14
1.5 OUTLINE OF THE DISSERTATION	17
2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	19
2.1 MATERIALS	19
2.1.1 COMPOUNDS	19
2.1.2 CHEMICALS	19
2.1.3 BACTERIAL GROWTH MEDIUM	19
2.1.4 MICROORGANISMS	21
2.1.5 CELL LINES	22
2.1.6 CELL CULTURE MEDIUM AND REAGENTS	22
2.1.7 BUFFER	22
2.1.8 OTHER REAGENTS	26
2.1.9 CONSUMABLES AND TECHNICAL EQUIPMENT	27
2.1.10 PLASMIDS	29
2.1.11 PRIMER	30
2.1.12 ISOTOPES	31
2.2 METHODS	31

2.2.1	BACTERIAL CULTIVATION	31
2.2.2	MIC DETERMINATION	31
2.2.3	CELL VIABILITY BASED ON ATP QUANTIFICATION	33
2.2.4	BIOFILM FORMATION	33
2.2.5	TIME-KILL CURVES	33
2.2.6	LIVE DEAD ASSAY	33
2.2.7	NPN UPTAKE	34
2.2.8	MEMBRANE POTENTIAL	35
2.2.9	MACROMOLECULE BIOSYNTHESIS	35
2.2.10	IN VITRO TRANSLATION ASSAY	36
2.2.11	GENERATION OF CHELOCARDIN-RESISTANT MUTANTS	36
2.2.12	GENERATION OF TELOMYCIN-RESISTANT MUTANTS	36
2.2.13	ISOLATION OF BACTERIAL GENENOMIC DNA	37
2.2.14	WHOLE GENOMCE SEQUENCING AND ANALYSIS	37
2.2.15	GENE KNOCKOUT IN KLEBSIELLA PNEUMONIAE	38
2.2.16	GENE KNOCKOUT IN STAPHYLOCOCCUS AUREUS	39
2.2.17	GENE EXPRESSION ANALYSIS	40
2.2.18	LIPID BINDING	41
2.2.19	LIPID EXTRACTION	42
2.2.20	THIN-LAYER CHROMATOGRAPHY	42
2.2.21	PROTEIN ISOLATION	43
2.2.22	PROTEIN PULL DOWN AND ENZYMATIC DIGESTION	43
2.2.23	PROTEIN IDENTIFICATION BY MADLI-TOF/MS OR LC-MS/MS	43
2.2.24	HETEROLOGOUS PROTEIN EXPRESSION AND PURIFICATION	44
2.2.25	SURFACE PLASMON RESONANCE	45
2.2.26	CULTIVATION OF EUKARYOTIC CELL LINES	45
2.2.27	IC ₅₀ DETERMINATION (MTT)	45
2.2.28	KILLING OF INTRACELLULAR BACTERIA	46

2.2.29 TMRM STAINING		
<u>3</u> CHELOCARDINS	47	
3.1 RESULTS	48	
3.1.1 MECHANISM OF ACTION	48	
3.1.1.1 ANTIMICROBIAL SPECTRUM	48	
3.1.1.2 STRUCTURE-ACTIVITY RELATIONSHIP	57	
3.1.1.3 CYTOTOXICITY	61	
3.1.1.4 MACROMOLECULE BIOSYNTHESIS	61	
3.1.1.5 IN VITRO TRANSLATION INHIBITION	64	
3.1.1.6 MEMBRANE DEPOLARIZATION	64	
3.1.1.7 OUTER MEMBRANE PERMEABILIZATION	65	
3.1.2 RESISTANCE MECHANISM	67	
3.1.2.1 CHD-RESISTANT ESCHERICHIA COLI MUTANTS	67	
3.1.2.2 CHD-RESISTANT KLEBSIELLA PNEUMONIAE MUTANTS	71	
3.2 DISCUSSION	79	
3.2.1 ANTIBACTERIAL ACTIVITY	79	
3.2.2 MECHANISM OF ACTION	84	
3.2.3 RESISTANCE MECHANISM	91	
3.3 SUMMARY AND OUTLOOK	99	
4 TELOMYCINS	<u> </u>	
4.1 RESULTS	102	
4.1.1 MECHANISM OF ACTION	102	
4.1.1.1 DETERMINATION OF MINIMAL INHIBITORY CONCENTRATIONS	102	
4.1.1.2 KILLING OF INTRACELLULAR BACTERIA	105	
4.1.1.3 CALCIUM-DEPENDENT MEMBRANE DEPOLARIZATION	106	

XI

4.1.1.4	CALCIUM-DEPENDENT CONFORMATIONAL CHANGES	107
4.1.2	RESISTANCE MECHANISM AND BINDING TO CARDIOLIPIN	111
4.1.2.1	GENERATION OF TELOMYCIN-RESISTANT MUTANTS	111
4.1.2.2	GENOME SEQUENCING AND ANALYSIS OF MUTATIONS	113
4.1.2.3	S. AUREUS CLS1 AND CLS2 DISRUPTION MUTANTS	115
4.1.2.4	FITNESS OF MUTANTS AND BIOFILM FORMATION	118
4.1.2.5	IMPACT OF MUTATED GNTR-TYPE REGULATOR ON S. AUREUS BIOFILM	118
4.1.2.6	BINDING OF TELOMYCINS TO CARDIOLIPIN	120
4.1.3	PROTEIN TARGET IDENTIFICATION	125
4.1.4	ACTIVITY ON EUKARYOTIC CELLS	130
4.1.4.1	CYTOTOXICITY	130
4.1.4.2	MITOCHONDRIAL MEMBRANE POTENTIAL	131
4.2 D	ISCUSSION	133
4.2.1	CALCIUM-DEPENDENT ANTIBACTERIAL ACTIVITY	133
4.2.2	MECHANISM OF ACTION AND RESISTANCE MECHANISM	140
4.2.2.1	GENETIC CHANGES IN RESISTANT MUTANTS	140
4.2.2.2	ROLE OF CARDIOLIPIN	142
4.2.3	TARGET IDENTIFICATION	150
4.3 ST	UMMARY AND OUTLOOK	159
<u>5 CO</u>	NCLUSION AND RELEVANCE	<u>163</u>
<u>6 AP</u>	PENDIX	165
6.1 A	BBREVIATIONS	165
6.2 D	ANKSAGUNG	169
<u>7</u> <u>RE</u>	FERENCES	171

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 EMERGENCE OF ANTIMICROBIAL RESISTANCE

The introduction of antibacterial agents to treat bacterial infections goes back to the early 1900s. A milestone was the discovery of penicillin from the fungus *Penicillium notatum* by Alexander Fleming in 1929.^{1,2} The introduction of penicillin in the clinics is an integral part of the "Golden Era" of antibiotic discovery (1930s-1960s), which resulted in the development of more than 150 different types of antibiotic compounds¹. However, the vast advent of new antibiotics implicated a concurrent emergence of antibiotic resistance (Figure 1-1).¹ Soon after the introduction of penicillin as antibiotic drug in the 1940s, first cases of antibiotic resistance were observed^{1,3,4} – still until today a severe problem that accompanies not only the use of antibacterial agents but antimicrobial drugs in general.⁵ In this context it is worth mentioning that already in 1945, Alexander Fleming declared a warning that resistant bacteria will appear if antibiotics are misused in terms of incorrect dosage.⁶



Figure 1-1: Timeline of the deployment of antibiotic agent and the development of resistance towards it. Adapted from Dantas and Sommer¹

The development of antibiotic resistance has been described among all clinically important compound classes (e.g.: tetracyclines, glycopeptides)^{1,7–9} and is spread among Grampositive and Gram-negative bacteria. The most severe and hard-to-treat pathogens are grouped as so-called ESKAPE pathogens (*Enterococcus faecium*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, <u>Acinetobacter baumannii</u>, <u>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</u>, <u>Enterobacter spp.</u>).^{10–12} They depict a tremendous threat for the human population, since

they cause serious nosocomial infections and their treatment is hampered due to their ability of "escaping" the effects of clinical used antibiotics.^{13–15} Moreover, an ongoing decline in the development of effective drugs contributes severely to the failure in the treatment of resistant pathogens.¹⁶ This drop was already loomed in the mid-sixties by the "innovation gap" in the development of new effective drugs, a gap which lasted until the start of the new millennium (Figure 1-1) and we are now facing a "pre-antibiotic" era.^{17–19} Until today, the development and approval of new antibacterial agents is only slowly progressing and it is accompanied by a permanent increase of the number and types of resistant bacteria (Figure 1-2)^{5,8,20}. This problem is accompanied by the prevalence of multidrug-resistant (MDR) pathogens, which are described among Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria belonging to the ESAKPE panel. The most severe pathogens are methicillin-resistant *Staphyloccoccus aureus* (MRSA), vancomycin-resistant Enterococci (VRE), Enterobacteriaceae (e.g. *Klebsiella pneumoniae*) and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*.^{8,21}



Figure 1-2: Representation of the permanent decrease in the development of new antibiotics (black arrow) and concurrent increase of resistant bacteria (red arrow; vancomycin-resistant bacteria as example). Adapted from Schäberle et al.²⁰

The development of antibacterial resistance relies on several factors that emanate from humans, the bacteria and the antibiotic itself.^{22–24} The rise of new MDR pathogens and the spread within health care units and into the community depicts a global problem and needs to be kept down by better hygiene standards and safety precautions for caretakers and patients.^{5,25–27} Additionally, the overuse and incongruous prescription of antibiotics is a serious problem that contributes to the development of resistance.^{28–30} Numerous studies point towards a direct connection of the application of antibiotics and the emergence of resistant pathogens in hospitals.^{30,31} Moreover, the outstanding misuse of antibiotics in

agriculture (preventative or to promote growth) is as alarming. Resistant bacteria can be spread via direct contact of humans and animals (via farmers) or through the food chain during food preparation.³² In general, antibiotic resistance refers to different protection mechanisms which are carried out by bacteria to adapt towards external stress.³³ It can rely on intrinsic factors such as the presence of resistance genes³⁴ within the bacteria's genome or resistance can be acquired. For instance, the spread of resistance determinants by horizontal gene transfer (HGT; e.g. transformation, conjugation or transduction) between different bacterial species contributes to acquired resistance properties.^{29,33} This way of resistance spread is particularly problematic since it also occurs between unrelated bacteria genera like for instance between Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria.³⁵ One example is the appearance of *ermC* in Enterobacteriaceae (e.g. *E. coli*), a gene involved in resistance to macrolide, lincosamide and streptogramin (MLS) antibiotics (e.g. erythromycin) which was originally described in *Staphylococcus* species.^{35,36} Moreover, bacteria can produce detoxifying enzymes that lead to an inactivation of the molecule and thus, loss of its antibacterial function. Those enzymes include β -lactamases or extended-spectrum β lactamases (ESBL), which are mostly produced by Gram-negative bacteria and which mediate the hydrolysis of the β -lactam ring of β -lactam antibiotics, such as penicillins or carbapenemes.^{37,38} Moreover, transferases are able to modify the molecule's structure (e.g. addition of acyl groups) to prevent its binding to the target molecule.^{39,40} These enzymes include for instance phosphotransferases or acetyltransferases which are involved in modifying aminoglycosides such as streptomycin.³⁹ Another way of bacteria to protect themselves against antibacterial agents relies on modifications of the target molecule. Structural alterations contribute to resistance in a way, that the antibiotic is unable to bind to its target and to perform its antibacterial mechanism.^{33,41} For instance, changes of the cell wall composition such as alterations of the peptidoglycan or mutations within penicillinbinding proteins (PBPs) lead to resistance of cell wall targeting compounds (e.g. glycopeptides).^{33,40} Since target mutations involve modifications of important cellular processes, which often introduces a fitness cost for the bacterium, sometimes additional cellular changes are required to compensate for the acquired modifications and thereof relying altered functions.⁴⁰ For instance, the β -lactam antibiotic methicillin inhibits cell wall synthesis by binding to PBPs and thus, inhibiting their function. To compensate the loss in functional PBPs, MRSA bears the resistant determinant mecA which encode PBP2a, an alternative PBP which has only low affinity to β -lactams.^{42–44} Due to additional alterations,

PBP2a is able to maintain the cell wall synthesis and resist the antibacterial effect of methicillin.^{40,42,45}

The most frequently occurring resistance mechanisms are mediated by efflux of the compounds or by alterations of the composition of the outer membrane (OM) of Gramnegative bacteria.^{22,23} Resistance through efflux relies on the (over-)expression of efflux systems, which are distributed among all clinically relevant bacteria including for instance S. aureus (e.g. MepA), P. aeruginosa:(e.g. MexAB-OprM) and E. coli: (e.g. AcrAB-TolC).^{33,46,47} On the one hand, efflux pumps may act drug-specific (e.g. tetracycline resistance through pumps encoded by *tet* genes^{48,49}). However, on the other hand classes of efflux pumps exist [e.g. major facilitator superfamily (MFS), family, multidrug and toxic compound extrusion (MATE) family, resistance-nodulation-division (RND) family] which are able to export a broad variety of structurally unrelated antimicrobial compounds, which contributes severely to an MDR phenotype.^{40,46,50,51} Additionally, the OM of Gram-negative bacteria acts as an additional barrier to many commonly used antibacterial drugs (e.g. hydrophobic antibiotics) and contributes to impaired effectiveness due to hindered uptake.^{52–54} However, small molecules (molecular weight $< 600 \text{ Da}^{55}$) are able to enter the cell through porins, by diffusing through the lipid bilayer or by binding to lipopolysaccharide (LPS; self-mediated uptake). Nonetheless, a change or re-arrangement of structural components of the OM hampers the uptake of these compounds.^{22,56} In addition, even if a molecule is able to traverse the OM (e.g. through porins), efflux pumps counteract this process by pumping out the compounds before it is able to proceed its antibacterial action in many cases ⁴⁰; a process that severely adds to an MDR phenotype as well. Moreover, different resistance mechanisms are often mediated simultaneously⁵⁶ (e.g. increased efflux and altered OM) which complicates the treatment and underlines the urgent need of new antibacterial agents with new mechanisms of action an even new target molecules.²¹ In general, the treatment of Gram-negative bacteria is per se more challenging due to the presence of the OM. In contrast, the OM is absent in Gram-positive bacteria what implicates a somewhat easier treatment approach for this type of bacteria. Nevertheless, the appearance of MDR Gram-positive bacteria is as alarming, especially since S. aureus (incl. MRSA) depicts on of the most threating pathogens among those causing hospital- and communityacquired infections.^{15,57} Vancomycin (VAN) is used as first-line treatment against infections caused by MRSA and also against other Gram-positive bacteria including Enterococcus spp.. However, the emergence of reduced susceptibility towards vancomycin in staphylococcal and enterococcal pathogens [VRE, vancomycin-resistant S. aureus (VRSA) and vancomycin intermediate S. aureus (VISA)]^{8,57,58} depicts a major threat in the treatment of nosocomial infections. Resistance of VISA and VRSA relies mainly on the presence of the resistance gene vanA, a gene that was originally described in VRE.^{59–62} This furthermore underlines the ongoing risk of HGT and its severe contribution to MDR. Over the last years, only limited alternatives have been provided, among which the lipopeptide antibiotic daptomycin (DAP) depicts the last-resort treatment against MDR Gram-positive pathogens.⁶³ However, as suspected, the appearance of DAP-resistant bacteria was described shortly after its introduction into the clinics (Figure 1-1) and resistance is spread among different species of Gram-positive bacteria (S. aureus, Enterococcus spp.).^{64,65} Regarding infections caused by MDR Gram-negative bacteria, effective drugs are likewise limited, especially due to the appearance of resistance against last-resort antibiotics which are characterized by them causing severe side-effects (e.g. colistin). Nevertheless, the treatment of infections caused by carbapenemase-producing MDR Gram-negative species relies mainly on the application of the polypeptide antibiotic colistin.⁶⁶ However, colistin-resistance has already been described and the risk of a spread among different species is worrisome due to recent studies describing plasmid-mediated colistin-resistance (mcr-1 gene).^{67,68}

These facts, with a special consideration of the severe increase of antimicrobial resistance (AMR), emphasize on the urgent need of alternative treatment schemes.⁵ Only recently, the World Health Organization (WHO) published a priority list of pathogens, to guide the research and development (R&D) of new effective antibacterial compounds.⁶⁹ The list comprises 12 pathogens for which new antibacterial agents are urgently needed and aims to globally prioritize R&D of new treatments against those pathogens. Based on the species and type of resistance, the pathogens are grouped into critical, high and medium priority, and comprise all clinical relevant pathogens. The primarily focus (critical prioritized pathogens, Table 1-1) lies on Gram-negative pathogens (e.g. carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae), followed by MDR Gram-positive bacteria (highly prioritized; e.g. MRSA) and less severe Gram-negative species such as *Helicobacter* spp. or *Salmonella* spp.⁶⁹ In conclusion, due to the wide spread of AMR among all bacterial species, antibacterial agents with a novel mechanism of action and new target molecules need to be provided.^{5,21}

Priority 1: Critical	Type of resistance
Acinetobacter baumannii	Carbapenem-resistant
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Carbapenem-resistant
Enterobacteriaceae*	Carbapenem-resistant, 3 rd generation cephalosporin-resistant

Table 1-1: Extract of the global priority list of pathogens published by the WHO.⁶⁹

*K. pneumonia, E. coli, Enterobacter spp., Serratia spp., Proteus spp., Providencia spp., Morganella spp.

1.2 SOURCES OF NEW ANTIBIOTICS

Not only since the "Golden Era" of antibiotic discovery, but already since centuries, major sources for the discovery and development of new pharmaceuticals are natural products (NPs). They comprise compounds exhibiting various biological activities derived from natural sources such as plants and microorganisms, including bacteria and fungi.^{70–72} Ancient records of the medical use of herbal extracts demonstrate the importance of NPs as sources for active compounds since the advent of medicine.^{70,73,74} The multiplicity of today's drugs derived from NPs and their use in a wide range of medical applications, such as anticancer, antitumor or antidiabetic therapy, underpins the importance of NPs in disease control.⁷² Accounting not only NP and NP-derived drugs (26 %), but also NP-inspired drugs (synthetic compounds mimicking NPs or with NP-pharmacophore), more than 50 % of all new chemical entities (NCEs; 1562) approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) between 1981 to 2014 are NP-like.⁷² Additionally, one of the most important properties of NPs is their antibacterial effect. Until today, the percentage of antibacterial effective small molecules derived from nature constitute around 74 % of all approved antibacterial small molecules.⁷² Interestingly, those compounds are mostly derived from soil living bacteria.^{70,72} The beneficial effects of these secondary metabolites produced by bacteria have already been discovered long before the existence of the actual active metabolites has been proven. One example depicts ancient reports of using red soil from the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan to treat skin infections.⁷⁵ Those applications already pointed towards the importance of soildwelling bacteria producing potent antibacterial compounds. Indeed, recent studies confirmed the effectiveness of red soil samples against S. aureus and Micrococcus luteus and identified several known antibiotic producer strains within the soil samples.⁷⁵ They comprise Lysobacter spp., Bacillus spp. and actinomycetes, with the latter one being the most studied and successful order of bacteria producing potent biologically active NPs.^{76,77} Actinomycetes are Gram-positive bacteria and the order comprises - amongst others species of the genera Amycolatopsis and Streptomyces, whereas Streptomyces is the most important genus with regards to antibiotic production.^{78,79} Already 70 years ago, the first antibiotic from *Streptomyces* (streptothricin) was described and the breakthrough of this genus as important source for new antibiotics was impelled by the isolation of streptomycin from *Streptomyces griseus* in 1944.^{78,80} The aminoglycoside streptomycin was the first antibiotic effective against tuberculosis and is still used as second-line anti-tuberculosis drug.⁸¹ Up to 80 % of contemporary used clinically relevant drugs are derived from *Streptomyces*.^{77,78} Not only this, but also the wide diversity of structural and mechanistic features⁷⁷ - including all typical antibiotic mechanisms (inhibition of RNA, DNA, protein or cell wall synthesis; Figure 1-3) - illustrates the importance of this genus in the development of antibiotics. Examples for clinically used NPs and NP-derived drugs are DAP produced by *S. roseosporus*⁸², VAN produced by *S. orientalis*⁸³ or tetracycline (TET) produced by *S. rimosus* and *S. aureofacines*.⁴⁹



Figure 1-3: Schematic representation of the mechanism of action and target-site of several antibiotic compounds derived from actinobacteria. Adapted from Procopio et al.⁷⁷

Nevertheless, the isolation of new compounds with potent antibacterial activity from former promising sources (e.g. *Streptomyces*) declines.⁷⁸ At first glance, this seems to rely on the complete exploitation of the microbial sources as producer of antimicrobial compounds, but studies estimate that there are still many unknown compounds to be discovered.⁸⁴ Nevertheless, the frequency of identifying novel antibiotics is dropping. This is due to the fact, that a further exploitation of promising sources is hampered since already known antibiotics appear in much higher frequencies what clouds the identification of so far unknown antibiotics.^{84,85} Moreover, alternative approaches such as high-throughput

screening of natural product libraries on new potential targets or total chemical synthesis were rather unsuccessful in developing new potential lead structures.⁸⁶ Even though total synthesis seems to be a viable alternative to provide larger amounts of compounds, this route is accompanied by drawbacks. The structurally complex NPs often require a multiplicity of synthetic steps to finally yield the desired molecule.^{87,88} Thus, new innovative strategies and novel sources for the development of new antimicrobial drugs are needed. One promising approach is the examination of so far unexplored or under-exploited genera (found for instance among rare actinobacteria, myxobacteria, marine sponges) and under-explored habitats (e.g. deep seas).⁸⁹⁻⁹³ This approach is however often accompanied by major drawbacks such as difficulties regarding the cultivation of bacteria in laboratory environments and low yields of produced NPs.94,95 Metagenomic studies estimated that of all microbial species, approximately 99 % are uncultured (no growth conditions reported under laboratory conditions), but at the same time they are promising sources to produce novel and potent compounds.^{96,97} Thus, alternative and innovative strategies to increase biodiversity of strain collection and at the same time chemical diversity of isolated NPs are needed.^{79,98,99} For instance, the development of an isolation chip¹⁰⁰ (iChip) led to the discovery of potent new antibiotics from previously uncultured bacteria, such as the cell wall inhibitor teixobactin.¹⁰¹ Nonetheless, microbial fermentations, production optimization and the development of an efficient downstream process are highly challenging as well.^{102,103} This implies to limitations in the biological and chemical characterization of potential new agents.

Considering these issues in NP discovery, an alternative way for drug development is the reassessment of already known and effective, but neglected NP scaffolds. Such antibiotics might have shown suboptimal pharmacological properties, which could not be addressed at the time upon their discovery due to minor chemical or genetic engineering knowledge or other antibiotics with similar activity profile entered the market at the time of their discovery and development into a drug was not further pursued (e.g. octapeptins¹⁰⁴). Already known NP scaffolds can serve as basis for further structural modifications to generate new derivatives through different chemical approaches (e.g. semi-synthesis). Moreover, biosynthetic studies such as the investigations of biosynthesis gene clusters and genetic engineering paves the way towards the development of new NP derivatives with improved pharmaceutical properties. Improvements of existing compound classes, based on these techniques, have already been shown to be successful for e.g. ceftaroline a cephalosporin class derivative.¹⁰⁵ In summary, this so-called rekindling of old antibiotics can provide potent drug candidates, which can be forwarded into (pre-)clinical development¹⁰⁶ In antibiotic discovery and hit to lead programs the overall aim is to provide derivatives with optimized pharmaceutical properties (ADMET: <u>absorption</u>, <u>distribution</u>, <u>metabolism</u>, <u>excretion</u>, <u>toxicity</u>), improved activity, and resistance-breaking properties and without toxic liabilities.

Chelocardins and telomycins depict two examples of such under-exploited compound classes derived from actinobacteria, which will be further described in the following paragraphs (1.3 and 1.4).

1.3 CHELOCARDINS

Chelocardin (CHD; formerly known as M-319 or cetocycline; Figure 1-4) belongs to the family of tetracyclines (TCs; Figure 1-4) and is produced by the actinomycete Amycolatopsis sulphurea.¹⁰⁷ It was already described in the early 1960s and CHD exhibits – like other members of tetracycline family – broad-spectrum antibacterial activity.^{107–109} TCs inhibit the protein biosynthesis by binding to 30S subunit of the ribosome and are used as first-line treatment against infectious diseases such as respiratory (e.g. atypical pneumonia) or genital infection (e.g. cervicitis) and additionally applied as alternative therapy for syphilis or community-acquired pneumonia.^{48,110} Moreover, several non-antibacterial properties are described, such as anti-inflammatory or anti-apoptotic effects or the inhibition of matrix metalloproteinases.^{110,111} Nevertheless, the main area of application of TCs comprises the treatment of bacterial infections. Their era as antibacterial agents began in 1948 with the isolation of chlortetracycline (aureomycin) from S. aureofaciens, followed by the discovery of oxytetracycline (OTC, terramycin) from S. rimosus.^{112,113} Chemical modifications of chlortetracycline (catalytic hydrogenation) led to a C-7-deschloro derivative which was named tetracycline (TET), the structurally simplest member of the first generation of TCs. Shortly after, TET was also found to be naturally produced by S. aureofaciens and S. rimosus as it serves as precursor molecule in the generation of chlortetracycline.^{114–116} Importantly, TET depicts one of the first semi-synthetically generated and FDA approved antibiotics used in the clinics.^{49,117} Between the 1960s and the end of the 20th century Pfizer and Lederle Laboratories developed a second generation of tetracyclines. The overall aim was to improve pharmaceutical properties, to enhance TCs antibiotic activity and decrease toxic effects. The most potent TC derivative of that time was minocycline (Figure 1-4), which exhibits improved pharmacokinetic properties compared to previously applied TCs.^{112,118} However, due to increasing reports of resistance against TCs, a third generation – also known as glycylcyclines – was developed by using minocycline as precursor molecule.^{119,120} The most prominent molecule among this series is tigecycline, which was the first member of the family of glycylcyclines and it was approved by the FDA in 2005.^{121–123} Even though tigecycline shares the common mechanism of action of TCs through inhibiting the bacterial protein synthesis, this molecule is able to inhibit bacteria which carry TET-resistance genes (e.g. *tetB* coding for an efflux pump).^{48,124–126} TCs act by binding to the 30S subunit of the ribosome, and block the binding site of aminoacyl-tRNA, which hinders the transfer of amino acid residues to peptide chains and consequently the elongation of the growing peptide chain is inhibited.



Tigecycline

Figure 1-4: Structures of typical and atypical (light-grey box) tetracyclines and derivatives.

Importantly, CHD belongs to a group of TCs for which a different mechanism of action was described. This group includes anhydrotetracycline, anhydrochlortetracycline, 4-epi-anhydrochlortetracycline, 6-thiatetracycline, and CHD, all of which do not seem to interact with the ribosome, but rather interfere with the cytoplasmic bacterial membrane.^{127–129} Moreover, this group of molecules act bactericidal, whereas all other TCs exhibit a bacteriostatic effect.^{48,127} Based on these observations, the family of tetracycline antibiotics was divided into two classes: typical and atypical TCs.¹²⁸ Typical TCs act by inhibiting protein biosynthesis, whereas atypical TCs, such as CHD, seem to act on bacterial membranes. Previous studies indicated that the differences regarding the target site rely on

different structural features. All TCs (typical and atypical) share a common basic structure: a DCBA naphthacene core (Figure 1-5). However, the main difference of the two classes of TCs relies on a different aromatic pattern of the C ring. This seems to leads to a more planar structure in the case of atypical TCs (aromatic C ring), and an increased lipophilicity in comparison to typical TCs. The more lipophilic form of this TC sub-class of TC is thought to be the main reason why atypical TCs interfere with the membrane and do not primarily interact with the ribosome.^{127,128} In the case of CHD, additional structural differences are the primary amine at C-4 (tertiary amine in typical TCs) and CHD bears an additional methylgroup at C-9. Moreover, typical TCs carry a carboxamido group at C-2, which is replaced by an acetyl group in CHD. Importantly, this structural feature at C-2 is found among all typical tetracyclines and is crucial for these molecules to perform their antibacterial action as observed in extensive SAR studies.^{130–133}





Figure 1-5: Structural differences of typical and atypical tetracyclines.

Besides the differences in the mechanism of action, the most important characteristic of CHD is its ability to inhibit tetracycline-resistant bacteria.^{129,134,135} Resistance against TCs can rely on innate mechanisms, such as export by small molecule transporters (drug export) or a decreased permeability (OM). However, TET-specific resistance determinants contribute to acquired resistance mechanisms (Table 1-2). These mechanisms mainly rely on efflux mediated through 28 individual classes of pumps. Moreover, 12 resistance determinants are involved in ribosomal protection, two in compound degradation and five mutations are related to an impaired binding affinity to the ribosome.¹¹² Resistance through ribosomal protection is mediated by specific proteins (ribosomal protection proteins), which

hinder the compound to perform its action on the ribosome.⁴⁸ The frequent occurrence of resistance against TCs is primarily caused by resistance determinants on mobile genetic elements, such as plasmids or conjugative chromosomal elements. Those facilitate the horizontal gene transfer among different bacterial species.^{136,137} Based on this, it is important to find alternative antibacterial agents, which are able to inhibit the multiplicity of bacteria bearing TC resistance determinants within their genome.

Efflux			Ribosomal protection	Degradation	rRNA mutations
tetA	tetY	<i>tetAB</i> (46)	tetM	tetX	G1058C
tetB	tetZ	tcr3	tetO	tet37	A926T
tetC	tet30	otrC	tetQ		G927T
tetD	tet31	otrB	tetS		A928C
tetE	tet33		tetT		ΔG942
tetG	tet35		tetW		
tetH	tet38		tetB(P)		
tetJ	tet39		tet32		
tetK	tet40		tetB36		
tetL	tet41		tet44		
tetA(P)	tet42		ortA		
tetV	tet45		tet		

Table 1-2: Genes and mutations involved in tetracycline resistance. Adapted from Nguyen et al.¹¹²

tet: tetracycline resistance gene; *ort*: oxytetracycline resistance gene; Δ : deletion

Due to its broad-spectrum activity and putative lack of cross-resistance with TCs, CHD depicts a promising candidate to be used as alternative to typical TCs. Moreover, in the late 1970s, it was already shown that CHD displays potent *in vivo* efficacy. In a small phase II clinical study, twelve patients suffering from urinary tract infections (pyelonephritis) caused by Gram-negative bacteria were treated with CHD and infection was cured in all cases.¹³⁸

Even though the effectiveness of CHD comprises the inhibition of a wide range of bacteria, one bacterial species belonging to the ESKAPE group of pathogens is not susceptible. Natural CHD is not able to inhibit the growth of *P. aeruginosa*, a species that is also found among TC-resistant pathogens.⁴⁸ To improve CHD's pharmaceutical properties and to widen its antibacterial spectrum, structural modifications were introduced. Based on the knowledge that the carboxamido group onC-2 of typical TCs is crucial for their activity, this moiety was installed on CHD through biosynthetic engineering. 2-carboxamindo-2-deacetyl-CHD (amidochelocardin, CDCHD, Figure 1-4) depicts a CHD derivative, which comprises all structural important features from typical and atypical TCs.¹³⁹ Activity studies revealed

CDCHD to exhibit an improved antibacterial activity in comparison to the parent molecule CHD, including significant inhibitory effects against clinical isolates of *Pseudomonas* species.¹³⁹

Despite the fact that chelocardins depict potent molecules with resistance-breaking properties, their mechanism of action is still far from understood and it is only controversially discussed. On the one hand, reports describe CHD as inhibitor of protein synthesis¹⁴⁰ and on the other hand, CHD was shown to induce cell lysis by interfering with the cell membrane and no interaction with the ribosome was found.^{127–129,135} Interestingly, a recent study, which was based on a global proteome analysis, predicated a dual mechanism of action of CHD through inhibition of the protein biosynthesis and interference with the cell membrane in a concentration-dependent manner (low concentrations: protein biosynthesis; higher concentrations: membrane).¹⁴¹ However, no specific hint towards the main target molecule exists and it still remains elusive.

To further optimize the compound class of chelocardins and to develop a potent antibiotic drug, which is able to overcome AMR, is important to identify the target molecule and to fully characterize the mechanism of action.

1.4 TELOMYCINS

Telomycin (TM; Figure 1-6) belongs to the family of cyclic depsipeptide antibiotic molecules and is composed of 11 amino acids, five of which are non-proteinogenic amino acids.^{142–144} The natural product TM is already known since the 1950s and is produced by the actinomycete *Streptomyces canus*.^{145–147} Besides reports of TM's effectiveness against Gram-positive bacteria^{144,146,148} and its complete structural elucidation more than 20 years after the first description of TM^{142–144}, no extensive investigation on the natural product was documented until the characterisation of the biosynthesis gene cluster in 2015.¹⁴⁸ Within the latter study, natural lipopeptides were identified to serve as precursors for TM and intriguingly, these derivatives showed improved activity compared to TM itself.¹⁴⁸ Overall, lipopeptide antibiotics are mainly actinobacteria, but also other species such as *Bacillus* spp., *Enterobacter* spp. or *Citrobacter* spp. were described to produce potent lipopeptides.^{149,150} Lipopeptides are structurally related as they are composed of a fatty acyl chain which is covalently bound to the *N*-terminus of a linear or cyclic peptide core.^{19,151,152}

classes of lipopeptides exist (e.g. surfactin, fengycin, polymyxins).^{149,153} Their lipid tails can differ in length (C_6 - C_{18}) and composition (type of fatty acid moiety) and amino acids can vary in their type (e.g. acidic, basic, aromatic), in the number (2-25) or in their configuration (D, L).¹⁵⁴ Moreover, due to the fact that lipopeptides are generated via a non-ribosomal biosynthetic pathway, they are often composed of non-proteinogenic or unusually configured or modified proteinogenic amino acids.^{19,154} Lipopeptides are active against MDR bacteria, but most do not exhibit broad-spectrum activity and rather act one type of bacteria (Gram-positive or Gram-negative).^{19,151,155} In contrast to anionic lipopeptides - which solely act on Gram-positive bacteria (e.g. DAP, surfactin) - cationic lipopeptides are able to travers the OM (self-mediated uptake) and inhibit Gram-negative bacteria (e.g. polymyxin B).^{19,155} The characterization of the first lipopeptides is already more than 60 years ago. Among the anionic lipopeptide class amphomycin was the first characterized member and isolated in the early 1950s¹⁵⁶, followed by the discovery of structurally related classes such as friulimicins and glycinocins.¹⁵⁴ Regarding cationic lipopeptides, polymyxins depict one of the oldest family among this type of lipopeptide antibiotics.^{153,157} Over the past decades, only few new antibiotics were approved by the FDA, among which the cyclic lipopeptide DAP was successfully approved for the treatment of complicated skin and soft tissue infections caused by Gram-positive bacteria including MRSA.^{63,158} Nevertheless, the exact mechanism of action of DAP and of most lipopeptides is not complete understood, but they seem interact with the bacterial membrane.^{59,155} Moreover – regardless of their net charge – all lipopeptides are able to interact with the bacterial membrane via their lipid side chain. Certainly, a class of calcium-dependent-antibiotics (CDA) exists among lipopeptides comprising for instance DAP or tsushimycin, both of which require the presence of divalent ions (Ca²⁺) to fulfil their complete activity.¹⁵¹ Only recently, a novel class of CDA cyclic lipopeptides, the malacidins, were described. Malacidins were discovery within on a cultureindependent screening approach and characterized to exhibit promising resistance-breaking properties including activities against MDR Gram-positive bacteria.¹⁵⁹ This supports not only the potency of lipopeptides, but also the importance of applying novel approaches to identify new compound classes. Regarding the class of telomycins (TMs) Fu et al. identified new natural telomycin derivatives, and described the semi-synthesis of several lipopeptide TM analogues with improved effectiveness. One semi-synthetic compound depicts TM-Dodec (Figure 1-6), an acyl-derivative bearing an additional dodecanoic acid side chain at the *iso*-¹Asp terminus of the natural molecule.



Figure 1-6: Structure of the natural product telomycin (TM) and semi-synthetic generated derivatives TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct.

TM is described to act bactericidal against Gram-positive bacteria including MRSA, VISA and VRE.^{146,148,160} Since the prevalence of MDR among Gram-positive bacteria is still increasing and alternative treatments are missing, TMs seems to be a viable alternative for the treatment of infections caused by such pathogens. This area of application might be especially favourable since TM is effective against DAP-resistant pathogens and the acylated derivative TM-Dodec exerts an even stronger bactericidal effect on *S. aureus* compared to the gold-standard antibiotic DAP.¹⁴⁸

Only recently, Magarvey and co-workers described the identification of TM's putative target molecule. Within their study, a large collection of NPs (1908) was profiled by applying a retro-biosynthetic algorithm, aiming to identify antibiotic classes with unknown mechanisms of action or mechanisms of resistance. Thereby, TM was identified as promising candidate and a further investigation led to the characterization of the phospholipid cardiolipin as binding partner for TMs.¹⁶¹ Besides this report and a study on a truncated version of TM, named LL-AO341 β_1 (Figure 1-7), no reports on the mechanism of action exist. LL-AO341 β_1 was described not to be involved in classical antibacterial mechanisms such as the inhibition of RNA, DNA, protein and peptidoglycan synthesis. However, this molecule was postulated to interact with the cytoplasmic membrane by a "de-energization" effect.¹⁶⁰ Nevertheless,

even though CL was identified as target molecule, solely the binding of TMs to CL is unlikely to cause the bactericidal effects, especially since a depletion of CL is not lethal.¹⁶² Therefor it still needs to be further investigated if TMs act on a specific target protein and how exactly this compound class performs the bactericidal mechanism of action. Additionally, the impact of the addition of acyl chains to TM (TM-Dodec, TM-*N*-Oct; Figure 1-6) should be considered as well.



Figure 1-7: Structure of truncated TM analogue LL-AO341 β_1 .

1.5 OUTLINE OF THE DISSERTATION

The aim of the present work was the elucidation of the mechanism of action and resistance mechanism of chelocardins and telomycins and the identification of (additional) target molecules for both compound classes.

The first part of this study deals with the biological characterisation of chelocardin and its amidated analogue 2-carboxamindo-2-deacetyl-CHD (CDCHD). For both derivatives a comprehensive *in vitro* activity-based screen was performed and antibacterial as well as cytotoxic effects were investigated. Moreover, derivatives derived from semi-synthesis and genetic engineering were used to establish structure-activity relationships and to compare the *in vitro* potency of these compounds to both parent molecules, CHD and CDCHD, aiming to identify a derivative with improved overall profile.

Several *in vitro* studies were applied to reveal further insight into the mechanism of action of both compounds with a focus on cell viability and cellular processes such as the synthesis of macromolecules. Additionally, Gram-positive and Gram-negative wildtype species

served to generate CHD- and CDCHD-resistant mutants aiming to characterise the mechanism underlying resistance and preferably to identify the target molecule.

In the second part, telomycin and two semi-synthetic derived analogues, TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct were biologically characterized, and screened for their antibacterial effectiveness against laboratory pathogens and clinical isolates. The *in vitro* generation of TM- and TM-Dodec-resistant bacteria and analysis of their genomes in comparison to the wildtype genome was performed to elucidate the resistance mechanism and to gain further hints towards the target molecule. Those results served as basis for the investigation of the mechanism of action of TM and both acyl derivatives. Studies included the characterization of the interaction of the compounds with potential binding partners and target fishing experiments with biotinylated tool compounds.

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 MATERIALS

2.1.1 COMPOUNDS

Chelocardin is produced by *Amycolatopsis sulphurea* NRRL2822 and derivatives were synthesized or isolated from the genetically engineered producer strain. Compounds were kindly provided by several co-workers from HZI and HIPS: Dr. Antoine Abou Fayad, Dr. Tadeja Lukežič, Chantal Bader, Dr. Rolf Jansen, Kerstin Schober, Dr. Suryanarayana Birudukota and Dr. Charlotte Grandclaudon.

Telomycin is produced by *Streptomyces canus* ATCC 12646 and derivatives were synthesized from the isolated natural product. All compounds were kindly provided by Dr. Armin Bauer (Sanofi) and Dr. Antoine Abou Fayad (HIPS-MINS).

2.1.2 CHEMICALS

All chemicals were of reagent grade quality and were obtained from commercial sources.

2.1.3 BACTERIAL GROWTH MEDIUM

All media were prepared in Milli-Q-water (MQ) and sterilized by autoclaving. Agar-based media were prepared by the addition of 1.6 % agar (Sigma Aldrich) to the medium.

Medium	Ingredients	Concentration
	casein peptone	1.5 %
	soya peptone	5 %
CASO agar (Carl Roth); pH 7.3	NaCl	5 %
	Agar	1.5 %
	peptone from casein	0.5 %
	peptone from beef	0.1 %
свз, рп /	peptone from protease	0.5 %
	yeast extract	0.1 %
	Sigma-Aldrich [®] Middlebrook 7H9	19.7 %
Middlebrook 7H9 medium (M7H9)	albumin-dextrose-catalase enrichment	10 %
	Glycerol	2 mL/L

Table 2-1: Bacterial growth medium.

	casein hydrolysate	1.75 %
Müller Hinton broth (MHB, BD Difco): pH 7.4	beef infusion solids	0.2 %
	Starch	0.15 %
	casein acid hydrolysate	1.75 %
	beef extract	0.3 %
Müller Hinton broth II (MHBII, BD Difco): cation adjusted: pH 7.3	starch	0.15 %
bb blico), cation adjusted, pri 7.5	CaCl ₂	1.25 mM
	MgCl ₂	0.8 mM
	NaCl	1 %
LB; pH 8.0	tryptone	1 %
	yeast extract	0.5 %
	NaCl	0.5 %
	tryptone	1 %
LB _{low} -Hyg; pH 8.0	yeast extract	0.5 %
	Hygromycin B	100 µg/mL
	NaCl	1 %
	tryptone	1 %
LB-Apr; pH 8.0	yeast extract	0.5 %
	Apramycin	50 µg/mL
	NaCl	0.05 %
	tryptone	2 %
	yeast extract	0.5 %
SOC	KC1	2.5 mM
	MgCl ₂	10 mM
	MgSO ₄	10 mM
	glucose	20 mM
	peptone from casein	1.7 %
	peptone from soya	0.3 %
Truptic Soy Broth (TSB): pH 7.3	NaCl	0.5 %
Trypue Soy Brour (15B), pri 7.5	K_2 HPO ₄	0.25 %
	glucose	0.15 %
	yeast extract	0.25 %
	peptone from casein	1.7 %
	peptone from soya	0.3 %
TSB-G, pH 7.3	NaCl	0.5 %
	K_2HPO_4	0.25 %
	glucose	0.9 %
	yeast extract	0.25 %

2.1.4 MICROORGANISMS

Table 2-2: Microorganisms.

Classification	Strain	Source
	Acinetobacter baumannii DSM-30008	DSMZ
	Burkholderia cenocepacia DSM-16553	DSMZ
	Citrobacter freundii DSM-30039	DSMZ
	Enterobacter aerogenes DSM-30053	DSMZ
	Escherichia coli DSM-1116	DSMZ
	Escherichia coli ATCC-25922	ATCC
	Escherichia coli TolC	internal strain collection
	Escherichia coli WT	Prof. Dr. Peter Heisig ^[a]
	Escherichia coli WT-III	Prof. Dr. Peter Heisig ^[a]
	Escherichia coli WT-3	Prof. Dr. Peter Heisig ^[a]
Carrier and the	Haemophilus influenzae DSM-11970	DSMZ
Gram-negative	Klebsiella pneumoniae DSM-30104	DSMZ
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa DSM-11128	DSMZ
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA14	internal strain collection
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA14 ∆mexAB	Prof. Dr. Susanne Häußle ^[b]
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA14 ∆mexCD	Prof. Dr. Susanne Häußle ^[b]
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA14 $\Delta mexEF$	Prof. Dr. Susanne Häußle ^[b]
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA14 ∆mexXY	Prof. Dr. Susanne Häußle ^[b]
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa DSM-24599	DSMZ
	Proteus vulgaris DSM-2140	DSMZ
	Proteus mirabilis DSM-4479	DSMZ
	Serratia marcescens DSM-30121	DSMZ
	Bacillus subtilis DSM-10	DSMZ
	Bacillus megaterium DSM-32	DSMZ
	Corynebacterium glutamicum DSM-20300	DSMZ
	Enterococcus faecalis DSM-20478	DSMZ
	Enterococcus faecium DSM-20477	ATCC
	Streptococcus pneumoniae DSM-11865	DSMZ
	Micrococcus luteus DSM-1790	DSMZ
	Micrococcus luteus DSM-20030	DSMZ
	Mycobacterium smegmatis mc ² 155	ATCC
Gram positiva	Mycobacterium bovis BCG DSM-43990	DSMZ
Orani-positive	Nocardia asteroides DSM-43757	DSMZ
	Staphylococcus epidermidis DSM-28765	DSMZ
	Staphylococcus carnosus DSM-20501	DSMZ
	Staphylococcus aureus DSM-346	DSMZ
	Staphylococcus aureus DSM-11822	DSMZ
	Staphylococcus aureus ATCC-29213	ATCC
	Staphylococcus aureus Cowan1	Prof. Dr. Markus Bischoff ^[c]
	Staphylococcus aureus Newman	Prof. Dr. Markus Bischoff ^[c]
	Staphylococcus aureus N315	Prof. Dr. Markus Bischoff ^[c]
	Staphylococcus aureus Mu50	Prof. Dr. Markus Bischoff ^[c]

^[a] University Hamburg, Department Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Hamburg, Germany; ^[b] Helmholtz Centre for Infection Research, Braunschweig/Twincore, Hannover, Germany; ^[c] Saarland University Hospital, Homburg, Germany

2.1.5 CELL LINES

Table 2-3: Cell lines.

Cell line	Species	Туре	Medium	Supplements
HCT-116	human	colon carcinoma	McCoy's 5A	10 % FBS
HepG2	human	hepatocellular carcinoma	DMEM	10 % FBS
L929	murine	connective tissue fibroblast	RPMI-1640	10 % FBS
RAW 264.7	murine	macrophage-like (leukemia virus- induced tumour)	DMEM	10 % FBS
THP-1	human	acute monocytic leukemia	RPMI-1640	10 % FBS
U-2 OS	human	bone osteosarcoma	McCoy's 5A	10 % FBS

2.1.6 CELL CULTURE MEDIUM AND REAGENTS

Reagent	Description	Manufacturer
Dulbecco's modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM)	4500 mg/L glucose L-glutamine NaHCO ₃	Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany
McCoy's 5A	L-glutamine NaHCO ₃	Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany
Rosewell Park Memorial Institute Medium (RPMI- 1640)	L-glutamine NaHCO ₃	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Foetal bovine serum (FBS)	heat inactivated, FBS Good	PAN Biotech GmbH, Aidenbach, Deutschland

 Table 2-4: Cell culture reagents.

2.1.7 BUFFER

<u>HBS-P (pH 7.4)</u>	
HEPES	0.01 M
NaCl	0.15 M
Tween-20	0.005 % (v/v)

<u>HBS-EP (pH 7.4)</u>

HEPES	0.01 M
NaCl	0.15 M
EDTA	3 mM
Tween-20	0.005 % (v/v)
HEPES buffer (pH 7.2, adjusted with NaCl)

HEPES 5 mM

NAE buffer

Na-acetate (3M, pH 5.1)50 mMEDTA10 mM

<u>NAES buffer</u> NAE buffer + 1 % (w/v) SDS

<u>NAE-phenol</u> 50 mL NAE buffer per 500 mL aqua-phenol

PBS (pH 7.45)

sodium phosphates10 mMKCl2.68 mMNaCl140 nM

One solid PBS tablet (GibcoTM, Thermo Fisher Scientific) was dissolved in 500 mL distilled water.

PBS-T

PBS + 0.05 % (v/v) Tween-20

SPR coupling buffer

Acetic acid 1 mM pH was adjusted to 4, 4.5, 5 or 5.5 with sodium hydroxide

Maleic acid1 mMpH was adjusted to 6, 6.5 or 7 with sodium hydroxide

TBS-T (pH 7.0, adjusted with HCl)

Tris	0.1 M
NaCl	0.15 M
Tween-20	0.1 % (v/v)

<u>TCA (10 %)</u>

Trichloroacetic acid	10 % (w/v)
NaCl	1 M

TCA (2.5 %)

Trichloroacetic acid	2.5 % (w/v)
NaCl	1 M

TMRM assay buffer (pH 7.35, adjusted with 10 N NaOH)

NaCl	135 mM
KCl	5.4 mM
MgCl ₂	2 mM
Glucose	10 mM
CaCl ₂	2 mM
HEPES	10 mM

SDS-PAGE

SDS-PAGE loading buffer (4 x)

Tris/HCl (1 M, pH 6.8)	500 mM
Glycerol (87 %)	30% (v/v)
Bromophenol blue	0.01% (w/v)
SDS	10% (w/v)
DTT	4 mM

SDS-PAGE running buffer (4x; pH 8.6, adjusted with HCl)		
Tris	250 mM	
Glycine	2 M	

SDS-PAGE separating buffer (4x; pH 8.8, adjusted with HCl)

Tris	1.5 M
10 % SDS	4 % (w/v)

SDS-PAGE stacking buffer (4x; pH 6.7, adjusted with HCl)

Tris	0.5 M
10 % SDS	4 % (w/v)

Separating gel (12.5 %)

Bis-Acrylamide (30 % v/v)	5 mL
4x separating buffer (pH 8.8)	2.5 mL
dH ₂ 0	2.5 mL
TEMED	10 µL
APS (10 %)	100 µL

Stacking gel (5 %)

Bis-Acrylamide (30 % v/v)	830 µL
4x stacking buffer (pH 6.8)	1275 μL
dH ₂ 0	3 mL
TEMED	5 µL
APS (10 % <i>w</i> / <i>v</i>)	50 µL

2.1.8 OTHER REAGENTS

Table 2-5: Reagents.

Reagent	Description	Manufacturer
Aqua-Phenol	Water saturated phenol	Carl Roth GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany
Bis-acrylamide	30 % (v/v)	Carl Roth GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany
DECP water	Ambion [®] DEPC-treated water nuclease-free	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Schwerte, Germany
DMSO		Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
DNase I	RNase-free, 2 U/mL	New England Biolabs GmbH, Frankfurt a. Main, Germany
Hoechst33342		Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany
Lysozyme	20,000 U/mg	Carl Roth GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany
MTT	Thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
NAO	Acridine orange 10-nonyl bromide	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
NPN	1-N-phenylnaphtylamine	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
PBS	pH 7.4, without Ca ²⁺ /Mg ²⁺	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Ribonuclease A	~ 90 U/mg	Carl Roth GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany
Phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol	25:24:1	Carl Roth GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany
Polymerase	GoTag Green Mastermix	Promega, Madison, WI, USA
Proteinase K from Tritirachium album	\geq 30 U/mg	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Proteinase inhibitor	cOmplete™ EDTA-free proteinase inhibitor cocktail	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Random Primer	3 ug/µL	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Schwerte, Germany
RevertAid Premium Reverse Transcriptase	200 U/µL	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Schwerte, Germany

RiboLock RNase Inhibitor 40 U/µL	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Schwerte, Germany
Restriction enzymes	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Schwerte, Germany
Tetramethyl rhodamine methyl ester (TMRM)	Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany
Tetramethyl ethylenediamine (TEMED)	Carl Roth GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany

2.1.9 CONSUMABLES AND TECHNICAL EQUIPMENT

Table	2-6:	Consumables

Description	Туре	Manufacturer	
6-well plates	Costar [®] 6 well, sterile, clear, flat bottom	Coring Life Sciences, Amsterdam, Netherlands	
24-well plates	Corning [®] CellBIND [®] 24 well, sterile, clear, flat bottom	Coring Life Sciences, Amsterdam, Netherlands	
	Corning [®] CellBIND [®] 96 well, sterile, clear, flat bottom	Coring Life Sciences, Amsterdam, Netherlands	
	96 well imaging plates, black, clear, flat bottom	BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany	
96-well plates	96 well, sterile, clear, flat bottom	Sarstedt AG & Co., Nümbrecht, Germany	
	96 well, white, flat bottom	Coring Life Sciences, Amsterdam, Netherlands	
	96 well, black, flat bottom	Greiner Bio-One, Frinckhausen, Germany	
Culture flasks	25 cm^2 (T-25), filter cap	Sarstedt AG & Co.,	
	75 cm ² (T-75), filter cap	Nümbrecht, Germany	
Cyro beads	Chemically treated beads covered with special cryogenetic preservative solution within a cryovial	Mast Diagnostica GmbH, Reinfeld, Germany	
	Glass microfiber binder free filter,	WhatmanTM_GF	
Filter	Whatman [™] cellulose filter grade 1	Healthcare, Germany	
Petri dishes	60 x 15 mm, sterile	Greiner Bio-One, Frinckhausen, Germany	

	miRNAse mini Kit	Qiagen GmbH, Hilden, Germany
	BacLight™ Bacterial Membrane Potential Kit (B34950)	Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany
Kits	LIVE/DEAD® BacLight [™] Bacterial Viability Kit for microscopy and quantitative assays	Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany
	SPR amine coupling kit	Biacore, GE Healthcare, Germany
	NucleoSpin [®] Gel and PCR Clean- up Kit	Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany
Magnetic Beads	M-280 Dynabeads; Streptavidin Magentic beads	Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany
Serological pipettesCorning®Costar® Stripette (2 m 5 mL, 10 mL, 25 mL, 50 mL)		Coring Life Sciences, Amsterdam, Netherlands
SPR vials	Plastic Vials and Caps, Ø 11 mm Plastic Vials, Ø 15 mm	Biacore, GE Healthcare, Germany
SPR chips	CM5	Biacore, GE Healthcare, Germany
TLC plates	Silica gel, 0.2 mm, 8x4 cm aluminium cards	Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany
Tubes	15 mL PhaseLockGel™ tubes	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany

Table 2-7: Technical equipment.

Device	Туре	Manufacturer
Delement	Acculab Vicon	Sartorius, Göttingen, Germany
Balances	Precisa XB200A	Grevimetrics AG, Dietikon, Switzerland
	5180R	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
Centrifuges	CT15RE	VWR, Leuven, Belgium
	Ultracentrifuge, Avanti J-26 S	Beckman Coulter, Krefeld, Germany
Concentrator	SpeedVac Concentrator Plus	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
Freeze dryer	Vacuum freeze dryer	Christ, Osterode am Harz, Germany
French press	Fresh press	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Schwerte, Germany
Turnhalan	37 °C	Memmert, Büchenbach, Germany
Incubator	CO ₂ , Innova CO-170	New Brunswick Scientific, Edison, USA

Microscope (automated)	Pathway 855	BD, Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany
Microscope (optical)	ECLIPSE TS100	Niko, Düsseldorf, Germany
PCR cycler	Mastercycler	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
Dhatamatan (UV/(Via)	NanoDrop 2000c (spectral)Thermo Fisher Scientifi Schwerte, Germany	
Photometer (UV/VIS)	BioPhotometer Plus	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
Pipettors	Accu-jet pro	Brand, Wertheim, Germany
Pipettes	Transferpette® S, (0.1-2.5 μL, 0.5- 10 μL, 2-20 μL, 20-200 μL, 100- 1000 μL) Transferpette® S-8 (20-200 μL) Transferpette® S-12 (20-200 μL)	Brand, Wertheim, Germany
Plate reader	Infinite 200 M Pro	Tecan Group Ltd., Männedorf, Switzerland
qPCR cycler	Peqstar 96Q	Peqlab Biotechnology GmbH, Erlangen, Germany
Safety Cabinets	Hera Safe, KS-18	Kendro, Langenselbold, Germany
Scintillation counter	MicroBeta TriLux 1450 LSC & Luminescence	Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA
Shaker	Infors HT Minitron Shaker	Infors HAT, Basel, Switzerland
Surface Plasmon resonance (SPR)	X100	Biacore, GE Healthcare, Germany

2.1.10 PLASMIDS

Table 2-8: Plasmids.

Plasmid	Description	Selection marker	Source
pIJ773	template for apramycin resistance cassette	apramycin	Huang et al. ¹⁶³
pACBSR-Hyg	p15A replicon plasmid; arabinose- inducible λ-Red recombinase	hygromycin	Huang et al. ¹⁶³
pFLP-Hyg	heat-shock inducible FLP recombinase	hygromycin	Huang et al. ¹⁶³

2.1.11 PRIMER

Primer	Sequence $(5' \rightarrow 3')$ direction
In vitro translation	
Fluc_fwd	CGAGATCTCGATCCCGC
Fluc_rev	TTATTAATGATGATGATGATGATG
Heterologous expression	
YcdA_fwd	TCTACTTCCAGGGAGGCGGCCCTGCGGAGAAGAAAGAATCAG AAACA
YcdA_rev	CAGACTCGAGGCATGCAAGCTTTATTCTTTGATGAATGCTTCG ACT
QoxA_fwd	TCTACTTCCAGGGAGGCGGCCCTTATTCGTTAGAAAAAGCTCC TGAAGC
QoxA_rev	CAGACTCGAGGCATGCAAGCTTCATTCTTCTGTATCATCAGAC TTCT
Gene knockout	
RamRKO_fwd	CCTGGTCAGACGTGCCAAGATCGGCGGTTTGTTTAAACCTGCG TGAGGAAAAAAGTAGTGATTCCGGGGGATCCGTCGACC
RamRKO_rev	CGATACGGTGAGCGCAGGGATGCAGCATCTCAGGGGTCATTT GGCGTCCGCCTCATGCAGTGTAGGCTGGAGCTGCTTC
RamRconf_fwd	GATATAACTTGATTATGAGT
RamRconf_rev	GCCCGCGAATAGTCATGGT

Table 2-9: Primer for in vitro translation, heterologous expression and gene knockout.

 Table 2-10: Primer for qPCR

Primer	Sequence (5' \rightarrow 3' direction)	gene
RamA_fwd	GGCATCTGCAACGGCTG	ramA
RamA_rev	GCAGCAGCTTCCTTTCGC	
AcrA_fwd	ACCAAAGTCACCTCGCCG	acrA
AcrA_rev	CCTGCTGGTACCGCAACA	
AcrB_fwd	GGACGGTTCCCAGGTTCG	acrB
AcrB_rev	TTTTCCTCACCCGGACGC	
16S_fwd	ACGGGCGGTGTGTACAAG	16S rRNA
16S_rev	GGCCCCCTGGACAAAGAC	

2.1.12 ISOTOPES

Table 2-11: Isotopes.

Isotope	Manufacturer
Deoxythymidine 5'-Triphosphate, [Methyl- ³ H], Tetrasodium Salt	Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA
Uridine 5'Triphosphate, Tetrasodium Salt [5,6- ³ H]	Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA
L-[Methyl- ³ H]-Methionine	Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA
Glucosamine D-[1-3H] hydrochloride	American Radiolabeled Chemicals, Saint Louis, MO, USA

2.2 METHODS

Methods marked with an asterisk (*) were applied by collaborators and are described in brief. Methods marked with a double asterisk (**) were partly applied by collaborators and partly by the author.

2.2.1 BACTERIAL CULTIVATION

Bacterial strains were either conserved as glycerol stocks (50 % (ν/ν) glycerol) or in cryovials, containing 'cryo beads' (MAST CRYOBANKTM) and stored at -80°C. To obtain a liquid culture one 'cryo bead' or a few microliters of the glycerol stock were inoculated in the appropriate growth medium and incubated overnight at 30°C or 37°C at 210 rpm or at 37°C/5% CO₂. Cultures at a specific growth phase were obtained by re-inoculation of the overnight cultures followed by cultivation under appropriate conditions up to a respective optical density of 600 nm (OD₆₀₀). Bacterial cultures on agar-based growth medium were prepared by streaking a few microliters of a liquid culture on an agar plate followed by an overnight incubation at the appropriate growth conditions.

2.2.2 MIC DETERMINATION

** All microorganisms were handled according to standard procedures and were obtained from the German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures (*Deutsche Sammlung für Mikroorganismen und Zellkulturen*, DSMZ) and the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) or were part of our internal strain collection. Minimal inhibitory concentrations (MIC) for *M. bovis* were determined in 5 mL cultures (three to four weeks incubation) and all other values were determined by micro-dilution assays.¹⁶⁴ Overnight cultures were diluted in modified tryptic soy broth (TSB, *Enterococcus* spp.), in Middlebrook 7H9 (M7H9; Sigma-Aldrich[®]; mycobacteria), Mueller-Hinton broth (MHB, or all other listed bacteria for chelocardin-related studies) or cation-adjusted Mueller-Hinton broth II (MHBII, for all other listed bacteria for telomycin-related studies) to achieve a final inoculum of approximately 1 x 10⁶ CFU/mL. Serial dilutions of compounds were prepared in sterile clear 96-well plates (Sarstedt AG & Co). The cell suspension was added and microorganisms were grown for 16-18 h at either 30°C or 37°C (*Enterococcus* spp. were grown under microaerophilic conditions). Growth inhibition was assessed by visual inspection and MIC values were determined as the lowest concentration of antibiotic at which no visible growth was observed.

MIC determination for *M. tuberculosis*

* MIC determination for *M. tuberculosis* (strain H37Rv) was performed by Alamar Blue assay¹⁶⁵ as described previously.^{166,167} In brief, 2-fold serial dilutions of compounds were prepared in M7H9 broth (Sigma-Aldrich) in round-bottom 96-well plates and 100 μ L *M. tuberculosis* suspension (10⁵ CFU/mL in M7H9 broth) was added per well. Plates were stored in plastic bags and incubated at 37°C for seven days. At day seven, 10 μ L Alamar Blue solution (Invitrogen) was added per well and incubated for additional 24 h at 37°C. Fluorescence was measured (excitation: 544 nm; emission: 590 nm) by using a microplate reader (FLUOstar OPTIMA, MG LABTECH). MIC was defined based on relative fluorescence as lowest drug concentration leading to an inhibition of \geq 90 % compared to the control. MIC_{vis} values were determined visually by determination of a colour change from blue to pink (MIC_{vis}: lowest drug concentration preventing colour change).

MIC/MBC determination of clinical uropathogens

* MIC determinations of clinical bacterial uropathogens were performed by micro-dilution assays according to guidelines of the European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST; DIN EN ISO 20776-1).¹⁶⁸ MIC values were determined as lowest concentration leading to no visible growth. Minimum bactericidal concentrations (MBC) were determined by inoculation of 3 μ L/well of the 96-well plates (used for MIC determination) to rectangular blood-agar plates (Iso-Sensitest + 5 % sheep blood) and incubated overnight at 37°C. MBC values were determined as the lowest concentration which leads to killing of 99.9 % (> log3) of each inoculum.

2.2.3 CELL VIABILITY BASED ON ATP QUANTIFICATION

To determine cell viability based on the amount of ATP present in bacterial cells, the luminescence-based BacTiter-GloTM Microbial Cell Viability Kit (Promega) was used. 1 mL overnight culture of *S. aureus* Newman wildtype and *cls2* disrupted mutant was washed with MHB medium and 100 μ L cell solution was added per well to a white, flat bottom 96-well plate (Corning). Cells were treated with 2-fold MIC per compound for 1 h at 37°C and 800 rpm. 100 μ L of the BacTiter-Glo reagent was added per well and mixed briefly (900 rpm). Luminescence was recorded by using a microplate reader (Tecan Infinite M200 Pro).

2.2.4 BIOFILM FORMATION

Overnight cultures of *S. aureus* Newman and TM-Dodec-resistant mutants were adjusted to a final cell concentration of 10^6 CFU/mL in TSB-G. 200 µL cells were added per well to 96-well plates and incubated at 37°C for 24 and 48 h. To determine biofilm formation, cells were washed twice with 200 µL MQ and 50 µL of 0.5 % (*w/v*) crystal violet was added. After 10 min of staining at room temperature, cells were washed twice with MQ and 200 µL EtOH were added per well. Optical density at 590 nm was measured using a microplate reader plate (Tecan Infinite M200 Pro).

2.2.5 TIME-KILL CURVES

Overnight cultures of *S. carnosus* DSM-20501 or *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 were diluted in MHB medium to achieve a start inoculum of 10^6 CFU/mL. Compounds were added at the assigned concentrations and cell viability was assessed at several time points (*S. aureus*: 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 6, 9, 12, 24 h; *K. pneumoniae*: 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, 3, 4, 6, 9, 12, 24 h) by CFU counts of samples (in 0.9 % (*w*/*v*) NaCl) in serial dilution after overnight incubation at 37°C on solid medium (CASO agar). Time-kill curves were obtained by plotting CFU counts (log₁₀ scale) versus time.

2.2.6 LIVE DEAD ASSAY

Bactericidal effects were determined by using the BacLightTM LIVE/DEAD Bacterial Viability Kit (Invitrogen) following the manufacturer protocol with minor modifications. An overnight culture of *E. coli* DSM-1116 was sub-cultivated in MHB medium to reach a start inoculum of approximately 2.5 x 10⁸ CFU/mL (OD₆₀₀: 0.5). Untreated control cells were centrifuged for 20 min at 4,000 rpm (5180R Eppendorf), the supernatant was discarded and the pellets were re-suspended in 2 mL 0.85 % (*w*/*v*) NaCl. Live and dead cells were prepared

by adding 1 mL cells to either 7 mL 0.85 % (w/v) NaCl (live, negative control) or to 7 mL 70 % (v/v) isopropyl (dead, positive control) and incubated for 1 h at room temperature. Antibacterial activities were examined by exposing cells for 4 h to compounds at 5-fold MIC. All samples were centrifuged for 20 min at 4,000 rpm (5180R Eppendorf), washed with 5 mL 0.85 % (w/v) NaCl and centrifuged again. The pellets were re-suspended in 10 mL 0.85 % (w/v) NaCl and the OD₆₀₀ values were measured (BioPhotometer Plus, Eppendorf). All samples were adjusted to the lowest OD₆₀₀ and a standard curve was prepared by mixing five different portions of live:dead control cells (0, 10, 50, 90, 100 % live cells). A 2-fold staining solution was prepared (6 μ L SYTO9, 6 μ L propidium iodide (PI) added to 2 mL MQ) and all samples were stained (1:1) for 15 min at room temperature, protected from light. Fluorescence was measured using a microplate reader (Tecan Infinite M200 Pro) at excitation was recorded at a fixed wavelength (485 nm) and emission at 530 nm (green) or 630 nm (red). The ratio of green and red fluorescence was calculated and the percentage of live cells was determined.

2.2.7 NPN UPTAKE

Uptake of 1-*N*-phenylnaphtylamine (NPN) was performed as described by Masschelein *et al.*¹⁶⁹. In brief, an overnight culture of *E. coli* DSM-1116 was sub-cultivated (1:100) in fresh MHB medium at 37°C and 210 rpm to obtain cells in exponential growth phase (OD₆₀₀ of 0.6). Cells were centrifuged for 20 min at 4,000 rpm (5180R Eppendorf) and washed with 5 mM HEPES (pH 7.2). Compounds were diluted in 50 μ L 5 mM HEPES (pH 7.2) at concentrations 3-fold higher than the intended final concentration. 100 μ L cells were added per well and mixed with the previously diluted compounds (50 μ L). Control samples were prepared as listed in Table 2-12 and all samples were incubation for 2 h at 37°C. 50 μ L NPN staining solution (40 μ M NPN in 5mM HEPES, pH 7.2) were added and fluorescence was measured within 3 min using a microplate reader plate (Tecan Infinite M200 Pro). After excitation at 355 nm fluorescence was detected at an emission wavelength of 405 nm, followed by measuring optical densities of each sample at 600 nm (BioPhotometer Plus, Eppendorf). The relative NPN uptake factor was calculated in the following way:

$$\text{realtive NPN uptake factor} = \frac{x}{\text{fluorescene value of control E}}$$

$$\text{with } x = \frac{\text{fluorescence value sample with NPN}}{\text{OD 600 of sample with NPN}} - \frac{\text{fluorescence value sample without NPN}}{\text{OD 600 of sample without NPN}}$$

Control	Bacterial suspension [µL]	5 mM HEPES [µL]	Compound [µL]	NPN [µL]
А	100	50	-	50
В	100	50	50	-
С	100	100	-	-
D	-	150	-	50
E	-	200	-	-

Table 2-12: Control samples used for NPN uptake assay

2.2.8 MEMBRANE POTENTIAL

Membrane potential was determined using the BacLight Membrane Potential Kit (Invitrogen) according to manufacturer's instructions with minor modifications. An overnight culture of *S. aureus* Newman was sub-cultivated in fresh MHB medium to obtain a start inoculum of 10^8 CFU/mL. Compounds were added to 1 mL cells at the assigned concentration. Cells exposed to 15 µM carbonyl cyanide 3- chlorophenylhydrazone (CCCP) served as positive control [exposure during staining with DiOC₂(3)]. After 0.5 and 2 h incubation, samples were washed once with PBS (pH 7.4) and re-suspended in 100 µL PBS (pH 7.4). 30 µM 3,3'-diethyloxacarbocyanin iodide (DiOC₂(3) was added per sample and after 30 min staining at room temperature, samples were transferred to black 96-well plates (Greiner Bio One) and fluorescence was measured using a microplate reader (Tecan Infinite M200 Pro). After excitation at 488 nm, red fluorescence was detected at an emission wavelength of 675 nm and green fluorescence at 525 nm. To determine changes of the membrane potential, the ratio of red and green fluorescence was calculated relative to untreated control cells.

2.2.9 MACROMOLECULE BIOSYNTHESIS

To examine the inhibition of macromolecule biosynthesis, an overnight culture of *S. carnosus* DSM-20501 was sub-cultivated (1:100) in TSB medium at 37°C to obtain a start inoculum of approximately 10⁸ CFU/mL (OD₆₀₀: 0.2-0.4). The respective isotope [RNA: ³H-uridine (Perkin Elmer); protein: ³H-thymidine (Perkin Elmer); DNA: ³H-methionine (Perkin Elmer); cell wall: ³H-glucosamine (American Radiolabeled Chemicals)] was added at a final concentration of 1 μ Ci/ μ L and compounds were added at 0.5-fold MIC. Samples were incubated for 180 min at 37°C under permanent shaking (approx. 200 rpm) and sampling took place at several time points (0, 10, 20, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, 180 min). 200 μ L per sample was added to scintillation tubes (Perkin Elmer) containing 2 mL pre-cooled 10 % (*w*/*v*) TCA/1M NaCl, precipitated on ice for at least 45 min and filtered through 25 mm glass

microfiber (PALL Corporation). Filters were washed with 4 mL 2.5 % (w/v) TCA/1M NaCl and transferred into new scintillation tubes. 4 mL scintillation liquid (Perkin Elmer) was added per tube and radioactivity was measured by a scintillation counter (MicroBeta TriLux 1450 LSC & Luminescence; Perkin Elmer) for 5 min per sample. Radioactivity was plotted in counts per minute (cpm) against time.

2.2.10 IN VITRO TRANSLATION ASSAY

* *In vitro* translation assays were performed using the RTS 100 *E. coli* HY Kit (5PRIME) according to manufacturer's instructions. T7-bacteriophage DNA dependent RNA polymerase was cloned in front of a 130 pmol DNA product of Firefly luciferase [generated in a previous step by PCR using primers Fluc_fwd and Fluc_rev (listed in Table 2-9); reduction of reaction size to 5μ L)]. 1 μ L per compound per test condition was added at the assigned concentration and samples were incubated for 1 h at 30°C and 750 rpm. 0.5 μ L of each sample was added per well to a 96-well plate containing 7.5 μ L kanamycin (50 mg/mL) and 40 μ L Fluc Substrate (PROMEGA, Cat. No. E655207). Luminescence was recorded using a microplate reader (Tecan Infinite M1000).

2.2.11 GENERATION OF CHELOCARDIN-RESISTANT MUTANTS

** Resistant chelocardin mutants were generated by exposing wildtype strains *E. coli* DSM-1116 and *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 to stepwise increasing CHD concentrations (*E. coli*: 2.5, 5, 7.7, 12.5, 15, 20, 30 µg/mL; *K. pneumoniae*: 2, 4, 8 µg/mL) in a repetitive process of inoculation of single resistant colonies from agar plates into liquid medium with a concurrent increase of CHD concentration. To gain CDCHD resistant mutants, the above described approach was likewise used by exposing wildtype strain *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 and *S. aur*eus N315 to stepwise increasing CDCHD concentrations (*K. pneumoniae*: 2, 4, 8 µg/mL; *S. aureus*: 4, 8, 12 µg/mL).

2.2.12 GENERATION OF TELOMYCIN-RESISTANT MUTANTS

** Resistant telomycin mutants were generated by exposing wildtype strain *S. aureus* Newman to stepwise increasing concentrations of either TM (8, 30, 50, 100 μ g/mL + 10 mM CaCl₂) or TM-Dodec (10, 20, 50, 100 μ g/mL+ 1.25 mM CaCl₂) in a repetitive process of inoculation of single resistant colonies from agar plates into liquid medium with a concurrent increase of telomycin concentration. The frequency of spontaneous generated resistant telomycin mutants was determined as described by Butler et al.¹⁷⁰ and Evans et al.¹⁷¹.

S. aureus Newman was incubated at a final concentration of 10⁷ (TM) or 10⁸ (TM-Dodec) CFU/plate overnight at 37°C on agar plates containing compounds at 4-fold MIC. In addition, control plates with no antibiotic were incubated with *S. aureus* Newman in several dilutions. The frequency of resistance was determined by dividing CFUs counted on antibiotic containing plate by the total CFU number of control plate.

2.2.13 ISOLATION OF BACTERIAL GENENOMIC DNA

DNA isolation was performed by standard phenol-chloroform extraction. Bacteria were cultivated overnight in 5 mL of their respective growth medium and centrifuged for 10 min at 4°C and 3,500 rpm (5180R Eppendorf) After washing with Milli-Q-water (MQ) cell pellets were re-suspended in 1.8 mL10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), incubated for 3.5 h at 37°C and inverted every 30 min. 200 µL proteinase K (20 mg/mL) and 20 µL 20 % (w/v) SDS were added and incubated for 2 h at 55°C. Subsequently, 100 µL RNase A (20 mg/mL) was added and incubated for additional 30 min. 2 mL phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol (25:24:1) was added and after 1 h incubation at 5 rpm and room temperature, samples were centrifuged for 10 min at 3,500 rpm (5180R Eppendorf). The upper, aqueous phase was added to 2 mL phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol (25:24:1) and incubated again at room temperature for 1 h at 5 rpm. After centrifuging for 10 min at 3,500 rpm (5180R Eppendorf), 1/10 volumes 3 M NaOAc (pH 4.8) and 2.5 volumes ice cold 100 % EtOH were added to the aqueous phase and precipitated DNA was transferred to 1 mL ice cold 70 % (ν/ν) EtOH. After centrifugation for 5 min at 4°C and 4,000 rpm (5180R Eppendorf), DNA was dried overnight at room temperature and dissolved in 100 µL MQ at 55°C and 300 rpm for 1 h. DNA concentration and purity was measured by using a spectrometer (NanoDrop 2000c Thermo Fisher Scientific).

2.2.14 WHOLE GENOMCE SEQUENCING AND ANALYSIS

* Whole genome sequencing of strains obtained by *in vitro* resistance development, as described in section 2.2.11 and 2.2.12 were sequenced by using Illumina sequencing technology on a MiSeq platform at the Helmholtz Centre for Infection Research (Braunschweig, Germany). Sequencing was performed in paired-end fashion. Raw data were analysed by an alignment against the reference genome sequences of *E. coli* DSM-1116 (NCBI GenBank accession code: NC_017635), *S. aureus* Newman (NCBI GenBank accession code: NC_009641) and *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104. The genome sequence of *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 was not readily available from the public databases, therefore,

to obtain its complete reference sequence, high-molecular-weight DNA was submitted for sequencing with PacBio technology at the German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures (Deutsche Sammlung für Mikroorganismen und Zellkulturen, DSMZ). After de novo sequence assembly of raw data with SMRT portal provided by Pacific Biosciences (Menlo Park, CA, USA), a single contig for each chromosome and three extrachromosomal replicating elements were obtained (chromosome: 5,295,933 bp; pKPD1: 105,910 bp; pKPD2: 96,086 bp; pKPD3: 44,026 bp). The reference-guided whole genome assembly of Illumina raw sequencing data for all mutant samples was carried out in Geneious software¹⁷² (Biomatters Ltd., Auckland, New Zealand) with "low sensitivity" parameters, otherwise the parameters were left default. The consensus calling for mutant and control strains was performed in Geneious software by executing the "generate consensus sequence" command and using "highest quality" as consensus calling algorithm, while other parameters were left default. Comparison of consensus sequences generated in the previous step was performed in Geneious software with the help of "MAUVE" whole-genome alignment plugin. Apart from using default settings, the "assume collinear genomes" option was selected to be on. The final step of the analysis comprised of manual verification of consensus inconsistencies between samples and comparing those to the reference and control sample sequences.

2.2.15 GENE KNOCKOUT IN KLEBSIELLA PNEUMONIAE

The generation of knockout mutants was performed as described by Huang et al.¹⁶³ with minor modifications. For preparing electrocompetent *K. pneumoniae* (wildtype: DSM-30104) cells, an overnight culture was sub-cultivated in 5 mL LB medium at 37°C and 210 rpm to obtain an OD₆₀₀ of 0.4-0.6. Cells were centrifuged at 15,000 rpm and 4°C (CT15RE VWR) for 15 min. The supernatant was discarded and the cells were washed with 2 mL ice-cold MQ water, followed by centrifugations as indicated above. The washing-centrifugation-step was repeated for additional two times and cells were finally diluted in 100 µL ice-cold MQ. 400 ng pACBSR-Hyg was added to 50 µL cells, transferred to ice cold electroporation cuvettes (0.2 cm gap) and electroporated at 2,500 V. Subsequently 250 µL pre-warmed SOC medium was added and cells were incubated for 60 min at 30 °C. 100 µL culture was spread onto LB_{low}-Hyg agar plates and incubated overnight at 30°C. A single colony (*K. pneumoniae* + pACBSR-Hyg) was inoculated in LB_{low}-Hyg medium overnight at 30° and 210 rpm. 50 µL overnight culture were added to medium containing 4.5 mL LB_{low}-Hyg medium, 450 µL 1 M L-arabinose and incubated until an OD₆₀₀ of 0.4-0.6 was reached. Electrocompetent cells were prepared as described above and cells were finally diluted in

100 µL ice-cold MQ. Approximately 1µg FRT-flanked Apr^R knockout cassette [Apr^R; prepared by PCR: pIJ773 served as template to gain apramycin resistance gene (aac(3)IV)and flanking FRT sites; primers RamRKO_fwd and RamRKO_rev were used (listed in Table 2-9)] was added to 100 µL cells, transferred to ice cold electroporation cuvettes (0.2 cm gap) and electroporated at 2,500 V. Subsequently 500 µL pre-warmed SOC medium was added and cells were incubated for 90 min at 37 °C. The culture was spread onto two LB-Apr agar plates and incubated overnight at 37°C. Colonies were screened for the insertion of the knockout by PCR and correct transformants were spread on LB-Apr agar plates and incubated overnight at 37°C. Single colonies of the confirmed mutants were streaked on LB-Apr agar plates, incubated at 37°C overnight and this procedure was repeated for three days. Mutants that lost pACBSR-Hyg were detected by streaking colonies on LB-Apr and LB_{low}-Hyg agar plates following incubation at 37°C overnight. Hygromycin sensitive mutants were inoculated in 5 mL LB-Apr medium and incubated overnight at 37°C at 210 rpm. To remove the knockout cassette, 50 µL overnight culture was sub-cultivated at 37°C in 5 mL LB-Apr medium to reach an OD₆₀₀ of 0.4-0.6. Electrocompetent cells were prepared as described above and cells were finally diluted in 100 µL ice-cold MQ. 300 ng pFLP-Hyg was added to 50 µL cells, transferred to ice cold electroporation cuvettes (0.2 cm gap) and electroporated at 2,500 V. Subsequently 250 µL pre-warmed SOC medium was added and cells were incubated for 60 min at 30 °C. 100 µL culture was spread onto LB_{low}-Hyg agar plates and incubated overnight at 30°C. Mutants were heat-shocked by incubation at 43°C overnight and single colonies were streaked onto LB and LB-Apr agar plates and incubated overnight at 37°C. Apramycin-sensitive mutants were passed three times on LB agar plates and incubated each time overnight at 37°C. The loss of pFLP-Hyg was determined by streaking single colonies on LB_{low}-Hyg and LB agar plates. Hygromycin-sensitive mutants were prepared for sequencing by performing PCR (using primers RamRconf_fwd and RamRconf_rev; Table 2-9) and DNA was subsequently purified by using NucleoSpin[®] Gel and PCR Clean-up Kit (Macherey-Nagel).

2.2.16 GENE KNOCKOUT IN STAPHYLOCOCCUS AUREUS

* Gene knockout with *S. aureus* Newman was performed by using the TargeTron®-Gene-Knockout-System Kit (Sigma Aldrich) with minor modifications. In brief, a PCR was performed to re-target the intron by primer-mediated mutations at several position within the target site. This reaction was followed by the purification of the PCR product by using the NucleoSpin[®] Gel and PCR Clean-up Kit (Macherey-Nagel). Afterwards, a restriction

digestion with the purified DNA and pNL9164 was performed. The reaction mixtures (Table 2-13) were incubated for 40 min at 37°C, following 20 min at 60°C and 10 min at 80°C. The digested templates were ligated and transformed into *E.coli* DH10b cells. After plasmid isolation, it was first transformed into *S. aureus* RN4220 following the transformation into *S. aureus* Newman (21 kV/cm, 100 Ω , and 25 μ F). To induce gene disruption, *S. aureus* Newman cells (+ pNL9164) were incubated overnight at 32°C on BHI (Brain Heart Infusion) agar plates containing 10 μ g/mL erythromycin. To confirm intron insertions, a colony PCR was performed by using primers designed with the TargeTron algorithm tool. The curing of the plasmid was performed by a heat shock reaction at 43°C overnight, followed by screening for erythromycin-sensitive colonies.

Descent	Template		
Reagent	pNL9164	Purified DNA	
Vector or PCR product (~200 ng)	2 µL	9.7 μL	
10X restriction enzyme buffer	2 μL (Tango)	2 μL	
Hind III (20U/µL)	1 µL	1 μL	
BsrG I (10U/µL)	1 µL	1 μL	
Dpn I (20U/µL)	/	1 μL	
Water	14 µL	5.3 μL	

 Table 2-13: Restriction digest reagent composition.

2.2.17 GENE EXPRESSION ANALYSIS

RNA isolation

150 mL of bacteria in mid-log phase was centrifuged for 10 min and 8,000 rpm (5180R Eppendorf) at 37°C. 4 mL pre-heated (60°C) NAE-Phenol was added to the pellet and incubated for 5 min at 60°C. 4 mL pre-heated (60°C) NAES buffer was added and incubated for additional 5 min at 60°C, followed by 5 min incubation on ice. Samples were centrifuged for 8 min at 8,000 rpm and 4°C (Avanti J-26 S Beckman) and the water phase was transferred to a PhaseLockGel-tube (Eppendorf). 4 mL phenol:chloroform (6:1) was added and mixed for 2 min, followed by centrifugation for 8 min at 8,000 rpm and 4°C (Avanti J-26 S Beckman). The above described transfer of the water phase and following centrifugation step was repeated two more times. The upper phase was mixed with 4 mL ice-cold isopropanol and 400 μ L 3 M sodium acetate (pH 5.1). RNA was precipitated overnight at -20°C and samples were centrifuged for 40 min at 8,000 rpm and 4°C (Avanti J-26 S Beckman). Pellets were washed with 70 % (*v*/*v*) EtOH and dried for 30 min by using an exsiccator. RNA was diluted in 500 μ L DECP water and purified by using miRNAeasy mini

kit (Qiagen). Concentration and purity was measured by using a spectrometer (NanoDrop 2000c Thermo Fisher Scientific).

Reverse transcription

RNA was transcribed into cDNA by using the RevertAid Premium Reverse Transcriptase (Thermo Fisher Scientific) following the manufacturer's instructions. The reaction mixture (5 μ g RNA, 1 μ L 100 pmol random primer, 0.5 mM dNTPs, 14.5 μ L DECP water, 4 μ L 5x buffer, 0.5 μ L RiboLock, 20 μ L RevertAid Premium Reverse Transcriptase) was incubated for 10 min at 20°C, following 30 min at 50°C and 5 min at 85°C.

Quantification of gene expression

Gene expression was measured by qPCR using the Peqstar 96Q (Peqlab) cycler. 10 μ L reaction mixture was prepared by mixing 1 μ L cDNA (diluted 1:10), 0.5 μ L per primer (primer pairs listed in Table 2-10), 3 μ L DECP water and 5 μ L Gotag Mastermix (Promega). Gene expression was measured by qPCR as indicated in Table 2-14 and relative transcription levels compared to the wildtype were calculated by the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct} method¹⁷³ and normalized to 16S rRNA.

Step	Temperature [°C]	Time [min]	Repeat [x-fold]
Denaturation	95	7	1
Denaturation	95	10	40
Annealing/elongation	$\mathbf{X}^{[a]}$	1	40
Melting curve 1.step	95	0.25	1
Melting curve 2.step	60	1	1
Melting curve 3.step	95	0.25	1

 Table 2-14: qPCR cycler adjustments.

^[a] ramA: 54, acrA: 55, acrB: 55

2.2.18 LIPID BINDING

* Direct binding assays were performed as described by Makino et al.¹⁷⁴. In brief, 50 μ L lipid-mix (2.56 μ M in EtOH) and lipoteichoic acid (LTA)-mix (2.65 μ g/mL in EtOH) were transferred to surface treated 96-well plates (Nunc Polysorp). After the evaporation of EtOH (2 h) final concentrations of 128 pmol/well (lipids) and 128 ng/well (LTA) were achieved. Wells were blocked with 100 μ L of 3 % BSA (Albumin Fraction V, biotin-free, Roth) in PBS by incubation overnight at 4°C. Plates were washed three times with 300 μ L PBS-T per well and compounds were added at a final concentration of 0.7 μ M/well (in 1 % BSA in

PBS). After 2 h incubation at room temperature, plates were washed six times with 300 μ L PBS-T per well and a click reaction was performed by adding 100 μ L click-mastermix (1 mL mastermix: 920 μ L 1 % BSA in PBS, 20 μ L CuSO₄, 50 μ L sodium ascorbate, 10 μ L azide-PEG3-biotin conjugate) per well for 2 h at room temperature. After six times of washing with PBS-T (300 μ L per well), 100 μ L streptavidin-coupled horseradish peroxidase (HRP; 1:1000 in 1 % BSA in PBS) was added per well for 1 h at room temperature. Plates were washed six times with PBST (300 μ L per well) and 100 μ L 1-fold TMB ELISA substrate solution (eBioscience) was added per well. After 15 min incubation at room temperature (protected from light), the colour reaction was stopped by adding 50 μ L H₃PO₄ (1M) per well. Within 15 min optical densities were determined at 450 nm by using a microplate reader. To determine concentration dependent binding effects to cardiolipin, the procedure was performed as described above and additionally CaCl₂ and EDTA were added during the blocking step at final concentration of 10 mM. Cardiolipin was diluted in 1:2 serial dilutions to achieve final concentrations ranging from 4-128 pmol/well.

2.2.19 LIPID EXTRACTION

Lipid extraction was carried out as described by Bligh et al.¹⁷⁵ with minor modifications. 50 mL overnight culture of *S. aureus* Newman wildtype and *S. aureus* Newman *cls1* or *cls2* deficient mutants was centrifuged for 15 min at 4,000 rpm and 4°C (5180R Eppendorf). Cell pellets were lyophilized (freeze dryer; Christ) and re-suspended in PBS (pH 7.2) at 10 mL/10 mg cell pellet. 1 mg/mL lysozyme was added per sample and incubated for 30 min at 37°C. Lipids were extracted by chloroform-methanol-ddH₂O (2:2:1) extraction. 10 mL chloroform and 20 mL MeOH were added to lysed cells, mixed briefly and additional 10 mL chloroform were added. Following brief mixing, 10 mL ddH₂O was added and mixed again. The mixture was filtered (Whatman No.1; GE Healthcare Europe GmbH) and chloroform and alcohol layers were separated by using separating funnels. The chloroform layer was dried using a vacuum concentrator (SpeedVac Concentrator plus; Eppendorf) and re-dissolved 1:10 in chloroform.

2.2.20 THIN-LAYER CHROMATOGRAPHY

Lipids were extracted as described in section 2.2.19 and applied to silica thin-layer chromatography (TLC) plates (Sigma-Aldrich) by adding twice 1 μ L per sample. TLC plates were developed with chloroform-methanol-acetic acid (8:2:0.1). The plates were sprayed with CuSO₄ and heated to detect the lipids

2.2.21 PROTEIN ISOLATION

Proteins isolation from *B. subtilis* DSM-10 was performed as described by Jin *et al.*¹⁷⁶ with minor modifications. Overnight cultures were sub-cultivated in 200 mL fresh medium at 37° C to obtain an inoculum at an OD₆₀₀ of 1.0. Cells were centrifuged for 10 min at 4,000 rpm (5180R Eppendorf) and washed twice with 10 mL TSB-T. EDTA-free cocktail protease inhibitor (Sigma-Aldrich) was added and cells were broken by French Press (Thermo Fisher Scientific), followed by centrifugation at 4000 rpm and 4°C (5180R Eppendorf) for 10 min to remove unbroken cells and membrane debris. Protein concentration was measured by Bradford protein assay.¹⁷⁷

2.2.22 PROTEIN PULL DOWN AND ENZYMATIC DIGESTION

Proteins were isolated as described in section 2.2.21 and pull down was carried out as described by Jin et al.¹⁷⁶ with minor modifications. 50 µM compound was added to 900 µL cell lysate and incubated for 60 min at 4°C (gently rolling). 100 µL Streptavidin Magentic beads (M-280 Dynabeads Invitrogen) was added and incubated for 1 h at 4°C. Beads were washed three times with TBS-T and 1-fold SDS sample buffer was added. After boiling for 10 min at 95°C proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE¹⁷⁸ and desired protein bands were prepared for MALDI-TOF analysis as described by Shevchenko et al¹⁷⁹. In brief, SDS-PAGE was washed in MQ overnight and desired protein bands were cut out and incubated with 500 µL acetonitrile (ACN) for 10 min. All liquid was removed and 50 µL DTT (10 mM in 100 mM NH₄HCO₃) was added for 30 min at 56°C. Samples were cooled down to room temperature and 500 µL ACN was added for 10 min. All liquid was removed and 30 µL iodoacetamide solution (55 mM IAA in 100 mM NH₄HCO₃) was added and samples were incubated for 10 min at room temperature (protected from light). Again, 500 µL ACN was added for 10 min and after removal of all liquid, gel bands were de-stained by washing twice with 100 mM NH₄HCO₃/ACN (1:1). 500 µL ACN was added for 10 min and after removal, $30 \,\mu\text{L}$ sequencing-grade trypsin (13 ng/ μ L in 10 mM NH₄HCO₃/10% (ν/ν) ACN) was added. After 3 h incubation at 4°C 15 µL NH4HCO (100 mM) was added and samples were incubated overnight at 37°C and further analysed by mass-spectrometry (see 2.2.23).

2.2.23 PROTEIN IDENTIFICATION BY MADLI-TOF/MS OR LC-MS/MS

* Proteins separated by SDS-PAGE, were prepared as described in section 2.2.22. The resulting peptides were extracted, desalted using ZipTip (¹⁸C Millipore) and analysed by MALDI-TOF/MS using a Bruker Ultraflex TOF mass spectrometer (Bruker Daltonics,

Bremen) with alpha-cyano-4-hydroxycinnamic acid as matrix. Proteins were identified from the peptide mass fingerprints using the MASCOT search engine. Alternatively, LC-MS/MS analyses were performed on a DionexUltiMate 3000 n-RSLC system connected to an LTQ Orbitrap Velos mass spectrometer (Thermo Scientific). Peptides were loaded onto a C18 pre-column (3 μ m, Acclaim, 75 μ m x 20 mm, Dionex) and washed for 3 min (flow rate of 6 μ L/min). Peptide separation was performed on an analytical column (2 μ m, Acclaim PepMap RSLC, 75 μ m x 25 cm, Dionex) at 350 μ L/min via a linear 60 min gradient with HPLC buffer A (0.1 % FA in water) and 25 % HPLC buffer B (0.1 % formic acid in ACN), followed by a 30 min gradient from 25 to 50% of buffer B. MS/MS raw data files were searched against UniProtKB/Swiss-Prot protein database on a MASCOT server.

2.2.24 HETEROLOGOUS PROTEIN EXPRESSION AND PURIFICATION

* For biochemical experiments, truncated versions of QoxA and YcdA were used. Final constructs were generated by insertion of the respective gene sequences into a modified pCOLADuet-1 (EMD Millipore) plasmid using sequence and ligation independent cloning (SLIC) with primers listed in Table 2-9 (YcdA_fwd, YcdA_rev; QoxA_fwd; QoxA_rev). This resulted in fusion proteins composed of an N-terminal MBP tag followed by a StrepIItag¹⁸⁰ and a TEV protease cleavage site. The fusion proteins were expressed in E. coli BL21 CodonPlus (DE3) RIL (8×1 L auto-induction medium¹⁸¹) for 24 h at 20 °C. The cell pellets were re-suspended in lysis buffer (20 mM HEPES, 200 mM NaCl, 5 % (v/v) glycerol, pH 7.6 supplemented with DNaseII and lysozyme), homogenized and centrifuged. Subsequently, supernatants were applied separately onto columns packed with StrepTactin Sepharose High Performance resin on an ÄKTA protein purification system (both GE Healthcare Life Sciences). The proteins were eluted with 5 mM D-Desthiobiotin (Sigma-Aldrich) in the same buffer and the N-terminal tags were cleaved off using TEV protease during overnight dialysis against 20 mM HEPES, 200 mM NaCl, 5 % (v/v) glycerol (pH 7.6). To remove the tag, a second StrepTactin purification step was performed and the flow-through containing the respective proteins was concentrated using a Vivaspin 6 10 kDa cutoff concentrator (GE Healthcare Life Sciences). As a polishing step, each protein was passed through a Superdex 75 16/60 pg column (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) using the same buffer and fractions containing YcdA or QoxA were concentrated. Protein purity was assessed by SDS-PAGE and protein concentration was determined spectrophotometrically using extinction coefficients calculated via the ProtParam web server¹⁸².

2.2.25 SURFACE PLASMON RESONANCE

Surface plasmon resonance (SPR) analysis was performed with a Biacore X100 device (GE Healthcare). Proteins were immobilized on a CM5 chip (Biacore) by standard amine coupling. YcdA and QoxA were diluted to 40 μ g/mL and 20 μ g/mL, respectively in sodium acetate buffer (pH 4.5) and immobilized for 100 to 200 sec. Compounds were injected at increasing concentrations in the presence or absence of 5 mM CaCl₂. Binding interactions were monitored at 25 °C with a flow rate of 30 μ L/min in HBS-EP/1% (*v*/*v*) DMSO (± 5 mM CaCl₂) as running buffer. The theoretical maximal RU (R_{max}; RU: resonance units) was determined in the following way (assuming a 1:1 binding stoichiometry):

$$R_{max}(RU) = \frac{MW_{analyte}}{MW_{ligand}} \times \text{immobilized ligand level (RU)}$$

The equilibrium dissociation constants (K_D) were either determined by the ratio of association rate (k_a) to dissociation rate constant (k_d) or by steady-state affinity analysis using the Biacore X100 evaluation software 2.0.1.

2.2.26 CULTIVATION OF EUKARYOTIC CELL LINES

Cell lines were obtained from the German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures (*Deutsche Sammlung für Mikroorganismen und Zellkulturen*, DSMZ) and the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) and handled as recommended by the depositor. Cultivation was performed in the respective medium in a saturated water vapour atmosphere at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Cell splitting took place twice a week. Medium of adherent cell cultures was discarded and cells were washed with PBS (pH 7.4) followed by detaching the cells by the addition of trypsin. The reaction was stopped by the addition of fresh FBS-containing medium and splitting was performed at 1:5 to 1:20 ratios in fresh medium.

2.2.27 IC₅₀ DETERMINATION (MTT)

Cells were seeded at a cell density of 5×10^4 cells per well in sterile 96-well plates (CellBIND® Corning) in 180 µL of the respective medium supplemented with 10 % FBS and incubated for 2 h at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂ followed by treatment with compounds in serial dilutions. After 5 d of incubation, 20 µL of 5 mg/mL stock MTT (thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide) in PBS (pH 7.4) were added per well and incubated for additional 2 h at 37°C and 5 % CO₂. The medium was discarded and 100 µL 2-propanol/10 N HCl (250:1) were added

to dissolve the formazan granules. The absorbance was measured at 570 nm using a microplate reader (Tecan Infinite Pro M200) and cell viability was determined relative to the respective solvent control. IC_{50} values (half maximal inhibitory concentration) were determined by sigmoidal curve fitting using Origin6.1G software.

2.2.28 KILLING OF INTRACELLULAR BACTERIA

Murine macrophages (RAW264.7) were seeded at 2.5 x 10^5 cells per well in 24-well plates (CellBIND® Corning) and incubated overnight at 37°C and 5 % CO₂. To infect the cells, an overnight culture of *S. aureus* N315 was diluted to 3 x 10^7 CFU/mL and 100 µL cell suspension was added per well RAW264.7 (MOI of 10) and incubated for 2 h at 37°C and 5 % CO₂. After three times of washing with PBS (pH 7.4), extracellular bacteria were killed by the addition of 50 µg/mL gentamicin for 90 min followed by three times washing with PBS. Compounds were added at the assigned concentration and cells were treated for 18 h at 37°C and 5 % CO₂. After three time washing with PBS (pH 7.4), 1 mL ice cold MQ was added per well and after 5-10 min, the cell suspension was diluted 1:100 and 1:1000 in 0.9 % (*w*/*v*) NaCl and plated on CASO agar. Intracellular *S. aureus* concentration was determined by CFU count after 24 h incubation at 37°C.

2.2.29 TMRM STAINING

Human bone osteosarcoma cells (U-2 OS) cells were seeded at a cell density of 5 x 10^3 cells per well in 96-well imaging plates and incubated for 2 d at 37°C and 5 % CO₂. Compounds were added at the assigned concentration and cells were treated for 3 h at 37°C and 5 % CO₂. After two washing steps with assay buffer (100 µL/well), 100 µL staining solution (5 µg/mL Hoechst33342 and 20 nM TMRM in assay buffer) were added per well and cells were stained for 1 h at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Cells were washed (100 µL/well assay buffer) and examined on an automated microscope (BD Pathways 855) with appropriate filter sets for rhodamine and Hoechst.

3 CHELOCARDINS

CONTRIBUTIONS

Several co-workers from HZI and HIPS provided natural products and derivatives: Kerstin Schober, Dr. Antoine Abou Fayad, Dr. Rolf Jansen, Dr. Tadeja Lukežič, Dr. Suryanarayana Birudukota, Dr. Charlotte Grandclaudon, Chantal Bader. Determination of MIC values of TET-resistant strains and plasma protein binding were partly performed at SANOFI. Dr. Maria Loose (JLU Gießen, Clinic for Urology, Prof. Dr. med. Florian Wagenlehner, DZIF-TTU9) determined MIC and MBC values of clinical isolated uropathogens. Fabian Nguyen (Gene Center, LMU, Munich, Dr. Daniel Wilson) performed *in vitro* translation assays. Dr. Jennifer Herrmann (HIPS-MINS) generated resistant *E.coli* mutants. Dr. Nestor Zaburannyi (HIPS-MINS) performed *in silico* genome analyses. All other presented experiments were performed by the author.

3.1 RESULTS

3.1.1 MECHANISM OF ACTION

3.1.1.1 ANTIMICROBIAL SPECTRUM

The antibacterial activity of chelocardin (CHD) and its amidated derivative 2-carboxamindo-2-deacetyl-CHD (CDCHD, Figure 3-1) against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, as well as against Mycobacteria, was determined. Growth inhibition was assessed in standard micro-broth dilution assays by visual inspection and MIC (minimal inhibitory concentration) values were determined as the lowest concentration of antibiotic at which no visible growth was observed. For Gram-positive bacteria, both compounds showed inhibitory activities predominantly in the 1-digit $\mu g/mL$ range (MIC = 2-8 $\mu g/mL$), including methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA), vancomycin-intermediate Staphylococcus aureus (VISA) and multidrug-resistant (MDR) Staphylococcus aureus (Table 3-1). However, against Bacillus subtilis, Enterococcus spp. and Micrococcus luteus activity dropped 2- to 8-fold (MIC = 8-32 μ g/mL) in comparison to all other tested Gram-positive pathogens. Compared to Gram-positive bacteria, susceptibility of Gram-negative bacteria was generally higher. For Proteus species, Serratia marcescens, Escherichia coli, Citrobacter freundii, Klebsiella pneumoniae and Haemophilus influenza MIC values between 0.25 and 4 µg/mL were achieved. Only Enterobacter aerogenes and Pseudomonas aeruginosa were less susceptible with MIC values ranging from 4 to 64 μ g/mL depending on the strain. Against Mycobacteria, both compounds showed good activities with MIC values of 1-4 µg/mL. Throughout, CDCHD showed slightly improved inhibitory activities compared to the parent molecule CHD, in particular against P. aeruginosa.



Figure 3-1: Chemical structure of chelocardin (CHD) and the amidated derivative 2-carboxamindo-2-deacetyl-CHD (CDCHD).

Table 3-1: MIC values of CHD, CDCHD and tetracycline (TET) against Gram-positive and Gram-negative	bacteria.
^[a] multidrug-resistant S. aureus; ^[b] methicillin-resistant S. aureus; ^[c] vancomycin-intermediate S. aureus; ⁿ	ı.d.: not
determined.	

Classification	Strain		MIC [µg/mL]	
Classification	Suam	CHD	CDCHD	TET
	Bacillus subtilis DSM-10	16	8	1
	Enterococcus faecium DSM-20477	8	4	1
	Enterococcus faecalis DSM-20478	8	4	1
	Micrococcus luteus DSM-20030	32	16	4
	Mycobacterium smegmatis mc ² 155	4	4	n.d.
	Mycobacterium bovis BCG DSM-43990	1	4	n.d.
	Mycobacterium tuberculosis H37RvMA	1	4	n.d.
Gram-positive	Staphylococcus aureus			
	DSM-346	4	2	0.125
	DSM-11822 ^[a]	4	2	n.d.
	ATCC-29213	4	8	0.125
	Newman	4	4	0.125
	N315 ^[b]	4	4	0.125
	Mu50 ^[b,c]	2	4	0.125
	Staphylococcus carnosus DSM-20105	4	4	0.25
	Citrobacter freundii DSM-30039	1	1	2
	Enterobacter aerogenes DSM-30053	16	8	32
	Escherichia coli			
	DSM-1116	1	0.5	0.5
	ATCC-25922	2	2	n.d.
	TolC-deficient	0.5	0.25	0.5
	Haemophilus influenzae DSM-11970	4	1	2
Gram-negative	Klebsiella pneumoniae DSM-30104	1	0.5	0.5
	Proteus vulgaris DSM-2140	0.25	0.25	1
	Proteus mirabilis DSM-4479	0.5	1	4
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa			
	DSM-11128	32	16	64
	DSM-24599	64	16	32
	PA14	32	4	32
	Serratia marcescens DSM-30121	4	2	32

In comparison to tetracycline (TET), Gram-positive bacteria were less susceptible to CHD and CDCHD. Against Gram-negative bacteria, overall comparable activities were observed, except for *S. marcescens* against which both chelocardins showed 8- to 16-fold improved activities compared to TET. Additionally, activities of CHD and CDCHD against TET-resistant *E. coli*, *K. pneumoniae*, *Pseudomonas pseudoalcaligenes* and *Serratia liquefaciens* were determined, in which resistance is mediated via efflux (*tetA*, *tetB*), ribosomal protection

(tetM, tetW), or enzymatic inactivation (tet34). MIC values revealed the potency of CH	D
and CDCHD, as they inhibited growth of all tested tetracycline resistant bacteria (Table 3-2	2).

TFT resistant strain	Resistance	Resistance mechanism]	MIC [µg/mL]	
	gene		CHD	CDCHD	TET
*E. coli XL-1 blue	tetA	Efflux	2	n.d.	> 64
*E. coli Hs996pTOTepoE	tetA	Efflux	1	n.d.	> 64
E. coli	tetB	Efflux	n.d.	4	> 64
E. coli	tetM	ribosomal protection	n.d.	0.5	64
E. coli	tetW	ribosomal protection	n.d.	1	> 64
<i>E. coli</i> 49	tetB	Efflux	n.d.	4	> 64
E. coli 74	tetB	Efflux	n.d.	8	> 64
S. liquefaciens	tetB; tet34	efflux; enzymatic inactivation	n.d.	2	> 64
P. pseudoalcaligenes	tetB; tet34	efflux; enzymatic inactivation	n.d.	2	> 64
K. pneumoniae 3	tetA	Efflux	n.d.	8	> 64
K. pneumoniae 8	tetA	Efflux	n.d.	32	> 64
K. pneumoniae 24	tetA	Efflux	n.d.	8	> 64

Table 3-2: MIC values of CHD, CDCHD and TET against tetracycline-resistant strains. n.d.: not determined.**values were determined by the authors, all other listed values were determined at SANOFI as part of a collaboration.*

To investigate the drop in activity of CHD against *Pseudomonas* spp., CHD and CDCHD were tested against a panel of *P. aeruginosa* PA14 efflux pump deficient mutants ($\Delta mexAB$, $\Delta mexCD$, $\Delta mexEF$, $\Delta mexXY$). A deletion of the major efflux pump encoded by *mexAB* led to a 16-fold increase of CHD activity and 8-fold increase of CDCHD activity, as well as a 16-fold increase of TET activity (Table 3-3). Efflux pumps encoded by *mexCD*, *mexEF* and *mexXY*, which are usually expressed only under stress conditions, did not affect activities of CHD and CDCHD.

P geruginosa PA14]	MIC [µg/mL]	
	CHD	CDCHD	TET
Wildtype	32	4	32
$\Delta mexAB$	2	0.5	2
$\Delta mexCD$	32	8	n.d.
$\Delta mexEF$	16	8	n.d.
$\Delta mexXY$	32	4	n.d.

Table 3-3: Minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of CHD and CDCHD against *P. aeruginosa* PA14 wildtype and efflux pump deficient mutants ($\Delta mexAB$, $\Delta mexCD$, $\Delta mexEF$, $\Delta mexXY$).

To determine if CHD exerts bactericidal or bacteriostatic effects, *S. carnosus* DSM-20501 was exposed to CHD at concentrations between 0.0625- and 64-fold MIC over 24 h and cell viability was assessed by CFU (colony forming units) count (Figure 3-2). At concentration of 0- to 0.125-fold MIC, an exponential cell growth and no influence of CHD on the growth behaviour was observed. An increase to 2-fold MIC led to delayed growth in the exponential phase and overall lower cell numbers in the stationary phase. Treatment with 16 to 256 μ g/mL CHD (4- to 64-fold MIC) resulted in 2- to 3-log₁₀ reduction of counted CFU after 24 h, representing a bactericidal effect.



Figure 3-2: Time-kill curves of *S. carnosus* DSM-20105 exposed to CHD (MIC: 4 µg/mL) at concentration between 0.0625- and 64-fold MIC. Cell viability was determined by CFU (colony forming units) count over 24 h.

To compare the time-kill effects of CHD and CDCHD, *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 was exposed to CHD and CDCHD at 0.5- and 2-fold MIC over 24 h (Figure 3-3). As expected, bacteria exposed to 0.5-fold MIC of either CHD or CDCHD showed a retarded growth behaviour and both compounds used at 2-fold MIC caused a time-dependent decline of CFU by a 1-log₁₀ (CHD) and 3-log₁₀ (CDCHD) reduction of counted bacteria. In both cases, the effect of delayed growth or killing was more pronounced when cells were exposed to CDCHD.



Figure 3-3: Time-kill curves of *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 exposed to CHD (MIC: 1μ g/mL) and CDCHD (MIC: 0.5μ g/mL) at 0.5- and 2-fold MIC. Cell viability was determined over 24 h by three independent CFU (colony forming units) counts. Data are represented as mean ± standard deviation (SD).

The bactericidal effect of CHD was also compared to the effect of tetracycline by using the BacLight[™] LIVE/DEAD Bacterial Viability Kit (Invitrogen). *E. coli* DSM-1116 was exposed to 5-fold MIC of either CHD or TET for 4 h. Cells were stained with nucleic acid binding dyes propidium iodide (PI) and SYTO9 and fluorescence was measured on a microplate reader [excitation: 485 nm; emission: 530 nm (green), 630 (red)]. The green fluorescent dye SYTO9 penetrates bacterial membranes and stains all nucleic acid containing cells, whereas the red fluorescent dye PI is membrane impermanent and only penetrates cells with damaged membranes. When both dyes are present within the cell (cells with destroyed membranes), SYTO9 fluorescence is displaced by PI fluorescence and its green emission is quenched due to fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET)^{183,184}. The percentage of live cells was determined by the ratio of green and red fluorescence. Treatment with CHD led to a 40 % reduction of live cells, whereas TET only killed around 15 %, revealing a stronger bactericidal behaviour of CHD compared to TET (Table 3-4).

Table 3-4: Bactericidal effect of CHD and TET after exposure of *E. coli* DSM-1116 for 4 h at 5-fold MIC compared to untreated cells.

	Untreated	CHD	TET
% live bacteria	99.1	59.3	84.3

Since both compounds showed inhibitory activity against typical uropathogenic bacterial species (*P. aeruginosa*, *K. pneumoniae*, *E. aerogenes*, *Proteus* spp., *Enterococcus* spp. and *E. coli*) CHD and CDCHD were screened against uropathogenic clinical isolates, including multidrug-resistant isolates [resistance via extended-spectrum β -lactamases (ESBL) or TEM- β -lactamases; colistin-resistant isolates]. MIC and MBC (minimal bactericidal concentrations) values were determined and in contrast to all tested laboratory strains (Table 3-1), CHD showed by tendency better antibacterial activities compared to CDCHD (Table 3-5). No major differences in susceptibility were observed when multidrug-resistant strains were tested compared to sensitive strains. CDCHD showed higher bactericidal activities with a marginal shift of MIC *vs.* MBC compared to CHD. Clinical *P. aeruginosa* isolates were not susceptible to both compounds.

Table 3-5: Minimal inhibitory concentrations (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) of CHD and CDCHD against uropathogenic clinical isolates. Values denote median of MIC/MBC values per group and were determined in three independent measurements per isolate. ESBL: extended-spectrum β lactamases.

$I_{\text{soluto}}(n-)$	MIC [µg/mL]	MBC [µg/mL]	
Isolate (II-)	CHD	CDCHD	CHD	CDCHD
Escherichia coli				
sensitive (15)	2	4	16	4
TEM β -lactamase (8)	2-4	8	16	8
ESBL (7)	4	4	32	8
colistin-resistant (5)	8	8	32	16
Enterococcus faecalis (19)	8	16	> 64	16
Enterococcus faecium (6)	4	8	32	16
Enterobacter spp. (8)	4	4	16	8-16
Klebsiella spp.				
sensitive (7)	4	4	16	8
ESBL (2)	4	4-8	32	8-16
carbapenem-resistant (2)	4	4-8	32-64	8
Proteus spp.				
sensitive (7)	4	8	8	64
ESBL (2)	4	16-32	4-8	32-64
Pseudomonas aeruginosa (10)	> 64	64	> 64	> 64

In initial studies, reported MIC values¹³⁹ were determined by using chelocardins prepared as HCl adducts in methanol. Due to later on discovered stability issues (e.g. spontaneous epimerization), a modified formulation for both chelocardins was provided and both compounds were further on used as sodium salts with citrate as stabilizer (in water). To exclude that the changed formulation caused reverted potency of CHD and CDCHD, a comparison of CHD and CDCHD in either MeOH (HCl adducts) or water (Na salts with Nacitrate) was performed on some exemplary pathogens (Table 3-6, Table 3-7). Throughout, MIC values were comparable and thus, it was confirmed that CDCHD is by tendency less active compared to CHD on uropathogenic clinical isolates.

Table 3-6: Comparison of MIC and MBC values of CHD as Na-salt with Na-citrate (CHD) to HCl-salt (CHD-HCl).

Icoloto	MIC	[µg/mL]	MBC [µg/mL]		
Isolate	CHD	CHD-HCl	CHD	CHD-HCl	
K. pneumoniae 30	2	1.5	16	12	
K. pneumoniae 40	4	3	16	12	
E. coli 51	1	1.5	16	12	
E. coli 57	2	1.5	32	24	
E. coli AF48	4	3	16	12	

 Table 3-7: Comparison of MIC and MBC values of CDCHD as Na-salt with Na-citrate (CDCHD) to HCl-salt (CDCHD-HCl).

Isolato	MIC	[µg/mL]	MBC [µg/mL]		
Isolate	CDCHD	CDCHD-HCl	CDCHD	CDCHD-HCl	
K. pneumoniae 30	2	1.5	4	1.5	
K. pneumoniae 40	2	1.5	4	1.5	
E. coli 51	1	0.8	2	0.8	
E. coli 57	2	1.5	4	12	
E. coli AF48	4	1.5	4	1.5	

For selected *K. pneumoniae* and *E. coli* isolates, MIC and MBC values were additionally determined in artificial urine at different pH values (Table 3-8). Both compounds showed pH-independent antibacterial activities, but pH-dependent bactericidal activities with MBC values varying by factor 2-16 depending on the adjusted pH. Compared to values determined in standard test medium (cation-adjusted Müller-Hinton broth, CAMHB), CHD and CDCHD showed 4-fold improved antibacterial activities with a concurrent increase of bactericidal activity in artificial urine (Table 3-9).

Tanlata		MIC	[µg/mL]	MBC [µg/mL]	
	рн	CHD	CDCHD	CHD	CDCHD
	5.5	1	0.5	4	8
E. coli	6.5	1	1	4	2
	7.5	1	1	8	4
	8.5	1	1	8	2
	5.5	1	1	8	2
K. pneumoniae	6.5	1	1	8	4
	7.5	2	2	16	4
	8.5	2	2	16	32

Table 3-8: Minimal inhibitory concentrations (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) of CHD and CDCHD against *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* clinical isolates determined in artificial urine at different pH values. Values denote median of three independent measurements per isolate.

Table 3-9: Minimal inhibitory concentrations (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) of CHD and CDCHD against *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* clinical isolates determined in artificial urine and standard CA-MHB test medium. Values denote median of three independent measurements per isolate.

Test condition	Isolate (n=) -	MIC [µg/mL]		MBC [µg/mL]	
Test condition		CHD	CDCHD	CHD	CDCHD
Artificial veina	Escherichia coli (7)	1	1	8	2
Artificial urine	Klebsiella pneumoniae (3)	1	1	8	4
CAMUD	Escherichia coli (7)	4	4	32	8
САМНВ	Klebsiella pneumoniae (3)	4	4	32	8

To estimate plasma protein binding (PPB), MIC values of CHD and CDCHD were assessed against *S. aureus*, *K. pneumoniae*, *A. baumannii* and *P. aeruginosa* in the presence of 50 % foetal calf serum (FCS). A shift of MIC was observed for both compounds, reflected in a 4-to 32-fold decrease of MIC values in the presence of 50 % FCS (Table-3-10).

Table-3-10: Serum effect on MIC values of CHD and CDCHD against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria in the presence of 50 % foetal calf serum (FCS). n.d.: not determined. **values were determined at SANOFI as part of a collaboration*.

	MIC [µg/mL]				
Strain	(CHD	0	CDCHD	
		+ 50% FCS		+ 50% FCS	
Staphylococcus aureus ATCC-29213	8	64	8	64	
Klebsiella pneumoniae DSM-30104	4	16	4	16	
Acinetobacter baumannii ATCC-19606*	n.d.	n.d.	8	> 64	
Escherichia coli 35218*	n.d.	n.d.	0.25	8	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa ATCC-27853*	n.d.	n.d.	32	> 64	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA14*	n.d.	n.d.	32	> 64	

To examine the intracellular killing effect of CHD and CDCHD, murine macrophages (RAW264.7 cell line) were infected with *S. aureus* N315 at a multiplicity of infection (MOI)

of 10 and killing of intracellular bacteria was determined by CFU count after 18 h of treatment with 0.1- and 0.5-fold MIC of CHD and CDCHD. CHD was not able to reduce the number of intracellular bacteria at both tested sub-MIC concentrations (Figure 3-4) and for CDCHD no killing effect was observed at 0.1-fold MIC. CFU counts of macrophages treated with 0.5-fold MIC CDCHD indicated a killing effect, but microscopic investigations revealed a concurrent killing of RAW 264.7 cells. Due to high cytotoxic effects of CDCHD (section 3.1.1.3), no killing of intracellular *S. aureus* was achieved after treatment with CDCHD without affecting the host cells.



Figure 3-4: Killing of intracellular *Staphylococcus aureus* by CHD (MIC: 4μ g/mL) and CDCHD (MIC: 4μ g/mL). Murine macrophages (RAW264.7 cell line) were infected with *S. aureus* N315 and treated with CHD and CDCHD for 18 h at 0.5- and 2-fold MIC. Intracellular bacterial load was determined by three independent CFU counts. Effects observed at 2μ g/mL CDCHD rely on the bactericidal and cytotoxic effect of CDCHD. Data represent mean ± standard deviation (SD). Images show cell morphology of control and treated RAW264.7 cells after 18 h.

3.1.1.2 STRUCTURE-ACTIVITY RELATIONSHIP

Several derivatives of CHD and CDCHD were generated through semisynthesis and genetic engineering (Figure 3-5, Table 3-11) and their antibacterial activities were tested against a panel of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria including *S. aureus*, *K. pneumoniae*, *P. aeruginosa* and *E. coli* TolC (efflux-deficient, Table 3-12). Positions R₁, R₂, R₃, R₄ and R₅ were chosen for derivatization (Figure 3-5).



Figure 3-5: Positions used for CHD and CDCHD derivatives generated by semisynthesis (grey, blue ovals, compounds 12-25) or genetic engineering (green, blue ovals, compounds 3-11). Residues R^1 - R^5 are listed in Table 3-11.

The efflux-deficient *E. coli* strain was virtually insusceptible to C-9 demethylated derivatives of CHD (1, 2). With *S. aureus*, 1 and its C-4 epimer 2 displayed a 4- and 8-fold drop in MIC, respectively. Substitutions of R⁴ to an *N*-dimethyl group (3-5) led to a drop in activity against Gram-negative bacteria of 5 by 16-fold, whereas 3 and 4 were inactive (MIC: > 64 μ g/mL). Against *S. aureus*, 5 showed the same activity as the parent compound CDCHD, whereas 3 lost activity by 4-fold of the MIC value. Further derivatization of dimethylated derivatives by a glycosylation at position C-10 did not improve activity. Against *S. aureus*, 8 and 11 showed the same MIC values as determined for the parent dimethylated compound (4 μ g/mL), whereas 9 and 10 were 16-fold less potent against Grampositive bacteria. For all glycosylated and simultaneously dimethylated derivatives, activities against Gram-negative bacteria were completely abolished when tested against *E. coli* TolC. Furthermore, substitutions at C-4 by various functional groups (e.g. furoic acid, acetyl, biotin group 12-25) led to a complete loss of activity against Gram-negative bacteria. Against *S. aureus*, 12-14, 16, 18 and 21-24 showed no improvement in comparison to CDCHD, but a 2- to 32-fold increased MIC value or a completely abolished activity

(MIC: > 64 µg/mL) was observed. Only **17** showed a slight improvement in activity against Gram-positive bacteria (2-fold increase) and **15**, **19** and **20** were as potent as the parent molecule CDCHD (4 µg/mL). Changes at C-7 by an addition of chlorine (**26**), bromine (**27**) or fluorine (**29**) led to a 2- to 8-fold decrease in Gram-negative activity and when tested against *S. aureus*, MIC values comparable to the parent compound CDCHD (4 µg/mL) were determined. Addition of a quinolone (**28**) or a nitrite (**30**) on C-7 were not tolerated and activity on all test Gram-negative bacteria was completely abolished (MIC: > 64 µg/mL). For several derivatives (**1**, **4**, **6**, **8**, **12**, **15**, **17**, **19**) the respective C-4 epimer (**2**, **5**, **7**, **9**, **13**, **16**, **18**, **20**) was available. Only for **8** and **17** the *S*-configured epimer was 16-fold less potent than the *R*-configured one and for all other derivatives, no difference in activities were observed when the compounds were compared to their respective epimer. However, it has to be noted that it cannot be excluded that spontaneous epimerization takes place under the test conditions.
	A11		Posit	tion ^[a]		
Compound	Abbreviation	\mathbb{R}^1	R ²	R ³	\mathbb{R}^4	R ⁵
CHD	CHD	CH ₃	NH ₂	Н	CH_3	OH
CDCHD	CDCHD	NH_{2}	NH_2	Н	CH_3	OH
desmethyl-CHD	1	CH_3	NH_2	Н	Н	OH
desmethyl-epi-CHD	2	CH_3	NH ₂	Н	Н	OH
dimethyl-epi-CHD	3	CH_3	N(CH ₃) ₂	Н	CH_3	OH
dimethyl-CDCHD	4	NH_2	N(CH ₃) ₂	Н	CH_3	OH
dimethyl-epi-CDCHD	5	NH_2	N(CH ₃) ₂	Н	CH_3	OH
586	6	CH_3	N(CH ₃) ₂	Н	CH_3	Rhamnosyl
epi-586	7	CH_3	N(CH ₃) ₂	Н	CH_3	Rhamnosyl
572	8	CH_3	N(CH ₃) ₂	Н	Н	Rhamnosyl
epi-572	9	CH_3	N(CH ₃) ₂	Н	Н	Rhamnosyl
epi-587	10	NH_2	N(CH ₃) ₂	Н	CH_3	Rhamnosyl
epi-573	11	NH_2	N(CH ₃) ₂	Н	Н	Rhamnosyl
CDCHD-Phe	12	NH_2	L-phenylalanine	Н	CH_3	OH
epiCDCHD-Phe	13	NH_2	L-phenylalanine	Н	CH_3	OH
CDCHD-Asn	14	NH_2	L-asparagine	Н	CH_3	OH
CDCHD-FuA	15	NH_{2}	furoic acid	Н	CH_3	OH
epi-CDCHD-FuA	16	NH_{2}	furoic acid	Н	CH_3	OH
CDCHD-AHA	17	NH_{2}	aminohexanoic acid	Н	CH_3	OH
epi-CDCHD-AHA	18	NH_{2}	aminohexanoic acid	Н	CH_3	OH
CDCHD-pFBA	19	NH_{2}	p-fluorobenzoic acid	Н	CH_3	OH
epi-CDCHD-pFBA	20	NH_{2}	p-fluorobenzoic acid	Н	CH_3	OH
CDCHD-NAc	21	NH_{2}	acetyl	Н	CH_3	OH
CDCHD-NSO ₂ Me	22	NH_{2}	methylsulfonyl	Н	CH_3	OH
CDCHD-CBz	23	NH_{2}	benzyloxycarbonly	Н	CH_3	OH
CDCHD-biotin-A	24	NH_{2}	biotin	Н	CH_3	OH
CDCHD-biotin-B	25	NH_{2}	biotin	Н	CH_3	OH
CDCHD-Cl	26	NH_2	NH ₂	Cl	CH_3	OH
CDCHD-Br	27	NH_2	NH ₂	Br	CH_3	OH
CDCHD-Qu	28	NH_2	NH ₂	quinolone	CH_3	OH
CDCHD-F	29	NH ₂	NH ₂	fluor	CH_3	OH
CDCHD-NO ₂	30	NH ₂	NH ₂	NO ₂	CH_3	OH

Table 3-11: CHD and CDCHD derivatives generated by semisynthesis or genetic engineering. ^[a]Position used for derivatization ($R^1 - R^5$) are presented in Figure 3-5 (grey/green/blue ovals).

				MIC [µg/mL]			
cpd ^[a]	<i>Sa</i> DSM-11822	<i>Sa</i> Newman	<i>Sa</i> DSM-346	<i>Kp</i> DSM-30104	Pa PA14	<i>Pa</i> DSM-1128	<i>E. coli</i> TolC ^[b]
CHD	4	4	8	2	16	64	0.5
CDCHD	4	4	> 64	2	1	8	0.25
1	16	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	64
2	32	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	64
3	16	n.d.	n.d.	> 64	> 64	n.d.	n.d.
4	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.
5	4	n.d.	n.d.	32	> 64	n.d.	n.d.
6	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	> 64
7	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	> 64
8	4	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	> 64
9	64	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	> 64
10	64	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	> 64
11	4	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	> 64
12	n.d.	32	n.d.	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.
13	n.d.	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.
14	n.d.	64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.
15	n.d.	4	n.d.	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.
16	n.d.	8	n.d.	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.
17	n.d.	2	n.d.	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.
18	n.d.	32	n.d.	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.
19	n.d.	4	n.d.	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.
20	n.d.	4	n.d.	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.
21	n.d.	n.d.	> 64	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.
22	n.d.	n.d.	> 64	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.
23	n.d.	n.d.	> 64	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.
24	n.d.	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.
25	> 256	128	n.d.	> 256	n.d.	n.d.	> 256
26	n.d.	4	n.d.	8	n.d.	16	n.d.
27	n.d.	8	n.d.	8	n.d.	32	n.d.
28	n.d.	32	n.d.	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.
29	4	n.d.	n.d.	8	8	n.d.	n.d.
30	n.d.	n.d.	> 64	> 64	n.d.	> 64	n.d.

Table 3-12: MIC values of CHD and CDCHD derivatives against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. ^[a]Compounds (cpd) are listed in Table 3-11 and positions used for derivatization are presented in Figure 3-5; ^[b]TolC efflux deficient *E. coli; Sa: S. aureus; Kp: K. pneumoniae; Pa: P. aeruginosa*; n.d.: not determined.

3.1.1.3 CYTOTOXICITY

Cytotoxicity against human (HCT-116: colon carcinoma; HepG2: hepatocellular carcinoma; THP-1: acute monocytic leukemia; U-2 OS: bone osteosarcoma) and murine (RAW264.7: leukemia macrophages; L929: subcutaneous connective tissue, fibroblasts) eukaryotic cell lines was determined by tetrazolium salt-based assays (MTT) after 5 d treatment of cells with CHD and CDCHD in serial dilution. The half-inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) was determined by sigmoidal curve fitting using Origin 6.1G software.

Against all tested human cell lines, CHD showed moderate toxicity with IC₅₀ values around 20 μ g/mL, whereas CDCHD showed IC₅₀ values between 1 and 5 μ g/mL (Table 3-13). Murine cell lines were less affected when tested against CHD (IC₅₀: 50-60 μ g/mL) and CDCHD generally displayed more pronounced inhibitory effects (IC₅₀: 4-12 μ g/mL).

Call line	IC ₅₀	[µg/mL]
	CHD	CDCHD
Human		
HCT-116	18.06	2.91
HepG2	22.97	1.15
THP-1	23.08	4.98
U-2 OS	16.09	4.98
Murine		
L929	58.54	11.63
RAW264.7	47.74	3.74

Table 3-13: IC50 values of CHD and CDCHD against human and murine cell lines.

3.1.1.4 MACROMOLECULE BIOSYNTHESIS

To examine the effect of CHD and CDCHD on essential cellular processes, macromolecule synthesis (MMS) assays were carried out and the incorporation of radioactive precursor molecules in *S. carnosus* DSM-20501 was assessed. The incorporation of ³H-uridine (RNA), ³H-thymidine (DNA), ³H-methionine (protein) and ³H-glucosamine (peptidoglycan) was determined over 180 min in cells treated with CHD and CDCHD at 0.5-fold MIC. Nisin, rifampicin, TET and ciprofloxacin served as positive controls for peptidoglycan, RNA, protein and DNA synthesis, respectively. For RNA, DNA and protein synthesis, CHD and CDCHD showed an unspecific slight inhibitory effect but final incorporation levels as determined by scintillation counts nearly reached the values of untreated control cells after 180 min of treatment (Figure 3-6). However, cell wall synthesis was delayed by

approximately 60 min compared to control cells in both cases (CHD and CDCHD treatment), but no complete inhibition was observed.







Figure 3-6: Effects of CHD and CDCHD on synthesis of macromolecules. *S. carnosus* DSM-20105 was treated with 0.5-fold MIC (MIC: 4 μ g/mL) of CHD and CHD over 180 min and incorporation of and ³H-glucosamine (peptidoglycan), ³H-uridine (RNA), ³H-methionine (protein) and ³H-thymidine (DNA) was determined. Nisin (4-fold MIC), rifampicin (2-fold MIC), TET (4-fold MIC) and ciprofloxacin (2-fold MIC) served as positive controls, respectively. Radioactivity was measured in counts per minute (cpm) and data are represented as mean (n=3) ± standard deviation (SD).

3.1.1.5 IN VITRO TRANSLATION INHIBITION

Effects of CHD and CDCHD on translation compared to TET were examined using the RTS 100 *E. coli* HY Kit (5PRIME). For CHD and CDCHD a concentration range between 50 and 150 μ M was chosen and TET was tested at concentrations between 3.06 and 50 μ M. After 1 h exposure to compounds, luminescence was recorded and inhibition on *in vitro* translation was observed for all compounds, but the effect of CHD and CDCHD was less pronounced than observed for TET (Figure 3-7). Inhibition of translation by TET was already observed at 20 μ M (approximate half-inhibitory concentration, IC₅₀), whereas CHD and CDCHD concentrations of \geq 100 μ M were needed to trigger similar inhibitory effects.



Figure 3-7: Effects of CHD, CDCHD and TET on *in vitro* translation. Luminescence was measured after 1 h of treatment with CHD and CDCHD at concentrations between 50 and 150 μ M and TET between 3.06 and 50 μ M. Data are represented as mean (n=3) ± standard deviation (SD).

3.1.1.6 MEMBRANE DEPOLARIZATION

Changes on the membrane potential (MP) after treatment with CHD, CDCHD and TET were examined using the BacLightTM Bacterial Membrane Potential Kit (Invitrogen). *S. aureus* Newman was exposed to compounds at 0.5-, 2- and 4-fold MIC and MP was measured after 0.5 and 2 h of treatment. To determine the MP, samples were stained with the cyanine dye 3,3'-diethyloxacarbocyanin iodide (DiOC₂(3)) for 30 min and fluorescence was measured using a microplate reader [excitation.: 488nm; emission: 675 nm (green), 525 nm (red)]. In cells with intact MP, an intracellular accumulation of DiOC₂(3) is observed and the emission maximum turns towards red. A collapse of the MP leads to a decrease of the intracellular dye concentration and the emission maximum shifts towards green fluorescence. MP was calculated by the ratio of red to green fluorescence relative to untreated control cells. The proton ionophore carbonyl cyanide 3- chlorophenylhydrazone (CCCP) served as positive control.^{185,186} Cells treated with 0.5-fold MIC of either CHD or CDCHD exerted only minor effects on the MP compared to untreated cells, displayed by a reduction of the MP by 10 % and 15 %, respectively (Figure 3-8). An increase of CHD and CDCHD concentrations up to 4-fold MIC led to a more pronounced effect showing a time- and concentration-dependent increase of membrane depolarization. After 2 h treatment at 2-fold MIC, CHD and CDCHD led to an MP decrease of 60 % and 70 %, respectively, approaching the effect caused by CCCP (90 % depolarization). For TET, neither a concentration- nor a time-dependent change of the MP was observed. MP of cells treated with TET showed an overall constant MP with a minor decline of 20 % at all tested conditions.



Figure 3-8: Membrane depolarization of *S. aureus* Newman caused by CHD (MIC: $4 \mu g/mL$), CDCHD (MIC: $4 \mu g/mL$) and TET (MIC: $0.125 \mu g/mL$). Cells were treated with CHD, CDCHD and TET at 0.5-, 1- and 2- fold MIC for 0.5 and 2 h. CCCP ($15 \mu M$) served as positive control. Results show membrane potential relative to untreated cells and are represented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) of three independent samples. CCCP: carbonyl cyanide 3- chlorophenylhydrazone.

3.1.1.7 OUTER MEMBRANE PERMEABILIZATION

Permeabilization of the outer membrane was evaluated by the uptake of 1-*N*-phenylnaphtylamine (NPN). The lipophilic fluorescent probe NPN fluoresces strongly in

hydrophobic environments and weakly in aqueous environments. The lipopolysaccharide (LPS) layer of the outer membrane of intact cells serves as barrier to external lipophilic substances and a disruption of the membrane integrity enables NPN to pass into the hydrophobic lipid interior of outer and inner membrane, which in turn leads to an increase in fluorescence.^{187,188} *E. coli* DSM-1116 was treated with CHD, CDCHD and TET at 0.5-, 1- and 2-fold MIC and kanamycin (KAN) and polymyxin B (PMB) served as negative and positive controls, respectively. After 2 h treatment, NPN was added and fluorescence was monitored within three minutes using a microplate reader [excitation: 355 nm; emission: 405 nm]. Effects on membrane permeability were represented as the relative NPN uptake factor, calculated as described in part 2.2.7. No increased uptake was observed when cells were treated with CHD, CDCHD, TET or KAN at all tested conditions, indicating no membrane permeabilizing effects (Figure 3-9). For PMB, membrane permeabilizing was observed, represented by an increased uptake of NPN compared to untreated control cells.



Figure 3-9: Membrane permeabilizing effects of CHD (MIC: 1 μ g/mL), CDCHD (MIC: 0.5 μ g/mL) and TET (MIC: 1 μ g/mL). KAN and PMB (MIC for both: 4 μ g/mL) served as negative and positive controls, respectively. *E. coli* DSM-1116 was treated with CHD, CDCHD and TET at 0.5-, 1- and 2- fold MIC, and KAN and PMB at 2-fold MIC for 2 h. Results show relative NPN uptake factors and data are represented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) of three independent samples. CHD: chelocardin; CDCHD: 2-carboxamindo-2-deacetyl-CHD; TET: tetracycline: KAN: kanamycin; PMB: polymyxin B.

Nevertheless, further studies on membrane permeabilization in an 18 h assay revealed effects on the membrane integrity of Gram-negative species by CHD comparable to those mediated by polymyxins. The effect of increased permeability towards hydrophobic agents was assessed by determining the MIC value of rifampicin against *A. baumannii* DSM-30008 in

the presence of CHD at sub-inhibitory concentrations. The addition of CHD led to an 8-fold increased MIC value compared to the activity of rifampicin in test medium without enhancer antibiotic; the same effect was observed when polymyxin B nonapeptide (PMBN) was present (Table 3-14).

Table 3-14: MIC values of rifampicin against A. baumannii DSM-30008 in the presence of CHD and PMBN (polymyxin B nonapeptide).

Test medium	MIC of rifampicin [µg/mL]				
САМНВ	8				
+ 3 µg/mL PMBN	1				
+ 1 µg/mL CHD	1				

3.1.2 RESISTANCE MECHANISM

The development of resistance against CHD was investigated by the generation of resistant mutants in two approaches with different wildtype strains. Despite several attempts, it was not possible to obtain CDCHD-resistant mutants.

3.1.2.1 CHD-RESISTANT ESCHERICHIA COLI MUTANTS

Wildtype *E. coli* DSM-1116 was exposed to stepwise increasing CHD concentrations (2.5, 5, 7.7, 12.5, 15, 20, 30 µg/mL) obtaining seven independent resistant mutants (Mt30.1, Mt30.2, Mt30.4, Mt30.5, Mt30.6, Mt30.8, Mt30.10). At 30 µg/mL CHD, all mutants were able to grow but a concurrent fitness loss was observed, reflected in generation times of 2-3 weeks, compared to the wildtype which showed a normal growth behaviour. Cross-resistance was assessed directly after mutants had been generated and resistance against CHD was confirmed due to an observed 8- to \geq 64-fold increase of determined MIC values (Table 3-15). All mutants were only 2- to 8-fold cross-/co-resistant to CDCHD, tetracycline, tigecycline, rifampicin and ciprofloxacin. With all other tested standard antibiotics, no changes in susceptibility of the mutants compared to the wildtype were observed.

Genomic DNA of wildtype and four mutants (Mt30.1, Mt30.2, Mt30.4, Mt30.8) was prepared by standard phenol-chloroform isolation and genome sequencing was performed. *In silico* comparison of genomic data from wildtype to mutants revealed the presence of serval single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) or frameshift mutations (FS) within the mutant genomes (Table 3-16). In total, 19 SNPs and 5 FS were present, but changes were not consistent as no common mutant genotype was present. Of all SNPs, six were found in upstream regions without impact on amino acid sequences (of the respective genes; marked with °). Additionally, Mt30.2 and Mt.30.8 lost a naturally occurring 100kb plasmid, which was still present in Mt.30.1 and Mt30.8 as well as within the wildtype.

Antibiotic	MIC [µg/mL]										
compound	Wt	Mt30.1	Mt30.2	Mt30.4	Mt30.5	Mt30.6	Mt30.8	Mt30.10			
CHD	2	8	8	16	8	> 64	16	8			
CDCHD	0.5	2	2	2	1	2	4	2			
Tetracycline	1	2	2	2	2	2	4	4			
Tigecycline	1	2	1	2	4	1	2	2			
Rifampicin	8	32	32	16	16	16	16	32			
Kanamycin	4	8	4	4	2	2	1	4			
Erythromycin	32	> 64	> 64	64	32	64	64	> 64			
Polymyxin B	0.5	0.5	1	0.5	1	0.25	0.5	0.5			
Chloramphenicol	4	8	8	8	8	8	8	16			
Ciprofloxacin	0.006	0.05	0.025	0.0125	0.0125	0.025	0.0125	0.05			
Vancomycin	> 128	> 128	> 128	> 128	128	128	> 128	> 128			
Ampicillin	> 64	> 64	64	32	64	> 64	> 64	> 64			

Table 3-15: Resistance pattern of E. coli CHD-resistant mutants (Mt30). Wt: E. coli DSM-1116 wildtype.

Table 3-16: List of mutations identified in CHD-resistant *E. coli* DSM-1116 mutants. ^omutation found in upstream region of locus without impact on amino acid sequence; FS: frameshift; amino acids are denoted by three letter code, base pairs as single letter.

T		N	Iutation (base p	air/amino acid	#)
Locus	Gene product and function	Mt30.1	Mt30.2	Mt30.4	Mt30.8
ECW_m0440	TauB: ATP-binding subunit of a taurine transporter ¹⁸⁹			Gln → His (3)	
ECW_m0536°	Putative operator region of AcrR ^{190,191} : repressor of AcrAB MDR efflux system ^{192–194}	A→C (32)			
ECW_m0536	AcrR: repressor of AcrAB MDR efflux system ^{192–194}		FS (190)		
ECW_m0905	Protein belonging to XerC family of integrase proteins				Lys→Asn (5)
ECW_m1039	OmpF: outer membrane porin F ^{195–197}	FS (123)			
ECW_m1113	Protein with uncharacterized function	Lys → Asn (41)			
ECW_m1122	RutA: pyrimidine monooxygenase; involved in the degradation of pyrimidine. ^{198–200}		Asp→Asn (284)		
ECW_m1152	Protein with uncharacterized function	Gln→Leu (87)			
ECW_m1237	PhoQ: sensor histidine kinase in two- component regulatory system with PhoP ^{201,202}			Ile→Asn (207)	
ECW_m1493°	Hypothetical protein (containing a lytic transglycosylase ²⁰³)				A→T (27)
ECW_m1551	LysR-type transcriptional regulator				FS (191)
ECW_m1820	Putative ATP-dependent helicase	FS (1420)			
ECW_m2002	ProQ: RNA chaperon ²⁰⁴			Ser→Leu (219)	
ECW_m2153	Shikimate transporter (shikimic acid, involved in the biosynthesis of aromatic amino acids ²⁰⁵)		Thr→Asn (270)		
ECW_m2336	PBP7: D-alanyl-D-alanine hydrolase (involved in cell wall synthesis ^{206,207})		Gly → Gly (195)		
ECW_m2367°	kinase: catalyses phosphorylation of pseudouridine ^{208,209}	A→C (126)			
ECW_m3454	PBP4: D-alanyl-D-alanine hydrolase (involved in cell wall synthesis ^{206,207})			Val→Ile (287)	
ECW_m3617	protein involved in filamentation induced by cyclic adenosine monophosphate ^{210,211}		Arg→Gln (146)		
ECW_m3661	EnvZ: sensor histidine kinase in two- component regulatory system with OmpR ^{212,213}				Leu→Ile (189)
ECW_m3728°	Hypothetical protein (uncharacterized)		C→A (69)		
ECW_m4224°	Protein of XRE (xenobiotic response element) family of transcriptional regulators (comprise a helix-turn-helix DNA-binding motif. ^{214,215})				G→A (51)

To further investigate the mechanism underlying resistance exerted by CHD-resistant mutants (Table 3-15), activities of all sequenced mutants (Mt30.1, Mt30.2, Mt30.4, Mt30.8) were determined in the presence of the efflux pump inhibitor phenylalanine arginine β -naphthylamide dihydrochloride (PA β N) and in the presence of the membrane permeablizing agent PMBN. Susceptibility of all mutants against CHD, CDCHD, TET, ciprofloxacin and rifampicin increased in the presence of PA β N and MIC values approached activities determined for the wildtype (Table 3-17). The permeabilization of the outer membrane by PMBN led to similar result for all mutants, as an increase in susceptibility against all tested compounds was observed (Table 3-18). However, effects against rifampicin and ciprofloxacin were less pronounced than observed in the presence of PA β N and Mt30.1 and Mt30.2, still showed co-resistance with ciprofloxacin.

Table 3-17: MIC values of selected antibiotics against *E. coli* DSM-1116 wildtype and CHD-resistant *E. coli* DSM-1116 mutants (Mt30.) in the presence of phenylalanine arginine β-naphthylamide dihydrochloride (PAβN).

	MIC [µg/mL]										
Compound	Wildtype		Mt30.1		Mt30.2		Mt30.4		Mt30.8		
	-	$+ PA\beta N$	-	$+ PA\beta N$	-	$+ PA\beta N$	-	$+ PA\beta N$	-	$+ PA\beta N$	
CHD	2	2	8	4	8	2	16	1	16	0.5	
CDCHD	0.5	0.25	2	0.5	2	0.25	2	0.125	4	0.25	
Tetracycline	1	1	2	2	2	0.5	2	0.5	4	0.5	
Tigecycline	1	2	2	2	1	1	2	4	2	1	
Ciprofloxacin	0.006	0.006	0.05	0.006	0.025	0.006	0.0125	0.006	0.0125	0.003	
Rifampicin	2	\leq 0.03	32	\leq 0.03	32	\leq 0.03	32	\leq 0.03	16	\leq 0.03	

 Table 3-18: MIC values of selected antibiotics against *E. coli* DSM-1116 wildtype and CHD-resistant *E. coli* DSM-1116 mutants (Mt30.) in the presence polymyxin B nonapeptide (PMBN).

		MIC [µg/mL]										
Compound	Wil	Wildtype		Mt30.1		Mt30.2		Mt30.4		Mt30.8		
	-	+ PMBN	-	+ PMBN	-	+ PMBN	-	+ PMBN	-	+ PMBN		
CHD	2	2	8	4	8	2	16	2	16	0.5		
CDCHD	0.5	0.25	2	0.5	2	0.5	2	0.25	4	0.5		
Tetracycline	1	2	2	2	2	0.5	2	1	4	0.5		
Tigecycline	1	2	2	2	1	2	2	4	2	2		
Ciprofloxacin	0.006	0.006	0.05	0.025	0.025	0.025	0.0125	0.006	0.0125	0.006		
Rifampicin	2	0.5	32	0.25	32	0.5	32	0.5	16	0.125		

3.1.2.2 CHD-RESISTANT KLEBSIELLA PNEUMONIAE MUTANTS

In a second *in vitro* resistance development experiment, nine independent CHD-resistant *K. pneumoniae* mutants were generated by exposing wildtype strain *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 to stepwise increasing CHD concentrations (2, 4, 8 μ g/mL). At 8 μ g/mL all mutants were able to grow and no differences regarding fitness, compared to the wildtype were observed. Over 24 h, all mutants showed a normal, exponential growth behaviour with final cell densities comparable to the parent wildtype strain (Figure 3-10).



Figure 3-10: Growth curves of *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 wildtype and CHD-resistant mutants (Mt) over 24 h. Data represent OD_{600} values at each time point.

Co-/Cross-resistance studies revealed resistance of all nine mutants against CHD as well as against chloramphenicol, ciprofloxacin and all other tested tetracyclines, but not against CDCHD (Table 3-19). Against erythromycin, co-resistance was observed as well, except for Mt8.3 and Mt8.7, which were more sensitive towards erythromycin compared to all other mutants. Against polymyxin B an increased sensitivity of all mutants was observed, represented by up to 16-fold increased activity compared to the wildtype. Against all other tested antibiotics, no co-resistance was observed.

To characterize the mechanism underlying resistance, genome sequencing of all mutants and the wildtype strain was performed. An *in silico* comparison of the wildtype genome to the mutants genomes revealed mutations to be present within the regulatory gene *ramR* (KPD_37740) in all nine mutants (Table 3-20). Mutations were identified as deletions (Mt.8.2, Mt8.3, Mt8.4, Mt.8.5, Mt8.6, Mt8.10), SNPs (Mt8.8) or insertions (Mt8.1, Mt8.7).

Additionally, a repeat expansion within a phosphoglyceromutase of Mt8.2 and Mt8.3 (KPD_35200) and a SNP within an ABC transporter permease of Mt8.7 (KPD_11910) were present.

Antibiotic		MIC [µg/mL]									
compound	Wt	Mt8.1	Mt8.2	Mt8.3	Mt8.4	Mt8.5	Mt8.6	Mt8.7	Mt8.8	Mt8.10	
CHD	2	16	8	16	16	32	16	16	16	8	
CDCHD	2	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	
Tetracycline	4	64	32	64	64	64	64	64	16	32	
Minocycline	4	64	64	64	64	64	> 64	64	> 64	64	
Oxytetracycline	2	32	32	32	32	32	16	32	16	8	
Tigecycline	0.125	1	2	2	2	1	2	2	1	4	
Rifampicin	8	16	16	16	16	16	8	16	8	8	
Kanamycin	2	2	2	1	1	1	0.5	2	1	0.5	
Erythromycin	8	32	32	16	32	32	32	8	32	32	
Polymyxin B	4	0.5	0.5	0.25	0.25	0.5	0.5	1	1	0.5	
Chloramphenicol	1	32	32	32	16	8	8	16	16	8	
Ciprofloxacin	< 0.03	0.125	0.025	0.125	0.125	0.125	0.125	0.125	0.125	0.125	
Vancomycin	> 64	> 64	64	64	64	64	64	> 64	> 64	> 64	
Ampicillin	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	

Table 3-19: Resistance pattern of K. pneumoniae CHD-resistant mutants (Mt). Wt: K. pneumoniae DSM-30104 wildtype.

Table 3-20: Mutations identified in CHD-resistant *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 mutants. Ins: insertion; Δ : deletion; bp: base pair; #: number of affected bp; number in brackets denote number of affected amino acid (denoted in three letter code): RE: repeat expansion.

Locus	Gene product	mutation								
		Mt8.1	Mt8.2	Mt8.3	Mt8.4	Mt8.5	Mt8.6	Mt8.7	Mt8.8	Mt8.10
KPD_37740	RamR: TetR family transcriptional regulator	11bp Ins	∆4bp	Δ4bp	Δ4pb	∆#550; 11bp Ins	∆#550	11bp Ins	Ser→ Lys (44)	∆#550
KPD_35200	Phosphoglycero- mutase		2x → 3x 7bp RE	2x → 3x 7bp RE						
KPD_11910	branched-chain amino acid ABC transporter permease							Gly → Ala(231)		

Further characterization focused on the function of *ramR*, as mutations within this gene were common within all mutants. A *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 *ramR* knockout mutant (KP Δ *ramR*) was generated with a λ -red based knock-out system and the gene knock-out was confirmed by sequencing. As expected, KP Δ *ramR* was less susceptible towards CHD with an 8-fold decrease in activity compared to wildtype *K. pneumoniae* and no significant changes in sensitivity were observed when CDCHD activity was determined (Table 3-21).

Table 3-21: Activity of *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 wildtype and RamR knockout mutant ($\Delta ramR$) against CHD and CDCHD.

K programing DSM 20104	MIC [µg/mL]				
K. pneumonide DSM-50104	CHD	CDCHD			
Wildtype	4	4			
$\Delta ram R$	32	8			

To explore the regulatory function of RamR with respect to the AcrAB-TolC efflux system, transcriptional levels of *ramA* (encoding RamA; positive regulator of AcrAB-TolC efflux system), *acrA* and *acrB* (encoding AcrA and AcrB, respectively; subunits of AcrAB-TolC efflux system) were analysed. Gene expression of all nine CHD-resistant *K. pneumoniae* mutants and KP Δ *ramR* was measured by qPCR and relative transcription levels compared to the wildtype were calculated by the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct} method¹⁷³ and normalized to 16S rRNA. Compared to the wildtype, upregulation of *ramA* up to 41-fold with a concurrent upregulation of *acrA* and *acrB* up to 12- and 67-fold, respectively (Table 3-22) was found within all mutants, indicating increased efflux mediated by AcrAB.

K. pneumoniae	Relativ	re transcription level (fold c	hange)
DSM-30104	ramA	acrA	acrB
Wildtype	1	1	1
$\Delta ram R$	17.43 ± 2.42	1.38 ± 1.17	19.75 ± 0.73
Mt8.1	18.47 ± 0.87	1.58 ± 0.74	n.d.
Mt8.2	41.08 ± 1.05	11.78 ± 1.89	66.64 ± 0.58
Mt8.3	14.01 ± 0.91	2.76 ± 0.73	n.d.
Mt8.4	8.19 ± 0.55	8.40 ± 1.07	4.91 ± 0.80
Mt8.5	23.46 ± 1.11	2.58 ± 0.71	1.41 ± 0.65
Mt8.6	31.13 ± 1.30	4.33 ± 1.97	1.96 ± 1.13
Mt8.7	17.78 ± 0.94	4.62 ± 2.11	1.28 ± 1.13
Mt8.8	3.16 ± 0.97	9.37 ± 0.71	1.47 ± 0.94
Mt8.10	10.40 ± 1.08	3.13 ± 1.87	1.28 ± 0.85

Table 3-22: Relative transcription levels of *ramA*, *acrA* and *acrB* genes of CHD-resistant *K. pneumoniae* mutants in comparison to *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 wildtype.

MIC values of all mutants were re-examined in the presence of PA β N and as expected, all mutants showed increased sensitivity towards CHD and no changes were observed in activity of CDCHD (Table 3-23). Additionally, MIC values against tetracycline, tigecycline, chloramphenicol and ciprofloxacin were determined and all mutants showed activity values comparable to the wildtype, indicating that former observed co-/cross-resistance (Table 3-19) relies on efflux. The inhibition of efflux pumps within the wildtype had no effect on activity, as same values were determined with and without PA β N. A comparison of MIC values of wildtype to mutants in the presence of PA β N showed a general recovery of activity upon efflux pump inhibition, however data indicated that a complete inhibition of efflux might have been not achieved, since mutants were overall less sensitive than the wildtype. However, higher concentrations of PA β N could induce unspecific toxic effects on the cells.²¹⁶

<i>K. pneumoniae</i> DSM-30104	ΡΑβΝ -	MIC [µg/ml]					
		CHD	CDCHD	TET	TIG	СМ	CIP
Wildtype	-	2	1	2	0.125	1	≤ 0.03
	+	2	1	2	0.25	2	≤ 0.03
$\Delta ram R$	-	16	4	8	2	8	0.06
	+	8	2	4	0.25	1	≤ 0.03
Mt8.1	-	8	2	16	1	32	0.125
	+	8	2	4	0.125	2	≤ 0.03
Mt8.2	-	16	2	32	2	32	0.25
	+	8	2	4	0.5	2	≤ 0.03
Mt8.3	-	16	2	32	2	32	0.125
	+	8	2	4	0.125	1	≤0.03
Mt8.4	-	16	2	16	2	16	0.125
	+	2	2	4	0.25	1	≤ 0.03
Mt8.5	-	16	2	16	1	8	0.125
	+	4	2	4	0.25	0.5	≤ 0.03
Mt8.6	-	16	2	16	2	8	0.125
	+	4	2	2	0.5	1	≤ 0.03
Mt8.7	-	16	2	32	2	16	0.125
	+	2	1	4	0.125	2	≤ 0.03
Mt8.8	-	8	2	16	1	16	0.125
	+	4	1	2	0.125	1	≤ 0.03
Mt8.10	-	16	2	32	4	8	0.125
	+	8	1	4	0.5	1	≤ 0.03

Table 3-23: Activity of *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 wildtype and CHD-resistant mutants in the presence of phenylalanine arginine β -naphthylamide dihydrochloride (PA β N). TET: tetracycline; TIG: tigecycline; CM: chloramphenicol; CIP: ciprofloxacin.

To confirm that CHD resistance mechanisms and co-resistance with ciprofloxacin and rifampicin are not related to mechanisms commonly observed for the reference antibiotics, activities against rifampicin-resistant (RIF^R) *S. aureus* Newman, ciprofloxacin-resistant *E. coli* (*E. coli* WT-3) and *marR*-deficient *E. coli* (*E. coli* WT-III; upregulated efflux) were determined. Against *S. aureus* RIF^R [mutation within *rpoB*; encoding RNA polymerase β -subunit] no co-resistance with CHD or any other tested tetracycline was observed. Resistance mediated by mutation of *gyrA* [encoding DNA gyrase A-subunit] led also to no co-resistance for CHD or any other tested antibiotic when activity was tested against *E. coli* WT-3 (Table 3-24). Against *E. coli* WT-III, an 8-fold decrease in activity was observed for CHD and CDCHD, and tigecycline showed 4-fold less activity compared to wildtype *E. coli* (*E. coli* WT), supporting the assumption that resistance relies on efflux events.

Table 3-24: Minimal inhibitory concentrations (MIC) of selected antibiotics against *S. aureus* Newman wildtype, ^[a]rifampicin-resistant *S. aureus* Newman (mutations within *rpoB*), ^[b]*E. coli* wildtype (served as wildtype for generation of ^[c] and ^[d]), ^[c]ciprofloxacin-resistant *E. coli* (mutation of *gyrA* within amino acid # 644) and ^[d]*E. coli marR* deficient mutant (Δ 72bp within *marR* gene).

Compound -	MIC [µg/mL]					
	S. <i>aureus</i> Newman	<i>S. aureus</i> Newman (RIF ^R) ^[a]	E. coli WT ^[b]	E. coli WT-3 ^[c]	E. coli WT-III ^[d]	
CHD	4	8	4	4	16	
CDCHD	2	2	2	2	2	
Tetracycline	≤ 0.03	≤ 0.03	2	2	2	
Tigecycline	8	8	8	16	32	
Ciprofloxacin	0.1	0.1	0.03	2	0.05	
Rifampicin	≤ 0.03	> 64	8	8	8	

To compare resistance mechanisms against CHD to mechanisms of CDCHD-resistant pathogens, it was planned to generate CDCHD-resistant mutants. Wildtype *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 *and S. aureus* N315 were exposed to stepwise increasing CDCHD concentrations (*K. pneumoniae*: 2, 4, 8 μ g/mL; *S. aureus*: 4, 8, 12 μ g/mL), generating eight independent mutants, respectively. *K. pneumoniae* mutants were able to grow at 8 μ g/mL and *S. aureus* mutants at 12 μ g/mL, but for all a tremendous fitness loss was observed, reflected in generation times up to 2 weeks, compared to the wildtype which showed a normal growth behaviour. Finally, repeating MIC assays with these mutants, resistance against CDCHD or CHD could not be confirmed for any *K. pneumoniae* or *S. aureus* mutant (Table 3-25, Table 3-26). Additionally, some mutants (*K. pneumoniae*: Mt8.7, Mt8.8, Mt8.9; *S. aureus*: Mt12.1, Mt12.9) were not able to grow after cryo-storage, underlining the strong influence of CDCHD on the mutants fitness and a further characterization of all mutants was omitted.

K. pneumoniae	MIC [µg/mL]		
DSM-30104	CHD	CDCHD	
Wt	8	4	
Mt8.1	16	8	
Mt8.2	16	8	
Mt8.3	16	4	
Mt8.4	16	4	
Mt8.7	n.d.	n.d.	
Mt8.8	n.d.	n.d.	
Mt8.9	n.d.	n.d.	
Mt8.10	16	8	

 Table 3-25: Resistance pattern of K. pneumoniae CDCHD-resistant mutants (Mt). Wt: K. pneumoniae DSM-30104

 wildtype. n.d.: not determined.

Table 3-26: Resistance pattern of *S. aureus* CDCHD-resistant mutants (Mt). Wt: *S. aureus* N315 wildtype. n.d.: not determined.

C gungus N215	MIC [µg/mL]			
5. aureus 11515	CHD	CDCHD		
Wt	8	4		
Mt12.1	n.d.	n.d.		
Mt12.2	8	4		
Mt12.3	8	4		
Mt12.5	8	8		
Mt12.6	8	4		
Mt12.7	8	8		
Mt12.8	8	8		
Mt12.9	n.d.	n.d.		

3.2 DISCUSSION

3.2.1 ANTIBACTERIAL ACTIVITY

Chelocardin belongs to the family of atypical tetracyclines^{127,135,217} and is known to be a broad-spectrum antibiotic with activity against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, including multidrug-resistant bacteria, but it lacks activity against Pseudomonas aeruginosa.^{107,108,139} Compared to clinically used typical tetracyclines, CHD exhibits some structural differences and depicts a more planar and rather lipophilic molecule, which is thought to be the main reason for a different mode of action.^{48,139} Typical tetracyclines are known to inhibit protein biosynthesis by blocking the acceptor site of aminoacyl-tRNA at the 30S subunit of the ribosome to prevent translation.²¹⁷⁻²¹⁹ In contrast, atypical tetracyclines such as CHD are not believed to be involved in translation inhibition, but they rather interfere with the cytoplasmic bacterial membrane which leads to a disrupted function and a bacteriolytic effect.¹²⁷⁻¹²⁹ One main difference of CHD to typical tetracyclines with regard to structural properties is a different aromatization pattern of ring C of CHD (Figure 3-11). This chemical feature leads to a more planar molecule, the reason why CHD might not be able to bind to the ribosome. Moreover, CHD bears an acetyl group at C-2, which is replaced by a carboxamido group at typical tetracyclines and known to be the main feature for tetracyclines antibacterial activities.^{130,131} Based on this knowledge, biosynthetic engineering studies aimed at improving chelocardin and yielded a new chelocardin derivative, 2-carboxamindo-2-deacetyl-CHD (CDCHD, Figure 3-11), bearing a carboxamido group at C-2 and exhibiting improved antibacterial activities including inhibition of *P. aeruginosa*.¹³⁹



Figure 3-11: Combination of typical and atypical structural features within 2-carboxamindo-2-deacetyl-CHD (CDCHD). Main structural characteristics of atypical tetracyclines (CHD, CDCHD) that differ from typical tetracyclines (oxytetracycline) are marked in blue.

Antibacterial activities of CHD and CDCHD were determined against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria and broad-spectrum effectiveness, including inhibitory activity against TET-resistant pathogens, of both compounds were confirmed (Table 3-1, Table 3-2).¹³⁹ Throughout, CDCHD exhibited an improved activity pattern, especially against *P. aeruginosa* with overall 2- to 8-fold increased activities, compared to CHD. The difference of CHD to CDCHD in *P. aeruginosa* activity was further investigated by MIC determination against efflux-deficient *P. aeruginosa* PA14 mutants ($\Delta mexAB$, $\Delta mexCD$, $\Delta mexEF$, $\Delta mexXY$). It was shown that susceptibility relied on efflux mechanisms exhibited mainly by the MexAB-OprM efflux pump of *P. aeruginosa* (Table 3-3). A deletion of the efflux pump encoded by *mexAB* increased susceptibility of both compounds up to 16-fold, the same effect as observed for TET. Efflux pumps encoded by *mexCD*, *mexEF* and *mexXY* did not affect activities as they are thought not to be expressed under normal growth conditions. They are rather involved in acquired resistance based on mutations of regulatory genes what leads to an increased expression of the efflux systems.^{46,220-223} In contrast, MexAB-OprM is known to cause intrinsic resistance towards antibiotics, including

tetracyclines.^{224,225} Since CHD and TET are only effective against *P. aeruginosa* upon efflux pump inhibition and CDCHD was shown to be able to inhibit wildtype species of *P. aeruginosa*¹³⁹ (Table 3-1), the difference in activity must rely on structural characteristics of CDCHD, which enable the compound to at least partially overcome efflux. This is also in accordance to results from *in vitro* resistance development in *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, where it was not possible to obtain CDCHD resistant mutants and all CHD resistant clones displayed increased efflux via the AcrAB system (see chapter 3.2.3). Compared to typical tetracyclines, chelocardins contain a non-methylated amino group at C-4, as well as different aromatization patterns in the western part of the molecules (Figure 3-11). Since those features do not seem to be sufficient to cause inhibition of *P. aeruginosa* spp. (see CHD activity pattern), the combination of chemical features from typical and atypical tetracyclines, including a charged primary amine, merged within CDCHD, seems to be the reason to overcome intrinsic resistance mediated by *P. aeruginosa* and CDCHD's improved activity pattern.

Bringing together the facts that chelocardins are in general able to inhibit MDR species and tetracycline-resistant pathogens (Table 3-2) and the overall improved activity pattern of CDCHD compared to CHD, depicts CDCHD as a frontrunner molecule in the class of chelocardins. To further improve the potency of chelocardins and to generate a lead molecule, several derivatives were prepared through semisynthesis and genetic engineering, with a main focus on derivatization of CDCHD (Figure 3-5, Table 3-11). Structure activity relationships (SAR) of 30 derivatives bearing different moieties (Figure 3-5, Table 3-11) were investigated by determining activities against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria including S. aureus, K. pneumoniae, P. aeruginosa and efflux-deficient E. coli TolC (Table 3-12). Modifications by structural features from typical tetracyclines, such as dimethylation of the amino group at C-4 or a demethylation at C-9, as well as substitutions or additions of several active groups were performed (Figure 3-12, Figure 3-13). So far, none of the generated derivatives showed improved antibacterial activity. A demethylation at C-9 of CHD led to a complete abolishment in antibacterial activity, confirming the importance of a methyl group at this position for the effectiveness of CHD²²⁶. A dimethylation or substitutions of various active groups at C-4 led to a loss or complete abolishment in activity for CHD and CDCHD against Gram-negative bacteria. However, S. aureus was still susceptible towards both compounds upon substitution of R_4 to a N-dimethyl group (at C-4), but no improvement in activity was achieved. In general, the N-dimethyl group (tertiary

amine) at C-4 leads to a declined activity pattern for both compounds and it seems to be crucial to bear a primary amine at C-4 to exert their broad-spectrum activity pattern. However, so far only the relative stereochemistry in CHD and CDCDH is known. It might be that difference in the overall topology of chelocardins in comparison to typical tetracyclines account for different binding and activity pattern. A combinatorial derivatization by a substitution of C-4 to a N-dimethyl group and a glycosylation at C-10 of either CHD or CDCHD led to a complete loss in activity and as expected, a concurrent demethylation at C-9 did not change the molecules properties. The addition of a sugar moiety to either CHD or CDCHD could positively influence the molecules properties, including an increased water-solubility or a decrease of their cytotoxicity^{227,228}. However, to examine the properties of a glycosylated molecule in detail, it would be preferable to add the glycosylation to the parent molecules (CHD and CDCHD) bearing no further modification. Regarding derivatization at C-7, not all active groups were tolerated upon addition, but so far, this position seems to be promising to perform further derivatization. The addition of a chlorine or a fluorine still led to compounds inhibiting Gram-positive as well as Gramnegative bacteria comparable to the parent molecule CDCHD. Even though no improvement in activity was achieved, the molecule's broad-spectrum activity pattern was still present. Derivatization at C-7 of CDCHD seems to be a promising starting point to optimize the scaffold in terms of pharmacological properties including besides bioactivity also bioavailability or the molecules solubility.

From eight derivatives, their respective C-4 epimer was available for activity determination. For two derivatives their S-configured epimer was 16-fold less potent than the *R*-configured molecule, whereas for all other derivatives a comparison between both types of configuration did not show differences in terms of their antibacterial activity. In general, tetracyclines are known to undergo reversible epimerization at C-4 at acidic pH conditions which leads to a decrease of antibacterial potency.^{229–232} Overall, chelocardins in (4S)-configuration did not seem to loose antibacterial activity, but it cannot be excluded that spontaneous epimerization to the (4R)-epimers takes place under assay conditions, which causes the observed antibacterial activities.







Figure 3-13: Structure activity relationship (SAR) of CDCHD derivatives in comparison to the parent molecule.

3.2.2 MECHANISM OF ACTION

One key element in the optimization of antibiotics is the elucidation of their mechanism of action and identification of the target molecules. Based on this information, molecules can be adapted to provide antibacterial agents with improved pharmaceutical properties to assure an optimum in effectiveness and to overcome the ability of bacteria to exert resistance towards antibiotics.^{24,41} The target molecule of CHD is yet not identified and ever since the discovery of CHD¹⁰⁷, its mode of action is controversially discussed. Studies in the 1970s revealed CHD to exert the same mechanism of action as typical tetracyclines by inhibiting protein translation upon binding to ribosomal subunits¹⁴⁰, whereas more recent studies describe cell lysis as the primary effect, which is mediated by interference with the cell membrane, and no interaction with the ribosome.^{127-129,135} Additionally, a current study predicted a dual mechanism of action involving both, inhibition of protein biosynthesis and targeting of the cell membrane in a concentration dependent manner.¹⁴¹ To get further insight into the predicted mechanisms of chelocardins, effects on the outer membrane as well as effects on membrane integrity were analysed. Typical tetracyclines are known to enter Gram-negative cells through porins without affecting the permeability of the outer membrane.^{48,233,234} This was also observed for *E. coli* treated with CHD and CDCHD at concentrations ranging from sub-inhibitory to 2-fold MIC over 2 h. None of the tested antibiotics increased permeability towards the lipophilic dye NPN (Figure 3-9), indicating that chelocardins are not able to change the composition and integrity of the OM under these conditions. However, in a 18 h assay, CHD revealed a similar effect than observed for polymyxins by sensitizing the outer membrane towards hydrophobic agents like rifampicin (Table 3-14), which are under normal conditions not able to penetrate the OM.^{235,236} This may be triggered by membrane disturbing antibacterial effects at sub-lethal concentrations, which do not directly rely on membrane re-organization as observed with e.g. polymyxins. Thus, the observed sensitizing of A. baumannii could be caused indirectly and after CHD exerts its primary antibacterial mechanism.

Additionally, changes on the membrane potential (MP) caused by treatment with CHD and CDCHD in comparison the TET were examined. A concentration- and time-dependent depolarization of the MP was observed when *S. aureus* was treated with CHD or CDCHD (Figure 3-8). After 2 h treatment at 8 μ g/mL both compounds affected MP (approx. 70 % depolarization) in a similar way as observed for the control CCCP, which caused almost a complete collapse (90 % decrease) of the MP by eliminating the proton gradient.^{185,186} For

TET, neither a concentration- nor a time-dependent change of the MP was observed. Those results are in accordance with published data on the membrane potential upon treatment with CHD and TET in a short term study (6 min treatment).¹⁴¹ Stepanek et al. described effects on the MP only at high CHD concentrations (12 µg/mL) and no effect at lower concentrations (3-6 μ g/mL). The fact that Stepanek et al. had to use higher concentrations of CHD to observe membrane depolarization in a shorter time period (only 6 min treatment) supports the result (Figure 3-8) of a concentration and time-dependent depolarization effect caused by chelocardins. Differences of typical and atypical tetracyclines in terms of their membrane depolarization effects seem to rely on structural differences. Typical tetracyclines exist in an equilibrium of a lipophilic, non-ionized and a hydrophilic form.^{128,132,237} To enter Gram-negative cells, typical tetracyclines form a positively charged cation complex, presumably with Mg^{2+} , what enables the uptake through porins (OmpF, OmpC) of the outer membrane.^{233,234} The tetracycline-ion complex accumulates within the periplasm and presumably dissociates resulting in equilibrium of the zwitterion and a non-ionized form of the antibiotic. The neutral form is needed to further proceed through the cytoplasmic membrane. Once the molecule is present within the cytoplasm, a chelation is likely to happen again, which results in a hydrophilic ionized molecule which is able to bind to the ribosome.^{48,233} This relies on a higher pH and a higher ion concentration within the cell compared to the periplasm.²³⁴ In contrast, atypical tetracyclines solely exist in a lipophilic form which is probably caused by their more planar structure.¹²⁸ Due to the increased lipophilicity of CHD, the molecule is thought to stay longer in the membrane compared to typical tetraclycines¹⁴¹, which might trigger membrane damaging effects, followed by a time-dependent altering of the MP of Gram-negative bacteria, which in turn leads to cell lysis.



Figure 3-14: Formational changes during tetracycline (TET) uptake. A chelation of a TET-ion (Mg^{2+}) complex is needed to cross the outer membrane (OM). The complex dissociates within the periplasm and an equilibrium of the zwitterion and a non-ionized form is present. The latter form dissociates through the cytoplasmic membrane into the cytoplasm, where the molecule predominantly exists in a hydrophilic from. A reformation of the TET-ion complex is likely to happen and is required for ribosome binding.^{238–240}

Besides membrane associated mechanisms, inhibitory effects of CHD on the synthesis of macromolecules were described.¹²⁸ In comparison to the nearly complete inhibition of RNA, DNA and protein synthesis described by Rasmussen et al.¹²⁸, contrary data were achieved within the present study (Figure 3-6). S. carnosus DSM-20105 was incubated with CHD and CDCHD at 0.5-fold MIC and macromolecule synthesis (MMS) was monitored over 180 min. Both compounds showed only a slight inhibition of RNA, DNA and protein synthesis, which can be neglected, as final incorporation levels of precursor molecules nearly reached the values achieved for untreated control cells. Additionally, effects on cell wall synthesis were analysed and apart from a delay in the synthesis by approximately 60 min compared to control cells, treatment with both compounds did not lead to complete inhibition. One limiting factor within this study was the concentration range of both chelocardins. Results depicted (Figure 3-6) were generated at sub-inhibitory concentrations (2 μ g/mL), as the use of higher concentrations was not suitable within the assay set-up. Concentrations \geq MIC led to fast killing and complete lysis of cells due to the strong bactericidal effect of chelocardins¹²⁷. On the contrary, Rasmussen et al. performed their studies at higher concentrations (20-fold MIC), what might account for the discrepancies in observed effects. In contrast to the above described minor effects on protein synthesis on living cells, both

chelocardins displayed inhibition of translation in a cell-free system (Figure 3-7). However, > 5-fold higher concentrations of CHD and CDCHD compared to TET were needed to trigger similar inhibitory effects. Those findings are contradictory to the predicted mechanism of CHD by Stepanek et al.¹⁴¹, as they stated that CHD caused inhibition of translation through ribosome binding at low CHD concentrations. Based on their data, results on MMS study would have been expected to be different, i.e. an early breakdown of methionine incorporation was expected. Indeed, cell wall synthesis appeared to be most affected when S. carnosus was treated at the 0.5-fold MIC. However, the discrepancies on the mechanism of CHD cannot be explained so far. Regarding results of the *in vitro* translation in a cell-free system, ribosome inhibition seems to contribute to CHD's antibacterial activity. However, based on the cell-based studies (MMS), translation inhibition was excluded as primary mechanism. Furthermore, effective concentrations in cells cannot be extrapolated form inhibitory concentrations in the *in vitro* experiment. The cell-free system overcomes the already mentioned bactericidal activity of CHD^{127,129}, which was shown to happen in a concentration dependent manner (Figure 3-2). Sub-inhibitory concentrations led to an either exponential growth or a bacteriostatic effect, whereas higher antibiotic concentrations (\geq MIC value) led to a 2- to 3-log₁₀ reduction of counted CFU. For CDCHD, a similar bactericidal activity was observed and the effect was even more pronounced compared to CHD, killing > $3-\log_{10}$ cells (Figure 3-3). Additionally, it was shown that chelocardins exert in general a stronger activity than observed for typical tetracyclines (Table 3-4), since they act more bacteriostatic.¹²⁷ Combining those results with the observed effects on translation, leads to the conclusion that the concentration range used in the cell-free translation assay would trigger a bactericidal effect in an assay with live cells by a rapid killing of the cells. It might be possible that membranes of bacterial cells are already affected irreversibly after CHD treatment and that simultaneous effects on the ribosome are negligible. This shows that the main mechanism of action of chelocardins rely on membrane associated effects and that it is not based on the inhibition of protein synthesis. Although the mode-of-action of chelocardin is still not completely understood, a potential *in* vivo use was already described in the 1970s. A small Phase II clinical study in the 1970s reported the cure of twelve patients suffering from urinary tract infections after treatment with CHD¹³⁸. To compare in vivo efficacy of CHD to CDCHD, both compounds were initially investigated in a thigh infection mouse model (data not shown; Dr. Katharina Rox, HZI, Braunschweig). Both compounds were tolerated up to 50 mg/kg/day and reduction of bacterial burden (K. pneumoniae) was determined in muscles, blood and kidneys. Based on

CFU count, antibacterial effects in blood samples were more pronounced compared to effects in muscles. However, both compounds revealed best potency in kidneys and similar or even better effects compared to the control levofloxacin were observed. The overall promising results from in vivo infection experiments along with results from extensive pharmacokinetic (PK) studies in mice, that were performed by Dr. K. Rox as part of a DZIFfunded project, hinted towards an accumulation of the compounds in kidneys and urine and the potential use of chelocardins to treat urinary tract infections (UTI). Thus, both chelocardins were assessed in an E. coli UTI mouse model at Statens Serum Institute in Copenhagen, Denmark.²⁴¹ As expected, CHD as well as CDCHD were able to induce a significant reduction of bacterial burden in urine and bladder, but antibacterial effects in kidneys were somewhat less pronounced and only CDCHD treatment resulted in significant reduction of bacterial load. Due to limitations with respect to solubility of CHD and CDCHD and their bioavailability further scaffold improvement is required to achieve even better in vivo efficacy. However, the results from in vivo mouse models, in particular from the E. coli UTI model, qualify CDCHD as a valid starting point for lead generation (hit-to-lead program). UTIs are classified into complicated an uncomplicated infections, whereas the latter type is additionally subdivided into lower UTI (cystitis) and upper UTI (pyelonephritis).^{242,243}. Uncomplicated UTIs are typically described in otherwise healthy patients whereas complicated UTIs occur in association with urinary tract abnormalities including structural or neurological changes.²⁴⁴ UTIs are mainly caused by Enterobacteriaceae, with an annual estimated occurrence of about 150 million cases.²⁴⁵ Uropathogenic E. coli (UPEC) are the most common pathogens causing UTI, but e.g. K. pneumoniae, P. mirabilis, Enterobacter spp. and P. aeruginosa are also associated with UTIs (Figure 3-15). Besides Gram-negative bacteria, Gram-positive bacteria such as Enterococci or Staphylococci, and fungi are also capable of causing UTI.^{242,246} The increasing number of MDR pathogens, in particular among Gram-negative species, severely hampers the effectiveness of drugs such as fluoroquinolones or β -lactam antibiotics, which are typically used to treat UTIs.²⁴⁷⁻²⁴⁹ Elderly patients appear to be most affected by drugresistant uropathogens. Furthermore, the spread from hospitals to the community including special-care homes is alarming.^{250,251} The combination of increasing prevalence of MDR bacteria among uropathogenic strains, an extensive spread of the pathogens into the community, and a concurrent emergence of ineffective drugs depicts the importance of finding alternative or rather new effective antibiotics.



Figure 3-15: Epidemiology of uncomplicated urinary tract infections (UTI) and complicated UTI. UPEC: uropathogenic *E. coli*; GBS: group B *Streptococcus*. Adapted from Flores-Mireles et al.²⁴²

To further investigate the potential use of CHD and CDCHD against UTIs, the *in vitro* activity of both compounds was determined against uropathogenic laboratory strains and clinically relevant isolates, including MDR isolates. Both chelocardins inhibited laboratory strains (Table 3-1) and as expected CDCHD showed improved activity compared to CHD (2- to 8-fold increased MIC values). In addition, CHD and CDCHD revealed inhibitory effects against clinical isolates and intriguingly, they were able to inhibit colistin-resistant pathogens and pathogens expressing TEM- β lactamases or extended-spectrum β -lactamases (Table 3-5). Moreover, approximately 4-fold improved potency of both compounds was observed when tested against selected isolates in artificial urine, compared to standard test medium (Table 3-8, Table 3-9) and determined MIC values were pH-independent (pH 5.5 to pH 8.5). However, MBC values varied by a factor 2-16 depending on the adjusted pH. This effect could not be attributed to changed stability of CHD and CDCHD at different pH

values and it was more pronounced with the K. pneumoniae isolate (compared to E. coli), whereas potency at acidic pH was by tendency better. Remarkably, an opposite line-up of CHD and CDCHD in terms of their antibacterial potency was observed. CDCHD showed better activities against laboratory strains, whereas CHD was the more potent molecule against clinical isolates and additionally, CDCHD lost its ability to efficiently inhibit P. aeruginosa when tested against clinical isolates. Those data are contradictory to initial reported MIC values¹³⁹ on clinical isolates. It was assumed that a changed formulation of CHD and CDCHD caused the reverted potency. Initially, chelocardins were prepared as HCl adducts in methanol and reported data¹³⁹ rely on using CHD and CDCHD in this solution. Due to stability issues (e.g. spontaneous epimerization), which were discovered later on, both chelocardins were provided in a modified formulation as sodium salts with citrate as stabilizer. However, it was shown, that the change in formulation did not cause reverted potency of CHD and CDCHD (Table 3-6, Table 3-7). Throughout, MIC values determined with CHD and CDCHD in either MeOH (HCl adducts) or water (Na salts with Na-citrate) were comparable and thus, it could be confirmed that CDCHD is by tendency less active compared to CHD on uropathogenic clinical isolates. In addition, both compounds were in general less potent against clinical isolates compared to laboratory strains, which probably relies on intrinsic resistance mechanism (e.g. higher efflux rates) that are per se found frequently in clinical isolated pathogens. Moreover, the slight difference in potency can probably also be neglected as CDCHD appears to be the preferred scaffold due to its significantly more pronounced bactericidal effects, which was throughout shown to be stronger compared to CHD, regardless if determined against laboratory strains (Figure 3-3) or clinical isolates (Table 3-5, Table 3-8, Table 3-9).

These results further substantiate the assumption that chelocardins, in particular CDCHDderived compounds, are useful early lead structures for the preclinical development towards an UTI drug. Moreover, experimental *in vivo* PK/PD studies in mice and reports on the phase II clinical trial with CHD did not reveal any severe *in vivo* toxicity or adverse effects.¹³⁸ Those results underline a good tolerance of chelocardins *in vivo* and leading to the conclusion, that cytotoxic effect observed *in vitro* can be neglected. However, *in vitro* cytotoxicity against human (HCT-116: colon carcinoma; HepG2: hepatocellular carcinoma; THP-1: acute monocytic leukemia; U-2 OS: bone osteosarcoma) and murine (RAW264.7: leukemia macrophage; L929: subcutaneous connective tissue, fibroblasts) cell lines (Table 3-13) hampered some of the cell-based studies. The analysis of killing efficacy on intracellular bacteria within macrophages by CHD and CDCHD failed as the assay set-up was particularly limited; half-inhibitory concentrations of CHD and CDCHD on eukaryotic cells (IC₅₀ on RAW264.7: 4.5 and 0.7 µg/mL) were in the same range than MIC values on the intracellular pathogen (*S. aureus* MIC: 4 µg/mL) (Figure 3-4). Concentrations \geq MIC/IC₅₀ would have led to killing of bacteria with a concurrent disruption and lysis of macrophages. For CDCHD, the general higher toxicity was even more limiting as concentrations \leq IC₅₀(0.7 µg/mL) would have been too low to cover the concentration ranges needed to determine any antibacterial effect (MIC: 4 µg/mL). *In vitro* cytotoxicity probably relies on membrane interaction of CHD and CDCHD similar to that observed for bacterial species. The lack of pronounced *in vivo* toxicity might be explained by the fact that cells, which are organized in e.g. a tissue are usually more tolerant to external stressors.²⁵²

3.2.3 RESISTANCE MECHANISM

The development of resistance against CHD and CDCHD was investigated in Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. Despite several attempts, it was not possible to obtain CDCHD-resistant mutants. The exposure of stepwise increasing concentrations of CDCHD to wildtype *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 and *S. aureus* N315 led to a severe loss in fitness of the treated bacteria and MIC determination revealed all mutants not to be resistant (Table 3-25, Table 3-26). However, by exposing wildtype *E. coli* DSM-1116 and *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30401 to stepwise increasing CHD concentrations, independent CHD-resistant mutants were obtained. The exposure to wildtype *E. coli* yielded seven independent CHD-resistant mutants, but the generation was accompanied by a severe reduction in fitness of the mutants of 2-3 weeks. A second *in vitro* resistance development performed with wildtype *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 yielded nine independent mutants, which were all able to grow at 8 µg/mL Compared to CHD-resistant *E. coli* mutants, no influence on fitness compared to the respective wildtype was observed for CHD-resistant *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 mutants (Figure 3-10).

In silico comparison of four CHD-resistant *E. coli* mutants (Mt30.1, Mt30.2, Mt30.4, Mt30.8) to wildtype *E. coli* DSM-1116 revealed the presence of an inconsistent mutation pattern within each mutant (Table 3-15) and no common genotype was observed. Moreover, the loss of the natural occurring 100kb plasmid (pRK1) in mutants Mt30.2 and Mt30.8 does not seem to rely on mechanisms of resistance towards CHD. The characterization of pRK1 by Archer et al. revealed no resistance genes present on the plasmid and additionally, they

suggested pRK1 to be unstable.^{253,254} Even though no direct evidence pointing towards plasmid stability were stated, this might explain the loss of pRK1in Mt30.1 and Mt30.2. In summary, it was not possible to draw any conclusion on the major CHD resistance mechanism in E. coli but data hinted towards a combination of several physiological alterations that probably contributes to resistance of all four genome sequenced mutants. Bacteria are able to adapt towards antibiotic use via different resistance mechanisms. Those include the production of detoxifying enzymes which can lead to antibiotic degradation, increased efflux to export compounds or the alteration of the composition of the outer membrane to act as barrier for the influx of antibiotics.^{22,23} The latter two mechanisms are the most common pathways bacteria undergo to protect themselves. Increased efflux is carried out by overexpression of efflux systems through alteration of transcriptional or posttranscriptional mechanisms which are involved in efflux pump regulation.²⁵⁵ Structural changes of the outer membrane are known to be mediated by altered porin profiles like the expression of different types of porins or by mutations leading to decreased expression of porins.²³ Importantly, different resistance mechanisms are often carried out simultaneously like alteration of the outer membrane with a concurrent increased efflux.⁵⁶ With regard to this, several mutations identified within CHD-resistant E. coli mutants can be correlated to general resistance mechanisms. In summary, major putative resistance factors identified within CHD-resistant E. coli mutants were increased efflux via AcrAB modification of porins and interestingly, some peptidoglycan modifying enzymes were found to be mutated (PhoQ, PBP4, PBP7). The latter supports the finding from MMS assays where an influence on cell wall biosynthesis was observed after treatment of S. carnosus with sub-lethal concentrations of CHD and CDCHD. Furthermore, co-/cross-resistance studies revealed the involvement of efflux systems and the outer membrane as barrier for antibiotic uptake. The increase of the permeability of the outer membrane by PMBN as well as the presence of the efflux pump inhibitor PABN increased sensitivity of all E. coli mutants towards all tested antibiotics (Table 3-18). However, mutants Mt30.1 and Mt30.2 were still co-resistant to ciprofloxacin (CIP) in the presence of PMBN and without PABN (permeabilized cells; efflux mechanisms unaffected). This can be correlated to the mutations identified within *acrR* and its putative operator region in these mutants (Table 3-15). *acrR* encodes the repressor (AcrR) of the AcrAB multidrug efflux system of E. coli spp. and mutations of acrR lead to a malfunction of AcrR as repressor, what in turn leads to a permanent expression of the efflux pump AcrB (encoded by *acrB*) and the efflux of CIP.^{192–194} PABN represents an inhibitor of major efflux pumps that are involved in multidrug-resistance²⁵⁶, including the AcrAB-TolC

system of E. coli spp.. Thus, the increased efflux of CIP, which is based on the identified mutations of Mt30.1 and Mt30.2, is inhibited by PABN, but still ongoing when only PMBN is present, as no efflux inhibition occurs. Regarding resistance mediated by the alteration of the outer membrane, Mt30.1 and Mt30.8 revealed mutations of genes involved in porin formation, $ompF^{195-197}$ and $envZ^{212,213}$, respectively. ompF encodes the outer membrane protein F (OmpF) which is a major component of the outer membrane and involved in transport systems of *E. coli* cells.^{195–197}A loss of the OmpF or mutations within *ompF* are known to be involved in antibiotic resistance^{54,257} by structural changes of porins. Those changes hinder hydrophilic antibiotics to traverse the outer membrane. In this context, the mutation of envZ of Mt30.8 can also be linked to changes of porin levels within the membrane of bacterial cells. envZ encodes a senor histidine kinase (EnvZ) within the twocomponent regulatory system with OmpR and enables the phosphorylation of OmpR what leads to the expression of the porins encoded by ompF and ompC.^{22,212,213} A loss in functional envZ might prevent the phosphorylation of OmpR, what hinders the enzyme to mediate further steps and leads in turn to a hampered porin expression. Mutations that might lead to modifications of the cell envelope were present within mutant Mt30.2 and Mt30.4. Mutant Mt30.4 yielded mutations within *phoQ*, a gene encoding the sensor histidine kinase PhoQ, which is part of a two component regulatory system together with the response regulator PhoP and is involved in the regulation of transcription.^{201,202} By interaction with metal ions (such as Mg^{2+}), PhoQ autophosphorylates and leads to a transphosphorylation of PhoP. This enables PhoP to bind the DNA and triggers downstream events like the regulation of the PmrA-PmrB system which is involved in the modification of lipopolysaccharides (LPS).^{258,259} Mutations of *phoQ* were previously shown to be involved in antibiotic resistance which is mediated by altered LPS of Gram-negative bacteria.^{258–260} An altered lipid composition of the OM acts as a barrier to hydrophobic compounds which hinders the antibiotic to enter the cell through the lipid layer.⁵⁶ Additionally, mutations in genes that are linked to the synthesis of the cell wall were present in mutant Mt30.2 and Mt30.4. The affected genes dacB (Mt30.4) and pbpG (Mt30.2) encode enzymes PBP4 and PBP7, respectively. Both enzymes depict periplasmic peptidoglycan (PG) hydrolases which are involved in hydrolysing peptide bridges of PG during cell growth.^{207,261} They contribute to the metabolism of the PG layer by hydrolysing polymers enabling the incorporation of subunits into the murein sacculus. Even though it seems obvious that mutations of these genes might contribute to resistance by an altered cell wall, previous studies described that a loss of either PBP4 or PBP7 did not contribute to cellular changes.^{262,263} This indicates that the resistance mediated by mutant Mt30.2 and Mt30.4 rather relies on changes caused by the additional mutations that are present in both mutants (efflux; porin altering).

Taking together the above summarized findings, resistance of CHD-resistant *E. coli* mutants relies on general mechanisms executed by the bacteria to protect against antibacterial compounds, but no CHD-specific resistance mechanism was identified.

In order to gain further insights into CHD resistance mechanisms, a second in vitro resistance development with K. pneumoniae DSM-30104 was performed. The genomic comparison of CHD-resistant K. pneumoniae mutants to the wildtype strain (Table 3-20) revealed a repeat expansion of 7 bp in gpmA of Mt8.2 and Mt8.3, a gene encoding a phosphoglyceromutase (2,3-bisphosphoglycerate-dependent) which is involved in energy metabolism by catalysing the interconversion of 2-phosphoglycerate to 3-phosphoglycerate.²⁶⁴ Within Mt8.7 an amino acid transition from alanine to glutamine was found in a gene which encodes a permease of the branched-chain amino acid ABC transporter family.²⁶⁵ For all nine CHD-resistant K. pneumoniae DSM-301014 mutants, mutations in ramR were present. ramR encodes the TetR family transcriptional regulator RamR which is found within the ram locus (ramR-romAramA). So far, the ram locus was described to be present in *Klebsiella* spp., *Citrobacter* spp., Enterobacter spp., and Salmonella spp., whereas the latter lacks the romA gene. The ramR gene was first described in Salmonella enterica and it was identified as repressor of ramA.²⁶⁶ Its protein product RamA is a positive regulator of the AcrAB-TolC efflux system.²⁵⁵ This efflux system belongs to the resistance-nodulation-division (RND) family and pumps of this family are involved in intrinsic as well as acquired resistance of Gram-negative bacteria.^{267–} ²⁶⁹ RND efflux pumps (AcrB in the present case) are located in the inner membrane and are associated with a periplasmic membrane fusion protein (MFP; AcrA in the present case) and with an outer membrane channel protein (OMF: outer membrane factor family of proteins; TolC in the present case; Figure 3-16).^{270,271} Among the RND family of efflux pumps, AcrB is a major, constitutively expressed pump and is involved in resistance towards compounds of multiple classes of antibiotics, including tetracyclines (incl. glycylcyclines such as tigecycline) or quinolones.^{268,272,273} The AcrAB-TolC efflux system is one of the best characterized efflux systems and is found in Enterobacteriaceae including K. pneumoniae and E. coli.^{255,256} Among other Gram-negative bacterial species, homologous of the AcrAB-TolC efflux system are described, like the Mex systems (major systems: MexAB-OprM, MexCD-OprJ, MexEF-OprN, MexXY-OprM) present in Pseudomonas spp. 255,274 RND family efflux pumps are regulated by global transcription factors as well as via local repression. In E. coli, Klebsiella spp. and Salmonella spp. the local repression of AcrAB-
TolC is mediated by the regulatory gene $acrR^{194,255}$ (encoding AcrR) as already mentioned in context with CHD-resistant *E. coli*. AcrR belongs to the TetR family of transcriptional regulators which control genes involved in metabolism or the production of antibiotics as well as in antibiotic resistance.²⁷⁵



Figure 3-16: Schematic representation of the AcrAB-TolC efflux system. OMF: out membrane factor; MFP: membrane fusion protein; RND: resistance-nodulation-division; OM: outer membrane; PP: periplasm; IM; inner membrane; CP: cytoplasmic membrane. Adapted from Poole²⁷¹

Global transcriptional events in *E. coli* are regulated by the multiple antibiotic resistance (Mar) operon.^{255,276} The Mar operon consists of three genes: *marR*, *marA* and *marB*. The repressor protein of the Mar operon (MarR) is encoded by *marR* and constitutively expressed under normal conditions. Genomic changes mediated for instance by mutations of *marR* lead to an increase in the expression of the Mar operon. This leads to further downstream events such as the expression of *marA*. The global transcriptional activator MarA (encoded by *marA*) belongs to the AraC/XylS family of proteins, whose expressions lead to activation of genes involved in efflux, like *acrAB* and *tolC*.^{277,278} MIC determination of a *marR*-efflux-deficient *E. coli* mutant compared to the respective *E. coli* wildtype illustrated the above described resistance mechanism mediated by mutations of *marR*. A decrease in activity for chelocardins as well as tigecycline due to the upregulation of the AcrAB pump were observed (Table 3-24). Within *Salmonella* spp., *Enterobacter* spp. and *Klebsiella* spp. a

homologue of MarA, RamA is present.²⁶⁶ As already mentioned above, the expression of RamA is regulated by the repressor protein RamR and induces the activation of the AcrAB-TolC efflux system (Figure 3-17). Studies in *S. enterica* and *K. pneumoniae* identified the binding site of the RamR protein in the upstream region of the *romA-ramA* locus (only *ramA* locus in *Salmonella*), where RamR binds to a palindromic conserved region that overlaps with the transcriptional starting site in the promoter region of *romA-ramA* (Figure 3-17, black box).^{279–281} Moreover, mutations in *ramR* were shown to be involved in resistance of clinical isolates of *Salmonella* spp. against ciprofloxacin and *Klebsiella* spp. against tigecycline.^{282,283} The identified mutations disabled RamR to bind to the *ramA* promoter region, which in turn led to the expression of AcrAB-TolC efflux system.²⁵⁵



Figure 3-17: Schematic representation of the genetic regulation by RamR. *ramR* encodes the repressor protein RamR whose expression leads to repression of *romA-ramA*. A repression of RamR leads to the expression of RamA, which induces the expression of *acrAB*, encoding the AcrAB efflux system. Inserted black box: upstream region of *romA-ramA* locus. Bold triplets indicate start codons of either *ramR* and *romA* genes and bold underlined bases indicate the palindromic binding site of RamR. Adapted from Majumdar et al.²⁸⁰ and Yamaski et al..²⁸⁴

Determination of the expression levels of genes regulated by RamR/RamA (AcrAB efflux system) of CHD-resistant *K. pneumoniae* mutants revealed increased expression, compared to wildtype *K. pneumoniae* DSM-30104 genes (Table 3-22). Gene expression measured by qPCR revealed upregulation of *ramA* up to 41-fold with a concurrent upregulation of *acrA* and *acrB* up to 12- and 67-fold. A complete deletion of *ramR* in *K. pneumoniae* led to significantly reduced susceptibility towards CHD by factor eight (Table 3-21), which proves

the involvement of RamR and the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump in the resistance mechanism of CHD. Additionally, co-/cross-resistance studies in the presence of PA β N proved furthermore the involvement of efflux systems in resistance towards CHD (Table 3-23) and explained resistance of all mutants towards all other tested antibiotics including ciprofloxacin, chloramphenicol, tetracyclines and tigecycline (Table 3-19). Tigecycline depicts the first member of the glycylcyclines^{123,285}, a family of semisynthetic derivatives of minocycline. It exhibits broad-spectrum antibacterial activity including inhibition of tetracycline-resistant pathogens¹²⁴, comparable to chelocardins. In the context of resistance, several cases of resistance towards tigecycline in clinical isolates of *K. pneumoniae* were described and assigned to inactivation-mutations of *ramR*^{279,283,286}, the same resistance mechanism as observed for CHD. Surprisingly, all mutants were more susceptible to polymyxin B treatment compared to the wildtype strain. Underlying mechanisms are not entirely clear, but the CHD-resistant phenotype of *Klebsiella* might involve some alterations of the bacterial membrane, which facilitate the interaction of polymyxins.^{287,288}

Importantly, CHD-resistant mutants as well as the *ramR* knockout mutant were not crossresistant to CDCHD. This result shows that resistance through mutations of *ramR* exclusively affects CHD but not CDCHD, which indicates – along with the fact that no CDCHD-resistant mutant could be generated *in vitro* – resistance-breaking properties for CDCHD. Taken together, the results from studies on chelocardin-related resistance mechanisms in Gram-negative species, qualifies CDCHD as a new early lead structure for further development of urgently needed broad-spectrum antibiotics. However, further scaffold improvements including studies to enhance better physicochemical and pharmacological properties need to be performed.

3.3 SUMMARY AND OUTLOOK

Chelocardin depicts a natural product produced by Amycolatopsis sulphurea with broadspectrum antibacterial activity including antibacterial activity against MDR pathogens. Previous bioengineering studies yielded the amidated analogue CDCHD, which exhibits improved antibacterial activities compared to the parent molecule CHD. Both compounds belong to the family of atypical tetracyclines and are able to overcome resistance mechanisms of tetracycline-resistant pathogens. The mode of action of CHD is controversially discussed, but previous studies hint towards a mechanism different to that of typical tetracyclines. In the course of this study, CHD and CDCHD along with several derivatives from semi-synthesis and bioengineering were profiled in terms of their *in vitro* antibacterial properties with the goal to identify a preferred molecule as starting point for preclinical development. Structure-activity relationships (SAR) of 30 derivatives bearing structural features from typical tetracyclines or substitutions/additions of several active groups were investigated. However, none of the so far generated derivatives showed an improved profile in terms of physicochemical properties (e.g. solubility) or antibacterial activities. Thus, further studies with the aim to elucidate CHD's mechanism of action and associated resistance mechanisms were solely performed with the parent molecules CHD and CDCHD. The biological characterization revealed both compounds to be toxic on murine and human cell lines at low micromolar concentrations. However, in vitro cytotoxicity was rated to be negligible since chelocardins show a good tolerance in vivo. Both compounds revealed broad-spectrum activities against Gram-positive and Gramnegative bacteria laboratory strains, including inhibition of clinical isolates and multidrugresistant pathogens. Throughout, CDCHD exhibited improved activities in comparison to CHD. Both molecules exert strong bactericidal (and bacteriolytic) effects as shown with some laboratory strains and clinical isolates of uropathogenic strains. This compound behaviour, in turn, hampered some of the cellular assays and CHD and CDCHD could mostly be assessed only at sub-inhibitory concentrations to avoid false-positive results due to rapid cell lysis. Thus, in standard MMS assays, CHD and CDCHD did not show a differential response in S. carnosus and none of the typical antibiotic mechanisms (inhibition of RNA, DNA, protein or cell wall synthesis) could be proven or ruled out. However, both compounds led to a concentration-dependent membrane depolarization, confirming the proposed membrane-associated mechanism. Even though no unambiguous insight into the mechanism of action of CHD could be gained, the assumption of a mode of action away from protein synthesis inhibition and towards a cell membrane-based mechanism was consolidated. However, to completely understand the mechanism underlying chelocardin activity, more detailed studies in particular on cell wall activity need to be performed.

Additionally, it was shown that CDCHD exerts a similar mechanism that is even more pronounced compared to CHD and importantly, CDCHD exhibits resistance-breaking properties. Compared to CHD, CDCHD is able to inhibit *P. aeruginosa* wildtype species and the generation of CDCHD-resistant mutants *in vitro* could not be achieved. Moreover, the resistance mechanism towards CHD, which was identified as increased efflux mediated by mutations of *ramR*, does not affect the activity of CDCHD. The amidated compound was still able to inhibit the growth of all CHD-resistant mutants bearing mutations or a loss of *ramR*.

Even though the mechanism of action is still not completely understood CDCHD (and CHD) was progressed in the course of a DZIF-funded project to further development as an antibiotic with broad-spectrum antibacterial activity. Both chelocardins showed *in vitro* and *in vivo* potency against UTI pathogens. Interestingly, a discrepancy of the efficacies of CHD compared to CDCHD was observed when activity was determined against uropathogenic clinical isolates compared to laboratory strains. CHD was more potent against clinical strains whereas CDCHD showed improved activities against laboratory strains. However, due to an overall significantly more pronounced bactericidal activity of CDCHD compared to CHD, CDCHD appears to be the preferred scaffold. Nevertheless, further synthesis to improve pharmacological properties including bioavailability or increased solubility need to be performed. Additionally, to further develop the scaffold of chelocardins, in particular CDCHD and to obtain a lead molecule, it is crucial to identify the target molecule and to achieve a full characterization of the molecule.

In summary, chelocardins depict a promising class of molecules with potent broad-spectrum antibacterial activity and they exhibit a mode of action different to typical tetracycline antibiotics Bioengineering yielded an improved derivative, CDCHD, which was shown to be more efficient with regards to *in vivo* efficacy and resistance-breaking properties. Thus, the CDCHD scaffold can serve as starting point to develop a new antibiotic drug able to overcome multidrug-resistance.

4 TELOMYCINS

CONTRIBUTIONS

Jennifer Herrmann (HIPS-MINS) determined some of the presented MIC values and generated resistant mutants. Antoine Abou Fayad (HIPS-MINS) isolated natural products, synthesized derivatives and tool compounds, and performed NMR experiments. Armin Bauer (Sanofi) provided the natural product and two semi-synthetic derivatives. Katarina Cirnski (HIPS-MINS) generated *S. aureus* gene disrupted mutants. Nestor Zaburannyi (HIPS-MINS) performed *in silico* genome analyses. In collaboration with Prof. Dr. Markus Bischoff (UKS Homburg, Medical Microbiology and Hygiene) MIC₅₀/MIC₉₀ values of clinical isolates were determined. Hans Prochnow (HZI Braunschweig, group CBIO) performed direct lipid binding assays. Protein identification by MALDI-TOF/MS and LC-MS/MS was performed in collaboration with Prof. Dr. Lothar Jänsch (HZI Braunschweig, group CPRO). Jan Pippel (HZI Braunschweig, group SFPR) performed heterologous expression of proteins used for SPR studies. Anna Müller (University of Bonn, Institute for Pharmaceutical Microbiology) performed intracellular localization studies with *S. aureus*. All other presented experiments were performed by the author.

4.1 **RESULTS**

4.1.1 MECHANISM OF ACTION

4.1.1.1 DETERMINATION OF MINIMAL INHIBITORY CONCENTRATIONS

Initially, the antibacterial activity of TM and two derivatives, TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct (Figure 4-1), was evaluated against a panel of Gram-positive bacteria in EBS medium. Growth inhibition was assessed by visual inspection and MIC (minimal inhibitory concentration) values were determined as the lowest concentration of antibiotic at which no visible growth was observed. Against all tested bacteria, TM was 16- to 128-fold less active compared to the two semi-synthetic derivatives, which were active in the low µg/mL range (0.5-4 µg/mL, Table 4-1). A re-screen of the activity of all telomycins (TMs) against *Staphyloccocus aureus* str. Newman in medium containing various concentrations of CaCl₂ (0-50 mM) revealed a Ca²⁺-dependent increase of TM's antibacterial activity. At Ca²⁺ concentrations around the physiological level of free calcium in blood (1.25 mM), an 8-fold improvement of activity was observed and at concentrations over 10 mM no further improvement was observed (Table 4-2). TM displayed an MIC of 2 µg/mL at highest Ca²⁺ concentrations (\geq 10 mM) and thus, was comparably active to the two semi-synthetic derivatives with MIC values of 2 and 0.5 µg/mL for TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct, respectively. Interestingly, the addition of calcium ions had no effect on the activity of both derivatives.



Figure 4-1: Chemical structures of telomycin (TM) and two semi-synthetic derivatives (TM-Dodec and TM-N-Oct).

Stroin	MIC [µg/mL]						
Stram	ТМ	TM-Dodec	TM-N-Oct				
Enterococcus faecium							
DSM-20477	16	2	1				
DSM-17050	8	2	0.5				
Staphylococcus aureus							
Newman	32	2	1				
N315 ^[a]	32	2	1				
$Mu50^{[b,c]}$	> 64	4	1				
Streptococcus pneumoniae DSM-11865 ^[d]	64	1	0.5				

 Table 4-1: MIC values of TM, TM-Dodec and TM-N-Oct against Gram-positive bacteria.

^[a]methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA); ^[b]multidrug-resistant (MDR) *S. aureus*; ^[c]vancomycinintermediate *S. aureus* (VISA); ^[d]penicillin-resistant

Table 4-2: MIC values of TM, TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct against *S. aureus* Newman in the presence of various concentrations of CaCl₂.

Ca^{2+} [m]M]	MIC [µg/mL]								
Ca [IIIIVI]	TM	TM-Dodec	TM-N-Oct						
0	32	2	0.5						
0.1	16	2	0.5						
0.5	8	2	0.5						
1	4	2	0.5						
5	4	2	0.5						
10	2	2	0.5						
25	2	2	0.5						
50	2	2	0.5						

A follow-up screen of all TMs in the presence of 1.25 mM CaCl₂ was performed against a panel of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria and mycobacteria. All TMs were inactive against all tested Gram-negative bacteria, including a membrane permeabilized *Escherichia coli* TolC-efflux deficient strain (addition of polymyxin B nonapeptide as permeabilizer), indicating an intrinsic resistance pattern (Table 4-3). In contrast, all TMs display broad spectrum antibacterial activity against Gram-positive bacteria, except for *Mycobacterium smegmatis* and *Nocardia asteroides*, which were not susceptible. In contrast, slow-growing mycobacteria (*M. tuberculosis*, *M. bovis*) are susceptible. On average, TM was 2- to 8-fold less potent compared to the semi-synthetic derivatives and by tendency, TM-*N*-Oct was slightly more active than TM-Dodec, in particular on Staphylococci. Interestingly, TM was virtually inactive on two resistant *S. aureus* strains, *S. aureus* DSM-11822 (MDR) and *S. aureus* Mu50 (VISA/MRSA). A comparison of the activity of all TMs

to daptomycin (DAP) revealed TMs to be as potent as daptomycin and activity spectra are overlapping.

 Table 4-3: MIC values of TM, TM-Dodec, TM-N-Oct and DAP against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria in the presence of 1.25 mM CaCl₂.

		MIC [µg/ml]							
Classification	Strain	TM	TM-Dodec	TM-N-Oct	DAP				
	Acinetobacter baumannii DSM-30008	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64				
	Burkholderia cenocepacia DSM-16553	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64				
	Citrobacter freundii DSM-30039	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64				
	Enterobacter aerogenes DSM-30053	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64				
	Escherichia coli								
	DSM-1116	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64				
C	ATCC-25922	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64				
Gram-negative	TolC (+ PMBN)	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64				
	Klebsiella pneumoniae DSM-30104	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64				
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa								
	PA14	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64				
	DSM-24599	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64				
	Proteus vulgaris DSM-2140	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64				
	Serratia marcescens DSM-30121	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64				
	Bacillus subtilis DSM-10	2	1	0.5	0.5				
	Bacillus megaterium DSM-32	0.25	1	0.25	1				
	Corynebacterium glutamicum DSM-20300	0.5	1	0.5	0.5				
	Enterococcus faecalis DSM-20478	16	8	8	4				
	Enterococcus faecium DSM-20477	32	8	4	16				
	Streptococcus pneumoniae DSM-11865	4	1	1	0.25				
	Micrococcus luteus								
	DSM-1790	0.25	1	0.25	0.25				
	DSM-20030	0.25	1	0.25	≤ 0.03				
	Mycobacterium smegmatis mc ² 155	> 64	> 64	64	> 64				
	Mycobacterium bovis BCG DSM-43990	4-8	32	4-8					
Gram-positive	Mycobacterium tuberculosis H37RvMA	3.8	7.2	2.7					
	Nocardia asteroides DSM-43757	64	64	64	> 64				
	Staphylococcus epidermidis DSM-28765	1	2	0.5	1				
	Staphylococcus carnosus DSM-20501	1	1	0.5	0.25				
	Staphylococcus aureus								
	DSM-346	1	1	1	0.5-1				
	DSM-11822 ^[a]	> 64	8	4	1				
	ATCC-29213	32	4	4	1				
	Cowan1	2-4	1	1	1				
	Newman	2	2	1	1				
	N315 ^[b]	2	2	1	1				
	Mu50 ^[a,c]	64	8	4	4				

DAP: daptomycin. PMBN: polymyxin B nonapeptide. ^[a]multidrug-resistant (MDR) *S. aureus*; ^[b]methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA); ^[c]vancomycin-intermediate *S. aureus* (VISA)

Screening of TMs against clinical isolates (n=98) of *Staphylococcus aureus* confirmed the potency of both derivatives (Table 4-4). MIC₅₀ and MIC₉₀ values demonstrated superior activity of TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct compared to TM. For TM, a MIC₅₀ value of $8\mu g/mL$ and MIC₉₀ value of $64 \mu g/mL$ was determined, whereas TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct showed 8-fold and 32-fold lower MIC₅₀ and MIC₉₀ values, respectively (MIC₅₀: $1 \mu g/mL$; MIC₉₀: $2\mu g/mL$).

Compound	n =	Number of <i>S. aureus</i> isolates inhibited by the indicated concentration (MIC in μ g/mL)										MIC ₅₀	MIC90				
Compound		≤ 0.03	0.03	0.06	0.13	0.25	0.5	1	2	4	8	16	32	64	> 64		
TM	98 ^[a]							2	12	13	23	16	18	12	2	8	64
TM-Dodec	98 ^[a]						17	44	32	5						1	2
TM-N-Oct	98 ^[a]				1	8	22	39	26	2						1	2

Table 4-4: MIC₅₀ and MIC₉₀ values of TM, TM-Dodec and TM-N-Oct against S. aureus isolates.

^[a]90 clinical isolates, 8 laboratory strains.

4.1.1.2 KILLING OF INTRACELLULAR BACTERIA

To examine the intracellular killing effect of TMs, murine macrophages (RAW264.7 cell line) were infected with *Staphyloccocus aureus* N315 at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 10 and killing of intracellular bacteria was determined by CFU count after 18 h of treatment with 1- and 4-fold MIC of TMs (Figure 4-2). At 1-fold MIC of TM, only a slight killing of intracellular *Staphyloccocus* was achieved (approx. 0.5-log₁₀ reduction) but an increase to 4-MIC led to 2-log₁₀ reduction of bacterial load. TM-*N*-Oct and TM-Dodec were already able to reduce bacterial concentration up to 2-log₁₀ at 1-fold MIC and increasing concentrations to 4-fold MIC only slightly improved the killing capacity of both derivatives.



Figure 4-2: Killing of intracellular *Staphyloccocus aureus* by TM (MIC: $2 \mu g/mL$), TM-Dodec (MIC: $2 \mu g/mL$) and TM-*N*-Oct (MIC: $1 \mu g/mL$). Murine macrophages (RAW264.7) were infected with *S. aureus* N315 and treated with TMs for 18 h at 1- and 4-fold MIC. Intracellular bacterial concentrations were determined by three independent CFU counts. Data represent mean ± standard deviation (SD).

4.1.1.3 CALCIUM-DEPENDENT MEMBRANE DEPOLARIZATION

Due to TM's similarity to the lipopeptide antibiotic daptomycin in terms of calciumdependency and antibacterial spectrum, the influence on the membrane potential (MP) of S. carnosus was assessed after treatment with TM in the presence of increasing concentrations of Ca²⁺ by using the BacLightTM Bacterial Membrane Potential Kit (Invitrogen). S. carnosus DSM-20501 was exposed to 5-fold MIC of TM in the presence of 0-10 mM CaCl₂ and MP was measured after 2.5 h of treatment. In order to determine the relative MP, samples were stained with the cyanine dye 3,3'-diethyloxacarbocyanin iodide (DiOC₂(3)) for 30 min and fluorescence was measured using a microplate reader [excitation.: 488 nm; emission: 675 nm (green), 525 nm (red)]. In cells with intact MP, an intracellular accumulation of DiOC₂(3) is observed and the emission maximum turns towards red. A collapse of the MP leads to a decrease of the intracellular dye concentration and the emission maximum shifts towards green fluorescence. Relative MP was calculated as the ratio of red to green fluorescence and the value of untreated control cells was set to 100 %. The proton ionophore carbonyl cyanide 3- chlorophenylhydrazone (CCCP) served as positive control^{185,186}. As expected, the effect of membrane depolarization increased proportional to the concentration of CaCl₂ along with improved antibacterial activity of TM in the presence of Ca²⁺ at concentrations higher than

0.5 mM (MIC in one-digit μ g/mL range). A drop of MP to less than 20 % was observed when calcium was present at concentrations \geq 0.25 mM (Figure 4-3), indicating a membrane associated mechanism of action of TM in the presence of calcium. The results are also in accordance with previously determined MIC values.



Figure 4-3: Membrane depolarization of *S. carnosus* DSM-20501 caused by TM (MIC: $1 \mu g/mL$) in a Ca²⁺-dependent manner (c = 0-10 mM). Cells were treated with TM at 5-fold MIC in the presence of 0-10 mM CaCl₂ for 2.5 h. CCCP (15 μ M) served as positive control. Results show membrane potential (MP) relative to untreated cells. Positive control CCCP: carbonyl cyanide 3- chlorophenylhydrazone.

4.1.1.4 CALCIUM-DEPENDENT CONFORMATIONAL CHANGES

Potential conformational changes upon calcium addition were analysed by proton (¹H) NMR. The interaction of TMs with Ca²⁺ was studied in the presence of increasing amounts of a 0.1 M CaCl₂ solution. Broadening of some proton signals (Figure 4-4 A-C, black boxes), which was observed in a Ca²⁺-concentration-dependent manner, indicating binding of Ca²⁺ to TM, TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct. The more Ca²⁺ ions were present, the broader the recorded signal was. This effect was slightly more pronounced in the case of TM compared to the two semi-synthetic derivatives. In addition, preliminary 2D ROESY NMR data (not shown) indicated potential conformational changes of TM upon the addition of calcium which seemed to affect mostly amino acids ³Thr, ⁴Thr, ²Ser and *iso*-¹Asp (Figure 4-4 D). This was not observed for TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct. Additionally, the interaction of TM with other metal ions was tested and monovalent ions did not show any effect even at high concentrations, whereas Cu²⁺ showed the most pronounced effect, followed by Ba²⁺ and Ca²⁺ (Figure 4-5, Table 4-5). In terms of biological activity, calcium ions had a major effect when added at physiological concentrations (1.25 mM; Table 4-6). Addition of magnesium ions

to TM resulted in only minor effects on NMR spectra, which is in accordance to the results from MIC testing (Table 1.6), where the antibacterial effect of TM did not improve at physiological concentration of Mg^{2+} (0.8 mM). Ba²⁺ and Cu²⁺ could not be used for activity determination due to their high toxicity.





Figure 4-4: ¹H-NMR studies on the interaction of TM (A), TM-Dodec (B) and TM-*N*-Oct (C) with increasing amounts of CaCl₂ (0.1 M). NMR shifts pointing towards binding of TMs to Ca²⁺ (broadening of some signals; black boxes). The addition of Ca²⁺ to TM mainly affected signals of amino acids ³Thr, ⁴Thr, ²Ser and *iso*-¹Asp (D).



Figure 4-5: ¹H-NMR structural studies on TM and its interaction with various monovalent and divalent metal ions. NMR shifts pointing towards binding of TM to the respective ions (broadening of some signals upon addition of CuCl₂, BaCl₂, and NiCl₂; black boxes).

Table 4-5: Interaction (signal broadening in ¹]	H NMR spectra)	of monovalent and	divalent ions wit	h TM: no	binding;
+: binding (the more +, the stronger the effect).					

Ions tested	Interaction (NMR)
Li ⁺	-
Na^+	-
Mg^{2+}	+
Ni ²⁺	+
Cu^{2+}	+++++
Zn^{2+}	-
Ba ²⁺	++++
Ca ²⁺	+++

Table 4-6: Influence of Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} on biological activity of TM in MHB medium (contains 0.4 mM Mg²⁺ and 0.25 mM Ca^{2+}). Bold values: adjusted to physiological concentration.

c(Mg ²⁺ /Ca ²⁺) [mM]	MIC of TM on MSSA [*] [µg/mL]
0.4/0.25	32
0.4/1.25	2
0.8 /0.25	32

_

* MSSA: methicillin sensitive S. aureus Newman

4.1.2 RESISTANCE MECHANISM AND BINDING TO CARDIOLIPIN

4.1.2.1 GENERATION OF TELOMYCIN-RESISTANT MUTANTS

Wildtype *S. aureus* Newman was exposed to stepwise increasing concentrations of either TM (8, 30, 50, 100 µg/mL) or TM-Dodec (10, 20, 50, 100 µg/mL) in the presence of either 10 or 0.25 mM CaCl₂, respectively. This yielded seven independent TM-resistant mutants (Mt-T.1, Mt-T.3, Mt-T.4, Mt-T.6, Mt-T.7, Mt-T.8, Mt-T.9) and nine independent TM-Dodec-resistant mutants (Mt-D.1, Mt-D.3, Mt-D.4, Mt-D.5, Mt-D.6, Mt-D.7, Mt-D.8, Mt-D.9, Mt-D.10). All mutants finally grew at a concentration of 100 µg/mL TM and TM-Dodec, respectively, without any obvious fitness cost. The frequency of developing *S. aureus* Newman resistant mutants was determined by exposing the wildtype strain to 4-foldMIC of the respective compound at a final cell concentration of 10^7 (TM) or 10^8 (TM-Dodec) CFU/plate. *S.* aureus Newman resistant mutants developed at frequencies of 4 x 10^{-6} for TM and 8.5 x 10^{-9} for TM-Dodec.

The resistance phenotype of all TM-resistant mutants was confirmed (MIC of TM > 64 μ g/mL). However, these mutant strains were still susceptible towards TM-Dodec, TM-N-Oct and DAP with a maximum two-fold MIC shift (Table 4-7). Resistance of TM-Dodec-resistant mutants towards TM-Dodec was also confirmed by MIC determination and interestingly, all nine mutants showed additionally cross-resistance with TM and TM-N-Oct but not with DAP (Table 4-8). TM- and TM-Dodec-resistant mutants displayed no co-resistance with reference antibiotics, indicating that TMs may have a new antibacterial target and probably exhibit a novel mechanism of action that differs from that of established antibiotic classes.

				MIC [[µg/mL]			
Antibiotic compound	Wt	Mt-T.1	Mt-T.3	Mt-T.4	Mt-T.6	Mt-T.7	Mt-T.8	Mt-T.9
ТМ	4	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64
TM-Dodec	2	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
TM-N-Oct	2	2	4	4	2	2	2	2
Daptomycin	1	1	0.5	1	1	1	1	1
Vancomycin	1	2	2	1	0.5	1	2	2
Ciprofloxacin	0.125	0.125	0.125	0.06	0.125	0.125	0.125	0.125
Erythromycin	0.5	0.25	0.125	0.125	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25
Kanamycin	2	4	2	2	2	4	4	4
Ampicillin	1	1	0.5	1	1	1	1	2
Tetracycline	1	0.06	0.25	1	0.5	1	0.5	0.5
Rifampicin	\leq 0.03	≤0.03	\leq 0.03	\leq 0.03				
Polymyxin B	> 64	64	> 64	64	64	64	64	64
Chloramphenicol	2	2	4	4	2	4	4	2

Table 4-7: Resistance pattern of S. aureus Newman TM-resistant mutants. Wt: S. aureus Newman.

Table 4-8: Resistance pattern of S. aureus Newman TM-Dodec-resistant mutants. Wt: S. aureus Newman.

Antibiotic		MIC [µg/mL]											
compound	Wt	Mt-D.1	Mt-D.3	Mt-D.4	Mt-D.5	Mt-D.6	Mt-D.7	Mt-D.8	Mt-D.9	Mt-D.10			
ТМ	4	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64			
TM-Dodec	2	32	32	32	> 64	32	8	> 64	32	64			
TM-N-Oct	2	16	16	16	16	16	> 64	16	16	32			
Daptomycin	1	0.5	2	0.5	0.5	1	2	1	0.5	0.5			
Vancomycin	1	2	1	2	4	4	2	1	4	4			
Ciprofloxacin	0.125	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.06	0.125	0.03	0.25	0.25	0.25			
Erythromycin	0.5	0.5	0.25	0.5	0.25	0.5	0.25	0.5	0.5	0.25			
Kanamycin	2	2	4	4	4	4	2	4	2	4			
Ampicillin	1	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	1	1	1	1	1			
Tetracycline	1	1	1	1	1	≤ 0.03	1	1	2	1			
Rifampicin	≤ 0.03	≤0.03	\leq 0.03	≤ 0.03									
Polymyxin B	> 64	64	> 64	> 64	64	> 64	64	64	> 64	> 64			
Chloramphenicol	2	2	4	4	1	0.5	4	4	4	4			

4.1.2.2 GENOME SEQUENCING AND ANALYSIS OF MUTATIONS

To further investigate the mechanisms underlying resistance towards TMs, genomic DNA of all TM- and TM-Dodec-resistant mutants, as well as from wildtype S. aureus Newman was prepared by standard phenol-chloroform extraction and samples were sequenced (Illumina). Sequencing reads based on Illumina technology were mapped to the published reference genome (accession number NC_009641). An alignment of the wildtype genome to the mutant genomes revealed several single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and deletions to be present within all mutants. All TM-resistant mutants contained mutations within cls2 gene (NWMN_1992), identified as base pair deletions (Mt-T.1, Mt-T.6) or SNPs (Mt-T.3, Mt-T.4, Mt-T.7, Mt-T.8, Mt-T.9) leading to the formation of an in frame stop codon in MT-T.4, MT-T.7, MT-T.8 and MT-T.9. In addition, SNPs within a gene encoding for a diacylglycerol kinase (NWMN_1836) were present in Mt.T-1, Mt-T.4, Mt-T.7, Mt-T.8 an Mt-T.9 (Table 4-9). Additionally, inconsistent mutations were identified in the genomes of Mt-T.3 (NWNM_1272), Mt-T.7 (NWNM_1591) and Mt-T.9 (NWNM_0285/1344/2133), whereas Mt-T.9 was the most affected with three additional mutated genes. Interestingly, all TM-Dodec-resistant mutants contained SNPs (Mt-D.1, Mt-D.3, Mt-D.4, Mt-D.8, Mt-D.10) or base pair deletions (Mt-D.5, Mt-D.6, Mt-D.7, Mt-D.9) within the same cls2 gene (NWMN_1992) as identified for TM-resistant mutants. SNPs found within *cls2* of MT-D.1 and MT-D.3 led to a stop codon, whereas all other SNPs were identified as base pair deletions (MT.D.5, MT-D.6, MT-D.7, MT-D.9) or missense point mutations (MT-D.4, MT-D.8, MT-D.10). Additionally, in all TM-Dodec-resistant mutants deletions (Mt-D.3, Mt-D.10) or SNPs (Mt-D.1, Mt-D.4, Mt-D.5, Mt-D.6, Mt-D.7, Mt-D.8, Mt-D.9) were present within the gene *pmtR* encoding the GntR family regulator PmtR (NWMN_1870, Table 4-11). For seven TM-Dodec-resistant mutants (MT.D-1, MT-D.4, MT-D.4, MT-D.6, MT-D.7, MT-D.8, MT-D.9) which bear a mutation within the gene encoding PmtR, the same amino acid was affected and the mutation led to a premature stop codon. Besides these commonly found genetic changes, serval inconsistent mutations in other genes were present within eight TM-Dodec-resistant mutants, identified as SNPs (Mt-D.1, Mt-D.3, Mt-D.4, Mt-D.5, Mt-D.6, Mt-D.8, Mt-D.9), deletions (Mt-D.4) or insertions (Mt-D.7, Mt-D.8).

As all TM-resistant mutants (TM-/TM-Dodec-resistant) had mutations of *cls2* in common, its gene product seems to play an important role to mediate resistance against TMs. Due to this overlap, further steps to characterize resistance to TMs focused on the function of the *cls2* gene. However, data indicated that further genetic changes are needed to gain higher

resistance towards acylated TM derivatives (mutations of PmtR found in all TM-Dodec resistant mutants).

	Gana product and function		Mutation (amino acid position is given in brackets, $WT \rightarrow mutant$)									
Locus	Gene product and function	Mt-T.1	Mt-T.3	Mt-T.4	Mt-T.6	Mt-T.7	Mt-T.8	Mt-T.9				
NWMN_0285	Hypothetical protein							Ile→Met (4)				
NWMN_1272	Lysyltransferase flippase domain MprF: involved in structural changes of the cell envelope		Ser→Leu (337)									
NWMN_1344	Ebh: cell-wall associated fibronectin binding protein							Δ4kb (902-4679)				
NWMN_1591	Transposase for insertion sequence like element <i>IS1272</i> ^{289,290}					Glu→Lys (218)						
NWMN_1836	Diacylglycerol kinase (DgkB)	Lys → Glu (15)		Gly → Cys (276)		Gly→Asp (275)	Pro→Leu (279)	Gly→Val (275)				
NWMN_1992	Cls2: cardiolipin synthase II	Δ15bp (744-759)	Asp→Gly (288)	Leu→Sto p (97)	Δ15bp (744-759)	Glu→Stop (168)	Ser→Stop (413)	Ser→Stop (491)				
NWMN_2133	50S ribosomal protein L15							Asp→Val (137)				

Table 4-9: Mutations identified in TM-resistant S. aureus Newman mutants. Amino acids are denoted by three letter code.

 Δ : deletion; bp: base pair; kb: kilo base.

Locus	Gene product and function			Mutation (ar	nino acid pos	ition is given	in brackets, V	WT→mutant)	
Locus	Gene product and function	Mt-D.1	Mt-D.3	Mt-D.4	Mt-D .5	Mt-D.6	Mt-D.7	Mt-D.8	Mt-D.9	Mt-D.10
NWMN_0472	Hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase: involved in the conversion of purine bases into nucleotides ²⁹¹	Gln→Stop (72)					1bp Ins (119)	1bp Ins (136)		
NWMN_0674	SaeS: two-component sensor histidine kinase			Δ1bp (218)				Ile → Thr (183)		
NWMN_0676	Uncharacterized membrane protein	Glu→Lys (147)								
NWMN_1103	Isoleucyl-tRNA ligase: catalysing function					Pro→Ser (57)				
NWMN_1120	guanylate kinase: catalyses the generation of guanosine diphosphate			Thr→Ile (141)						
NWMN_1285	tryptophan synthase subunit α: involved in catalysing tryptophan	Gln→Stop (238)								
NWMN_1870	PmtR: ABC transporter repressor protein	Leu→Stop (30)	Δ4bp (96)	Leu→Stop (30)	Leu→Stop (30)	Leu→Stop (30)	Leu→Stop (30)	Leu→Stop (30)	Leu→Stop (30)	Δ12bp (120-123)
NWMN_1956	Subunit TsaD of adenosine(37)-N6)- threonylcarbamoyltransferase complex		His → Arg (114)							
NWMN_1992	Cls2: cardiolipin synthase II	Leu→Stop (390)	Glu→Stop (329)	Asn→Lys (233)	Δ1bp (184)	Δ83bp (90-117)	Δ1bp (61)	Gly→Arg (139); Asp→Ala (420)	Δ1bp (278)	Gly→Asp (170)
NWMN_2020	Threonylcarbamoyl-AMP synthase				Pro→Leu (241)					
NWMN_2145	50S ribosomal protein L16								Arg→Cys (6)	

Table 4-10: Mutations identified in TM-Dodec-resistant *S. aureus* Newman mutants. Amino acids are denoted by three letter code.

Ins: insertion; Δ : deletion; bp: base pair

4.1.2.3 S. AUREUS CLS1 AND CLS2 DISRUPTION MUTANTS

The *cls2* gene of *S. aureus* encodes for the main cardiolipin synthase and an alternative enzyme is encoded by the *cls1* gene. However, the latter one was not mutated in any of the TM- and TM-Dodec-resistant strains. To examine the effects of a loss in function of *cls1* and *cls2* towards susceptibility of *S. aureus* Newman against TMs and on cellular levels of cardiolipin, *S. aureus* disruptions strains of both genes were generated through gene disruption by intron insertions by using TargeTron®-Gene-Knockout-System Kit (Sigma Aldrich). MIC values confirmed that only an inactivation of *cls2* led to a decrease in activity (MIC > 64 µg/mL; Table 4-11). Semi-synthetic derivatives were only 4- to 8-fold less active on the *cls2* mutant strain and the activity of DAP was not affected. A disruption of *cls1* had no effect on the sensitivity of *S. aureus* Newman towards TM, TM-Dodec and TM-N-Oct

and against DAP, compared to the wildtype. In addition, the disruption of *cls1* and *cls2* had no influence on the fitness of mutants, reflected in a similar growth behaviour as observed for *S. aureus* Newman wildtype (Figure 4-6).

 Table 4-11: MIC values of TM, TM-Dodec, TM-N-Oct and DAP on S. aureus Newman wildtype compared to mutants with disruption within cls1 and cls2.



Figure 4-6: Growth curves of *S. aureus* Newman wildtype and *cls1* and *cls2* disruption mutant over 24 h. Data represent OD_{600} values of each time point.

The presence of phospholipids within *S. aureus* Newman wildtype and *cls* disrupted mutants was analysed by thin-layer chromatography (TLC). Lipids were extracted with a mixture of chloroform-MeOH-H₂O (2:2:1; v/v/v), applied to silica TLC plates and developed with chloroform-hexane-MeOH-acetic acid (50:30:10:5; v/v/v/v). Plates were sprayed with CuSO₄ and heated to detect lipids. For *S. aureus* Newman wildtype and *cls1* disrupted mutant, all common lipid species (CL: cardiolipin; PG: phosphatidylglycerol; PE: phosphatidylethanolamine; LPG: lysyl-phosphatidylglycerol) were detected, whereas the



inactivation of *cls2* led to a loss of CL (Figure 4-7) with a concurrent increase of PG compared to wildtype and *cls1* mutant.

Figure 4-7: Composition of phospholipids of *S. aureus* Newman wildtype and *cls1* and *cls2* disrupted mutants. Wt: wildtype; *cls1: cls1* disrupted mutant; *cls2: cls2* disrupted mutant; CL: cardiolipin; PG: phosphatidylglycerol; PE: phosphatidylethanolamine; LPG: lysyl-phosphatidylglycerol.

As the alternative cardiolipin synthase 1 (Cls1) is able to compensate the loss of functional Cls2 under conditions of osmotic or pH stress^{292,293}, it was investigated whether the *cls2* disrupted mutant regains susceptibility towards TM under stress conditions. *S. aureus* Newman wildtype and *cls2* disrupted mutant were incubated under osmotic stress (4 M NaCl), low pH (pH 2, pH 4) and normal (PBS buffer) growth conditions for 60 min, followed by lipid extraction and MIC determination. All tested stress conditions had no major influence on the susceptibility of *S. aureus* Newman wildtype towards TM, TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct (Table 4-12). However, low pH stress (pH 2) led to a slight improvement of activity of TM, as MIC values dropped from > 64 to 32 µg/mL. Against DAP, wildtype and mutant showed 16- and 8-fold increased susceptibility, respectively, under pH 2 stress conditions. The other stress-inducing conditions (4 M NaCl; pH 4) did not or only marginally influence the susceptibility towards DAP. To analyse the presence of CL in *S. aureus* Newman wildtype and *cls2* disrupted mutant under stress, lipids were extracted and analysed by LC-MS. Only trace amounts of CL were detected (partly below limit of detection) and peak intensities were too low to proceed with further analysis.

	MIC [µg/mL]											
Stress condition	S.	aureus New	vman wildty	pe	S. aureus Newman disrupted cls2							
	ТМ	TM- Dodec	TM-N- Oct	DAP	ТМ	TM- Dodec	TM-N- Oct	DAP				
Control (PBS)	4	4	2	1	> 64	8	4	1				
4 M NaCl	8	4	1	0.5	> 64	8	4	1				
pH 2	4	4	1	0.0625	32	8	4	0.125				
pH 4	8	8	2	1	> 64	8	4	0.5				

 Table 4-12: Activity of S. aureus Newman wildtype and cls2 disrupted mutant under conditions of osmotic or low pH stress.

4.1.2.4 FITNESS OF MUTANTS AND BIOFILM FORMATION

TM-resistant mutants bearing disruptions mutations in *cls2* showed a similar growth behaviour as wildtype *S. aureus* Newman (Figure 4-8 A) but some grew slightly slower, particularly in early exponential phase (Figure 4-8 A inserted diagram). However, this slightly reduced growth profile cannot be linked to any common genotype of the mutants. Mutants generated under exposure of TM-Dodec (mutations in *cls2* and *pmtR*) showed a retarded growth compared to the wildtype (Figure 4-8 B) indicating a significant fitness loss due to the additional mutations in the gene encoding the GntR-type transcriptional regulator PmtR. However, final cell densities of mutants were comparable to the bacterial cell number in wildtype culture (24 h cultivation).

4.1.2.5 IMPACT OF MUTATED GNTR-TYPE REGULATOR ON S. AUREUS BIOFILM

The gene that was additionally affected by mutations within TM-Dodec-resistant mutants was characterized to encode the GntR-type regulator PmtR.²⁹⁴ Since its gene product is involved in the regulation of an export system for toxins and the presence of toxins is furthermore related to influence biofilm formation^{294,295} (structuring and detachment), the impact on biofilm formation of TM-Dodec-resistant mutations was investigated. Compared to wildtype *S. aureus* Newman, an impaired biofilm formation for TM-Dodec-resistant mutants was observed (Figure 4-9). The biofilm formation was measured after 24 and 48 h by staining with crystal violet and determination of the optical density at 450 nm. Compared to *S. aureus* Newman wildtype, all mutants revealed a decreased biofilm formation after 24 h

and 48 h. In contrast to the wildtype, no further increase of biofilm formation after the initial 24 h incubation period was observed. For some mutants (Mt-D.4, Mt-D.6) biofilm mass even decreased after prolonged incubation.



Figure 4-8: A) Growth curves of *S. aureus* Newman wildtype and TM-resistant mutants (Mt-T) over 24 h. Inserted diagram: growth over 8 h (early exponential phase). B) Growth curves of *S. aureus* Newman wildtype and TM-Dodecresistant mutants (Mt-D) over 24 h. Data represent OD₆₀₀ values of each time point.



Figure 4-9: Biofilm formation of TM-Dodec-resistant *S. aureus* mutants (Mt-D.) in comparison to wildtype (Wt) *S. aureus* Newman monitored over 24 and 48 h. Data are represented as mean ± standard deviation (SD).

4.1.2.6 BINDING OF TELOMYCINS TO CARDIOLIPIN

Direct Binding Assay

Two semi-synthetic alkyne-coupled TM derivatives, bearing a pentynoic acid (TM-pentyne) or an undecynoic acid group (TM-decyne, mimicking TM-Dodec; Figure 4-10) were synthetized to characterize the binding of TM to membrane lipids and lipoteichoic acid (LTA). Both derivatives were determined to exhibit antibacterial activities against Grampositive bacteria in low µg/mL ranges comparable to the parent molecule TM (Table 4-13). Several lipid species (PE: phosphatidylethanolamine, PC: phosphatidylcholine, PG: phosphatidylglycerol, CL: cardiolipin, LPG: lysyl-phosphatidylglycerol) and LTA coated to surface treated 96-well plates (Nunc Polysorp; lipids: 128 pmol/well: LTA: 128ng/well) and incubated with alkyne-coupled TM derivatives at a final concentration of 0.7 µM/well. A click reaction was performed with biotin-azide and subsequent incubation with streptavidincoupled horseradish peroxidase (HRP), revealed lipid binding partners of the two tool compounds in a colorimetric reaction using 1x TMB ELISA substrate solution (eBiosciences) as the substrate for HRP. Binding was exclusively observed for CL; all other lipid species as well as LTA showed no interaction with TM (Figure 4-11). As TM exerts a calcium-dependent mechanism, the binding of TM-pentyne to different amounts of CL (4-128 pmol/well) was assessed in the same assay in the presence of 10 mM CaCl₂. As expected, the binding affinity of TM-pentyne to CL can be further increased at the higher Ca²⁺

concentration (Figure 4-12). Additionally, binding was clearly dependent on the amount of coupled CL with a maximum binding capacity in the presence of 64 pmol CL per well. Interestingly, no binding to CL was observed under calcium-depleted conditions, which were simulated by the addition of 10 mM of the strong chelating agent ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA).





Figure 4-10: Chemical structure of semi-synthetic alkyne-coupled TM derivatives.

In diastan starin		MIC [µg/ml]	
indicator strain	ТМ	TM-pentyne	TM-decyne
S. aureus Newman	2	2	4
B. subtilis DSM-10	2	2	1
B. megaterium DSM-32	0.25	0.5	0.5

Table 4-13: MIC values of TM and alkyne coupled TM-derivatives on Gram-positive bacteria.



Figure 4-11: Relative binding affinity of TM to membrane lipids and LTA. Lipids and LTA were coated to surface treated 96-well plates (lipids: 128 pmol/well: LTA: 128ng/well) and incubated with alkyne-modified TM derivatives. After clicking to biotin-azide and incubation with streptavidin-coupled HRP, lipid binding partners of TM were analysed in a colorimetric reaction by measuring OD at 450nm. Data represent mean \pm SEM. PE: phosphatidylethanolamine; PC: phosphatidylcholine; PG: phosphatidylglycerol; CL: cardiolipin; LTA: lipoteichoic acid; LPG: lysyl-phosphatidylglycerol.



Figure 4-12: Binding affinity of TM-pentyne to CL in the presence of $CaCl_2$ and varying amounts of chip-coupled CL. ETDA served as negative control. Data represent mean \pm SEM.

Intracellular localisation

To localize TMs within or attached to Gram-positive cells, fluorescein- (-F) and rhodamine (-R) coupled TM (TM-F/R), TM-Dodec (TM-Dodec-R) and TM-N-Oct (TM-N-Oct-F/R) were prepared via the established semi-synthesis route. The fluorophore-tagged derivatives were less active than the respective parent compounds and displayed MIC values in the low to mid µg/mL range, whereas TM-Dodec-R and TM-F were virtually inactive (Table 4-14, Table 4-15). Bacillus megaterium was chosen as BSL1 model organism and was initially incubated with 50 μ M of the respective fluorophore-tagged TM derivative and 50 μ M fluorescein or rhodamine (control) for 30 min. Imaging of live cells revealed an accumulation of all TMs at septa and poles of treated cells (Figure 4-13 A,B). Both negative controls (fluorescein, rhodamine) showed an unspecific distribution within the cells. Incubation of S. aureus SG511 with 10 µg/mL of either TM-R or TM-N-Oct-R led to the same results, as an accumulation within septa and poles of both TMs was observed (Figure 4-13 C). To confirm the presence of CL within these regions, B. megaterium was treated with fluorescein-labelled TMs and co-incubated with acridine orange 10-nonyl bromide (NAO), a red fluorescent indicator for CL in membranes and bilayers²⁹⁶. Accumulation of telomycin was observed again at septa and poles of the cells and the co-incubation with NAO further confirms that TMs preferentially localize in CL-rich compartments (complete overlap of TM and NAO fluorescence).

 Table 4-14: MIC values of TM, TM-N-Oct and their respective fluorescein-labelled derivative (-F) against Gram-positive strains.

Sturing.	MIC [µg/mL]					
Strain	TM	TM-F	TM-N-Oc	t TM-N-Oct-F		
B. megaterium DSM-32	0.25	32	0.25	2		
S. aureus Newman	2	> 64	1	4		

 Table 4-15: MIC values of TM, TM-Dodec, TM-N-Oct and their respective rhodamine-labelled derivative (-R) against

 Gram-positive strains.

	MIC [µg/mL]					
Strain	TM TM-R		TM-Dodec	TM-Dodec TM- Dodec-R		TM- N-Oct-R
B. subtilis DSM- 10	2	4	1	64	0.5	2
B. megaterium DSM-32	0.25	2	1	64	0.25	0.5
S. aureus Newman	2	8	1	64	2	4



Figure 4-13: Localization of TM, TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct within in Gram-positive cells (indicated by arrows). A/B) *B. megaterium* DSM-32 was incubated for 30 min with 50 µM fluorescein- (-F) or rhodamine (-R) labelled TM (TM-F/R), TM-Dodec (TM-Dodec-F/R) TM-*N*-Oct (TM-*N*-Oct-F/R) and 50 µM fluorescein/rhodamine as control. C) *S. aureus* SG511 was incubated with 10 µg/mL rhodamine-labelled TM (TM-R) and TM-*N*-Oct (TM-*N*-Oct-R).



Figure 4-14: Localization of fluorophore-tagged TMs in CL-rich (NAO stained) regions of Gram-positive cells (indicated by arrows). *B. megaterium* DSM-32 was incubated with 50 µM fluorescein-labelled TM (TM-F) or TM-*N*-Oct (TM-*N*-Oct-F) for 30 min and co-incubated with 0.5 µM acridine orange 10-nonyl bromide (NAO).

4.1.3 PROTEIN TARGET IDENTIFICATION

Although CL was found to be a binding partner of TMs, it seemed likely that additional targets for TMs exist. Thereof, a protein pull down experiment was performed to identify potential binding partners of TMs. Proteins were isolated from Bacillus subtilis DSM-10, incubated for 2 h with biotin-tagged TM (TM-b) or TM-N-Oct (TM-N-Oct-b), and streptavidin-captured proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE. Proteins that were only present within samples incubated with TM-b or TM-N-Oct-b or appeared to be enriched in the presence of biotin-tagged TMs were regarded as potential binding partners (Figure 4-15, protein bands A-E). Generally, all tested conditions (50 µg TM-b, 50 µg TM-N-Oct-b, 200 µg TM-N-Oct-b) led to the same protein band pattern on the SDS gel. Only bands B and C (Figure 4-15) were not present in the TM-b incubated samples. As proteins "fished" from B. subtilis lysate in the presence of 200 µg TM-N-Oct-b showed the highest intensity, only those proteins were selected for further analysis by mass spectrometry (Figure 4-15 A black box). Trypsin digested proteins were analysed by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionizationtime of flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF/MS) or liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) and identified by searching against a protein database (UniProtKB/Swiss-Prot) on a MASCOT server. Proteins were identified as $\alpha\beta$ -subunit of ATP synthase, a putative lipoprotein YcdA, subunit II (QoxA) of the quinol oxidase, and flagellin (Figure 4-15 B). As binding of TMs to flagellin is unlikely to be an antibiotic mechanism of action (as depicted in chapter 4.2.3), the binding to flagellin was excluded, therefor only YcdA, QoxA and ATP synthase were chosen for further characterization.

TMs were analysed in terms of direct binding to YcdA and QoxA (heterologously expressed in *E. coli* and purified) by surface plasmon resonance (SPR) spectroscopy on a Biacore instrument. Proteins were immobilized to a sensor chip by standard amine coupling and binding to increasing concentrations of either TM, TM-Dodec, TM-*N*-Oct or DAP in the presence or absence of 5 mM CaCl₂ was monitored. In accordance to results from protein pull-down, binding to YcdA was exclusively observed for TM-*N*-Oct (Table 4-16, Figure 4-16) with an equilibrium dissociation constant (K_D) of 1.1 and 0.7 μ M in the absence and presence of calcium, respectively. Dissociation rates (k_d) were 4.3 x 10⁻³s⁻¹ and association rates were in the range of approximately 4000 M⁻¹s⁻¹. A direct interaction with QoxA was only detected for TM with a K_D of 50 μ M in the absence of calcium and an improved binding affinity in the presence of calcium ions (K_D: 8 μ M, Figure 4-17). The determination of the association and dissociation rates of TM to QoxA was not possible, thus, K_D values were determined by steady-state affinity analyses.



Figure 4-15: Identification of protein binding partners for TMs. A) A cell lysate of *B. subtilis* DSM-10 was incubated for 2 h with biotin-tagged TM (TM-b, 50 μ M) or TM-*N*-Oct (TM-*N*-Oct-b, 50 and 200 μ M) and proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE. Untreated cell lysate (Control) as well as untagged compounds (TM, TM-*N*-Oct) and D(+)-biotin (at concentrations respective to free biotin per molecule telomycin) served as controls. Unspecific protein bands were identified as streptavidin (~12 kDa), biotin-carrier proteins (~20 kDa) or pyruvate carboxylase (~ 130 kDa). Black arrows indicate potential binding partners (protein bands that were only present or appeared enriched within biotin-tagged TMs samples). B) Proteins identified by MALDI-TOF/MS and LC-MS/MS. Black box: analysed protein bands; Table: identified proteins and their respective masses.

Protoin	Compound	Concentration	- CaCl ₂			$+ CaCl_2$		
Protein			$K_D \left[\mu M \right]$	$k_{d}[s^{-1}]$	$k_a [M^{-1} s^{-1}]$	$K_D \left[\mu M \right]$	k _d [s ⁻¹]	$k_a [M^{-1} s^{-1}]$
YcdA	ТМ	0.8 - 50	-	-	-	-	-	-
	TM-Dodec	0.04 - 30	-	-	-	-	-	-
	TM-N-Oct	0.04 - 30	1.13	4.3 x 10 ⁻³	3752	0.73	4.3 x 10 ⁻³	5941
	DAP	0.8 - 50	-	-	-	-	-	-
QoxA	ТМ	0.8 - 50	50	n.d.	n.d.	8	n.d.	n.d.
	TM-Dodec	0.04 - 30	-	-	-	-	-	-
	TM-N-Oct	0.04 - 30	-	-	-	-	-	-
	DAP	0.8 - 50	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 4-16: Binding affinity of TM, TM-Dodec, TM-*N*-Oct and DAP to YcdA and QoxA in the absence (- CaCl₂) or presence (+ CaCl₂) of 5 mM CaCl₂. Equilibrium dissociation constants (K_D) were either determined by the ratio of association rate (k_a) to dissociation rate constant (k_d) or by steady-state affinity analysis. n.d.: not determinable.



Figure 4-16: SPR sensorgrams of binding of increasing concentrations TM-*N*-Oct (0.04-30 μ g/mL) to YcdA in the absence (A) and presence (B) of 5 mM CaCl₂.



Figure 4-17: Steady-state analysis plots of binding of increasing concentrations TM ($0 - 4x10^{-5}$ M) to QoxA in the absence (A) and presence (B) of 5 mM CaCl₂.

Due to experimental limitations regarding the heterologous expression of ATP synthase, a functional assays on cell viability and a concurrent influence on the amount of ATP within cells treated with TM, TM-Dodec, TM-*N*-Oct or DAP, was performed using the luminescence-based BacTiter-GloTM Microbial Cell Viability Kit (Promega). *S. aureus* Newman wildtype and the *cls2* disrupted mutant were treated with compounds at 2-fold MIC for 1 h, followed by addition of the BacTiter-Glo reagent and measurement of luminescence on a microplate reader (Infinite M200 Pro, Tecan). The recorded luminescence signal relies on the mono-oxygenation of luciferin, catalysed by firefly luciferase in the presence of Mg²⁺ (supplied with assay reagent), molecular oxygen and ATP, with an increase of the luminescence signal proportional to the amount of available ATP. For all tested conditions

(wildtype and *cls2* mutant), no significant decrease of ATP within cells treated with TM, TM-Dodec, TM-*N*-Oct or DAP was observed (Figure 4-18).



Figure 4-18: Cell viability based on ATP quantification of *S. aureus* Newman wildtype and disrupted *cls2* mutant over 1 h in the presence of 2-fold MIC of TM, TM-Dodec TM-*N*-Oct and DAP. Data are represented as mean ± standard deviation (SD).

4.1.4 ACTIVITY ON EUKARYOTIC CELLS

4.1.4.1 CYTOTOXICITY

Cytotoxicity against human (U-2 OS: bone osteosarcoma) and murine (RAW264.7: leukemia macrophage; L929: subcutaneous connective tissue fibroblasts) eukaryotic cell lines was determined by a tetrazolium salt-based assay (MTT) after 5 d treatment of cells with TMs in serial dilution. The half-inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) was determined by sigmoidal curve fitting using Origin 6.1G software.

Against human U-2 OS cells and murine macrophages (RAW 264.7), no *in vitro* cytotoxicity was observed for all TMs (IC₅₀: > 60 μ g/mL, Table 4-1). Against murine L929 cells, both derivatives (TM-Dodec, TM-*N*-Oct) showed increased inhibitory effects compared to the parent compound TM (IC₅₀: > 100 μ g/mL), but IC₅₀ values were still in a moderate range between 30 and 50 μ g/mL.
Cell line	IC ₅₀ [µg/mL]		
	TM	TM-Dodec	TM-N-Oct
human			
U-2 OS	> 100	> 100	> 100
murine			
L929	> 100	33.12	45.53
RAW264.7	> 60	> 60	> 60

Table 4-17: IC₅₀ values of TMs against human and murine cell lines.

4.1.4.2 MITOCHONDRIAL MEMBRANE POTENTIAL

As cardiolipin is not only found in the bacterial membrane but also in the inner mitochondrial membrane²⁹⁷ of eukaryotic cells, effects of TMs on the mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP) were determined. U-2 OS cells were treated with TMs at 10 µg/mL for 18 h followed by a staining with tetramethyl rhodamine methyl ester (TMRM). The cationic, cell permeable fluorescence probe TMRM reacts sensitive towards changes of MMP, whereas a red-orange fluorescence indicates the presence of active mitochondria in living cells²⁹⁸. The relative MMP was calculated based on TMRM fluorescence intensity in the cytoplasm. Cells treated with 10 µg/mL TM, TM-Dodec or TM-*N*-Oct led to a negligible reduction of MMP (\leq 10 %) compared to untreated control cells (Figure 4-19), demonstrating no activity of TMs on the mitochondrial membrane potential of mammalian cells under these conditions and indicating an interaction with CL preferably in bacterial species.



Figure 4-19: Determination of the mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP) in U-2 OS cells upon 18 h treatment with 10 μ g/mL TM, TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct. MMP was calculated based on TMRM fluorescence intensity in the cytoplasm. Cells were labelled with TMRM (mitochondria) and Hoechst33342 (nuclei). Data represent mean TMRM intensity \pm standard deviation (SD) of three independent wells.

4.2 **DISCUSSION**

4.2.1 CALCIUM-DEPENDENT ANTIBACTERIAL ACTIVITY

The natural product telomycin (TM) is produced by Streptomyces canus and was already described in 1950.^{145–147} It depicts a cyclic depsipeptide antibiotic with potent antibacterial activity against Gram-positive bacteria including multidrug-resistant (MDR) pathogens.^{146,148} Only recently, the biosynthesis of TM was characterized in order to optimize production yields and to generate novel TM derivatives.¹⁴⁸ Through genetic engineering, enzymes involved in the biosynthetic machinery of the natural producer strain were characterised and several TM intermediates were identified. One key finding was the identification of naturally occurring lipopeptides as precursor for TM, which exhibited improved antibacterial activity compared to TM. These studies embossed the development of semi-synthetic lipopeptides, which aimed to provide chemically optimized telomycin derivatives with a main focus on the synthesis of acyl derivatives via modification at the *iso*-¹Asp terminus of the natural molecule. Two promising derivatives (TM-Dodec¹⁴⁸, TM-N-Oct) were generated through structural modifications by the addition of unlike linear acyl chains to the amino group and carboxylic acid group of *iso*-¹Asp, respectively (TM-Dodec: dodecanoic acid; TM-N-Oct: ethylamine octanoic acid; Figure 4-1). Their antibacterial effects in terms of minimal inhibitory concentrations were determined against a panel of Gram-positive bacteria and both derivatives display on average 16- to 128-fold improved potency compared to TM (Table 4-1). The cyclic structure of telomycin resembles the structure of daptomycin (DAP, Figure 4-20), a calcium-dependent antibiotic (CDA) used as last resort treatment for infections caused by MDR Gram-positive bacteria.^{158,299,300} The lipopeptide DAP acts in a calcium-dependent manner on the cellular membrane which, in turn, implicates depolarization of the membrane potential, and finally induces cell death as part of a bactericidal mechanism of action.^{151,301–303} However, the mechanism of action of DAP is still not completely understood but one important feature is its dependency on Ca²⁺ ions.^{304–306} So far, it seems like that the DAP-Ca²⁺ complex is formed in order to obtain a more amphiphilic molecule, which enables DAP to interact with anionic phospholipids (primarily phosphatidylglycerol).^{151,307} By inserting its lipid side chain, DAP binds to the cell membrane and due to interaction with a second calcium ion oligomerization takes place^{308,309}; presumably due to conformational changes of the molecule.^{301,308,310} This seems to trigger a deeper insertion of DAP into the membrane and leads to a rearrangement of lipid

domains, followed by impairing several cellular processes.³⁰⁹ Based on structural similarities of DAP and TM, the antibacterial activity of TM and both derivatives were re-assessed against *S. aureus* Newman in the presence of different concentrations of calcium. Interestingly, a Ca²⁺-dependent increase of TM's activity was indeed observed and TM, in the presence of Ca²⁺, displayed a comparable potency to both derivatives (TM-*N*-Oct, TM-Dodec). Intriguingly, the activity of these modified derivatives did not rely on the presence of Ca²⁺ (Table 4-2).





Figure 4-20: Structure of calcium-dependent antibiotics (CDA) telomycin and daptomycin.

Since TM and DAP are structurally related and show similarities in antimicrobial activity, the effect of Ca²⁺ on TM was assessed in NMR studies as previously reported for DAP.^{304,306} The interaction of TM with Ca²⁺ was studied in the presence of increasing amounts of a 0.1 M CaCl₂ solution by NMR. After the addition of CaCl₂, ¹H NMR spectra showed broadening of specific signals (Figure 4-4 A, black boxes) which indicates binding of TM to

 Ca^{2+} . In order to determine if TM oligomerizes in the presence of Ca^{2+} – as observed for DAP - or if conformational changes of TM occur, 2D ROESY NMR spectra were recorded (data not shown). Preliminary assessment of these data indicated that four amino acids, ³Thr, ⁴Thr, ²Ser and *iso*-¹Asp (Figure 4-4 D) seem to be mostly affected by the addition of Ca²⁺. For instance, cross-peaks between *iso*-¹Asp - ⁴Thr and ²Ser - ⁴Thr disappeared when calcium was present. Moreover, our data led to the assumption that Ca²⁺ binds between ³Thr and ⁴Thr (Figure 4-21), which could lead to the exposure of the side chain (*iso*-¹Asp, ²Ser) of TM. This presumed mechanism is crucial for TM's antibacterial activity as it is only biologically active in the presence of Ca²⁺ ions. Regarding TM-Dodec and TM-N-Oct, binding to Ca²⁺ was observed as indicated by broadening of certain ¹H signals (Figure 4-4 B, C). However, no conformational changes were observed in 2D ROESY NMR spectra as all cross-peaks remained identical. This might explain why both derivatives are able to act calciumindependent. It is likely that their lipophilic side chains are per se exposed ('active conformation'), which might contribute to the mechanism of action, similar to DAP, whose lipid tail interacts with the cytoplasmic membrane.^{151,301} Moreover, to prove the hypothesis on TM's conformational changes and eliminate the possibility of oligomerization, quantum mechanical calculations to generate 3D structures based on 2D-ROSEY experiments are in progress (Dr. Matthias Köck, HIPS-MINS). Besides Ca²⁺, several monovalent and divalent ions were tested for their interaction with TM. Monovalent ions showed no interaction with the molecule at any concentration. In contrast, divalent ions seem to interact with TM as indicated by the broadening of some proton signals, with Cu^{2+} exhibiting the strongest effect, followed by Ba²⁺ and Ca²⁺ (Figure 4-5, black boxes, Table 4-5). Regarding their influence on the biological activity of TM, only Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ were suitable for MIC determination, due to toxicity of Ba²⁺ and Cu²⁺ ions. Overall, only ions which showed interaction with TM and which are mainly involved in the physiology of the human body were of main interest (e.g. Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , Na^+ or Zn^{2+}). At physiological concentrations, solely Ca^{2+} revealed a positive influence on TM's activity and no changes were observed for Mg^{2+} (Table 4-6).



Figure 4-21: Proposed binding site of Ca²⁺ between ³Thr and ⁴Thr of telomycin.

Due to these observed differences between natural and semi-synthetic TMs, and in order to assess if the antibacterial mechanism of action of TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct is identical to that of Ca^{2+} -activated TM, co-resistance studies were performed (see chapter 4.2.2). Interestingly, both acyl derivatives exhibited only marginal or no co-resistance with TM as assessed by MIC testing with TM-resistant and cardiolipin (CL)-depleted mutant strains of *S. aureus* (Table 4-7). In conclusion, semi-synthetic TM derivatives most probably hit additional targets and their antibacterial effect does not exclusively rely on CL binding, which might also hold true for TM itself (see chapter 4.2.2).

Based on the above discussed findings, the characterisation of TMs was assessed in the presence of physiological Ca^{2+} concentrations (1.25 mM).

An intrinsic resistance pattern of Gram-negative bacteria was observed, as none of the tested Gram-negative pathogens, including a membrane-permeabilized *E. coli* TolC-efflux deficient strain, was susceptible towards TMs (Table 4-3). These results indicate that susceptibility towards TMs relies on structural differences of the cell envelope of Gram-negative compared to Gram-positive bacteria (Figure 4-22). The major difference is the presence of the outer membrane (OM) in Gram-negative bacteria which consists of a lipopolysaccharide (LPS) layer (outer leaflet) and phospholipids (inner leaflet) and is absent in Gram-positive bacteria.³¹¹ It serves to protect the cell against external stress (e.g. toxic molecules) and depicts a barrier to several antibacterial agents such as the hydrophobic antibiotic rifampicin.^{235,311} However, an increase of the permeability of the OM by

membrane sensitizing agents such as polymyxins enable these compounds to act on Gramnegative bacteria.^{235,236} Nevertheless, regarding the susceptibility of the membranepermeabilized E. coli TolC-efflux deficient strain towards TMs, structural changes of the cell envelope do not seem to be sufficient to cause inhibition of Gram-negative bacteria. Moreover, it was excluded that the resistance relies on efflux since the present E. coli strain depicts an TolC-efflux deficient mutant.³¹² Thus, it was concluded that TMs might target a structure within the Gram-positive cell envelope. This was consolidated since an overall broad activity spectrum against Gram-positive bacteria was observed. However, *M. smegmatis* and *N. asteroids* were not susceptible, but against slow growing mycobacteria (M. tuberculosis, M. bovis), inhibition was detected. In general, differences in susceptibility of TMs against mycobacteria compared to other Gram-positive bacteria may also rely on a different composition of the cell envelope (Figure 4-22). Even though mycobacteria are classified as Gram-positive bacteria, their outer envelope comprises structural features of Gram-negative bacteria such as an OM, and in total, their organisation is much more complex. The main component of the OM is mycolic acid, which is covalently linked to arabinogalactan. Additionally, within different mycobacterial species the arrangement of the mycolic acids structure differs, which may account for differences in sensitivity against external agents as observed for TMs.313



Figure 4-22: Cellular envelope of Gram-negative bacteria, Gram-positive bacteria and mycobacteria. Adapted from Brown et al..⁵²

A comparison of activity spectra of all TMs revealed TM to be on average 2- to 8-fold less potent and by tendency, TM-*N*-Oct was slightly more active than TM-Dodec, in particular against Staphylococci. TM was virtually inactive against two resistant *S. aureus* strains (MDR, VISA/MRSA), but both derivatives were able to inhibit their growth. So far, this finding cannot be explained but it hints towards altered cell wall compositions of resistant strains, which hinder natural TM to enter the cell. Due to the emergence of hospital-acquired infections caused by pathogens such as Staphylococci, and a permanent increase of resistance mediated by these pathogens towards clinically used antibiotics, the effect of TMs against clinical *S. aureus* isolates was investigated. MIC₅₀ and MIC₉₀ values were determined and encouragingly, values were in the same range as observed with laboratory strains (low μ g/mL range; Table 4-4). These results represent TMs and in particular both acyl-derivatives as promising source for the development of new drugs to target the emergence of nosocomial infections. TMs exert a bactericidal effect on Gram-positive bacteria including S. aureus and vancomycin-resistant Enterococci (VRE).^{146,148,160} Remarkably, despite a comparable activity pattern of TMs and DAP (Table 4-3), TM-Dodec exerts an even stronger bactericidal effect on S. aureus compared to the gold-standard antibiotic DAP.¹⁴⁸ Overall, structural similarities, as well as an overlap in the antibacterial spectrum and the Ca^{2+} -dependent mechanism of both, TM and DAP, hinted towards similar mechanisms of action. Thus, a general mechanistic comparison of TMs and DAP was performed. The potency of TM on the bacterial membrane potential was assessed by exposing S. carnosus DSM-20501 to 5fold MIC of TM in the presence of 0-10 mM CaCl₂ over 2.5 h. A Ca²⁺-dependent membrane depolarization was observed with an increase in depolarization proportional to the amount of present CaCl₂ (Figure 4-3). At Ca²⁺ concentrations ≥ 0.25 mM a 80 % reduction of the MP was observed, indicating a calcium-dependent effect on the cellular membrane, similar to the mechanism observed for DAP.³¹⁴ Previous studies indicate that membrane depolarization by DAP occurs only as a consequence of cell membrane mechanisms which are mediated to trigger cell death.^{309,315} However, since the mechanism of action of DAP is still controversially discussed, several models exist. Besides a membrane disrupting action by the formation of pores³¹⁶, studies described DAP to act as inhibitor of the biosynthesis of peptidoglycan (PG).^{317,318} Additionally, it was suggested that the main target depicts the cell wall and not the cell membrane.³¹⁹ Recent studies confirmed that the inhibition of the cell wall synthesis counts to its action, a mechanism which is based on structural changes of the cell membrane by rearranging lipid domains³⁰⁹. This mechanism seems to impair several cellular processes and might account for the depolarization of the membrane, a process that could also be contemplated for TMs.

Due to TM's excellent activity on Gram-positive bacteria in broth, all derivatives were also assessed for their intracellular antibacterial activity. At concentrations as low as 4-fold MIC, TM, TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct reduced the number of *S. aureus* cells by approximately 2-log₁₀ (Figure 4-2). Again, both modified derivatives were more potent compared to the natural product, as TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct were still effective in this screen at lower antibiotic concentrations (1-fold MIC), whereas TM showed only a negligible activity at this concentration. The ability to kill intracellular pathogens is an important property of antibiotics that are used to treat severe infections caused by some bacteria. *S. aureus* depicts a major pathogen which is responsible for community- and hospital-acquired infections^{320–322} and due to the severe problem of increasing numbers of MDR strains, only limited

treatment options are available. Moreover, *S. aureus* was shown to overcome host-defending mechanisms, which leads to increased levels of the bacteria within the host. For instance, *S. aureus* is able to survive within macrophages^{323–326} by overcoming phagocytosis, which is normally initiated as the host's innate immune response³²⁷. With regard to the surviving abilities of *S. aureus* within macrophages and the results gained upon treatment of infected cells with TMs (Figure 4-2), the potential use of the compounds to treat infections caused by *S. aureus*, including MDR strains and potentially other Gram-positive pathogens, was consolidated.

4.2.2 MECHANISM OF ACTION AND RESISTANCE MECHANISM

4.2.2.1 GENETIC CHANGES IN RESISTANT MUTANTS

To evaluate putative resistance mechanisms and targets of TMs, *S. aureus* mutants were generated by stepwise increasing the antibiotic concentration and mutants finally tolerated concentrations of 100 μ g/mL TM and TM-Dodec. Initially, these mutants developed at frequencies of 4 x 10⁻⁶ for TM and 8.5 x 10⁻⁹ for TM-Dodec when treated at the respective 4-fold MIC. Since the frequency of resistance for TM-Dodec was significantly lower than that for TM, the modified derivative might have additional bacterial targets or exhibit a different mechanism of action than TM. MIC testing confirmed the resistance phenotype of both sets of mutants against the respective telomycin derivative. Additionally, TM-Dodecresistant mutants revealed cross-resistance to TM and TM-*N*-Oct (Table 4-8), but TM-resistant mutants were still susceptible to both derivatives (Table 4-7). Against all other tested antibiotics, including DAP, no co-resistance was observed, which indicates that TMs might have a new target and exert novel mechanisms of action.

The mechanism underlying resistance was further investigated by genome analysis of resistant mutants in comparison to the wildtype *S. aureus* Newman. Besides the presence of several inconsistent mutations (Table 4-7, Table 4-8), all TM- and TM-Dodec resistant mutants revealed mutations within *cls2*, a gene encoding cardiolipin synthase 2 (Cls2), which catalyses the reversible transphosphatidylation of two phosphatidylglycerol (PG) molecules into CL (Figure 4-23).²⁹² In six mutants (Mt-T.4, Mt-T.7, Mt-T.8, Mt-T.9, Mt-D.1, Mt-D.3) the point mutation led to a premature stop codon within *cls2*. Additional mutations within a gene encoding a diacylglycerol kinase (DagK, most probably DgkB from Pfam00781 superfamily of soluble proteins) were identified in four TM-resistant mutants

(Mt-T.1, Mt-T.4, Mt-T.7, Mt-T.8, Mt-T.9). DagKs are involved in the biosynthesis of phospholipids by catalysing the phosphorylation of diacylglycerol (DAG) into phosphatidic acid (PA).^{328,329} Furthermore, DAG is linked to the generation of lipoteichoic acid (LTA), since DAG is generated during the addition of glyercol-1-P groups from PG to the LTA.^{328,330} Moreover, in all TM-Dodec-resistant mutants, mutations of a gene encoding a GntR-type family repressor (PmtR) of an ABC transporter²⁹⁴ were present. Interestingly, in seven out of ten mutants the mutation occurred in the same amino acid (# 30), which led to a stop codon in all seven mutants. In summary, the resistance patterns of TM- and TM-Dodec-resistant mutants hint towards effects of TMs, which are dependent on cell envelope components (CL, DAG, LTA) Moreover, the genomic characterisation indicated that resistance towards acylated TM-derivatives might involve additional cellular changes (additional, common mutation in PmtR encoding gene) compared to TM (only *cls2* mutation common in all mutants).



Figure 4-23: Transphosphatidylation of two phosphatidylglycerol (PG) molecules into cardiolipin (CL) Phospholipids are depicted as representatives with unsaturated 18-carbon acyl tails (typical length of synthetic phospholipids; natural occurring phospholipids can vary in the length/number of the acyl tail and the position/number of unsaturated bonds).³³¹

Since all mutants generated under the pressure of TM and TM-Dodec had mutations of *cls2* in common, and all other identified mutations were either only present in one set of mutants or did not appear commonly, CL seems to contribute to the antibacterial effect of TMs. Thus, for a further characterization of the resistance mechanism and the mechanism of action the role of CL including the function of *cls2* was in the main focus.

4.2.2.2 ROLE OF CARDIOLIPIN

The exact mechanism of action of TMs is not known and the compounds did not show an effect in RNA, DNA and protein synthesis reporter screens (data not shown; Dr. A. Müller, University Bonn). Instead, the induction of cell wall stress response was observed, which hints to a mechanism related to cell wall synthesis. Additionally, resistance studies (see previous chapter 4.2.2.1) hinted towards interaction of TMs with cell membrane components, especially with the phospholipid CL. CL is found in the bacterial and mitochondrial membrane and depicts an important phospholipid component of these domains^{332,333}. In general, the relative amount of lipid types differs among different species (Table 4-18). This may account for differences in susceptibility of TMs against Grampositive compared to Gram-negative bacteria. For instance, the content of CL is usually much higher in Gram-positive bacteria compared to other species (approx. 3- to 10-fold higher), whereas Gram-negative bacteria mostly contain phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), a phospholipid which is completely absent in some Gram-positive species. Nevertheless, TMs are also active against Gram-positive bacteria with a low CL content (B. subtilis). Thus, an interaction with CL does not seem be the main trigger for their bactericidal effect and it is likely that an additional target (protein) which is only present in Gram-positive bacteria, and presumably associated with the cell envelope accounts for the mechanism of action of TMs.

Species	% Total lipid		
	CL	PG	PE
Gram-positive			
S. aureus	42	85	0
S. pneumoniae	50	50	0
B. subtilis	4	70	12
Gram-negative			
E. coli	5	15	80
K. pneumoniae	6	5	82
P. aeruginosa	11	21	60
Mitochondria	15	*	30

Table 4-18: Percentage of major phospholipids of total lipid content in Gram-positive, Gram-negative bacterial and mitochondrial membranes. Adapted from Epand and Epand³³⁴, Osman et al.³³⁵, and Schenkel and Bakovic³³⁶

*PG does not accumulate under normal conditions³³⁵; CL: cardiolipin; PG: phosphatidylglycerol; PE: phosphatidylethanolamine

Certainly, the interaction of TM and CL was also described by Johnston *et al.*, who described CL as the antibacterial target of TM.¹⁶¹ Within their study, a localization of TM in CL containing compartments (septa, poles) was provided. Due to CL's structure (head groups

possess smaller cross section compared to cross section of lipid tails) it possess a high intrinsic curvature what leads to an enrichment of CL within these domains.^{331,337,338} An accumulation of TMs in CL-rich compartments could be also confirmed here, not only for TM but also for the acylated derivatives. *B. subtilis* and *S. aureus* were incubated with fluorophore-tagged telomycin analogues and an accumulation of TM, TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct tool compounds at septa and poles was observed (Figure 4-13). Furthermore, the fluorescence pattern of intracellular TM derivatives overlaps with fluorescence of NAO, a red fluorescent indicator for CL (Figure 4-14).²⁹⁶

To investigate the interaction of TMs with potential other lipid binding partners of the cell membrane, binding of alkyne-coupled TM derivatives (TM-pentyne; TM-decyne, mimicking TM-Dodec) to membrane lipids and lipoteichoic acid (LTA) was determined. Direct binding of TMs was exclusively observed for CL in a CL concentration-dependent manner (max. binding in the presence of 64 pmol CL; Figure 4-12) and all other lipids as well as LTA did not show interaction at all (Figure 4-11). Furthermore, the binding capacity of TM (TM-pentyne) was shown be improved in the presence of high Ca²⁺ concentration (10 mM). Remarkably, the binding of CL to TM is in general dependent on calcium, since Ca^{2+} depletion by the addition of EDTA prevented binding at any tested CL concentration. Even though, binding of TMs to CL was proven this phospholipid is rather unlikely to be the antibacterial target of TMs. A disruption of *cls* and a thereof resulting CL-depletion was not lethal (Figure 4-6) and proved that CL is not directly involved in the bactericidal effect of TMs. Moreover, no direct correlation between the bacterial CL-content and the antibacterial activity of TMs was observed (e.g. B. subtilis vs. E. coli, Table 4-3, Table 4-18), what furthermore hints towards interaction of TMs with other – so far unknown – target molecules.

Since CL is not only present in bacteria but also in the inner mitochondrial membrane²⁹⁷, effects of TMs compared to DAP on the mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP) were analysed. Due to CL binding there is a potential risk that TMs induce adverse effects *in vivo*, which are characterized by e.g. cardiotoxicity.³³⁹ To exclude such side effects TM's toxicity was evaluated in a cell culture model. Human bone osteosarcoma cells (U-2 OS) were treated with TM, TM-Dodec, TM-*N*-Oct and DAP at 10 µg/mL and the MMP was determined after 18 h. For all compounds, only a negligible reduction of the MMP (\leq 10 %) compared to untreated control cells was observed (Figure 4-19). Since TMs have no major effect on MMP of eukaryotic cells it is rather unlikely that their interaction with (bacterial) CL is problematic with regards to *in vivo* toxicity, particularly the induction of cardiotoxic effects due to

disrupted mitochondrial function³³⁹. Moreover, TMs in general do not show cytotoxic effects on eukaryotic cell lines¹⁴⁸ (Table 4-17). However, these findings need to be confirmed *in vivo*, ideally in a well-monitored rodent model.

As already mentioned, the reversible transphosphatidylation of PG molecules into CL is catalysed by a cardiolipin synthase (Cls)²⁹². In S. aureus species, the synthesis of CL is mediated by two distinct Cls genes: cls1 and cls2.293 Both synthases are linked to CL accumulation, but under normal growth conditions, *cls2* encodes the major synthase Cls2, whereas *cls1* encodes the alternative enzyme Cls1, which can compensate for a loss of functional Cls2 under conditions of osmotic or pH stress.^{292,293} However, a loss of functional Cls2 is associated with a decrease of CL under normal growth conditions.²⁹³ Based on this, lipids from S. aureus Newman wildtype and from cls1 and cls2 disrupted S. aureus mutants were extracted and analysed by thin-layer chromatography (TLC). Spots detected by TLC indicated that a disruption of *cls2* led to a decline in the appearance of CL, in comparison to CL accumulation in S. aureus Newman wildtype and cls1 disrupted mutant (Figure 4-7). Moreover, the accumulation of PG in *cls2* disrupted mutant appeared to be slightly higher, in comparison to wildtype and *cls1* disrupted mutant. This further underlines that the generation of CL is hampered in mutants bearing disrupted *cls2*, indicated by no conversion of PG into CL. This confirms that mutations of cls2 lead to a changed phospholipid composition what in turn contributes to antibiotic resistance and hints towards a CL-related mechanism of TMs. Moreover, the characterization of both *cls* disrupted *S. aureus* Newman mutants confirmed that only the inactivation of *cls2* is involved in decreased susceptibility to TMs (Table 4-11). MIC determination revealed that a disruption of *cls2* affected the activity of TM significantly more (MIC: > 64 μ g/mL) than of both semi-synthetic derivatives (only 4- to 8-fold less active). This indicates that the activity of natural TM indirectly or directly highly relies on the presence of CL but does not prove CL to be the antibacterial target. Even more, a depletion of CL is not sufficient to cause a complete resistance towards both acylated derivatives, hinting towards a CL-independent effect of both derivatives, again supporting the assumption of an interaction with other target(s). Interestingly, inactivation of neither cls1 nor cls2 did affect the activity of DAP, even though mutations of cls in Staphylococcus or clinical Enterococcus (VRE) isolates were previously associated with resistance to DAP.^{64,65,340} Certainly, not only *cls* but also other genes were simultaneously affected within DAP-resistant mutants. Those genes were identified to be responsible for structural changes of the cell envelope. Interestingly, genes responsible for those changes

differed within different bacterial species (VRE vs. Staphylococci). Within VRE, liaF and gdpD were mainly associated with resistance to DAP⁶⁵, whereas mprF was mostly affected within S. aureus isolates.⁶⁴ Those genes have in common, that they are activated as a response to antibacterial agents, which results in changes in the composition of the cellular membrane. This is probably mediated based on a simultaneous mutations of other genes involved in phospholipid synthesis, such as *cls2* or *pgsA* (encoding PG synthase PgsA).³⁴¹ Mutations of mprF (encoding lysyl-PG synthase) were associated with a decreased generation of PG and an increased conversion of this phospholipid into lysyl-PG (LPG). This leads to changes of the membrane charge and hinders cationic antimicrobial peptides (CAMPs) to enter the cell.^{64,342–344} In this context, one TM-resistant mutant (Mt-T.3) yielded a mutation within the lysyltransferase flippase domain of MprF. However no decreased sensitivity towards DAP was observed, indicating that this mutation did not lead to structural changes of the membrane as observed within DAP-resistant mutants, and does not seem to contribute to a resistance mechanism against TM. Regarding structural changes based on mutations of *liaF* or *gdpD*, none of the mutants yielded additional mutations within those genes. In general, mechanisms that led to resistance towards TMs seem to differ from mechanisms observed in DAP-resistant bacteria, since no cross-resistance to DAP was observed. However, with regard to the affected genes (Table 4-9, Table 4-10) in TM- and TM-Dodec-resistant mutants, it seems that the so far unknown mechanism is likewise associated to the cell membrane, in particular to CL, and that there are some genes mutated which are also found to be affected in DAP-resistant mutants.

Under normal growth conditions, *S. aureus* undergoes a change in the phospholipid composition from logarithmic- to stationary-growth phase. During logarithmic growth, the major cell membrane component is PG, which is converted into CL during cellular growth. This in turn leads to a decrease of PG with a concurrent increase of CL as phospholipid in stationary-phase (30-40% of cell membrane constitutes of CL in stationary-phase).³⁴⁵ Considering CL as an important cellular component during bacterial growth leads to the assumption that inactivated *cls* genes might interrupt cell growth. Certainly, as already mentioned, Cls1 is able to compensate the loss of functional Cls2 under conditions of osmotic or pH stress.^{292,293,346} To investigate whether a *cls2* disrupted mutant is able to compensate the loss of Cls2 by Cls1 activation under stress conditions, expressed by a regain in susceptibility towards TMs, *S. aureus* Newman wildtype and the *cls2* disrupted mutant were incubated under different stress conditions, followed by lipid extraction and MIC

determination. Against wildtype S. aureus Newman, no changes on susceptibility towards all TMs were observed (Table 4-12) at any test condition. Regarding *cls2* disrupted mutant, only low pH conditions (pH 2) led to a slight improvement of activity to TM. However, against DAP, wildtype as well as *cls2* disrupted mutant showed 16- and 8-fold increased susceptibility, respectively, under growth conditions at pH 2. Other stress-inducing conditions (4 M NaCl and pH 4) did not or only marginally influence the susceptibility towards DAP. Since DAP not only showed increased activity under low pH conditions (pH 2) against *cls2* mutant but also against the wildtype, it can be excluded, that the observed effect relies on *cls* mutations. It rather seems that pH 2 led in general to changes that might rely on a changed phospholipid composition, which increased susceptibility to DAP but not to TMs. Acidic pH conditions can lead to an increase of LPG production in S. aureus.^{347,348} However, as already mentioned, the increase of LPG leads to resistance towards DAP and not to increased sensitivity.^{64,342} Based on this, it is likely that pH 2 conditions induced a different change in cell membrane composition. To prove this assumption the amount of all lipid species present under stress conditions needs to be determined in comparison to normal growth conditions. In the course of this study, phospholipids of S. aureus Newman and cls2 disrupted mutant incubated under stress conditions were extracted but analysis of LC-MS data could not be analysed properly since only trace amounts of lipids (partly below limit of detection) were detected. The HPLC method was validated using a CL-standard, however the amount of extracted was not sufficient to be detected. For a concise evaluation of phospholipids and to quantify CL methods (TLC, LC-MS) need to be optimized, a careful repeat of the experiments is needed, and extractions efficiency must be improved.

In conclusion, the presence of CL is a major factor for natural TM to be active against bacteria. As shown by susceptibility studies performed with the CL-depleted *S. aureus* mutant (*cls2* disrupted mutant; Table 4-11), the absence of CL is already sufficient to cause high-level resistance towards natural TM (\geq 64-fold decreased sensitivity compared to wildtype) and it does not seem that further cellular changes are needed. Nevertheless, in five out of seven TM-resistant mutants SNPs were identified in the same gene encoding a diacylglycerol kinase, an enzyme that is involved in the synthesis of phospholipids. As already mentioned, DagKs catalyse the phosphorylation of DAG into PA^{328,329}, which yields in further steps the generation of PG. DAG in turn is generated by the addition of glyercol-1-P groups from PG to LTA, a mechanism that functions in a circulating way, since DAG is re-introduced into the biosynthetic pathway that yields PG (Figure 4-24).^{328,330} A

dysfunction of DagK leads to a lethal accumulation of DAG within bacteria.^{328,330} However, it seems that the mutations found in TM-resistant mutants did not lead an increased accumulation of DAG, or at least was not lethal, since mutants did not display a fitness cost compared to the wildtype (Figure 4-8 A). However, to get further insights into the mechanism underlying mutations of DagK, the presence of all phospholipids included in the biosynthetic pathway of PG/LTA production needs to be analysed. Nonetheless, this indicates that malfunctioning DagK, does not seem to contribute significantly to resistance against TM, and that CL is the major key for natural TM to perform its action in the first place.



Figure 4-24: Role of diacylglycerol kinases in the biosynthetic pathway of PG and LTA. An unknown enzyme (?) catalyses the transfer of glycerol-1-P groups from PG to the LTA glycolipid anchor diglucosyldiacylglycerol (Glc₂DAG) yielding LTA and DAG, whereas DAG is re-introduced into the PG biosynthesis cycle. DgkB catalyses the phosphorylation of DAG into PA leading in further steps to the generation of PG. LTA: lipoteichoic acid, DAG: diacylglycerol, PA: phosphatidic acid, CDP-DAG: cytidine diphosphate diacylglycerol, PGP: phosphatidylglycerol phosphate, PG: phosphatidylglycerol, DgkB: DAG kinase, Cds: CDP-DAG synthase, PgsA: PGP synthase, PgpP: PGP phosphatase. Adapted from Jerga et al.³³⁰

In contrast, the depletion of CL (*cls2* disrupted mutant; Table 4-11) did not lead to complete resistance towards both acylated derivatives (TM-Dodec: 8-fold decreased activity, TM-*N*-Oct: 4-fold decreased activity). In all TM-Dodec-resistant mutants, a second gene besides *cls2* was mutated. This additional mutation within all TM-Dodec-resistant mutants thus contributes to high-level resistance towards TMs. The affected gene was recently identified to encode a repressor (PmtR) of a phenol-soluble modulin (PSM) toxin export system

(belonging to the family ABC transporter).²⁹⁴ PSMs depict a family of staphylococcal toxins that are involved in the pathogenesis of S. $aureus^{349-351}$ and moreover, they are involved in regulating their own efflux. To avoid self-mediated lethality by PSMs, Staphylococci have established a self-regulating efflux system whose expression is induced by specific PSM subtypes (mainly low-level cytolytic PSMs, e.g. PSMa4).²⁹⁴ The system underlying PSM secretion (Pmt; an ATP-binding cassette transporter) is encoded by four genes (*pmtA*, *pmtB*, *pmtC*, *pmtD*) arranged on a single operon (*pmt*).^{295,350} The presence of Pmt was described to be essential for bacterial survival, as a deletion led to a lethal accumulation of PSMs within S. aureus.³⁵⁰ The regulator PmtR is encoded by *pmtR* which is located upstream the *pmt* gene cluster ²⁹⁴ and was characterized as a member of YtrA subfamily of helix-turn-helix GntRtype transcriptional regulators.^{352,353} YtrA acts as repressor of the *ytrABCDEF* operon of *B*. subtilis, which is required for induction in bacterial responses to cell wall (lipid II) targeting antibiotics.³⁵⁴ Since PmtR depicts a homologue of YtrA, the lipid II targeting antibiotic vancomycin³⁵⁵ was included in co-resistance studies of TM-Dodec-resistant mutants. However, no decrease in sensitivity was observed when tested against TM-Dodec-resistant mutants compared to wildtype S. aureus (Table 4-8). Those results support the assumption that TM-Dodec seems to exhibit a novel mechanism of action by targeting a molecule different to that of known cell wall targeting antibacterial agents such as DAP and vancomycin. Regarding its regulatory function, Otto and co-workers described that no other genes but the *pmt* cluster is regulated by PmtR and no other substrate than PSMs were described in the context of this export system.²⁹⁴ In the absence of intracellular PSMs, PmtR prevents a permanent expression of the efflux system by binding to the *pmt* promoter (PmtR*pmt* complex) upstream *pmtR*. The production of PSMs, controlled by the accessory gene regulator (*arg*) quorum-sensing system³⁵⁶, leads to the transcription of the efflux system by the binding of PSM to PmtR, what leads to the disruption of the PmtR-pmt complex and expression of the efflux system. The observed mutations of *pmtR* in TM-Dodec-resistant mutants are inactivating (deletions) and thus, lead to the absence of PmtR and a permanently expressed efflux pump could be present. Fitness studies of TM-Dodec-resistant mutants revealed a retarded growth compared to the wildtype S. aureus Newman (Figure 4-8 B), indicating a PmtR-related growth defect. Additionally, a comparison to the fitness of TMresistant (Figure 4-8 A) and *cls* disrupted mutants (Figure 4-6) confirmed that the additional mutations within *pmtR* are responsible for the retarded growth as *cls2* mutations are fitness neutral. In this context, Joo et al. described that a permanent and wasteful production of Pmt (pmtR-knockout mutant) is reflected in slight but significant bacterial growth deficiencies²⁹⁴

This consolidates the assumption of a permanent expressed export system within TM-Dodec-resistant mutants. Moreover, PSMs are related to biofilm formation in *S. aureus*. On the one hand, PSMs are involved in structuring the 3-dimensionality of biofilms and on the other hand they facilitate a controlled detachment of the biofilm which is crucial for the dissemination of cells during infection.^{295,357–359} The characterisation of TM-Dodec-resistant mutants revealed, that the observed growth defects were accompanied by an impaired biofilm formation after 24 h incubation in all mutants in comparison to *S. aureus* Newman wildtype (Figure 4-9). After additional 24 h of incubation (48 h time-point), a further growth of the biofilm of the wildtype was observed, but for all mutants no changes or a degradation of their biofilm was observed. Assuming an increased expression of the efflux pump it might be possible that the unusual increased export of PSM leads to an uncontrolled and early detachment of the biofilms.

Taking together the facts that mutations of *pmtR* were only present in TM-Dodec-resistant mutants and that those mutants showed an overall retarded fitness (growth and biofilm) compared to TM-resistant mutants (only *cls2* mutations), lead to the conclusion, that the observed growth defects rely on mechanisms mediated by dysfunctional PmtR. Even though at the current stage there is no prove, it seems that the activity on the mutant strains of acylated TMs is hampered due to an upregulation of the efflux pump Pmt. Additionally, although so far only PSMs are described as substrates of Pmt, it might be possible that resistance towards TMs is mediated by efflux of the compounds. However, to get further insight into the proposed mechanism it needs to be assessed whether the mutations in *pmtR* indeed lead to increased expression of Pmt and whether TMs are substrates of this specific transporter. A PmtR knockout mutant is currently generated and studies in comparison to the wildtype strain are planned. Those include qPCR to investigate the expression levels of PmtR/Pmt and activity studies (including cross-resistance towards TM). Moreover, it needs to be investigated if merely the loss of function of PmtR is sufficient to cause resistance against TM-Dodec or if it only contributes to growth defects and if a concurrent CL deficiency is needed in any case for high-level resistance. The impact of the described mutations in *cls2* and *pmtR* on transcriptome level is currently analysed by means of RNA sequencing experiments (performed in cooperation with Dr. A. Westermann/Prof Dr. J. Vogel, HIRI, Würzburg).

In summary, TM and both derivatives seem to act by interfering with the bacterial cell envelope. However, even though binding of acylated TM to CL was proven, and an accumulation of both TM-derivatives within CL containing compartments was shown, the overall data set (Ca²⁺-independency, susceptibility of *cls2* mutants, *in vitro* resistance development) still hints towards a mechanism in which CL only plays an indirect role. So far, the binding site of TMs on CL is not known but it seems likely that TMs bind via the cyclic peptide core structure, which is identical in natural TM and acylated derivatives. The binding of TM to CL is presumably needed to enable the compound to interact with the cell (most probably with the cell membrane; CL as "anchor" for TM), whereas acylated derivatives are able to interfere with the cells independent of the presence of CL. They presumably interact with the membrane by inserting their exposed lipophilic side chain (comparable to DAP), which is slightly less effective in the absence of CL. Natural TM first needs to undergo a conformational change (Ca^{2+} -dependent) to resemble the 3D structure of acylated TMs and its membrane interaction fully relies on the presence of CL. In any case, the interaction with cell membrane seems to be only the first step of the mechanism of action and it is likely that the bactericidal effect of TMs relies on the interaction with a common additional target, which might be found in the cell wall.

4.2.3 TARGET IDENTIFICATION

Given that the interaction of CL with TMs mainly affects the activity of natural TM, and that no complete resistance against TM-Dodec was observed when CL was depleted, it is likely, that an additional (protein) target(s) account for the bactericidal mechanisms mediated by TMs. Moreover, the depletion of CL is not lethal (Figure 4-6), further indicating CL not representing the main antibacterial target for TMs.

Since *in vitro* resistance development only hinted towards mechanisms mediated in association with the cell membrane, but no specific target molecule was identified, a protein pull down was performed. *B. subtilis* served as BSL1 model organism and semi-synthetic TM- and TM-*N*-Oct-biotin-tagged derivatives served as tool compounds to perform protein pull-down experiments. To identify proteins that interacted with TMs, proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE, followed by mass-spectrometry analysis. Since the success rate of identifying trypsin digested proteins by mass-spectrometry is dependent on the intensity of proteins, only proteins that appeared in the presence of 200 µg TM-*N*-Oct were chosen for further analysis (Figure 4-15 A) by MADLI-TOF/MS and LC-MS/MS. Four different

proteins were successfully identified as binding partners in the pull-down experiment: $\alpha\beta$ subunit of ATP synthase, a putative lipoprotein YcdA, subunit II (QoxA) of the quinol oxidase, and flagellin (Figure 4-15 B). Flagellin depicts the protein component of the bacterial flagellum which is highly abundant in flagellated bacteria.³⁶⁰ The flagellum is needed for the bacterial movement and is found in Gram-positive as well as Gram-negative bacteria, such as *E. coli* or *Pseudomonas* spp., but is absent in Staphyloccoci.^{361,362} Binding of an antibiotic to flagellin might probably hinder bacterial movement but not cause bacterial killing. Furthermore, TMs depict an intrinsic resistance pattern to Gram-negative bacteria (flagellin containing bacteria) but strong inhibitory activities against Staphylococci (flagellin missing bacteria), what led to the exclusion of this protein to be involved in TMs mechanism of action. Moreover, the protein mass detected by protein separation on SDS-PAGE (33 kDa) differs slightly from the actual mass of the intact protein (38 kDa), whereas masses for all other identified protein are in accordance to theoretical masses. However, the fishing of flagellin (or part of it) might have happened in association with YcdA, a putative lipoprotein that was previously characterized to be involved in the movement of *B. subtilis* but it is not essential for cellular growth.³⁶³ Besides a correlation to the swarming motility, the protein is uncharacterized and was only found in B. subtilis with no homologues in S. aureus. Nevertheless, direct binding of TMs to YcdA, which was heterologously expressed in E. coli, was analysed by SPR. Binding to TM, TM-Dodec, TM-N-Oct compared to DAP was monitored in the presence of increasing compound concentrations. Additionally, the effect of Ca^{2+} on the binding affinities was analysed. In accordance to protein fishing, binding to YcdA was only observed for TM-N-Oct, which bound in a concentration-dependent manner with moderate affinity in the micro-molar range (Table 4-16; Figure 4-16). Addition of 5 mM CaCl₂ only led to a minor increase of binding affinity (approx. 1.5-fold) in comparison to binding in the absence of Ca^{2+} . For both cases $(\pm Ca^{2+})$ a slow dissociation $(4.3 \times 10^{-3} \text{ s})$ was observed. Since the involvement of YcdA in TM's mechanism of action is so far unknown, the generation of an ycdA knockout mutant (wildtype B. subtilis DSM-10) is planned to further characterize its involvement in the mechanism of action of TMs. Besides YcdA, binding of TMs and DAP to QoxA was also analysed. So far, solely binding of TM to QoxA was measured with a rather low binding affinity (50 µM; Table 4-16; Figure 4-16). However, binding affinity was increased approximately 9-fold (6 μ M) when Ca²⁺ was present. Even though the potential mechanism underlying the binding of TM to QoxA still needs to be analysed, a Ca²⁺-dependent mechanism of TM was again determined. QoxA depicts subunit II of the terminal oxidase cytochrome *aa*₃ and is involved in transferring

electrons to subunit I of the oxidase. Cytochrome *aa3* was characterized to be most probably the major oxidase of the branched respiratory chain of *B. subtilis*.³⁶⁴ The aerobic growth of B. subtilis is branched into a cytochrome c oxidase and a quinol oxidase branch, whereas cytochrome aa_3 is found in the latter one. Cytochrome aa_3 belongs to the family of proton pumping heme-copper oxidases and consists of subunit I (QoxB), II (QoxA), III (QoxC) and IV (QoxD) which are encoded by qoxB, qoxA, qoxC and qoxD, respectively.^{365–368} Additionally, two other *bd*-type cytochrome terminal oxidases are found within the quinol branch, cytochrome bd (encoded by cydAB) and cytochrome bb' oxidase (encoded by *ythAB*), both of which are not associated with a proton pumping function. 364,369,370 The cytochrome c branch differs in the type of terminal enzyme as it terminates in a cytochrome caa3 oxidase, which also belongs to the family of proton-pumping heme-copper oxidases and consists of subunits I-IV (CtaD, CtaC, CtaE, CtaF), encoded by ctaDCEF.^{364,368,371} Oxidases belonging to the heme-copper family share the presence of a subunit that is homologue to subunit I of the mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase (QoxB and CtaD for B. subtilis). Those subunits depict the active sites and contain a heme-copper centre consisting of two hemes (O, A or B) and copper (Cu_B).^{372,373} Besides E. coli³⁷³, B. subtilis depicts a species whose respiratory system is well characterized, in contrast to Staphylococci among which only little is known.³⁷⁴ Studies in S. aureus alternated between the presence of two and three respiratory branches^{375,376}, but recent studies hinted more towards the two branched system by a *bd*-type oxidase (encoded by cydAB)^{377–379} and a heme-copper oxidase (encoded by *qoxABCD* operon).^{380,381} Certainly, the *qoxABCD* operon found in *S. aureus* encodes four subunits that are related to *caa*₃-type oxidases found in *B. subtilis* and refers rather to a cytochrome c related oxidase, than to a quinol one. In general, the aerobic respiration in different bacteria relies on a common feature, the presence of terminal oxidases, which all consists of homologues of subunit I-IV. They are involved in the electron transport during the last step of the respiratory chain (Figure 4-25) by transferring electrons to molecular oxygen what leads to a reduction of oxygen to water^{371,382}. This process includes the oxidation of quinol, either directly by quinol oxidases (quinol branch) or via the bc_1 complex in interaction with membrane bound cytochromes (cytochrome branch, Figure 4-25). Quinols (menaquinol or ubiquinol) needed to proceed those steps, are generated through the oxidation of quinones by three different reductases, succinate (SDH), type-2 NADH or glycerol-3-phosphate reductase.^{383–385}

The essentiality of the QoxA within the respiratory chain is not known, since previous studies focused either on the function of the whole *qoxABCD* operon (complete loss of the

qox operon) or on subunits other than subunit II.^{364,366} Based on this, it is not clear if QoxA represents an antibacterial target and if an interaction of TM with QoxA is able to trigger a collapse of the whole respiratory chain, especially since alternative terminal oxidases are available.³⁶⁴



Figure 4-25: Branched aerobic respiratory chain (quinol and cytochrome branch) terminating in one of four terminal oxidases. Electrons are donated by the oxidation of menaquinones (mostly distributed among Gram-positive and anaerobic Gram-negative bacteria^{383–385}) or ubiquinones (predominantly found among aerobic Gram-negative bacteria^{384,386}). *n*: 1-12 (isoprene subunits). Adapted from Winstedt et al.³⁶⁴

The electron transfer within the respiratory chain is coupled to a proton transport across the cell membrane what mediates the generation of a proton gradient that provides energy which is further processed by the F_0F_1 -ATPase to synthesize ATP^{387,388}. Among all organisms that involve ATP in their metabolisms, structural related F_0F_1 -ATP synthases are found^{388,389}. They consist of two domains: the extrinsic membrane part F_1 and the membrane embedded part F_0 (Figure 4-26). Both domains contain several subunits of which highly identical ($\geq 80\%$) homologues in ATP-consuming species exists (Figure 4-27). Domain F_1 is composed of subunit α , β , γ , δ and ε and involved in the synthesis of ATP. F_0 consists of subunit a, b and c and depicts a transmembrane proton channel. Mitochondrial ATP synthases harbour additional subunits within both domains (F_1 : d, F_6 ; F_0 : e, f, g, A6L, DAPIT), of which the membrane bound subunits do not have a function within the

generation of ATP.³⁸⁹ The common stoichiometry among all enzymes is $\alpha_3\beta_3\delta\gamma\epsilon ab_2c_{8-15}$ with the main difference in the number of c-subunits. The typical ATP synthase found within bacteria is encoded on a single operon *atpIBEFHAGDC*. Subunits of domain F₁ are encoded by *atpA* (α), *atpD* (β), *atpG* (γ), *atpH* (δ) and *atpC* (ϵ) and subunits of F₀ by *atpB* (α), *atpE* (b) and *atpF* (c). The protein encoded by *atpI* depicts a protein with unknown function.³⁹⁰



Figure 4-26: Schematic representation of the F₀F₁-ATP synthase. Membrane bound domain F₀ consists of subunit a, b and c, whereas the extrinsic part F₁ consists of subunits α , β , γ , δ and ϵ . Adapted from Balemans et al.³⁹¹

<i>B. subtilis</i> AtpD	M K K G R V S Q V L	G P V V D V R F E D	GHLPEIYNA	K I S Q P A A S E N
<i>S. aureus</i> AtpD	M G I G R V T Q V M	G P V I D V R F E H	NEVPKINNAL	V I D V P K E
<i>B. subtilis</i> AtpD	EVGIDLTLEV	A L H L G D D T V R	T I AMASTDGV	Q R G M E A V D T G
<i>S. aureus</i> AtpD		A L Q L G D D V V R	T I AMDSTDGV	Q R G M D V K D T G
<i>B. subtilis</i> AtpD	A P I S V P V G D V	T L G R V F N V L G	ENIDLNEPVP	ADAKKDPIHR
<i>S. aureus</i> AtpD	K E I S V P V G D E	T L G R V F N V L G	ETIDLKEEIS	DSVRRDPIHR
<i>B. subtilis</i> AtpD	Q A P S F D Q L S T	EVEILETGIK	V V D L L A P Y I K	G G K I G L F G G Ă
<i>S. aureus</i> AtpD	Q A P A F D E L S T	EVQILETGIK	V V D L L A P Y I K	G G K I G L F G G Ă
<i>B. subtilis</i> AtpD	G V G K T V L I Q E	L I N N I A Q E H G	G I S V F A G V G E	R T R E G N D L F Ý
<i>S. aureus</i> AtpD	G V G K T V L I Q E	L I N N I A Q E H G	G I S V F A G V G E	R T R E G N D L Y F
<i>B. subtilis</i> AtpD	E M S D S G V I N K	TAMVFGQMNE	P P G A R M R V A L	T G L T M A E H F R
<i>S. aureus</i> AtpD	E M S D S G V I K K	TAMVFGQMNE	P P G A R M R V A L	S G L T M A E Y F R
<i>B. subtilis</i> AtpD		I D N I F R F T Q A	G S E V S A L L G R	M P S A V G Y Q P T
<i>S. aureus</i> AtpD		I D N I F R F T Q A	G S E V S A L L G R	M P S A V G Y Q P T
<i>B. subtilis</i> AtpD	L A T E M G Q L Q E	R I T S T N V G S V	T S I Q A I Y V P A	D D Y T D P A P A T
<i>S. aureus</i> AtpD	L A T E M G Q L Q E	R I T S T T K G S V	T S I Q A V F V P A	D D Y T D P A P A T
<i>B. subtilis</i> AtpD	TFAHLDATTN	L E R K L T E M G Î	Y P A V D P L A S T	S R A L A P E I V G
<i>S. aureus</i> AtpD	AFAHLDATTN	L E R K L T E M G I	Y P A V D P L A S T	S R A L E P S I V G
<i>B. subtilis</i> AtpD	E E H Y A V A R E V	Q S T L Q R Y K E L		E L G E E D K L V V
<i>S. aureus</i> AtpD	Q E H Y E V A R D V	Q S T L Q K Y R E L		E L S D E D K Q T V
<i>B. subtilis</i> AtpD	HRARRIQFFL	S Q N F H V A E Q F	T G Q K G S Y V P V	KETVQGFKEI
<i>S. aureus</i> AtpD	ERARRIQFFL	S Q N F H V A E Q F	T G Q K G S Y V P V	KTTVANFKDI
B. subtilis AtpD	L A G K Y D H L P E	D A F R L V G R I E	E V V E K A K E M G	
S. aureus AtpD	L D G K Y D H I P E	D A F R L V G S M D	D V I A K A K D M G	

Figure 4-27: Exemplary alignment of amino acid sequences of subunit β (AtpD) from *B. subtilis* and *S. aureus*. Both share 87 % identity.

With regard to bacterial species, the ATP synthase depicts a potent antibacterial drug target. Serval natural and synthetic compounds are known to act antibacterial by inhibiting the ATP synthase (e.g. bedaquiline).^{391,392} In this context, subunit $\alpha\beta$ of the ATP synthase of B. subtilis was identified as potential target of TMs by protein fishing. Studies to analyse the binding of TMs to ATP synthase were restricted due to experimental limitations in the heterologous expression of ATP synthases. Thus, a functional assay on cell viability and a concurrent influence on the amount of ATP was performed. S. aureus Newman and cls2 disrupted mutant were treated with TM, TM-Dodec, TM-N-Oct and DAP at 2-fold MIC and cell viability was assessed based on the amount of ATP within the cells. The treatment with any of the compounds did not decrease the amount of ATP (Figure 4-18) what leads to the conclusion that TMs do not directly interfere with the ATP synthase by interrupting its function. Previous studies performed with S. aureus transposon mutants revealed that atpA, *atpD* and *atpG* are not essential in S. *aureus* and that the transcript of *atpE* (subunit b of F_0) domain) plays an important role in the function of the ATP synthase.^{391,393} This leads to the assumption, that a direct inference of TMs with subunits $\alpha\beta$ might not be involved in the mechanism of action. However, to analyse sensitivity of bacteria with disrupted ATP synthase to TMs, an activity-based screen of S. aureus transposon mutants [obtained from Nebraska Transposon Mutant Library] yielding transposon mutations in genes encoding several subunits of the ATP synthase (*atpA*, *atpB*, *atpD*, *atpG*, *atpH*) will be performed. Moreover, to analyse if disrupted subunits of cytochrome *caa*₃ oxidase contribute to a decrease in susceptibility of *S. aureus* towards TMs, mutants yielding transposon mutations in subunit I, II and III (*qoxB*, *qoxA*, *qoxC*) will additionally be tested.

So far, with regard to the results gained from the characterization of the proteins identified as potential target proteins, no direct impact on the mechanism of TMs could be revealed. Since YcdA is only present in B. subtilis and binding was solely observed for TM-N-Oct, a function as global target molecule can be excluded. Regarding QoxA, it is not clear if interactions with subunit II may induce lethality, especially since subunit I represents the active side of the oxidase. Regarding the ATP synthase as potential target of TMs, it was already mentioned, that subunit $\alpha\beta$ might not be involved in the mechanism of action since they are not essential for the function of the synthase. Nevertheless, a reason why those proteins have been fished might be a connection between respiratory chain complexes and cardiolipin. The individual parts of the respiratory chain of bacteria and mitochondria are able to associate into supercomplexes^{371,394}, whose maintenance is associated with CL.³⁹⁵⁻ ³⁹⁹ The formation of supercomplexes contributes to the stability of individual respiratory complexes and their function, e.g. the electron transport through the respiratory chain.^{371,400–} ⁴⁰⁴ Previous studies in yeast as well as bacteria (*B. subtilis* and *E. coli*) revealed the presence of several supercomplexes, such as bc_1 -caa₃^{394,405-407} or bc_1 -caa₃ with the ATP synthase, SDH-*aa*₃ and a putative association of *aa*₃ with the ATP synthase.³⁷¹ Moreover, the absence of CL was shown to lead to the dissociation of supercomplexes (e.g. bc1-caa3) and a thereof dependent decrease in the activity of the complexes.^{394,402,408,409} Taking together the facts that CL is needed to maintain the respiratory chain and that TMs were shown to bind to CL, leads to the assumption, that proteins identified by target fishing rather interacted with CL than with TM. It seems as if TMs primarily bound to CL, which was still associated with proteins involved in respiration and energy metabolism.

So far, no direct prove is available that the above drawn hypothesis depicts an explanation why those proteins have been fished, but the present analysis strongly hints towards a CL-mediated binding.

In summary, the general comparison of TM to TM-Dodec and TM-N-Oct strongly indicated that both derivatives act calcium-independent and that their antibacterial effects do not

exclusively rely on the binding to CL. This furthermore indicates an interaction with an additional target, which might be common for all TMs to mediate a mechanism of action beyond membrane activity (presumably cell wall-associated). However, so far no distinct proteins targets could be assigned and alternative experiments to identify additional targets need to be performed. Moreover, since preliminary data revealed induction of cell wall stress by TMs, more specific screens could be performed to characterize the impact on the cell wall synthesis in detail (including studies on lipid II binding).

4.3 SUMMARY AND OUTLOOK

The cyclic depsipeptide TM was already described in 1950 by Bristol-Myers Company (New York, USA) and revealed promising antibacterial activities against Gram-positive bacteria including multidrug-resistant (MDR) pathogens. However, over the last 60 years no further investigation was described until the characterisation of the biosynthesis of the natural product. Based on the knowledge gained from those studies, semi-synthetic derivatives were generated, aiming to provide SAR-improved compounds. In the course of the present study, the two acylated derivatives TM-Dodec and TM-*N*-Oct were described to show promising antibacterial activities, including inhibition of MDR pathogens and clinical isolates, with overall improved activities compared to natural TM. However, the activities of TM and both derivatives are restricted to Gram-positive bacteria and Gram-negative pathogens revealed intrinsic resistance. Moreover, a calcium-dependent activity of TM could be revealed, whereas both derivatives were shown to act calcium-independent. Studies on the interaction of Ca²⁺ with TM indicated that the molecule presumably needs to undergo conformational changes mediated by the binding to Ca²⁺ to perform its action. In contrast, both derivatives seem to act without undergoing conformational changes.

Regarding the mechanism of action, similarities in activity to the cell membrane targeting calcium-dependent antibiotic DAP were observed. TMs exert a bactericidal effect, which was in previous studies shown to be even stronger for TM-Dodec compared to DAP. Moreover, a calcium-dependent membrane depolarization for TM was observed, which hints towards a membrane-related mechanism of action, similar to that of DAP. Studies on the resistance mechanism consolidated this assumption, since the depletion of cardiolipin, a major component of the cellular membrane, was found to be involved in the generation of resistance towards TM and TM-Dodec. Mutations or the absence of the gene (cls2) encoding for the synthase (cardiolipin synthase 2), which catalyses the generation of CL were shown to lead to decreased sensitivity of S. aureus Newman towards TMs. However, this effect was more pronounced towards TM, compared to TM-Dodec and TM-N-Oct. Moreover, studies on the binding of TMs to membrane lipids revealed an exclusively binding of TMs to CL, but not to other lipids or membrane components. The intracellular localization of TMs was additionally shown to happen in CL-rich domains. Nevertheless, all together this study revealed that CL is solely needed for TM but not required for both derivatives to act on the bacteria. It is possible, that the absence of the lipid side chain within the structure of natural TM hinders its interaction with the bacterial cell and that the binding to Ca²⁺ and CL enables the molecule to interact with the cell membrane. In contrast, both derivatives seem to be able to interfere with the cells by inserting their acyl chain into the membrane, similar as observed for DAP.

Some proteins (YcdA, QoxA, $\alpha\beta$ -subunit of ATP synthase) were identified as potential binding partners in a protein pull-down experiments and binding could be confirmed to the lipoprotein YcdA (TM-*N*-Oct) and to subunit II (QoxA) of the terminal oxidase *aa*₃ (TM). However, at the current stage, it cannot be excluded that interaction with these proteins is associated with the presence of CL in the protein preparations. Previous studies showed that subunits of the respiratory chain (e.g. terminal oxidases, ATP synthase) are able to form respiratory chain supercomplexes whose stability and thereof based activity relies on the presence of CL. It might be possible that the binding of TMs to CL leads to a disruption of the respiratory chain complexes and a collapse of the cellular metabolism. To further investigate this assumption, a repeat of the target fishing experiment needs to be done to show if the same protein pattern will be detected from lysates of CL depleted *S. aureus* mutants. Although studies on the cell viability already showed no effect of TMs on the ATP amount, further studies to exclude a potential concentration- and time-dependent effect should be done. Additionally, a comparative binding study in the presence and absence of CL, with the proteins which showed interaction to TMs, could be performed.

Nevertheless, it is not clear if binding to CL depicts the starting point of TMs mechanisms of action and which cellular processes are affected by this mechanism. So far, studies strongly point towards a target protein exclusively present in Gram-positive bacteria, which might be found associated with the cell wall. In a primary step, TMs seem to interact with the membrane, whereas the presence of CL is crucial for natural TM but both semi-synthetic TM derivatives are able to interfere CL-independent. After insertion or binding to the cell membrane, TMs seems to interact with the so far unknown target enzyme, which in further steps causes a collapse of the bacterial metabolism (presumably linked to a hampered cell wall synthesis) and finally cell death (comparable to DAP). In addition, if CL would depict the main target of TMs, it is not clear why those compounds do not exert cytotoxic effects and inhibition of Gram-negative bacteria even though CL is also present within those types of cells, what further indicates the interaction with an additional common target for TMs.

In summary, studies performed to characterize the mechanism of action of TMs revealed an interference with the cellular membrane, but the exact mechanism of action still needs to be further investigated. Moreover, two derivatives bearing lipid side chains revealed improved activities compared to the parent molecule TM and a mechanism of action beyond CL-binding. However, further semi-synthetic optimisations (antimicrobial activity; physicochemical properties) with regard to further steps in the direction of preclinical development (ADME, PK/PD studies) need to be performed.

5 CONCLUSION AND RELEVANCE

The introduction of new antibiotic drugs in the clinics is accompanied by a fast development of resistance – a severe problem that exists almost since the beginning of the antibiotic era in the early 1900s.¹ In addition, over the last decades, resistance to antibiotics exacerbated due to the emergence of multidrug-resistant (MDR) bacterial species and a decline in the development of novel antibiotics. To avoid the advent and progression of the so-called "pre-antibiotic" era, the development of new antibiotics showing resistance-breaking properties by acting on new target molecules and exhibiting novel mechanisms of action is urgently needed.^{5,21}

Up to day, the main and most promising sources for the development of new effective lead structures are still natural products (NPs) derived from microorganisms (e.g. bacteria, fungi).⁷² During the "Golden Era" of antibiotic discovery (1930s-1960s) a wide variety of compound classes have been characterized (e.g. penicillins, tetracyclines), but only antibiotics with favourable pharmacological properties were further pursued and developed into drugs. Thus, a number of neglected NP scaffolds exist, which are already known for decades and which exhibit pronounced antibacterial activity, but viable drug development procedures were not available at the time of their discovery. Due to today's advanced knowledge in terms of e.g. chemical derivatization and synthesis and genetic engineering, at least some of those scaffolds are promising starting materials to develop new antibacterial drugs. However, to overcome hurdles in the drug development pipeline, such as unfavourable pharmaceutical and pharmacokinetic properties, it is of utmost importance to perform a detailed in vitro and in vivo profiling of such scaffolds and to further improve them. Crucial steps during preclinical development are the identification of the target molecule and the elucidation of the molecule's mechanism of action. These data can help to inform the modification of a scaffold to improve on-target activity, to overcome resistance, and to widen the antibacterial spectrum. Further, derivatization programs aim at optimizing pharmaceutical properties to eventually achieve optimal in vivo efficacy.

In the course of this study, NPs and respective derivatives of two different compound classes – chelocardins^{107,108,139} and telomycins^{145,148} – were characterized to elucidate their mechanism of action/resistance and to identify their target molecule(s). Both represent potent examples of underexploited compound classes derived from actinobacteria, an important source of NPs, with inhibitory activity against clinically relevant bacteria. Chelocardins are active against Gram-negative and Gram-positive pathogens and the

compounds possess resistance-breaking properties. This holds also true for telomycins as they act against MDR bacteria and display no cross-resistance to standard antibiotics; however, telomycins solely inhibit Gram-positive bacteria. Chelocardin and its more potent analogue amidochelocardin displayed *in vitro* inhibition of the ribosome without displaying cross-resistance with related tetracyclines. Their main target appeared to be related to bacterial membranes and efflux-mediated resistance in Gram-negative bacteria occurred only at very low frequency. Two new telomycin derivatives that act, in contrast to the original NP, independent of the presence of cardiolipin and calcium were in-depth characterized and it could be revealed that telomycins presumably act through a new mechanism targeting an enzyme involved in cell wall synthesis. Even though the main target molecule for both antibiotic families was not identified, the overall characterization revealed important insights into chelocardin's and telomycin's mechanisms of action and resistance mechanisms. These results contribute to a further optimisation of both compound classes and to the development of new potent lead structures, which can be forwarded into the development pipeline to provide new effective antibacterial drugs that can overcome resistance.

In summary, this work highlights that the re-assessment of neglected compound classes is a promising, alternative pathway to provide new effective compounds and that NPs still play an important role in drug development. The two compound classes that were characterised within this study are now in preclinical development with the overall goals to introduce new antibiotics into the pipeline, to fight against life-threatening bacterial infections, and to combat resistance.

6 APPENDIX

6.1 ABBREVIATIONS

ABC	ATP-binding cassette
ACN	Acetonitrile
ADMET	Absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion, toxicity
AMR	Antimicrobial-resistance
Apr	Apramycin
APS	Ammonium Persulfate
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
bp	Base pair
CAMHB	Cation-adjusted Müller-Hinton broth
CAMP	Cationic antimicrobial peptide
CCCP	Carbonyl cyanide 3- chlorophenylhydrazone
CDA	Calcium-dependent antibiotic
CDCHD	2-carboxamindo-2-deacetyl-CHD, amidochelocardin
CFU	Colony forming unit
CHD	Chelocardin
CIP	Ciprofloxacin
CL	Cardiolipin
CLS	Cardiolipin synthase
cpm	Counts per minute
Da	Dalton
DAP	Daptomycin
dd	Double-distilled
DiOC2(3)	3,3'-diethyloxacarbocyanin iodide
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
e.g.	exempli gratia
ESBL	Extended-spectrum β-lactamases
FBS	Foetal bovine serum
FCS	Foetal calf serum
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FS	Frameshift
GBS	Group B Streptococcus
HGT	Horizontal gene transfer
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
Hyg	Hygromycin
iChip	Isolation chip
IC ₅₀	Half maximal inhibitory concentration
ka	Association rate

KAN	Kanamycin
kb	Kilobase pair
k _d	Dissociation rate
K _D	Dissociation constant
kDa	Kilodalton
KP∆ramR	K. pneumoniae DSM-30104 ramR knockout mutant
LB	Luria-Bertani broth
LC-MS	Liquid chromatography mass spectrometry
LPG	Lysyl-phosphatidylglycerol
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LTA	Lipoteichoic acid
MALDI-TOF	Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization-time of flight
Mar	Multiple antibiotic resistance
MATE	Multidrug and toxic compound extrusion
MBC	Minimum bactericidal concentration
MIC	Minimal inhibitory concentrations
MDR	Multidrug-resistant
MFS	Major facilitator superfamily
MFP	Membrane fusion protein
MHB	Müller Hinton Broth
MMS	Macromolecule synthesis
MOI	Multiplicity of infection
MS	Mass spectrometry
MTT	Thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide
MP	Membrane potential
MRSA	Methicillin-resistant Staphyloccocus aureus
Mt	Mutant
MQ	Milli-Q-water
MW	Molecular weight
M7H9	Middlebrook 7H9 medium
NAO	Acridine orange 10-nonyl bromide
NCE	New chemical entities
n.d.	Not determined
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
NP	Natural product
NPN	1-N-phenylnaphtylamine
OD ₆₀₀	Optical density at 600 nm
OM	Outer membrane
Omp	Outer membrane porin
OTC	Oxytetracycline
ΡΑβΝ	Phenylalanine arginine β -naphthylamide dihydrochloride
PBP	Penicillin-binding proteins
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PC	Phosphatidylcholine
-	r
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
------------------	--
PE	Phosphatidylethanolamine
PG	Phosphatidylglycerol
PI	Propidium iodide
PMB	Polymyxin B
PMBN	Polymyxin B nonapeptide
qPCR	Real-time polymerase chain reaction
R&D	Research and development
R _{max}	Theoretical maximal resonance units
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RIF	Rifampicin
RIF ^R	Rifampicin-resistant
RND	Resistance-nodulation-division
ROESY	Rotating-frame Overhauser SpectroscoPY
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium
rRNA	Ribosomal ribonucleic acid
RU	Resonance units
SAR	Structure-activity relationship
SD	Standard deviation
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SDH	Succinate reductase
SNP	Single-nucleotide polymorphism
SPR	Surface Plasmon resonance
TCs	Tetracyclines
TET	Tetracycline
TEMED	Tetramethyl ethylenediamine
TLC	Thin-layer chromatography
TMRM	Tetramethyl rhodamine methyl ester
TSB	Tryptic Soy Broth
TM	Telomycin
TM-Dodec	Acylated telomycin derivative (dodecanoic acid added)
TM-N-Oct	Acylated telomycin derivative (ethylamine octanoic acid added)
UPEC	Uropathogenic Escherichia coli
UTI	Urinary tract infection
VISA	Vancomycin intermediate Staphyloccocus aureus
VRE	Vancomycin-resistant Enterococci
vs.	Versus
v/v	Volume-to-volume
w/v	Weight-in-volume
WHO	World Health Organization
Wt	Wildtype

6.2 DANKSAGUNG

Mein besonderer Dank gilt Prof. Dr. Rolf Müller für die Aufnahme in die Arbeitsgruppe, die Überlassung der interessanten und spannenden Themen sowie die gute Zusammenarbeit und Betreuung.

Bei Prof. Dr. Thorsten Lehr möchte ich mich ganz herzlich für die Übernahme des Zweitgutachtes und die Begleitung während meiner Doktorandenzeit bedanken.

Ein großes Dankeschön gilt Dr. Jennifer Herrmann für die hervorragende Betreuung sowie die stetige Diskussionsbereitschaft und eine gute Zusammenarbeit.

Bei Dr. Nestor Zaburannyi bedanke ich mich für seine Mithilfe bei *in silico* Analysen sowie hilfreichen Diskussionen. Dr. Chengzhang Fu danke ich für die Mitarbeit am Telomycin-Projekt, sowie Dr. Tadeja Lukežič und Chantal Bader für die Mitwirkung am Chelocardin-Projekt. Ein besonderer Dank gilt Dr. Antoine Abou Fayad für zahlreiche Synthesen, NMR Studien und sein immer offenes Ohr. Zudem gilt mein Dank der gesamten Arbeitsgruppe insbesondere Viktoria Schmitt, Dr. Angela Kling und Katarina Cirnski, sowie allen alten und neuen Mitbewohners des kleinsten Büros der Welt.

Mein Dank gilt zudem allen Kooperationspartnern, für die gute Zusammenarbeit. Insbesondere danke ich Dr. Armin Bauer, Dr. Maria Loose, Dr. Hans Prochnow, Prof. Dr. Markus Bischoff, Prof. Dr. Lothar Jänsch, Dr. Jan Pippel. Prof. Dr. Tanja Schneider und Dr. Anna Müller für die Mitwirkung am Telomycin-Projekt. Bei allen Beteiligten der Arbeitsgruppe CBIO unter Leitung von Prof. Dr. Mark Brönstrup, sowie bei Dr. Rolf Jansen, Prof. Dr. med. Florian Wagenlehner, Dr. Maria Loose, Dr. Pep Charusanti, Prof. Dr. Daniel Wilson und Fabian Nguyen bedanke ich mich für die Mitarbeit und Unterstützung beim Chelocardin-Projekt.

Nicht zuletzt möchte ich mich bei meiner Familie und Freunden für die stetige Unterstützung und den Halt bedanken. Mein größter Dank gilt meinen Eltern, meiner Schwester und Sven.

7 **REFERENCES**

- [1] G. Dantas and M. Sommer, "How to Fight Back Against Antibiotic Resistance," *American Scientist*, vol. 102, 1, p. 42, 2014.
- [2] D. Lyddiard, G. L. Jones, and B. W. Greatrex, "Keeping it simple: Lessons from the golden era of antibiotic discovery," *FEMS microbiology letters*, vol. 363, 8, 2016.
- [3] C. H. Rammelkamp and T. Maxon, "Resistance of Staphylococcus aureus to the Action of Penicillin.," *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, vol. 51, 3, pp. 386–389, 1942.
- [4] E. P. Abraham and E. Chain, "An enzyme from bacteria able to destroy penicillin. 1940," *Reviews of infectious diseases*, vol. 10, 4, pp. 677–678, 1988.
- [5] The review on antimicrobial resistance, "Tackling drug-resistant infections globally: final report and recommendations," chaired by Jim O'Neill, 2016.
- [6] Alexander Fleming, Penicillin: Nobel Lecture, 11.12.1945.
- [7] L. Pray, "Antibiotic resistance, mutation rates and MRSA," *Nature Education*, vol. 1, 1, 2008.
- [8] C. L. Ventola, "The Antibiotic Resistance Crisis: Part 1: Causes and Threats," *Pharmacy and Therapeutics*, vol. 40, 4, pp. 277–283, 2015.
- [9] M. N. Alekshun and S. B. Levy, "Molecular Mechanisms of Antibacterial Multidrug Resistance," *Cell*, vol. 128, 6, pp. 1037–1050, 2007.
- [10] L. B. Rice, "Federal funding for the study of antimicrobial resistance in nosocomial pathogens: No ESKAPE," *The Journal of infectious diseases*, vol. 197, 8, pp. 1079– 1081, 2008.
- [11] H. W. Boucher, G. H. Talbot, J. S. Bradley, J. E. Edwards, D. Gilbert, L. B. Rice, M. Scheld, B. Spellberg, and J. Bartlett, "Bad bugs, no drugs: No ESKAPE! An update from the Infectious Diseases Society of America," *Clinical Infectious Diseases: An Official Publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America*, vol. 48, 1, pp. 1–12, 2009.
- [12] J. N. Pendleton, S. P. Gorman, and B. F. Gilmore, "Clinical relevance of the ESKAPE pathogens," *Expert review of anti-infective therapy*, vol. 11, 3, pp. 297–308, 2013.
- [13] H. A. Khan, A. Ahmad, and R. Mehboob, "Nosocomial infections and their control strategies," Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine, vol. 5, 7, pp. 509–514, 2015.

- [14] A. Revelas, "Healthcare associated infections: A public health problem," Nigerian Medical Journal: Journal of the Nigeria Medical Association, vol. 53, 2, pp. 59–64, 2012.
- [15] H. Nikaido, "Multidrug Resistance in Bacteria," *Annual review of biochemistry*, vol. 78, pp. 119–146, 2009.
- [16] M. S. Smolinski, M. A. Hamburg, and J. Lederberg, eds., *Microbial threats to health: emergence, detection, and response*, National Academies Press (US), 2003.
- [17] P. C. Appelbaum, "2012 and beyond: potential for the start of a second pre-antibiotic era?," 67, pp. 2062–2086, 2012.
- [18] R. M. Echols, G. S. Tillotson, and File T. M. Jr, "Antibiotic development déjà vu: Are we facing the pre-antibiotic era again?," *Infectious Diseases in Clinical Practice*, vol. 15, 2, pp. 75–78, 2007.
- [19] J.-J. Koh, S. Lin, R. W. Beuerman, and S. Liu, "Recent advances in synthetic lipopeptides as anti-microbial agents: Designs and synthetic approaches," *Amino Acids*, vol. 49, 10, pp. 1653–1677, 2017.
- [20] T. F. Schäberle and I. M. Hack, "Overcoming the current deadlock in antibiotic research," *Trends in Microbiology*, vol. 22, 4, pp. 165–167, 2014.
- [21] R. E. W. Hancock, "The end of an era?," *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, vol. 6, 1, p. 28, 2006.
- [22] A. Davin-Regli, J.-M. Bolla, C. E. James, J.-P. Lavigne, J. Chevalier, E. Garnotel, A. Molitor, and J.-M. Pages, "Membrane permeability and regulation of drug "influx and efflux" in enterobacterial pathogens," *Current drug targets*, vol. 9, 9, pp. 750–759, 2008.
- [23] J.-M. Pages, C. E. James, and M. Winterhalter, "The porin and the permeating antibiotic: A selective diffusion barrier in Gram-negative bacteria," *Nature reviews*. *Microbiology*, vol. 6, 12, pp. 893–903, 2008.
- [24] T. M. Barbosa and S. B. Levy, "The impact of antibiotic use on resistance development and persistence," *Drug resistance updates: reviews and commentaries in antimicrobial and anticancer chemotherapy*, vol. 3, 5, pp. 303–311, 2000.
- [25] B. P. Simmons and E. L. Larson, "Multiple drug resistant organisms in healthcare: The failure of contact precautions," *Journal of Infection Prevention*, vol. 16, 4, pp. 178–181, 2015.

- [26] J. S. Molton, P. A. Tambyah, B. S. P. Ang, M. L. Ling, and D. A. Fisher, "The Global Spread of Healthcare-Associated Multidrug-Resistant Bacteria: A Perspective From Asia," *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, vol. 56, 9, pp. 1310–1318, 2013.
- [27] D. J. Morgan, E. Rogawski, K. A. Thom, J. K. Johnson, E. N. Perencevich, M. Shardell, S. Leekha, and A. D. Harris, "Transfer of multidrug-resistant bacteria to healthcare workers' gloves and gowns after patient contact increases with environmental contamination," *Critical care medicine*, vol. 40, 4, pp. 1045–1051, 2012.
- [28] "The antibiotic alarm," Nature, vol. 495, 7440, p. 141, 2013.
- [29] A. F. Read and R. J. Woods, "Antibiotic resistance management," *Evolution, medicine, and public health*, vol. 2014, 1, p. 147, 2014.
- [30] C.-E. Luyt, N. Bréchot, J.-L. Trouillet, and J. Chastre, "Antibiotic stewardship in the intensive care unit," *Critical Care*, vol. 18, 5, p. 480, 2014.
- [31] J. E. McGowan, JR, "Antimicrobial resistance in hospital organisms and its relation to antibiotic use," *Reviews of infectious diseases*, vol. 5, 6, pp. 1033–1048, 1983.
- [32] The review on antimicrobial resistance, "Antimicrobials in agriculture and the environment: Reducing unnecessary use and waste," chaired by Jim O'Neill, 2015.
- [33] A. Giedraitiene, A. Vitkauskiene, R. Naginiene, and A. Pavilonis, "Antibiotic resistance mechanisms of clinically important bacteria," *Medicina (Kaunas, Lithuania)*, vol. 47, 3, pp. 137–146, 2011.
- [34] G. Zhang and J. Feng, "The intrinsic resistance of bacteria," *Yi chuan = Hereditas*, vol. 38, 10, pp. 872–880, 2016.
- [35] P. Courvalin, "Transfer of antibiotic resistance genes between gram-positive and gramnegative bacteria," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 38, 7, pp. 1447–1451, 1994.
- [36] C. Mabilat and P. Courvalin, "Gene heterogeneity for resistance to macrolides, lincosamides and streptogramins in Enterobacteriaceae," *Annales de l'Institut Pasteur / Microbiologie*, vol. 139, 6, pp. 677–681, 1988.
- [37] K. Bush and G. A. Jacoby, "Updated Functional Classification of β-Lactamases[¬]," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 54, 3, pp. 969–976, 2010.
- [38] H. Öztürk, E. Ozkirimli, and A. Özgür, "Classification of Beta-Lactamases and Penicillin Binding Proteins Using Ligand-Centric Network Models," *PLOS ONE*, vol. 10, 2, e0117874, 2015.

- [39] M. S. Ramirez and M. E. Tolmasky, "Aminoglycoside modifying enzymes," Drug resistance updates : reviews and commentaries in antimicrobial and anticancer chemotherapy, vol. 13, 6, pp. 151–171, 2010.
- [40] S. Džidič, J. Šušković, and B. Kos, "Antibiotic resistance mechanisms in bacteria: biochemical and genetic aspects," *Food Technology and Biotechnology*, vol. 46, 1, pp. 11–21, 2008.
- [41] B. G. Spratt, "Resistance to antibiotics mediated by target alterations," *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 264, 5157, pp. 388–393, 1994.
- [42] J. Fishovitz, J. A. Hermoso, M. Chang, and S. Mobashery, "Penicillin-Binding Protein 2a of Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus," *IUBMB Life*, vol. 66, 8, pp. 572– 577, 2014.
- [43] P. D. Stapleton and P. W. Taylor, "Methicillin resistance in Staphylococcus aureus: Mechanisms and modulation," *Science progress*, vol. 85, Pt 1, pp. 57–72, 2002.
- [44] M. G. Pinho, S. R. Filipe, H. de Lencastre, and A. Tomasz, "Complementation of the essential peptidoglycan transpeptidase function of penicillin-binding protein 2 (PBP2) by the drug resistance protein PBP2A in Staphylococcus aureus," *Journal of bacteriology*, vol. 183, 22, pp. 6525–6531, 2001.
- [45] T. A. Łęski and A. Tomasz, "Role of Penicillin-Binding Protein 2 (PBP2) in the Antibiotic Susceptibility and Cell Wall Cross-Linking of Staphylococcus aureus: Evidence for the Cooperative Functioning of PBP2, PBP4, and PBP2A," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 187, 5, pp. 1815–1824, 2005.
- [46] K. Poole, "Efflux pumps as antimicrobial resistance mechanisms," *Annals of Medicine*, vol. 39, 3, pp. 162–176, 2007.
- [47] M. A. Webber and L. J. V. Piddock, "The importance of efflux pumps in bacterial antibiotic resistance," *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, vol. 51, 1, pp. 9–11, 2003.
- [48] I. Chopra and M. Roberts, "Tetracycline Antibiotics: Mode of Action, Applications, Molecular Biology, and Epidemiology of Bacterial Resistance," *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 2001.
- [49] M. L. Nelson and S. B. Levy, "The history of the tetracyclines," Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, vol. 1241, pp. 17–32, 2011.
- [50] H. Nikaido and J.-M. Pagès, "Broad Specificity Efflux pumps and Their Role in Multidrug Resistance of Gram Negative Bacteria," *FEMS microbiology reviews*, vol. 36, 2, pp. 340–363, 2012.

- [51] M. Masi, M. Réfregiers, K. M. Pos, and J.-M. Pagès, "Mechanisms of envelope permeability and antibiotic influx and efflux in Gram-negative bacteria," *Nature Microbiology*, vol. 2, 3, p. 17001, 2017.
- [52] L. Brown, J. M. Wolf, R. Prados-Rosales, and A. Casadevall, "Through the wall: extracellular vesicles in Gram-positive bacteria, mycobacteria and fungi," *Nature reviews. Microbiology*, vol. 13, 10, pp. 620–630, 2015.
- [53] T. J. Silhavy, D. Kahne, and S. Walker, "The bacterial cell envelope," *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, vol. 2, 5, 2010.
- [54] H. Nikaido, "Molecular Basis of Bacterial Outer Membrane Permeability Revisited," *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, vol. 67, 4, pp. 593–656, 2003.
- [55] S. P. Denyer and J.-Y. Maillard, "Cellular impermeability and uptake of biocides and antibiotics in Gram-negative bacteria," *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, vol. 92, s1, 35S-45S, 2002.
- [56] A. H. Delcour, "Outer Membrane Permeability and Antibiotic Resistance," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1794, 5, pp. 808–816, 2009.
- [57] G. Koch, A. Yepes, K. U. Forstner, C. Wermser, S. T. Stengel, J. Modamio, K. Ohlsen, K. R. Foster, and D. Lopez, "Evolution of resistance to a last-resort antibiotic in Staphylococcus aureus via bacterial competition," *Cell*, vol. 158, 5, pp. 1060–1071, 2014.
- [58] B. P. Howden, J. K. Davies, P. D. R. Johnson, T. P. Stinear, and M. L. Grayson, "Reduced vancomycin susceptibility in Staphylococcus aureus, including vancomycinintermediate and heterogeneous vancomycin-intermediate strains: Resistance mechanisms, laboratory detection, and clinical implications," *Clinical microbiology reviews*, vol. 23, 1, pp. 99–139, 2010.
- [59] R. J. Fair and Y. Tor, "Antibiotics and Bacterial Resistance in the 21st Century," *Perspectives in Medicinal Chemistry*, vol. 6, pp. 25–64, 2014.
- [60] R. Leclercq, E. Derlot, J. Duval, and P. Courvalin, "Plasmid-mediated resistance to vancomycin and teicoplanin in Enterococcus faecium," *The New England journal of medicine*, vol. 319, 3, pp. 157–161, 1988.
- [61] S. Chang, D. M. Sievert, J. C. Hageman, M. L. Boulton, F. C. Tenover, F. P. Downes, S. Shah, J. T. Rudrik, G. R. Pupp, W. J. Brown, D. Cardo, and S. K. Fridkin, "Infection with Vancomycin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus Containing the vanA Resistance Gene," *New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 348, 14, pp. 1342–1347, 2003.

- [62] A. H. Uttley, C. H. Collins, J. Naidoo, and R. C. George, "Vancomycin-resistant enterococci," *Lancet (London, England)*, vol. 1, 8575-6, pp. 57–58, 1988.
- [63] N. Bionda, J.-P. Pitteloud, and P. Cudic, "Cyclic lipodepsipeptides: A new class of antibacterial agents in the battle against resistant bacteria," *Future medicinal chemistry*, vol. 5, 11, pp. 1311–1330, 2013.
- [64] A. Y. Peleg, S. Miyakis, D. V. Ward, A. M. Earl, A. Rubio, D. R. Cameron, S. Pillai, R. C. Moellering, JR, and G. M. Eliopoulos, "Whole genome characterization of the mechanisms of daptomycin resistance in clinical and laboratory derived isolates of Staphylococcus aureus," *PloS one*, vol. 7, 1, e28316, 2012.
- [65] C. A. Arias, D. Panesso, D. M. McGrath, X. Qin, M. F. Mojica, C. Miller, L. Diaz, T. T. Tran, S. Rincon, E. M. Barbu, J. Reyes, J. H. Roh, E. Lobos, E. Sodergren, R. Pasqualini, W. Arap, J. P. Quinn, Y. Shamoo, B. E. Murray, and G. M. Weinstock, "Genetic Basis for In Vivo Daptomycin Resistance in Enterococci," *New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 365, 10, pp. 892–900, 2011.
- [66] L. Poirel, A. Jayol, and P. Nordmann, "Polymyxins: Antibacterial Activity, Susceptibility Testing, and Resistance Mechanisms Encoded by Plasmids or Chromosomes," *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, vol. 30, 2, pp. 557–596, 2017.
- [67] Y.-Y. Liu, Y. Wang, T. R. Walsh, L.-X. Yi, R. Zhang, J. Spencer, Y. Doi, G. Tian, B. Dong, X. Huang, L.-F. Yu, D. Gu, H. Ren, X. Chen, L. Lv, D. He, H. Zhou, Z. Liang, J.-H. Liu, and J. Shen, "Emergence of plasmid-mediated colistin resistance mechanism MCR-1 in animals and human beings in China: A microbiological and molecular biological study," *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, vol. 16, 2, pp. 161–168, 2016.
- [68] C. R. MacNair, J. M. Stokes, L. A. Carfrae, A. A. Fiebig-Comyn, B. K. Coombes, M. R. Mulvey, and E. D. Brown, "Overcoming mcr-1 mediated colistin resistance with colistin in combination with other antibiotics," *Nature communications*, vol. 9, 1, p. 458.
- [69] World Health Organization, "Global priority list of antibiotic-resistant bacteria to guide research, discovery, and development of new antibiotics," pp. 1–7, 2017.
- [70] F. E. Koehn and G. T. Carter, "The evolving role of natural products in drug discovery," *Nature reviews. Drug discovery*, vol. 4, 3, pp. 206–220, 2005.
- [71] D. D. Baker, M. Chu, U. Oza, and V. Rajgarhia, "The value of natural products to future pharmaceutical discovery," *Natural product reports*, vol. 24, 6, pp. 1225–1244, 2007.
- [72] D. J. Newman and G. M. Cragg, "Natural Products as Sources of New Drugs from 1981 to 2014," *Journal of natural products*, vol. 79, 3, pp. 629–661, 2016.

- [73] G. M. Cragg, P. G. Grothaus, and D. J. Newman, "Impact of natural products on developing new anti-cancer agents," *Chemical reviews*, vol. 109, 7, pp. 3012–3043, 2009.
- [74] B. B. Mishra and V. K. Tiwari, "Natural products: an evolving role in future drug discovery," *European journal of medicinal chemistry*, vol. 46, 10, pp. 4769–4807, 2011.
- [75] J. O. Falkinham, T. E. Wall, J. R. Tanner, K. Tawaha, F. Q. Alali, C. Li, and N. H. Oberlies, "Proliferation of Antibiotic-Producing Bacteria and Concomitant Antibiotic Production as the Basis for the Antibiotic Activity of Jordan's Red Soils[¬]," *Applied and environmental microbiology*, vol. 75, 9, pp. 2735–2741, 2009.
- [76] K. F. Chater, "Streptomyces inside-out: A new perspective on the bacteria that provide us with antibiotics," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, vol. 361, 1469, pp. 761–768, 2006.
- [77] R. E. d. L. Procopio, I. R. d. Silva, M. K. Martins, J. L. d. Azevedo, and J. M. d. Araujo, "Antibiotics produced by Streptomyces," *The Brazilian journal of infectious diseases : an official publication of the Brazilian Society of Infectious Diseases*, vol. 16, 5, pp. 466–471, 2012.
- [78] M. G. Watve, R. Tickoo, M. M. Jog, and B. D. Bhole, "How many antibiotics are produced by the genus Streptomyces?," *Archives of microbiology*, vol. 176, 5, pp. 386– 390, 2001.
- [79] J. Berdy, "Bioactive microbial metabolites," *The Journal of antibiotics*, vol. 58, 1, pp. 1–26, 2005.
- [80] A. Schatz, E. Bugie, and S. A. Waksman, "Streptomycin, a substance exhibiting antibiotic activity against gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria. 1944," *Clinical orthopaedics and related research*, 437, pp. 3–6, 2005.
- [81] A. Zumla, P. Nahid, and S. T. Cole, "Advances in the development of new tuberculosis drugs and treatment regimens," *Nature reviews. Drug discovery*, vol. 12, 5, pp. 388– 404, 2013.
- [82] V. Miao, M.-F. Coeffet-Legal, P. Brian, R. Brost, J. Penn, A. Whiting, S. Martin, R. Ford, I. Parr, M. Bouchard, C. J. Silva, S. K. Wrigley, and R. H. Baltz, "Daptomycin biosynthesis in Streptomyces roseosporus: Cloning and analysis of the gene cluster and revision of peptide stereochemistry," *Microbiology (Reading, England)*, vol. 151, Pt 5, pp. 1507–1523, 2005.

- [83] D. P. Levine, "Vancomycin: A history," *Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America*, vol. 42, 5-12, 2006.
- [84] R. H. Baltz, "Antimicrobials from Actinomycetes: Back to the Future," *Microbe*, vol. 2, 3, pp. 125–131, 2007.
- [85] R. H. Baltz, "Marcel Faber Roundtable: Is our antibiotic pipeline unproductive because of starvation, constipation or lack of inspiration?," *Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 33, 7, pp. 507–513, 2006.
- [86] D. J. Payne, M. N. Gwynn, D. J. Holmes, and D. L. Pompliano, "Drugs for bad bugs: Confronting the challenges of antibacterial discovery," *Nature reviews. Drug discovery*, vol. 6, 1, pp. 29–40, 2007.
- [87] K. C. Nicolaou, "Organic synthesis: The art and science of replicating the molecules of living nature and creating others like them in the laboratory," *Proceedings. Mathematical, Physical, and Engineering Sciences / The Royal Society*, vol. 470, 2163, 2014.
- [88] P. M. Wright, I. B. Seiple, and A. G. Myers, "The Evolving Role of Chemical Synthesis in Antibacterial Drug Discovery," *Angewandte Chemie (International ed. in English)*, vol. 53, 34, pp. 8840–8869, 2014.
- [89] K. Tiwari and R. K. Gupta, "Rare actinomycetes: A potential storehouse for novel antibiotics," *Critical reviews in biotechnology*, vol. 32, 2, pp. 108–132, 2012.
- [90] K. Tiwari and R. K. Gupta, "Diversity and isolation of rare actinomycetes: An overview," *Critical reviews in microbiology*, vol. 39, 3, pp. 256–294, 2013.
- [91] D. Sipkema, M. C. R. Franssen, R. Osinga, J. Tramper, and R. H. Wijffels, "Marine Sponges as Pharmacy," *Marine Biotechnology*, vol. 7, 3, pp. 142–162, 2005.
- [92] S. C. Wenzel and R. Müller, "Myxobacteria-'microbial factories' for the production of bioactive secondary metabolites," *Molecular bioSystems*, vol. 5, 6, pp. 567–574, 2009.
- [93] C. C. Hughes and W. Fenical, "Antibacterials from the sea," Chemistry (Weinheim an der Bergstrasse, Germany), vol. 16, 42, pp. 12512–12525, 2010.
- [94] A. L. Harvey, "Natural products in drug discovery," *Drug discovery today*, vol. 13, 19-20, pp. 894–901, 2008.
- [95] D. J. Newman and G. M. Cragg, "Natural products as sources of new drugs over the last 25 years," *Journal of natural products*, vol. 70, 3, pp. 461–477, 2007.
- [96] M. C. Wilson, T. Mori, C. Ruckert, A. R. Uria, M. J. Helf, K. Takada, C. Gernert, U. A. E. Steffens, N. Heycke, S. Schmitt, C. Rinke, E. J. N. Helfrich, A. O. Brachmann, C. Gurgui, T. Wakimoto, M. Kracht, M. Crusemann, U. Hentschel, I. Abe, S.

Matsunaga, J. Kalinowski, H. Takeyama, and J. Piel, "An environmental bacterial taxon with a large and distinct metabolic repertoire," *Nature*, vol. 506, 7486, pp. 58–62, 2014.

- [97] K. Lewis, "Platforms for antibiotic discovery," *Nature reviews. Drug discovery*, vol. 12, 5, pp. 371–387, 2013.
- [98] T. Hoffmann, D. Krug, N. Bozkurt, S. Duddela, R. Jansen, R. Garcia, K. Gerth, H. Steinmetz, and R. Müller, "Correlating chemical diversity with taxonomic distance for discovery of natural products in myxobacteria," *Nature communications*, vol. 9, 803, pp. 1–10, 2018.
- [99] R. Müller and J. Wink, "Future potential for anti-infectives from bacteria How to exploit biodiversity and genomic potential," *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*, vol. 304, 1, pp. 3–13, 2014.
- [100] D. Nichols, N. Cahoon, E. M. Trakhtenberg, L. Pham, A. Mehta, A. Belanger, T. Kanigan, K. Lewis, and S. S. Epstein, "Use of Ichip for High-Throughput In Situ Cultivation of "Uncultivable" Microbial Species *¬*," *Applied and environmental microbiology*, vol. 76, 8, pp. 2445–2450, 2010.
- [101] A. Kling, P. Lukat, D. V. Almeida, A. Bauer, E. Fontaine, S. Sordello, N. Zaburannyi, J. Herrmann, S. C. Wenzel, C. Konig, N. C. Ammerman, M. B. Barrio, K. Borchers, F. Bordon-Pallier, M. Bronstrup, G. Courtemanche, M. Gerlitz, M. Geslin, P. Hammann, D. W. Heinz, H. Hoffmann, S. Klieber, M. Kohlmann, M. Kurz, C. Lair, H. Matter, E. Nuermberger, S. Tyagi, L. Fraisse, J. H. Grosset, S. Lagrange, and R. Muller, "Antibiotics. Targeting DnaN for tuberculosis therapy using novel griselimycins," *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 348, 6239, pp. 1106–1112, 2015.
- [102] V. Fedorenko, O. Genilloud, L. Horbal, G. L. Marcone, F. Marinelli, Y. Paitan, and E. Z. Ron, "Antibacterial Discovery and Development: From Gene to Product and Back," *BioMed Research International*, vol. 2015, pp. 1–16, 2015.
- [103] J. Conner, D. Wuchterl, M. Lopez, B. Minshall, R. Prusti, D. Boclair, J. Peterson, and C. Allen, "The Biomanufacturing of Biotechnology Products," in *Biotechnology entrepreneurship: Starting, managing, and leading biotech companies / edited by Craig Shimasaki*, C. D. Shimasaki, Ed., pp. 351–385, Academic Press, Amsterdam, 2014.
- [104] T. Velkov, A. Gallardo-Godoy, J. D. Swarbrick, M. A.T. Blaskovich, A. G. Elliott, M. Han, P. E. Thompson, K. D. Roberts, J. X. Huang, B. Becker, M. S. Butler, L. H. Lash, S. T. Henriques, R. L. Nation, S. Sivanesan, M.-A. Sani, F. Separovic, H. Mertens, D. Bulach, T. Seemann, J. Owen, J. Li, and M. A. Cooper, "Structure, Function, and Biosynthetic Origin of Octapeptin Antibiotics Active against Extensively

Drug-Resistant Gram-Negative Bacteria," *Cell Chemical Biology*, vol. 4, 25, pp. 380–391, 2018.

- [105] J. B. Laudano, "Ceftaroline fosamil: A new broad-spectrum cephalosporin," *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, vol. 66, Suppl 3, iii11-iii18, 2011.
- [106] H. A. Kirst, "Developing new antibacterials through natural product research," *Expert opinion on drug discovery*, vol. 8, 5, pp. 479–493, 2013.
- [107] T. J. Oliver, "Patent US3155582 Antibiotic M-319," 1964.
- [108] R. Proctor, W. Craig, and C. Kunin, "Cetocycline, Tetracycline Analog: In Vitro Studies of Antimicrobial Activity, Serum Binding, Lipid Solubility, and Uptake by Bacteria," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 13, 4, pp. 598–604, 1978.
- [109] M. Thaker, P. Spanogiannopoulos, and G. D. Wright, "The tetracycline resistome," *Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS*, vol. 67, 3, pp. 419–431, 2010.
- [110] C. M. Roberts, "Tetracycline Therapy: Update," Antimicrobial Resistance, 36, pp. 462–467, 2003.
- [111] M. O. Griffin, E. Fricovsky, G. Ceballos, and F. Villarreal, "Tetracyclines: a pleitropic family of compounds with promising therapeutic properties. Review of the literature," *American journal of physiology. Cell physiology*, vol. 299, 3, pp. 539–548, 2010.
- [112] F. Nguyen, A. L. Starosta, S. Arenz, D. Sohmen, A. Dönhöfer, and D. N. Wilson, "Tetracycline antibiotics and resistance mechanisms," *Biological chemistry*, vol. 395, 5, pp. 559–575, 2014.
- [113] B. M. Duggar, "Aureomycin; a product of the continuing search for new antibiotics," *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, vol. 51, Art. 2, pp. 177–181, 1948.
- [114] J. R. D. McCormick, U. Hirsch, N. O. Sjolander, and A. P. Doerschuk, "Cosynthesis of tetracyclines by pairs of streptomyces aureofaciens mutants," *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, vol. 82, 18, pp. 5006–5007, 1960.
- [115] D. Perlman, L. J. Heuser, J. D. Dutcher, J. M. Barrett, and J. A. Boska, "Biosynthesis of tetracycline by 5-hydroxytetracycline-producing cultures of streptomyces rimosus," *Journal of bacteriology*, vol. 80, 3, pp. 419–420, 1960.
- [116] Backus E. J., B. M. Duggar, and T. H. Campbell, "Variation in Streptomyces aureofaciens," *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, vol. 60, 1, pp. 86–101, 1954.

- [117] L. H. Conover, W. T. Moreland, A. R. English, C. R. Stephens, and F. J. Pilgrim, "Terramycin. XI. Tetracycline," *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, vol. 75, 18, pp. 4622–4623, 1953.
- [118] N. Garrido-Mesa, A. Zarzuelo, and J. Gálvez, "Minocycline: Far beyond an antibiotic," *British journal of pharmacology*, vol. 169, 2, pp. 337–352, 2013.
- [119] T. C. Barden, B. L. Buckwalter, R. T. Testa, P. J. Petersen, and V. J. Lee, "Glycylcyclines". 3. 9-Aminodoxycyclinecarboxamides," *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, vol. 37, 20, pp. 3205–3211, 1994.
- [120] I. Chopra, "Glycylcyclines: Third-generation tetracycline antibiotics," *Current opinion in pharmacology*, vol. 1, 5, pp. 464–469, 2001.
- [121] P. J. Petersen, N. V. Jacobus, W. J. Weiss, and R. T. Testa, "In vitro and in vivo antibacterial activities af a novel glycylcycline, the 9-t-butylglycylamido derivative of minocycline (GAR-936)," *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, vol. 43, 4, pp. 738–744, 1999.
- [122] P.-E. Sum and P. Petersen, "Synthesis and structure-activity relationship of novel glycylcycline derivatives leading to the discovery of GAR-936," *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, vol. 9, 10, pp. 1459–1462, 1999.
- [123] N. D. Greer, "Tigecycline (Tygacil): The first in the glycylcycline class of antibiotics," *Proceedings (Baylor University. Medical Center)*, vol. 19, 2, pp. 155–161, 2006.
- [124] G. G. Zhanel, K. Homenuik, K. Nichol, A. Noreddin, L. Vercaigne, J. Embil, A. Gin, J. A. Karlowsky, and D. J. Hoban, "The glycylcyclines: A comparative review with the tetracyclines," *Drugs*, vol. 64, 1, pp. 63–88, 2004.
- [125] M. W. Garrison, J. J. Neumiller, and S. M. Setter, "Tigecycline: An investigational glycylcycline antimicrobial with activity against resistant gram-positive organisms," *Clinical therapeutics*, vol. 27, 1, pp. 12–22, 2005.
- [126] A. C. Fluit, A. Florijn, J. Verhoef, and D. Milatovic, "Presence of Tetracycline Resistance Determinants and Susceptibility to Tigecycline and Minocycline," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 49, 4, pp. 1636–1638, 2005.
- [127] B. Oliva, G. Gordon, P. McNicholas, G.A. Ellestad, and I. Chopra, "Evidence that Tetracycline Analogs Whose Primary Target Is Not the Bacterial Ribosome Cause Lysis of Escherichia Coli," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 36, 5, pp. 913–919, 1992.

- [128] B. Rasmussen, H. F. Noller, G. Daubresse, B. Oliva, Z. Misulovin, D.M.M. Rothstein, G.A. Ellestad, Y. Gluzman, F. P. Tally, and I. Chopra, "Molecular Basis of Tetracycline Action Identification of Analogs Whose Primary Target Is Not the Bacterial Ribosome," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 35, 11, pp. 2306– 2311, 1991.
- [129] I. Chopra, "Tetracycline analogs whose primary target is not the bacterial ribosome," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 38, 4, pp. 637–640, 1994.
- [130] M. L. Nelson, "Chemical and Biological Dynamics of Tetracyclines," Advances in Dental Research, vol. 12, 1, pp. 5–11, 1998.
- [131] I. Chopra, "Transport of tetracyclines into Escherichia coli requires a carboxamide group at C2 position of the molecule," *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, vol. 6, 18, pp. 661–666, 1986.
- [132] W. Rogalski, "Chemical Modification of the Tetracyclines," in *The Tetracyclines*, J.
 J. Hlavka and J. H. Boothe, Eds., pp. 179–316, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1985.
- [133] L. A. Mitscher, *The chemistry of tetracycline antibiotics*, Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, N.Y., 1978.
- [134] Y. A. Chabbert and M. R. Scavizzi, "Chelocardin-Inducible Resistance in Escherichia coli Bearing R Plasmids," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 9, 1, pp. 36–41, 1976.
- [135] B. Oliva and I. Chopra, "Tet determinants provide poor protection against some tetracyclines: further evidence for division of tetracyclines into two classes," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 36, 4, pp. 876–878, 1992.
- [136] B. Mendez, C. Tachibana, and S. B. Levy, "Heterogeneity of tetracycline resistance determinants," *Plasmid*, vol. 3, 2, pp. 99–108, 1980.
- [137] G. D. Recchia and R. M. Hall, "Gene cassettes: A new class of mobile element," *Microbiology (Reading, England)*, 141 (Pt 12), pp. 3015–3027, 1995.
- [138] V. Molnar, Z. Matkociv, T. Tambic, and C. Kozma, "Kliničko-Farmakološko Ispitivanje Kleokardina U Bolesnika S Infekcijom Mokračnih Putova," *Likekovi i metode*, pp. 560–562, 1977.
- [139] U. Lešnik, T. Lukežič, A. Podgoršek, J. Horvat, T. Polak, M. Šala, B. Jenko, K. Harmrolfs, A. Ocampo-Sosa, L. Martínez-Martínez, P. R. Herron, Š. Fujs, G. Kosec, I. S. Hunter, R. Müller, and H. Petković, "Construction of a New Class of Tetracycline"

Lead Structures with Potent Antibacterial Activity through Biosynthetic Engineering," *Angewandte Chemie (International ed. in English)*, vol. 54, 13, pp. 3937–3940, 2015.

- [140] J. C.-H. Mao and E. E. Robishaw, "Mode of Action of β-Chelocardin," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Nucleic Acids and Protein Synthesis*, vol. 238, 1, pp. 157–160, 1971.
- [141] J. J. Stepanek, T. Lukezic, I. Teichert, H. Petkovic, and J. E. Bandow, "Dual mechanism of action of the atypical tetracycline chelocardin," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1864, 6, pp. 645–654, 2016.
- [142] N. G. Kumar and D. W. Urry, "Conformational analysis of the polypeptide antibiotic telomycin by nuclear magnetic resonance," *Biochemistry*, vol. 12, 22, pp. 4392–4399, 1973.
- [143] N. G. Kumar and D. W. Urry, "Proton magnetic resonance assignments of the polypeptide antibiotic telomycin," *Biochemistry*, vol. 12, 20, pp. 3811–3817, 1973.
- [144] J. C. Sheehan, D. Mania, S. Nakamura, J. A. Stock, and K. Maeda, "The structure of telomycin," *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, vol. 90, 2, pp. 462–470, 1968.
- [145] M. Misiek, O. B. Fardig, A. Gouvrevitch, D. L. Johnson, I. R. Hooper, and J. Lein, "Telomycin, a new antibiotic," *Antibiotics annual*, vol. 5, pp. 852–855, 1957.
- [146] A. Gourevitch, G. A. Hunt, A. J. Moses, V. Zangari, T. Puglisi, and Lein J., "Microbiological studies on telomycin," *Antibiotics annual*, vol. 5, pp. 856–862, 1957.
- [147] D. E. Tisch, Huftalen J. B., and H. L. Dickison, "Pharmacological studies with telomycin," *Antibiotics annual*, vol. 5, pp. 863–868, 1957.
- [148] C. Fu, L. Keller, A. Bauer, M. Bronstrup, A. Froidbise, P. Hammann, J. Herrmann, G. Mondesert, M. Kurz, M. Schiell, D. Schummer, L. Toti, J. Wink, and R. Muller, "Biosynthetic Studies of Telomycin Reveal New Lipopeptides with Enhanced Activity," *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, vol. 137, 24, pp. 7692–7705, 2015.
- [149] K. R. Meena and S. S. Kanwar, "Lipopeptides as the Antifungal and Antibacterial Agents: Applications in Food Safety and Therapeutics," *BioMed Research International*, vol. 2015, pp. 1–9, 2015.
- [150] S. M. Mandal, S. Sharma, A. K. Pinnaka, A. Kumari, and S. Korpole, "Isolation and characterization of diverse antimicrobial lipopeptides produced by Citrobacter and Enterobacter," *BMC microbiology*, vol. 13, 1, pp. 152–161, 2013.

- [151] S. K. Straus and R. E. W. Hancock, "Mode of action of the new antibiotic for Grampositive pathogens daptomycin: comparison with cationic antimicrobial peptides and lipopeptides," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1758, 9, pp. 1215–1223, 2006.
- [152] D. Sharma, S. M. Mandal, and R. K. Manhas, "Purification and characterization of a novel lipopeptide from Streptomyces amritsarensis sp. nov. active against methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus," *AMB Express*, vol. 4, p. 50, 2014.
- [153] S. Patel, S. Ahmed, and J. S. Eswari, "Therapeutic cyclic lipopeptides mining from microbes: Latest strides and hurdles," *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 31, 8, pp. 1177–1193, 2015.
- [154] T. Schneider, A. Müller, H. Miess, and H. Gross, "Cyclic lipopeptides as antibacterial agents - potent antibiotic activity mediated by intriguing mode of actions," *International journal of medical microbiology : IJMM*, vol. 304, 1, pp. 37–43, 2014.
- [155] R. Jerala, "Synthetic lipopeptides: A novel class of anti-infectives," *Expert opinion on investigational drugs*, vol. 16, 8, pp. 1159–1169, 2007.
- [156] B. Heinemann, M. A. Kaplan, R. D. Muir, and I. R. Hooper, "Amphomycin, a new antibiotic," *Antibiotics & chemotherapy (Northfield, Ill.)*, vol. 3, 12, pp. 1239–1242, 1953.
- [157] Z. Yu, W. Qin, J. Lin, S. Fang, and J. Qiu, "Antibacterial Mechanisms of Polymyxin and Bacterial Resistance," *BioMed Research International*, vol. 2015, pp. 1–11, 2015.
- [158] R. H. Baltz, V. Miao, and S. K. Wrigley, "Natural products to drugs: Daptomycin and related lipopeptide antibiotics," *Natural product reports*, vol. 22, 6, pp. 717–741, 2005.
- [159] B. M. Hover, S.-H. Kim, M. Katz, Z. Charlop-Powers, J. G. Owen, M. A. Ternei, J. Maniko, A. B. Estrela, H. Molina, S. Park, D. S. Perlin, and S. F. Brady, "Culture-independent discovery of the malacidins as calcium-dependent antibiotics with activity against multidrug-resistant Gram-positive pathogens," *Nature Microbiology*, vol. 3, pp. 415–422, 2018.
- [160] B. Oliva, W. M. Maiese, M. Greenstein, D. B. Borders, and I. Chopra, "Mode of action of the cyclic depsipeptide antibiotic LL-AO34β1 and partial characterization of a Staphylococcus aureus mutant resistant to the antibiotic," *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, vol. 32, 6, pp. 817–830, 1993.
- [161] C. W. Johnston, M. A. Skinnider, C. A. Dejong, P. N. Rees, G. M. Chen, C. G. Walker, S. French, E. D. Brown, J. Berdy, D. Y. Liu, and N. A. Magarvey, "Assembly

and clustering of natural antibiotics guides target identification," *Nature chemical biology*, vol. 12, 4, pp. 233–239, 2016.

- [162] C. S. López, A. F. Alice, H. Heras, E. A. Rivas, and C. Sánchez-Rivas, "Role of anionic phospholipids in the adaptation of Bacillus subtilis to high salinity," *Microbiology*, vol. 152, 3, pp. 605–616, 2006.
- [163] T.-W. Huang, I. Lam, H.-Y. Chang, S.-F. Tsai, B. O. Palsson, and P. Charusanti, "Capsule deletion via a lambda-Red knockout system perturbs biofilm formation and fimbriae expression in Klebsiella pneumoniae MGH 78578," *BMC research notes*, vol. 7, pp. 13–21, 2014.
- [164] J. M. Andrews, "Determination of minimum inhibitory concentrations," *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, vol. 48, pp. 5–16, 2001.
- [165] L. Collins and S. G. Franzblau, "Microplate alamar blue assay versus BACTEC 460 system for high-throughput screening of compounds against Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Mycobacterium avium," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 41, 5, pp. 1004–1009, 1997.
- [166] G. L. Abrahams, A. Kumar, S. Savvi, A. W. Hung, S. Wen, C. Abell, C. E. 3. Barry, D. R. Sherman, H. I. M. Boshoff, and V. Mizrahi, "Pathway-selective sensitization of Mycobacterium tuberculosis for target-based whole-cell screening," *Chemistry & biology*, vol. 19, 7, pp. 844–854, 2012.
- [167] V. Singh, M. Brecik, R. Mukherjee, J. C. Evans, Z. Svetlikova, J. Blasko, S. Surade, J. Blackburn, D. F. Warner, K. Mikusova, and V. Mizrahi, "The complex mechanism of antimycobacterial action of 5-fluorouracil," *Chemistry & biology*, vol. 22, 1, pp. 63– 75, 2015.
- [168] DIN Standards Committee Medicine, "DIN EN ISO 20776-1 CEN/TC 140 MIC,".
- [169] J. Masschelein, C. Clauwers, K. Stalmans, K. Nuyts, W. de Borggraeve, Y. Briers,
 A. Aertsen, C. W. Michiels, and R. Lavigne, "The zeamine antibiotics affect the integrity of bacterial membranes," *Applied and environmental microbiology*, vol. 81, 3, pp. 1139–1146, 2015.
- [170] M. M. Butler, D. J. Skow, R. O. Stephenson, P. T. Lyden, W. A. LaMarr, and K. A. Foster, "Low Frequencies of Resistance among Staphylococcus and Enterococcus Species to the Bactericidal DNA Polymerase Inhibitor N3-Hydroxybutyl 6-(3'-Ethyl-4'-Methylanilino) Uracil," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 46, 12, pp. 3770–3775, 2002.

- [171] M. E. Evans and W. B. Titlow, "Selection of fluoroquinolone-resistant methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus with ciprofloxacin and trovafloxacin," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 42, 3, p. 727, 1998.
- [172] M. Kearse, R. Moir, A. Wilson, S. Stones-Havas, M. Cheung, S. Sturrock, S. Buxton, A. Cooper, S. Markowitz, C. Duran, T. Thierer, B. Ashton, P. Meintjes, and A. Drummond, "Geneious Basic: An integrated and extendable desktop software platform for the organization and analysis of sequence data," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 28, 12, pp. 1647–1649, 2012.
- [173] K. J. Livak and T. D. Schmittgen, "Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method," *Methods (San Diego, Calif.)*, vol. 25, 4, pp. 402–408, 2001.
- [174] A. Makino, T. Baba, K. Fujimoto, K. Iwamoto, Y. Yano, N. Terada, S. Ohno, S. B. Sato, A. Ohta, M. Umeda, K. Matsuzaki, and T. Kobayashi, "Cinnamycin (Ro 09-0198) promotes cell binding and toxicity by inducing transbilayer lipid movement," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 278, 5, pp. 3204–3209, 2003.
- [175] E. G. Bligh and W. D. Dyer, "A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification," *Canadian journal of biochemistry and physiology*, vol. 37, 8, pp. 911– 917, 1959.
- [176] J. Jin, J. Cui, A. S. Chaudhary, Y.-H. Hsieh, K. Damera, H. Zhang, H. Yang, B. Wang, and P. C. Tai, "Evaluation of small molecule SecA inhibitors against methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus," *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry*, vol. 23, 21, pp. 7061–7068, 2015.
- [177] M. M. Bradford, "A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding," *Analytical biochemistry*, vol. 72, pp. 248–254, 1976.
- [178] U. K. Laemmli, "Cleavage of Structural Proteins during the Assembly of the Head of Bacteriophage T4," *Nature*, vol. 227, 5259, pp. 680–685, 1970.
- [179] A. Shevchenko, H. Tomas, J. Havlis, J. V. Olsen, and M. Mann, "In-gel digestion for mass spectrometric characterization of proteins and proteomes," *Nature protocols*, vol. 1, 6, pp. 2856–2860, 2006.
- [180] T. G. M. Schmidt and A. Skerra, "The Strep-tag system for one-step purification and high-affinity detection or capturing of proteins," *Nature protocols*, vol. 2, 6, pp. 1528– 1535, 2007.

- [181] F. W. Studier, "Stable expression clones and auto-induction for protein production in E. coli," *Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.)*, vol. 1091, pp. 17–32, 2014.
- [182] E. Gasteiger, C. Hoogland, A. Gattiker, S.'e. Duvaud, M. R. Wilkins, R. D. Appel, and A. Bairoch, "Protein Identification and Analysis Tools on the ExPASy Server," in *The proteomics protocols handbook*, J. M. Walker, Ed., pp. 571–607, Humana Press, Totowa, N.J., 2005.
- [183] S. M. Stocks, "Mechanism and use of the commercially available viability stain, BacLight," *Cytometry. Part A : the journal of the International Society for Analytical Cytology*, vol. 61, 2, pp. 189–195, 2004.
- [184] C. C. Otto, T. M. Cunningham, M. R. Hansen, and S. E. Haydel, "Effects of antibacterial mineral leachates on the cellular ultrastructure, morphology, and membrane integrity of Escherichia coli and methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus," *Annals of Clinical Microbiology and Antimicrobials*, vol. 9, 1, pp. 26–39, 2010.
- [185] D. Novo, N. G. Perlmutter, R. H. Hunt, and H. M. Shapiro, "Accurate flow cytometric membrane potential measurement in bacteria using diethyloxacarbocyanine and a ratiometric technique," *Cytometry*, vol. 35, 1, pp. 55–63, 1999.
- [186] D. J. Novo, N. G. Perlmutter, R. H. Hunt, and H. M. Shapiro, "Multiparameter flow cytometric analysis of antibiotic effects on membrane potential, membrane permeability, and bacterial counts of Staphylococcus aureus and Micrococcus luteus," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 44, 4, pp. 827–834, 2000.
- [187] I. M. Helander and T. Mattila-Sandholm, "Fluorometric assessment of Gramnegative bacterial permeabilization," *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, vol. 88, 2, pp. 213–219, 2000.
- [188] B. Loh, C. Grant, and R. E. Hancock, "Use of the fluorescent probe 1-Nphenylnaphthylamine to study the interactions of aminoglycoside antibiotics with the outer membrane of Pseudomonas aeruginosa," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 26, 4, pp. 546–551, 1984.
- [189] E. Eichhorn, Ploeg, Jan R. van der, and T. Leisinger, "Deletion Analysis of the Escherichia coli Taurine and Alkanesulfonate Transport Systems," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 182, 10, pp. 2687–2695, 2000.
- [190] D. A. Rodionov, M. S. Gelfand, A. A. Mironov, and A. B. Rakhmaninova, "Comparative approach to analysis of regulation in complete genomes: Multidrug

resistance systems in gamma-proteobacteria," *Journal of molecular microbiology and biotechnology*, vol. 3, 2, pp. 319–324, 2001.

- [191] C.-C. Su, D. J. Rutherford, and E. W. Yu, "Characterization of the multidrug efflux regulator AcrR from Escherichia coli," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 361, 1, pp. 85–90, 2007.
- [192] D. Ma, M. Alberti, C. Lynch, H. Nikaido, and J. E. Hearst, "The local repressor AcrR plays a modulating role in the regulation of acrAB genes of Escherichia coli by global stress signals," *Molecular microbiology*, vol. 19, 1, pp. 101–112, 1996.
- [193] E. Pradel and J.-M. Pages, "The AcrAB-TolC efflux pump contributes to multidrug resistance in the nosocomial pathogen Enterobacter aerogenes," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 46, 8, pp. 2640–2643, 2002.
- [194] M. A. Webber, A. Talukder, and L. J. V. Piddock, "Contribution of mutation at amino acid 45 of AcrR to acrB expression and ciprofloxacin resistance in clinical and veterinary Escherichia coli isolates," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 49, 10, pp. 4390–4392, 2005.
- [195] K. Inokuchi, N. Mutoh, S. Matsuyama, and S. Mizuhima, "Primary Structure of ompF Gene that Codes for Major OMP of E.coli K12," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 10, 21, pp. 6957–6968, 1982.
- [196] M.-Y. Ho, M.-L. Chiou, R.-C. Chang, Y.-H. Chen, and C.-C. Cheng, "Outer membrane protein OmpF involved in the transportation of polypyridyl ruthenium complexes into Escherichia coli," *Journal of inorganic biochemistry*, vol. 104, 5, pp. 614–617, 2010.
- [197] R. G. Efremov and L. A. Sazanov, "Structure of Escherichia coli OmpF porin from lipidic mesophase," *Journal of structural biology*, vol. 178, 3, pp. 311–318, 2012.
- [198] K. S. Kim, J. G. Pelton, W. B. Inwood, U. Andersen, S. Kustu, and D. E. Wemmer, "The Rut pathway for pyrimidine degradation: Novel chemistry and toxicity problems," *Journal of bacteriology*, vol. 192, 16, pp. 4089–4102, 2010.
- [199] T. Mukherjee, Y. Zhang, S. Abdelwahed, S. E. Ealick, and T. P. Begley, "Catalysis of a flavoenzyme-mediated amide hydrolysis," *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, vol. 132, 16, pp. 5550–5551, 2010.
- [200] K. D. Loh, P. Gyaneshwar, E. Markenscoff Papadimitriou, R. Fong, K.-S. Kim, R. Parales, Z. Zhou, W. Inwood, and S. Kustu, "A previously undescribed pathway for pyrimidine catabolism," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 103, 13, pp. 5114–5119, 2006.

- [201] J. Cheung, C. A. Bingman, M. Reyngold, W. A. Hendrickson, and C. D. Waldburger, "Crystal structure of a functional dimer of the PhoQ sensor domain," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 283, 20, pp. 13762–13770, 2008.
- [202] S. D. Goldberg, G. D. Clinthorne, M. Goulian, and W. F. DeGrado, "Transmembrane polar interactions are required for signaling in the Escherichia coli sensor kinase PhoQ," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 107, 18, pp. 8141–8146, 2010.
- [203] E. Scheurwater, C. W. Reid, and A. J. Clarke, "Lytic transglycosylases: Bacterial space-making autolysins," *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, vol. 40, 4, pp. 586–591, 2008.
- [204] S. G. Chaulk, M. N. Smith Frieday, D. C. Arthur, D. E. Culham, R. A. Edwards, P. Soo, L. S. Frost, R. A. B. Keates, J. N. M. Glover, and J. M. Wood, "ProQ is an RNA chaperone that controls ProP levels in Escherichia coli," *Biochemistry*, vol. 50, 15, pp. 3095–3106, 2011.
- [205] K. M. Herrmann, "The Shikimate Pathway: Early Steps in the Biosynthesis of Aromatic Compounds," *The Plant cell*, vol. 7, 7, pp. 907–919, 1995.
- [206] B. Korat, H. Mottl, and W. Keck, "Penicillin-binding protein 4 of Escherichia coli: Molecular cloning of the dacB gene, controlled overexpression, and alterations in murein composition," *Molecular microbiology*, vol. 5, 3, pp. 675–684, 1991.
- [207] W. Vollmer and U. Bertsche, "Murein (peptidoglycan) structure, architecture and biosynthesis in Escherichia coli," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1778, 9, pp. 1714–1734, 2008.
- [208] A. Preumont, K. Snoussi, V. Stroobant, J.-F. Collet, and E. van Schaftingen, "Molecular identification of pseudouridine-metabolizing enzymes," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 283, 37, pp. 25238–25246, 2008.
- [209] L. R. Solomon and T. R. Breitman, "Pseudouridine kinase of Escherichia coli: A new enzyme," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 44, 2, pp. 299– 304, 1971.
- [210] T. Komano, R. Utsumi, and M. Kawamukai, "Functional analysis of the fic gene involved in regulation of cell division," *Research in microbiology*, vol. 142, 2-3, pp. 269–277, 1991.
- [211] C. R. Roy and J. Cherfils, "Structure and function of Fic proteins," *Nature reviews*. *Microbiology*, vol. 13, 10, pp. 631–640, 2015.

- [212] S. J. Cai and M. Inouye, "EnvZ-OmpR interaction and osmoregulation in Escherichia coli," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 277, 27, pp. 24155–24161, 2002.
- [213] S. Forst, J. Delgado, and M. Inouye, "Phosphorylation of OmpR by the osmosensor EnvZ modulates expression of the ompF and ompC genes in Escherichia coli," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 86, 16, pp. 6052–6056, 1989.
- [214] G. Durante-Rodríguez, J. A. Valderrama, J. M. Mancheño, G. Rivas, C. Alfonso, E. Arias-Palomo, O. Llorca, J. L. García, E. Díaz, and M. Carmona, "Biochemical Characterization of the Transcriptional Regulator BzdR from Azoarcus sp. CIB," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 285, 46, pp. 35694–35705, 2010.
- [215] R. Wintjens and M. Rooman, "Structural classification of HTH DNA-binding domains and protein-DNA interaction modes," *Journal of Molecular Biology*, vol. 262, 2, pp. 294–313, 1996.
- [216] M. Askoura, W. Mottawea, T. Abujamel, and I. Taher, "Efflux pump inhibitors (EPIs) as new antimicrobial agents against Pseudomonas aeruginosa," *The Libyan journal of medicine*, vol. 6, 1, pp. 5870–5878, 2011.
- [217] G. Suarez and D. Nathans, "Inhibition of aminoacyl-sRNA binding to ribosomes by tetracycline," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 18, 5-6, pp. 743–750, 1965.
- [218] D. N. Wilson, "The A-Z of bacterial translation inhibitors," *Critical reviews in biochemistry and molecular biology*, vol. 44, 6, pp. 393–433, 2009.
- [219] M. Pioletti, F. Schlünzen, J. Harms, R. Zarivach, M. Glühmann, H. Avila, A. Bashan, H. Bartels, T. Auerbach, C. Jacobi, T. Hartsch, A. Yonath, and F. Franceschi, "Crystal structures of complexes of the small ribosomal subunit with tetracycline, edeine and IF3," *The EMBO journal*, vol. 20, 8, pp. 1829–1839, 2001.
- [220] S. Fraud, A. J. Campigotto, Z. Chen, and K. Poole, "MexCD-OprJ multidrug efflux system of Pseudomonas aeruginosa: Involvement in chlorhexidine resistance and induction by membrane-damaging agents dependent upon the AlgU stress response sigma factor," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 52, 12, pp. 4478–4482, 2008.
- [221] D. Hocquet, C. Vogne, F. El Garch, A. Vejux, N. Gotoh, A. Lee, O. Lomovskaya, and P. Plésiat, "MexXY-OprM Efflux Pump Is Necessary for Adaptive Resistance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa to Aminoglycosides," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 47, 4, pp. 1371–1375, 2003.

- [222] T. R. de Kievit, M. D. Parkins, R. J. Gillis, R. Srikumar, H. Ceri, K. Poole, B. H. Iglewski, and D. G. Storey, "Multidrug Efflux Pumps: Expression Patterns and Contribution to Antibiotic Resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa Biofilms," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 45, 6, pp. 1761–1770, 2001.
- [223] T. Köhler, M. Michéa-Hamzehpour, U. Henze, N. Gotoh, L. Kocjancic Curty, and J.-C. Pechère, "Characterization of MexE–MexF–OprN, a positively regulated multidrug efflux system of Pseudomonas aeruginosa," *Molecular microbiology*, vol. 23, 2, pp. 345–354, 1997.
- [224] X. Z. Li, D. M. Livermore, and H. Nikaido, "Role of efflux pump(s) in intrinsic resistance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa: Resistance to tetracycline, chloramphenicol, and norfloxacin," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 38, 8, pp. 1732–1741, 1994.
- [225] N. Masuda, E. Sakagawa, S. Ohya, N. Gotoh, H. Tsujimoto, and T. Nishino, "Substrate Specificities of MexAB-OprM, MexCD-OprJ, and MexXY-OprM Efflux Pumps in Pseudomonas aeruginosa," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 44, 12, pp. 3322–3327, 2000.
- [226] R. J. Theriault, "Microbiological Conversion of 4-epi-cetocycline to 2decarboxamido-2-acetyl-4-dedimethyl-9-methyltetracycline," *The Journal of antibiotics*, vol. 35, 3, pp. 364–366, 1982.
- [227] G. Huang and X. Mei, "Synthetic glycosylated natural products have satisfactory activities," *Current drug targets*, vol. 15, 8, pp. 780–784, 2014.
- [228] G. Huang, M. Lv, J. Hu, K. Huang, and X. Hong, "Glycosylation and Activities of Natural Products," *Mini-Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry*, vol. 16, 12, pp. 1013–1016, 2016.
- [229] J. R. D. McCormick, S. M. Fox, Smith L. L., B. A. Bitler, J. Reichenthal, V. E. Origoni, W. H. Müller, R. Winterbottom, and A. P. Doerschuk, "Studies on the Reversible Epimerization Occurring in the Tetracycline Family. The Preparation, Properties and Proof of Structure of Some 4-epi-Tetracyclines," *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, vol. 79, pp. 2849–2858, 1957.
- [230] J. R. D. McCormick, S. M. Fox, L. L. Smith, B. A. Bitler, J. Reichenthal, V. E. Origoni, W. H. Muller, R. Winterbottom, and A. P. Doerschuk, "On The Nature Of The "Reversible Isomerizations Occurring In The Tetracycline Family," *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, vol. 78, 14, pp. 3547–3548, 1956.

- [231] C. R. Stephens, L. H. Conover, P. N. Gordon, F. C. Pennington, R. L. Wagner, K. J. Brunings, and F. J. Pilgrim, "Epitetracycline—The Chemical Relationship Between Tetracycline And "Quatrimycin"," *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, vol. 78, 7, pp. 1515–1516, 1956.
- [232] E. G. Remmers, G. M. Sieger, and A. P. Doerschuk, "Some Observations on the Kinetics of the C·4 Epimerization of Tetracycline," *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, vol. 52, 8, pp. 752–756, 1963.
- [233] I. Chopra, P. M. Hawkey, and M. Hinton, "Tetracyclines, molecular and clinical aspects," *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 29, pp. 245–277, 1992.
- [234] D. Schnappinger and W. Hillen, "Tetracyclines antibiotic action, uptake, and resistance mechanisms," *Archives of Microbiology*, vol. 165, pp. 359–369, 1996.
- [235] M. Vaara, "Agents That Increase the Permeability of the Outer Membrane," *Microbiological Reviews*, vol. 56, 3, pp. 395–411, 1992.
- [236] R. E. Hancock, "Alterations in outer membrane permeability," Annual review of microbiology, vol. 38, pp. 237–264, 1984.
- [237] L. J. Hughes and J. J. Stezowski, "Chemical-structural properties of tetracycline derivatives. 7. Evidence for the coexistence of the zwitterionic and nonionized forms of the free base in solution," *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, vol. 26, 101, pp. 7655–7657, 1979.
- [238] H. Nikaido and D. G. Thanassi, "Penetration of lipophilic agents with multiple protonation sites into bacterial cells: Tetracyclines and fluoroquinolones as examples," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 37, 7, pp. 1393–1399, 1993.
- [239] G. J. Palm, T. Lederer, P. Orth, W. Saenger, M. Takahashi, W. Hillen, and W. Hinrichs, "Specific binding of divalent metal ions to tetracycline and to the Tet repressor/tetracycline complex," *Journal of Biological Inorganic Chemistry*, vol. 13, 7, pp. 1097–1110, 2008.
- [240] L. Jin, X. Amaya-Mazo, M. E. Apel, S. S. Sankisa, E. Johnson, M. A. Zbyszynska, and A. Han, "Ca2+ and Mg2+ bind tetracycline with distinct stoichiometries and linked deprotonation," *Biophysical Chemistry*, vol. 128, 2-3, pp. 185–196, 2007.
- [241] H. Hvidberg, C. Struve, K. A. Krogfelt, N. Christensen, S. N. Rasmussen, and N. Frimodt-Møller, "Development of a Long-Term Ascending Urinary Tract Infection Mouse Model for Antibiotic Treatment Studies," *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, vol. 44, 1, pp. 156–163, 2000.

- [242] A. L. Flores-Mireles, J. N. Walker, M. Caparon, and S. J. Hultgren, "Urinary tract infections: Epidemiology, mechanisms of infection and treatment options," *Nature reviews. Microbiology*, vol. 13, 5, pp. 269–284, 2015.
- [243] T. J. Hannan, M. Totsika, K. J. Mansfield, K. H. Moore, M. A. Schembri, and S. J. Hultgren, "Host-pathogen checkpoints and population bottlenecks in persistent and intracellular uropathogenic Escherichia coli bladder infection," *FEMS microbiology reviews*, vol. 36, 3, pp. 616–648, 2012.
- [244] T. M. Hooton, "Clinical practice. Uncomplicated urinary tract infection," *The New England journal of medicine*, vol. 366, 11, pp. 1028–1037, 2012.
- [245] G.K.M. Harding and A. R. Ronald, "The management of urinary infections; what have we learned in the past decade?," *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, vol. 4, 2, pp. 83–88, 1994.
- [246] B. Foxman, "The epidemiology of urinary tract infection," *Nature reviews. Urology*, vol. 7, 12, pp. 653–660, 2010.
- [247] J. C. Nickel, "Urinary Tract Infections and Resistant Bacteria: Highlights of a Symposium at the Combined Meeting of the 25th International Congress of Chemotherapy (ICC) and the 17th European Congress of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases (ECCMID), March 31–April 3, 2007, Munich, Germany," *Reviews in Urology*, vol. 9, 2, pp. 78–80, 2007.
- [248] W. E. Stamm and S. R. Norrby, "Urinary Tract Infections: Disease Panorama and Challenges," *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, vol. 183, Supplement_1, S1-S4, 2001.
- [249] K. G. Naber, G. Schito, H. Botto, J. Palou, and T. Mazzei, "Surveillance Study in Europe and Brazil on Clinical Aspects and Antimicrobial Resistance Epidemiology in Females with Cystitis (ARESC): Implications for Empiric Therapy," *European Urology*, vol. 54, 5, pp. 1164–1178, 2008.
- [250] R. McAllister and J. Allwood, "Recurrent Multidrug Resistant UTI in geriatic patients," *Federal Practitioner*, vol. 31, 7, pp. 32–35, 2014.
- [251] R. Ikram, R. Psutka, A. Carter, and P. Priest, "An outbreak of multi-drug resistant Escherichia coli urinary tract infection in an elderly population: A case-control study of risk factors," *BMC infectious diseases*, vol. 15, 1, pp. 224–231, 2015.
- [252] J. Roberts, J. Bingham, A. C. McLaren, and R. McLemore, "Liposomal Formulation Decreases Toxicity of Amphotericin B In Vitro and In Vivo," *Clinical orthopaedics and related research*, vol. 473, 7, pp. 2262–2269, 2015.

- [253] N. Furuya and T. Komano, "Nucleotide sequence and characterization of the trbABC region of the IncI1 Plasmid R64: Existence of the pnd gene for plasmid maintenance within the transfer region," *Journal of bacteriology*, vol. 178, 6, pp. 1491–1497, 1996.
- [254] C. T. Archer, J. F. Kim, H. Jeong, J. H. Park, C. E. Vickers, S. Y. Lee, and L. K. Nielsen, "The genome sequence of E. coli W (ATCC 9637): comparative genome analysis and an improved genome-scale reconstruction of E. coli," *BMC genomics*, vol. 12, pp. 9–29, 2011.
- [255] N. Weston, P. Sharma, V. Ricci, and L. J. V. Piddock, "Regulation of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump in Enterobacteriaceae," *Research in microbiology*, pp. 1–7, 2017.
- [256] X.-Z. Li, P. Plésiat, and H. Nikaido, "The Challenge of Efflux-Mediated Antibiotic Resistance in Gram-Negative Bacteria," *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, vol. 28, 2, pp. 337–418, 2015.
- [257] J. Bredin, V. Simonet, R. IYER, A. H. Delcour, and J.-M. Pages, "Colicins, spermine and cephalosporins: A competitive interaction with the OmpF eyelet," *The Biochemical journal*, vol. 376, Pt 1, pp. 245–252, 2003.
- [258] H. D. Chen and E. A. Groisman, "The biology of the PmrA/PmrB two-component system: The major regulator of lipopolysaccharide modifications," *Annual review of microbiology*, vol. 67, pp. 83–112, 2013.
- [259] E. A. Groisman, "The Pleiotropic Two-Component Regulatory System PhoP-PhoQ," *Journal of bacteriology*, vol. 183, 6, pp. 1835–1842, 2001.
- [260] A. K. Miller, M. K. Brannon, L. Stevens, H. K. Johansen, S. E. Selgrade, S. I. Miller, N. Hoiby, and S. M. Moskowitz, "PhoQ mutations promote lipid A modification and polymyxin resistance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa found in colistin-treated cystic fibrosis patients," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 55, 12, pp. 5761–5769, 2011.
- [261] T. A. Henderson, M. Templin, and K. D. Young, "Identification and cloning of the gene encoding penicillin-binding protein 7 of Escherichia coli," *Journal of bacteriology*, vol. 177, 8, pp. 2074–2079, 1995.
- [262] J. van Heijenoort, "Peptidoglycan Hydrolases of Escherichia coli," *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR*, vol. 75, 4, pp. 636–663, 2011.
- [263] S. A. Denome, P. K. Elf, T. A. Henderson, D. E. Nelson, and K. D. Young, "Escherichia coli Mutants Lacking All Possible Combinations of Eight Penicillin Binding Proteins: Viability, Characteristics, and Implications for Peptidoglycan Synthesis," *Journal of bacteriology*, vol. 181, 13, pp. 3981–3993, 1999.

- [264] L. A. Fothergill-Gilmore and Watson Herman C., "Phosphoglycerate mutases," *Biochemical Society transactions*, vol. 18, 2, pp. 190–193, 1990.
- [265] Milton H. Saier, JR, "Families of transmembrane transporters selective for amino acids and their derivatives," *Microbiology*, vol. 146, 8, pp. 1775–1795, 2000.
- [266] Y. M. Abouzeed, S. Baucheron, and A. Cloeckaert, "ramR Mutations Involved in Efflux-Mediated Multidrug Resistance in Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium[¬] ," Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, vol. 52, 7, pp. 2428–2434, 2008.
- [267] J. M. A. Blair and L. J. V. Piddock, "Structure, function and inhibition of RND efflux pumps in Gram-negative bacteria: An update," *Current opinion in microbiology*, vol. 12, 5, pp. 512–519, 2009.
- [268] H. Nikaido and Y. Takatsuka, "Mechanisms of RND Multidrug Efflux Pumps," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1794, 5, pp. 769–781, 2009.
- [269] I. T. Paulsen, M. H. Brown, and R. A. Skurray, "Proton-dependent multidrug efflux systems," *Microbiological Reviews*, vol. 60, 4, pp. 575–608, 1996.
- [270] K. M. Pos, "Trinity revealed: Stoichiometric complex assembly of a bacterial multidrug efflux pump," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 106, 17, pp. 6893–6894, 2009.
- [271] K. Poole, "Efflux-mediated multiresistance in Gram-negative bacteria," *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, vol. 10, pp. 12–26, 2004.
- [272] X. Zhong, H. Xu, D. Chen, H. Zhou, X. Hu, and G. Cheng, "First emergence of acrAB and oqxAB mediated tigecycline resistance in clinical isolates of Klebsiella pneumoniae pre-dating the use of tigecycline in a Chinese hospital," *PloS one*, vol. 9, 12, pp. e115185, 2014.
- [273] S. K. Morgan-Linnell, L. B. Boyd, D. Steffen, and L. Zechiedrich, "Mechanisms Accounting for Fluoroquinolone Resistance in Escherichia coli Clinical Isolates," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 53, 1, pp. 235–241, 2009.
- [274] P. D. Lister, D. J. Wolter, and N. D. Hanson, "Antibacterial-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa: clinical impact and complex regulation of chromosomally encoded resistance mechanisms," *Clinical microbiology reviews*, vol. 22, 4, pp. 582–610, 2009.
- [275] L. Cuthbertson and J. R. Nodwell, "The TetR family of regulators," *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR*, vol. 77, 3, pp. 440–475, 2013.
- [276] M. C. Sulavik, L. F. Gambino, and P. F. Miller, "The MarR repressor of the multiple antibiotic resistance (mar) operon in Escherichia coli: Prototypic member of a family of

bacterial regulatory proteins involved in sensing phenolic compounds," *Molecular medicine (Cambridge, Mass.)*, vol. 1, 4, pp. 436–446, 1995.

- [277] H. Okusu, D. Ma, and H. Nikaido, "AcrAB efflux pump plays a major role in the antibiotic resistance phenotype of Escherichia coli multiple-antibiotic-resistance (Mar) mutants," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 178, 1, pp. 306–308, 1996.
- [278] L. L. Ling, T. Schneider, A. J. Peoples, A. L. Spoering, I. Engels, B. P. Conlon, A. Mueller, T. F. Schaberle, D. E. Hughes, S. Epstein, M. Jones, L. Lazarides, V. A. Steadman, D. R. Cohen, C. R. Felix, K. A. Fetterman, W. P. Millett, A. G. Nitti, A. M. Zullo, C. Chen, and K. Lewis, "A new antibiotic kills pathogens without detectable resistance," *Nature*, vol. 517, 7535, pp. 455–459, 2015.
- [279] R. Rosenblum, E. Khan, G. Gonzalez, R. Hasan, and T. Schneiders, "Genetic regulation of the ramA locus and its expression in clinical isolates of Klebsiella pneumoniae," *International journal of antimicrobial agents*, vol. 38, 1, pp. 39–45, 2011.
- [280] S. de Majumdar, J. Yu, J. Spencer, I. G. Tikhonova, and T. Schneiders, "Molecular basis of non-mutational derepression of ramA in Klebsiella pneumoniae," *The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy*, vol. 69, 10, pp. 2681–2689, 2014.
- [281] V. Ricci, S. J. W. Busby, and L. J. V. Piddock, "Regulation of RamA by RamR in Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium: Isolation of a RamR Superrepressor," *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, vol. 56, 11, pp. 6037–6040, 2012.
- [282] V. Ricci and L. J. V. Piddock, "Ciprofloxacin selects for multidrug resistance in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium mediated by at least two different pathways," *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, vol. 63, 5, pp. 909–916, 2009.
- [283] M. Hentschke, M. Wolters, I. Sobottka, H. Rohde, and M. Aepfelbacher, "ramR mutations in clinical isolates of Klebsiella pneumoniae with reduced susceptibility to tigecycline," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 54, 6, pp. 2720–2723, 2010.
- [284] S. Yamasaki, E. Nikaido, R. Nakashima, K. Sakurai, D. Fujiwara, I. Fujii, and K. Nishino, "The crystal structure of multidrug-resistance regulator RamR with multiple drugs," *Nature communications*, vol. 4, 2013.
- [285] P. J. Petersen, N. V. Jacobus, W. J. Weiss, P. E. Sum, and R. T. Testa, "In Vitro and In Vivo Antibacterial Activities of a Novel Glycylcycline, the 9-t-Butylglycylamido Derivative of Minocycline (GAR-936)," *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, vol. 43, 4, pp. 738–744, 1999.

- [286] L. Fang, Q. Chen, K. Shi, X. Li, Q. Shi, F. He, J. Zhou, Y. Yu, and X. Hua, "Step-Wise Increase in Tigecycline Resistance in Klebsiella pneumoniae Associated with Mutations in ramR, lon and rpsJ," *PloS one*, vol. 11, 10, 2016.
- [287] T. Velkov, R. L. Soon, P. L. Chong, J. X. Huang, M. A. Cooper, M. A. K. Azad, M. A. Baker, P. E. Thompson, K. Roberts, R. L. Nation, A. Clements, R. A. Strugnell, and J. Li, "Molecular basis for the increased polymyxin susceptibility of Klebsiella pneumoniae strains with under-acylated lipid A," *Innate immunity*, vol. 19, 3, pp. 265–277, 2013.
- [288] S. de Majumdar, J. Yu, M. Fookes, S. P. McAteer, E. Llobet, S. Finn, S. Spence, A. Monahan, A. Kissenpfennig, R. J. Ingram, J. Bengoechea, D. L. Gally, S. Fanning, J. S. Elborn, and T. Schneiders, "Elucidation of the RamA regulon in Klebsiella pneumoniae reveals a role in LPS regulation," *PLoS pathogens*, vol. 11, 1, 2015.
- [289] G. L. Archer, D. M. Niemeyer, J. A. Thanassi, and M. J. Pucci, "Dissemination among staphylococci of DNA sequences associated with methicillin resistance," *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, vol. 38, 3, pp. 447–454, 1994.
- [290] N. Kobayashi, S. Urasawa, N. Uehara, and N. Watanabe, "Distribution of Insertion Sequence-Like Element IS1272 and Its Position Relative to Methicillin Resistance Genes in Clinically Important Staphylococci," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 43, 11, pp. 2780–2782, 1999.
- [291] J. K. Lithgow, E. Ingham, and S. J. Foster, "Role of the hprT-ftsH locus in Staphylococcus aureus," *Microbiology (Reading, England)*, vol. 150, Pt 2, pp. 373–381, 2004.
- [292] T. Koprivnjak, D. Zhang, C. M. Ernst, A. Peschel, W. M. Nauseef, and J. P. Weiss, "Characterization of Staphylococcus aureus cardiolipin synthases 1 and 2 and their contribution to accumulation of cardiolipin in stationary phase and within phagocytes," *Journal of bacteriology*, vol. 193, 16, pp. 4134–4142, 2011.
- [293] R. L. Ohniwa, K. Kitabayashi, and K. Morikawa, "Alternative cardiolipin synthase Cls1 compensates for stalled Cls2 function in Staphylococcus aureus under conditions of acute acid stress," *FEMS microbiology letters*, vol. 338, 2, pp. 141–146, 2013.
- [294] H.-S. Joo, S. S. Chatterjee, A. E. Villaruz, S. W. Dickey, V. Y. Tan, Y. Chen, D. E. Sturdevant, S. M. Ricklefs, and M. Otto, "Mechanism of Gene Regulation by a Staphylococcus aureus Toxin," *mBio*, vol. 7, 5, e01579-16, 2016.

- [295] S. S. Chatterjee, H.-S. Joo, A. C. Duong, T. D. Dieringer, V. Y. Tan, Y. Song, E. R. Fischer, G. Y. C. Cheung, M. Li, and M. Otto, "Essential Staphylococcus aureus toxin export system," *Nature medicine*, vol. 19, 3, pp. 364–367, 2013.
- [296] E. Mileykovskaya, W. Dowhan, R. L. Birke, D. Zheng, L. Lutterodt, and T. H. Haines, "Cardiolipin binds nonyl acridine orange by aggregating the dye at exposed hydrophobic domains on bilayer surfaces," *FEBS Letters*, vol. 507, 2, pp. 187–190, 2001.
- [297] R. H. Houtkooper and F. M. Vaz, "Cardiolipin, the heart of mitochondrial metabolism," *Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS*, vol. 65, 16, pp. 2493–2506, 2008.
- [298] M. Fookes, J. Yu, S. de Majumdar, N. Thomson, and T. Schneiders, "Genome Sequence of Klebsiella pneumoniae Ecl8, a Reference Strain for Targeted Genetic Manipulation," *Genome announcements*, vol. 1, 1, 2013.
- [299] R. N. Jones and A. L. Barry, "Antimicrobial activity and spectrum of LY146032, a lipopeptide antibiotic, including susceptibility testing recommendations," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 31, 4, pp. 625–629, 1987.
- [300] G. M. Eliopoulos, S. Willey, E. Reiszner, P. G. Spitzer, G. Caputo, and R. C. Moellering, JR, "In vitro and in vivo activity of LY 146032, a new cyclic lipopeptide antibiotic," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 30, 4, pp. 532–535, 1986.
- [301] D. Jung, A. Rozek, M. Okon, and R. E. W. Hancock, "Structural transitions as determinants of the action of the calcium-dependent antibiotic daptomycin," *Chemistry* & *biology*, vol. 11, 7, pp. 949–957, 2004.
- [302] J. A. Silverman, N. G. Perlmutter, and H. M. Shapiro, "Correlation of Daptomycin Bactericidal Activity and Membrane Depolarization in Staphylococcus aureus," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 47, 8, pp. 2538–2544, 2003.
- [303] J. Micklefield, "Daptomycin Structure and Mechanism of Action Revealed," *Chemistry & biology*, vol. 11, 7, pp. 887–888, 2004.
- [304] L.-J. Ball, C. M. Goult, J. A. Donarski, J. Micklefield, and V. Ramesh, "NMR structure determination and calcium binding effects of lipopeptide antibiotic daptomycin," *Organic & biomolecular chemistry*, vol. 2, 13, pp. 1872–1878, 2004.
- [305] B. Schaible, C. T. Taylor, and K. Schaffer, "Hypoxia increases antibiotic resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa through altering the composition of multidrug efflux pumps," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 56, 4, pp. 2114–2118, 2012.

- [306] S. W. Ho, D. Jung, J. R. Calhoun, J. D. Lear, M. Okon, W. R. P. Scott, R. E. W. Hancock, and S. K. Straus, "Effect of divalent cations on the structure of the antibiotic daptomycin," *European Biophysics Journal*, vol. 37, 4, pp. 421–433, 2008.
- [307] A.-B. Hachmann, E. Sevim, A. Gaballa, D. L. Popham, H. Antelmann, and J. D. Helmann, "Reduction in Membrane Phosphatidylglycerol Content Leads to Daptomycin Resistance in Bacillus subtilis," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 55, 9, pp. 4326–4337, 2011.
- [308] R. Taylor, K. Butt, B. Scott, T. Zhang, J. K. Muraih, E. Mintzer, S. Taylor, and M. Palmer, "Two successive calcium-dependent transitions mediate membrane binding and oligomerization of daptomycin and the related antibiotic A54145," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1858, 9, pp. 1999–2005, 2016.
- [309] A. Müller, M. Wenzel, H. Strahl, F. Grein, T. N. V. Saaki, B. Kohl, T. Siersma, J. E. Bandow, H.-G. Sahl, T. Schneider, and L. W. Hamoen, "Daptomycin inhibits cell envelope synthesis by interfering with fluid membrane microdomains," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 113, 45, E7077-E7086, 2016.
- [310] W. R. P. Scott, S.-B. Baek, D. Jung, R. E. W. Hancock, and S. K. Straus, "NMR structural studies of the antibiotic lipopeptide daptomycin in DHPC micelles," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1768, 12, pp. 3116–3126, 2007.
- [311] T. J. Silhavy, D. Kahne, and S. Walker, "The bacterial cell envelope," *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, vol. 2, 5, 2010.
- [312] J. Donner, M. Reck, B. Bunk, M. Jarek, C. B. App, J. P. Meier-Kolthoff, J. Overmann, R. Müller, A. Kirschning, I. Wagner-Döbler, B. Kreikemeyer, I. Biswas, and R. Misra, "The Biofilm Inhibitor Carolacton Enters Gram-Negative Cells: Studies Using a TolC-Deficient Strain of Escherichia coli," *mSphere*, vol. 2, 5, 2017.
- [313] P. J. Brennan and H. Nikaido, "The envelope of mycobacteria," Annual review of biochemistry, vol. 64, pp. 29–63, 1995.
- [314] W. E. Alborn, N. E. Allen, and D. A. Preston, "Daptomycin disrupts membrane potential in growing Staphylococcus aureus," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 35, 11, pp. 2282–2287, 1991.
- [315] K. Sparbier, C. Lange, J. Jung, A. Wieser, S. Schubert, and M. Kostrzewa, "MALDI biotyper-based rapid resistance detection by stable-isotope labeling," *Journal of clinical microbiology*, vol. 51, 11, pp. 3741–3748, 2013.

- [316] T. Zhang, J. K. Muraih, B. MacCormick, J. Silverman, and M. Palmer, "Daptomycin forms cation- and size-selective pores in model membranes," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1838, 10, pp. 2425–2430, 2014.
- [317] N. E. Allen, J. N. Hobbs, and W. E. Alborn, "Inhibition of peptidoglycan biosynthesis in gram-positive bacteria by LY146032," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 31, 7, pp. 1093–1099, 1987.
- [318] D. Mengin-Lecreulx, N. E. Allen, J. N. Hobbs, and J. van Heijenoort, "Inhibition of peptidoglycan biosynthesis in Bacillus megaterium by daptomycin," *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, vol. 69, 3, pp. 245–248, 1990.
- [319] T. Wecke, D. Zühlke, U. Mäder, S. Jordan, B. Voigt, S. Pelzer, H. Labischinski, G. Homuth, M. Hecker, and T. Mascher, "Daptomycin versus Friulimicin B: In-Depth Profiling of Bacillus subtilis Cell Envelope Stress Responses," *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, vol. 53, 4, pp. 1619–1623, 2009.
- [320] G. L. Archer, "Staphylococcus aureus: A well-armed pathogen," *Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America*, vol. 26, 5, pp. 1179–1181, 1998.
- [321] F. D. Lowy, "Staphylococcus aureus Infections," *New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 339, 8, pp. 520–532, 1998.
- [322] Y. Taj, F. E. Abdullah, and S. U. Kazmi, "Current Pattern of Antibiotic Resistance in Staphylococcus Aureus Clinical Isolates and the Emergence of Vancomycin Resistance," *Journal of the College of Physicians and Surgeons Pakistan*, vol. 20, 11, pp. 729–732, 2010.
- [323] G. R. Elliott, P. K. Peterson, H. A. Verbrugh, M. R. Freiberg, J. R. Hoidal, and P. G. Quie, "Influence of subinhibitory concentrations of penicillin, cephalothin, and clindamycin on Staphylococcus aureus growth in human phagocytic cells," *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, vol. 22, 5, pp. 781–784, 1982.
- [324] A. Hebert, K. Sayasith, S. Senechal, P. Dubreuil, and J. Lagace, "Demonstration of intracellular Staphylococcus aureus in bovine mastitis alveolar cells and macrophages isolated from naturally infected cow milk," *FEMS microbiology letters*, vol. 193, 1, pp. 57–62, 2000.
- [325] J. Koziel, A. Maciag-Gudowska, T. Mikolajczyk, M. Bzowska, D. E. Sturdevant, A. R. Whitney, L. N. Shaw, F. R. DeLeo, and J. Potempa, "Phagocytosis of Staphylococcus aureus by macrophages exerts cytoprotective effects manifested by the upregulation of antiapoptotic factors," *PloS one*, vol. 4, 4, 2009.

- [326] M. Kubica, K. Guzik, J. Koziel, M. Zarebski, W. Richter, B. Gajkowska, A. Golda, A. Maciag-Gudowska, K. Brix, L. Shaw, T. Foster, and J. Potempa, "A Potential New Pathway for Staphylococcus aureus Dissemination: The Silent Survival of S. aureus Phagocytosed by Human Monocyte-Derived Macrophages," *PloS one*, vol. 3, 1, 2008.
- [327] A. Aderem and D. M. Underhill, "Mechanism of Phagocytosis in Macrophages," *Annual Review of Immunology*, vol. 17, pp. 593–623, 1999.
- [328] D. J. Miller, A. Jerga, C. O. Rock, and S. W. White, "Analysis of the Staphylococcus aureus DgkB structure reveals a common catalytic mechanism for the soluble diacylglycerol kinases," *Structure (London, England : 1993)*, vol. 16, 7, pp. 1036–1046, 2008.
- [329] F. Sakane, S.-I. Imai, M. Kai, S. Yasuda, and H. Kanoh, "Diacylglycerol kinases: Why so many of them?," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1771, 7, pp. 793–806, 2007.
- [330] A. Jerga, Y.-J. Lu, G. E. Schujman, D. de Mendoza, and C. O. Rock, "Identification of a soluble diacylglycerol kinase required for lipoteichoic acid production in Bacillus subtilis," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 282, 30, pp. 21738–21745, 2007.
- [331] P. M. Oliver, J. A. Crooks, M. Leidl, E. J. Yoon, A. Saghatelian, and D. B. Weibel, "Localization of anionic phospholipids in Escherichia coli cells," *Journal of bacteriology*, vol. 196, 19, pp. 3386–3398, 2014.
- [332] D. E. Vance and Vance J.E., eds., *Biochemistry of Lipids Lipoproteins and Membrane: Functional roles of lipids in membranes*, Elsevier, 2008.
- [333] M. Schlame and M. Ren, "The role of cardiolipin in the structural organization of mitochondrial membranes," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1788, 10, pp. 2080– 2083, 2009.
- [334] R. M. Epand and R. F. Epand, "Lipid domains in bacterial membranes and the action of antimicrobial agents," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1788, 1, pp. 289–294, 2009.
- [335] C. Osman, D. R. Voelker, and T. Langer, "Making heads or tails of phospholipids in mitochondria," *The Journal of cell biology*, vol. 192, 1, pp. 7–16, 2011.
- [336] L. C. Schenkel and M. Bakovic, "Formation and Regulation of Mitochondrial Membranes," *International Journal of Cell Biology*, vol. 2014, 2014.
- [337] F. Kawai, M. Shoda, R. Harashima, Y. Sadaie, H. Hara, and K. Matsumoto, "Cardiolipin Domains in Bacillus subtilis Marburg Membranes," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 186, 5, pp. 1475–1483, 2004.

- [338] E. Mileykovskaya and W. Dowhan, "Cardiolipin membrane domains in prokaryotes and eukaryotes," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1788, 10, pp. 2084–2091, 2009.
- [339] Z. V. Varga, P. Ferdinandy, L. Liaudet, and P. Pacher, "Drug-induced mitochondrial dysfunction and cardiotoxicity," *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, vol. 309, 9, H1453-67, 2015.
- [340] T. Zhang, J. K. Muraih, N. Tishbi, J. Herskowitz, R. L. Victor, J. Silverman, S. Uwumarenogie, S. D. Taylor, M. Palmer, and E. Mintzer, "Cardiolipin prevents membrane translocation and permeabilization by daptomycin," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 289, 17, pp. 11584–11591, 2014.
- [341] T. T. Tran, D. Panesso, N. N. Mishra, E. Mileykovskaya, Z. Guan, J. M. Munita, J. Reyes, L. Diaz, G. M. Weinstock, B. E. Murray, Y. Shamoo, W. Dowhan, A. S. Bayer, and C. A. Arias, "Daptomycin-Resistant Enterococcus faecalis Diverts the Antibiotic Molecule from the Division Septum and Remodels Cell Membrane Phospholipids," *mBio*, vol. 4, 4, e00281-13, 2013.
- [342] L. Friedman, J. D. Alder, and J. A. Silverman, "Genetic Changes That Correlate with Reduced Susceptibility to Daptomycin in Staphylococcus aureus," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 50, 6, pp. 2137–2145, 2006.
- [343] C. M. Ernst, P. Staubitz, N. N. Mishra, S.-J. Yang, G. Hornig, H. Kalbacher, A. S. Bayer, D. Kraus, and A. Peschel, "The bacterial defensin resistance protein MprF consists of separable domains for lipid lysinylation and antimicrobial peptide repulsion," *PLoS pathogens*, vol. 5, 11, e1000660, 2009.
- [344] C. J. Slavetinsky, A. Peschel, and C. M. Ernst, "Alanyl-Phosphatidylglycerol and Lysyl-Phosphatidylglycerol Are Translocated by the Same MprF Flippases and Have Similar Capacities To Protect against the Antibiotic Daptomycin in Staphylococcus aureus," *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, vol. 56, 7, pp. 3492–3497, 2012.
- [345] S. A. Short and D. C. White, "Metabolism of phosphatidylglycerol, lysylphosphatidylglycerol, and cardiolipin of Staphylococcus aureus," *Journal of bacteriology*, vol. 108, 1, pp. 219–226, 1971.
- [346] M. Tsai, R. L. Ohniwa, Y. Kato, S. L. Takeshita, T. Ohta, S. Saito, H. Hayashi, and K. Morikawa, "Staphylococcus aureus requires cardiolipin for survival under conditions of high salinity," *BMC microbiology*, vol. 11, pp. 13–25, 2011.
- [347] D. E. Minnikin and H. Abdolrahimzadeh, "Effect of pH on the Proportions of Polar Lipids, in Chemostat Cultures of Bacillus subtilis," *Journal of bacteriology*, vol. 120, 3, pp. 999–1003, 1974.
- [348] H. Roy, "Tuning the properties of the bacterial membrane with aminoacylated phosphatidylglycerol," *IUBMB Life*, vol. 61, 10, pp. 940–953, 2009.
- [349] R. Wang, K. R. Braughton, D. Kretschmer, T.-H. L. Bach, S. Y. Queck, M. Li, A. D. Kennedy, D. W. Dorward, S. J. Klebanoff, A. Peschel, F. R. DeLeo, and M. Otto, "Identification of novel cytolytic peptides as key virulence determinants for community-associated MRSA," *Nature medicine*, vol. 13, 12, pp. 1510–1514, 2007.
- [350] A. Peschel, "Phenol-soluble modulins and staphylococcal infection," *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, vol. 11, 10, pp. 667–673, 2013.
- [351] S. D. Kobayashi, N. Malachowa, A. R. Whitney, K. R. Braughton, D. J. Gardner, D. Long, J. B. Wardenburg, O. Schneewind, M. Otto, and F. R. DeLeo, "Comparative Analysis of USA300 Virulence Determinants in a Rabbit Model of Skin and Soft Tissue Infection," *The Journal of infectious diseases*, vol. 204, 6, pp. 937–941, 2011.
- [352] S. Rigali, A. Derouaux, F. Giannotta, and J. Dusart, "Subdivision of the helix-turnhelix GntR family of bacterial regulators in the FadR, HutC, MocR, and YtrA subfamilies," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 277, 15, pp. 12507–12515, 2002.
- [353] I. A. Suvorova, Y. D. Korostelev, and M. S. Gelfand, "GntR Family of Bacterial Transcription Factors and Their DNA Binding Motifs: Structure, Positioning and Co-Evolution," *PloS one*, vol. 10, 7, e0132618, 2015.
- [354] L. I. Salzberg, Y. Luo, A.-B. Hachmann, T. Mascher, and J. D. Helmann, "The Bacillus subtilis GntR family repressor YtrA responds to cell wall antibiotics," *Journal* of bacteriology, vol. 193, 20, pp. 5793–5801, 2011.
- [355] E. Breukink and B. de Kruijff, "Lipid II as a target for antibiotics," *Nature reviews*. *Drug discovery*, vol. 5, 4, pp. 321–332, 2006.
- [356] G. Y. C. Cheung, R. Wang, B. A. Khan, D. E. Sturdevant, and M. Otto, "Role of the Accessory Gene Regulator agr in Community-Associated Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus Pathogenesis," *Infection and Immunity*, vol. 79, 5, pp. 1927– 1935, 2011.
- [357] M. Otto, "Staphylococcal Biofilms," *Current topics in microbiology and immunology*, vol. 322, pp. 207–228, 2008.
- [358] S. Periasamy, H.-S. Joo, A. C. Duong, T.-H. L. Bach, V. Y. Tan, S. S. Chatterjee, G. Y. C. Cheung, and M. Otto, "How Staphylococcus aureus biofilms develop their characteristic structure," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 109, 4, pp. 1281–1286, 2012.

- [359] R. Wang, B. A. Khan, G. Y. C. Cheung, T.-H. L. Bach, M. Jameson-Lee, K.-F. Kong,
 S. Y. Queck, and M. Otto, "Staphylococcus epidermidis surfactant peptides promote biofilm maturation and dissemination of biofilm-associated infection in mice," *The Journal of clinical investigation*, vol. 121, 1, pp. 238–248, 2011.
- [360] U. Eckhard, H. Bandukwala, M. J. Mansfield, G. Marino, J. Cheng, I. Wallace, T. Holyoak, T. C. Charles, J. Austin, C. M. Overall, and A. C. Doxey, "Discovery of a proteolytic flagellin family in diverse bacterial phyla that assembles enzymatically active flagella," *Nature communications*, vol. 8, 1, 2017.
- [361] C. Kaito and K. Sekimizu, "Colony Spreading in Staphylococcus aureus," *Journal of bacteriology*, vol. 189, 6, pp. 2553–2557, 2007.
- [362] M.R.J. Salton and K.-S. Kim, *Medical Microbiology 4: Chapter 2. Structure*, University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston, 1996.
- [363] M. Ogura and K. Tsukahara, "SwrA regulates assembly of Bacillus subtilis DegU via its interaction with N-terminal domain of DegU," *Journal of biochemistry*, vol. 151, 6, pp. 643–655, 2012.
- [364] L. Winstedt and C. von Wachenfeldt, "Terminal Oxidases of Bacillus subtilis Strain 168: One Quinol Oxidase, Cytochrome aa3 or Cytochrome bd, Is Required for Aerobic Growth," *Journal of bacteriology*, vol. 182, 23, pp. 6557–6564, 2000.
- [365] G. Villani, M. Tattoli, N. Capitanio, P. Glaser, S. Papa, and A. Danchin, "Functional analysis of subunits III and IV of Bacillus subtilis aa3-600 quinol oxidase by in vitro mutagenesis and gene replacement," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1232, 1-2, pp. 67–74, 1995.
- [366] E. Lemma, J. Simon, H. Schgger, and A. Krger, "Properties of the menaquinol oxidase (Qox) and of qox deletion mutants of Bacillus subtilis," *Archives of Microbiology*, vol. 163, 6, pp. 432–438, 1995.
- [367] M. Santana, F. Kunst, M. F. Hullo, G. Rapoport, A. Danchin, and P. Glaser, "Molecular cloning, sequencing, and physiological characterization of the qox operon from Bacillus subtilis encoding the aa3-600 quinol oxidase," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 267, 15, pp. 10225–10231, 1992.
- [368] S. Ferguson-Miller and G. T. Babcock, "Heme/Copper Terminal Oxidases," *Chemical Reviews*, vol. 96, 7, pp. 2889–2908, 1996.
- [369] S. Jünemann, "Cytochrome bd terminal oxidase," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1321, 2, pp. 107–127, 1997.

- [370] N. Azarkina, S. Siletsky, V. Borisov, C. von Wachenfeldt, L. Hederstedt, and A. A. Konstantinov, "A cytochrome bb'-type quinol oxidase in Bacillus subtilis strain 168," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 274, 46, pp. 32810–32817, 1999.
- [371] L. Y. J. García Montes de Oca, A. Chagolla-López, L. La González de Vara, T. Cabellos-Avelar, C. Gómez-Lojero, and E. B. Gutiérrez Cirlos, "The composition of the Bacillus subtilis aerobic respiratory chain supercomplexes," *Journal of bioenergetics and biomembranes*, vol. 44, 4, pp. 473–486, 2012.
- [372] J. A. García-Horsman, B. Barquera, J. Rumbley, J. Ma, and R. B. Gennis, "The superfamily of heme-copper respiratory oxidases," *Journal of bacteriology*, vol. 176, 18, pp. 5587–5600, 1994.
- [373] A. Puustinen, M. Finel, T. Haltia, R. B. Gennis, and M. Wikstrom, "Properties of the two terminal oxidases of Escherichia coli," *Biochemistry*, vol. 30, 16, pp. 3936–3942, 2002.
- [374] F. Götz and S. Mayer, "Both terminal oxidases contribute to fitness and virulence during organ-specific Staphylococcus aureus colonization," *mBio*, vol. 4, 6, e00976-13, 2013.
- [375] A. Clements, D. Tull, A. W. Jenney, J. L. Farn, S.-H. Kim, R. E. Bishop, J. B. McPhee, R. E. W. Hancock, E. L. Hartland, M. J. Pearse, O. L. C. Wijburg, D. C. Jackson, M. J. McConville, and R. A. Strugnell, "Secondary acylation of Klebsiella pneumoniae lipopolysaccharide contributes to sensitivity to antibacterial peptides," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 282, 21, pp. 15569–15577, 2007.
- [376] Z. Tynecka, Z. Szczesniak, A. Malm, and R. Los, "Energy conservation in aerobically grown Staphylococcus aureus," *Research in microbiology*, vol. 150, 8, pp. 555–566, 1999.
- [377] V. B. Borisov, R. B. Gennis, J. Hemp, and M. I. Verkhovsky, "The cytochrome bd respiratory oxygen reductases," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Bioenergetics*, vol. 1807, 11, pp. 1398–1413, 2011.
- [378] V. B. Borisov and M. I. Verkhovsky, "Oxygen as Acceptor," *EcoSal Plus*, vol. 6, 2, 2015.
- [379] F. L. Sousa, R. J. Alves, M. A. Ribeiro, J. B. Pereira-Leal, M. Teixeira, and M. M. Pereira, "The superfamily of heme-copper oxygen reductases: Types and evolutionary considerations," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1817, 4, pp. 629–637, 2012.

- [380] N. D. Hammer, M. L. Reniere, J. E. Cassat, Y. Zhang, A. O. Hirsch, M. Indriati Hood, and E. P. Skaar, "Two heme-dependent terminal oxidases power Staphylococcus aureus organ-specific colonization of the vertebrate host," *mBio*, vol. 4, 4, 2013.
- [381] N. D. Hammer, L. A. Schurig-Briccio, S. Y. Gerdes, R. B. Gennis, and E. P. Skaar, "CtaM Is Required for Menaquinol Oxidase aa3 Function in Staphylococcus aureus," *mBio*, vol. 7, 4, 2016.
- [382] S. Papa, N. Capitanio, P. Glaser, and G. Villani, "The proton pump of heme-copper oxidases," *Cell biology international*, vol. 18, 5, pp. 345–355, 1994.
- [383] M. D. Collins and D. Jones, "Distribution of isoprenoid quinone structural types in bacteria and their taxonomic implication," *Microbiological Reviews*, vol. 45, 2, pp. 316–354, 1981.
- [384] B. Soballe and R. K. Poole, "Microbial ubiquinones: Multiple roles in respiration, gene regulation and oxidative stress management," *Microbiology (Reading, England)*, 145 (Pt 8), pp. 1817–1830, 1999.
- [385] D. B. Hedrick and D. C. White, "Microbial respiratory quinones in the environment," *Journal of microbiological methods*, vol. 5, 5-6, pp. 243–254, 1986.
- [386] Y. Li, "Microbial respiratory quinones as indicator of ecophysiological redox conditions," *Frontiers of Earth Science in China*, vol. 4, 2, pp. 195–204, 2010.
- [387] M. Futai and H. Kanazawa, "Structure and function of proton-translocating adenosine triphosphatase (F0F1): Biochemical and molecular biological approaches," *Microbiological Reviews*, vol. 47, 3, pp. 285–312, 1983.
- [388] A. E. Senior, S. Nadanaciva, and Weber J., "The molecular mechanism of ATP synthesis by F1F0-ATP synthase," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Bioenergetics*, vol. 1553, 3, pp. 188–211, 2002.
- [389] J. E. Walker, "The ATP synthase: the understood, the uncertain and the unknown," *Biochemical Society transactions*, vol. 41, 1, pp. 1–16, 2013.
- [390] L. Preiss, D. B. Hicks, S. Suzuki, T. Meier, and T. A. Krulwich, "Alkaliphilic Bacteria with Impact on Industrial Applications, Concepts of Early Life Forms, and Bioenergetics of ATP Synthesis," *Frontiers in bioengineering and biotechnology*, vol. 3, 2015.
- [391] W. Balemans, L. Vranckx, N. Lounis, O. Pop, J. Guillemont, K. Vergauwen, S. Mol, R. Gilissen, M. Motte, D. Lançois, M. de Bolle, K. Bonroy, H. Lill, K. Andries, D. Bald, and A. Koul, "Novel antibiotics targeting respiratory ATP synthesis in Gram-positive

pathogenic bacteria," Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, vol. 56, 8, pp. 4131–4139, 2012.

- [392] Z. Ahmad, F. Okafor, S. Azim, and T. F. Laughlin, "ATP synthase: a molecular therapeutic drug target for antimicrobial and antitumor peptides," *Current medicinal chemistry*, vol. 20, 15, pp. 1956–1973, 2013.
- [393] K. S. Ko, J.Y. Lee, J.-H. Song, J. Y. Beak, W. S. Oh, J. Chun, and H. Yoon, "Screening of Essential Genes in Staphylococcus aureus N315 Using Comparative Genomics and Allelic Replacement Mutagenesis," *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 16, pp. 623–632, 2011.
- [394] M. Bogdanov, E. Mileykovskaya, and W. Dowhan, "Lipids in the assembly of membrane proteins and organization of protein supercomplexes: implications for lipidlinked disorders," *Sub-cellular biochemistry*, vol. 49, pp. 197–239, 2008.
- [395] M. Schlame and M. Ren, "The role of cardiolipin in the structural organization of mitochondrial membranes," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes*, vol. 1788, 10, pp. 2080–2083, 2009.
- [396] R. Arias-Cartin, S. Grimaldi, J. Pommier, P. Lanciano, C. Schaefer, P. Arnoux, G. Giordano, B. Guigliarelli, and A. Magalon, "Cardiolipin-based respiratory complex activation in bacteria," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 108, 19, pp. 7781–7786, 2011.
- [397] R. Arias-Cartin, S. Grimaldi, J. Pommier, P. Lanciano, C. Schaefer, P. Arnoux, G. Giordano, B. Guigliarelli, and A. Magalon, "Cardiolipin-based respiratory complex activation in bacteria," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 108, 19, pp. 7781–7786, 2011.
- [398] E. Mileykovskaya and W. Dowhan, "Cardiolipin-dependent formation of mitochondrial respiratory supercomplexes," *Chemistry and physics of lipids*, vol. 179, pp. 42–48, 2014.
- [399] E. Mileykovskaya and W. Dowhan, "Cardiolipin membrane domains in prokaryotes and eukaryotes," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1788, 10, pp. 2084–2091, 2009.
- [400] A. Stroh, O. Anderka, K. Pfeiffer, T. Yagi, M. Finel, B. Ludwig, and H. Schägger, "Assembly of Respiratory Complexes I, III, and IV into NADH Oxidase Supercomplex Stabilizes Complex I in Paracoccus denitrificans," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 279, 6, pp. 5000–5007, 2004.

- [401] M. Zhang, E. Mileykovskaya, and W. Dowhan, "Cardiolipin Is Essential for Organization of Complexes III and IV into a Supercomplex in Intact Yeast Mitochondria," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 280, 33, pp. 29403–29408, 2005.
- [402] M. Zhang, E. Mileykovskaya, and W. Dowhan, "Gluing the Respiratory Chain Together: Cardiolipin Is Required for Supercomplex Formation In The Inner Mitochondrial Membrane," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 277, 46, pp. 43553– 43556, 2002.
- [403] H. Schägger, "Respiratory chain supercomplexes of mitochondria and bacteria," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1555, 1-3, pp. 154–159, 2002.
- [404] S. Lobasso, L. L. Palese, R. Angelini, and A. Corcelli, "Relationship between cardiolipin metabolism and oxygen availability in Bacillus subtilis," *FEBS open bio*, vol. 3, pp. 151–155, 2013.
- [405] A. Niebisch and M. Bott, "Purification of a cytochrome bc-aa3 supercomplex with quinol oxidase activity from Corynebacterium glutamicum. Identification of a fourth subunity of cytochrome aa3 oxidase and mutational analysis of diheme cytochrome c1," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 278, 6, pp. 4339–4346, 2003.
- [406] E. Kutoh and N. Sone, "Quinol-cytochrome c oxidoreductase from the thermophilic bacterium PS3. Purification and properties of a cytochrome bc1(b6f) complex," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 263, 18, pp. 9020–9026, 1988.
- [407] E. A. Berry and B. L. Trumpower, "Isolation of ubiquinol oxidase from Paracoccus denitrificans and resolution into cytochrome bc1 and cytochrome c-aa3 complexes," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 260, 4, pp. 2458–2467, 1985.
- [408] L. Y. J. García Montes de Oca, T. Cabellos Avelar, G. I. Picón Garrido, A. Chagoya-López, L. La González de Vara, N. L. Delgado Buenrostro, Y. I. Chirino-López, C. Gómez-Lojero, and E. B. Gutiérrez-Cirlos, "Cardiolipin deficiency causes a dissociation of the b 6 c:caa 3 megacomplex in B. subtilis membranes," *Journal of bioenergetics and biomembranes*, vol. 48, 4, pp. 451–467, 2016.
- [409] T. Wenz, R. Hielscher, H. Schägger, S. Richers, and C. Hunte, "Role of phospholipids in respiratory cytochrome bc1 complex catalysis and supercomplex formation," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Bioenergetics*, vol. 1787, 6, pp. 609–616, 2009.